
 
Keystone Town Council 

Agenda 
 

The Keystone Town Council will have a Regular Meeting on September 24, 2024, at 

3:00 p.m. at 1628 Sts. John Rd, Keystone, CO 80435. 

I. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL 

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

III. TOWN COUNCIL MEMBER VACANCY 

A. COUNCIL MEMBER VACANCY INTERVIEWS 

1. Interview of Applicant Kaili Warren 

2. Interview of Applicant Jeff Herynk 

Applicant withdrew from consideration. 
3. Interview of Applicant Jon Hagenow 

B. NOMINATION OF CANDIDATES AND VOTING 

C. Resolution 2024-64, A Resolution of Town Council of the Town of Keystone, 

Colorado, Appointing an Individual to Fill a Councilmember Vacancy on Town 

Council 

D. OATH OF OFFICE 

IV. COMMUNICATIONS TO COUNCIL 

A. Public Comment (Pursuant to Resolution 2024-18, comment is limited to non-

agenda items only; 3-minute time limit please) 

V. DISCUSSION 

A. DISCUSSION OF NICOTINE CESSATION EFFORTS IN SUMMIIT COUNTY 

B. DISCUSSION OF QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARINGS PROCEDURES 

C. DISCUSSION OF REVISED BYLAWS 

D. DISCUSSION OF ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION AND FULLY REMOTE 

MEETING POLICY 

E. DISCUSSION OF TOWN FINANCIALS 

VI. CONSENT  

A. FIRST READING OF ORDINANCES 



1. Ordinance 2024-11, An Ordinance of Town Council of the Town of 

Keystone, Colorado, Creating a Process for Establishing Boards and 

Commissions 

B. RESOLUTIONS  

1. Resolution 2024-65, A Resolution of Town Council of the Town of 

Keystone, Colorado, Approving a Site Plan Improvements Agreement 

(“SPIA”) For Camber Townhomes, Located at 0624 Montezuma Road 

C. MEETING MINUTES  

1. September 10, 2024 – Meeting Minutes 

D. EXCUSED ABSENCES – NONE 

E. OTHER  

1. Accounts Payable List 

2. TOK24-11 Class 2 Review for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for a 

Short-Term Rental (STR) located at 31 River Overlook Court 

VII. NEW BUSINESS 

A. LIQUOR LICENSING AUTHORITY MATTERS 

1. New Liquor License Application for Ski-to-Tee, LLC, dba, Ski-To-Tee, 

Located at 100 Dercum Square Unit E3, By John Keith, Applicant 

Owner/Operator  

B. CONSIDERATION OF ORDINANCES (SECOND READING/PUBLIC 

HEARING) -- NONE 

C. RESOLUTIONS -- NONE 

D. OTHER - NONE 

VIII. PLANNING MATTERS  

IX. REPORT OF TOWN MANAGER AND STAFF 

X. REPORT OF MAYOR AND COUNCIL 

XI. OTHER MATTERS (Town Manager/Mayor/Councilmember may bring up items on 

other matters that are not on the agenda) 

XII. SCHEDULED MEETINGS 

XIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Executive Session pursuant to C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(b) and (4)(e)(I) to receive 

legal advice concerning a negotiation of a contract for law enforcement services as 

well as to determine positions relative to the negotiation of the contract for law 



enforcement services, develop strategies for such negotiations, and instruct 

negotiators accordingly.  

XIV. ADJOURNMENT  



Page 1 of 3 

TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
STAFF REPORT 

TO: Mayor & Town Councilmembers 

THROUGH:          John Crone, Town Manager 

Jennifer Madsen, Town Attorney 

FROM:          Madeleine Sielu, Town Clerk 

DATE:          September 24, 2024 – Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Interviews, Selection, and Appointment of Vacancy for 

Town Councilmember 

Executive Summary: 

On August 12, 2024, Sarah Keel submitted her resignation from the Keystone Town 

Council. The Town Council discussed the vacancy at its next regular meeting on August 

13, 2024. Town Council decided to open an appointment process to fill the vacancy. 

Interviews, selection, and appointment of a new Councilmember to fill the vacancy were 

scheduled for September 24, 2024.  

Background: 

Town Council discussed the vacancy at its regular meeting on August 13, 2024, and 

decided to open an appointment process to fill the vacancy. Interested candidates were 

given an opportunity to submit applications to the Keystone Town Clerk until September 

13, 2024. Notice was posted on the Town website, the Town’s Nextdoor and Facebook 

pages, and in the Summit Daily twice daily for two weeks. Candidates were directed to 

submit a letter of interest to the Town Clerk and were notified that interviews were 

scheduled to take place on Tuesday, September 24, 2024.  

The Town Clerk received four submissions for the vacancy. One of the submitters 

withdrew their submission for consideration. The Town Clerk verified with the Summit 

County Clerk and Recorder, that the remaining three applicants were registered electors 



Page 2 of 3 
 

of the Town at the time of appointment (September 24, 2024), as is indicated as a 

qualification in the Keystone Town Charter Section 2.6 (a). Additionally, applicants were 

asked to attest that they met the eligibility requirements outlined in the Town Charter 

Section 2.6 (a), which read “I verify that I am eligible to hold Town Elective Office, and 

at the time of appointment (September 24, 2024), I will be a Primary Resident as 

defined by the laws of the State of Colorado and registered elector of the Town. 

Additionally, I verify that at the time of appointment, I will have had Primary Residency, 

as residency is defined in C.R.S. 31-10-201(3) within the boundaries of the Town for at 

least one year immediately preceding appointment.” 

 

All three applicants were identified as registered electors within the Town of Keystone 

and returned the signed attestation. These forms are included for reference as 

attachments, along with the applicants’ letters of interest.  

 

Town Council will hold an interview with each of three applicants at this afternoon’s 

meeting in the following order: beginning with Kaili Warren, then Jeff Herynk, then Jon 

Hagenow. Interviews are expected to take approximately a half hour per candidate.  

 

Following completion of the interviews, Town Council will have the opportunity to 

discuss the candidates’ interviews. Council will have the opportunity to nominate any of 

the applicants for appointment and then will use paper ballots to vote for one of the 

nominated candidates. Following selection, Town Council will formally appoint the 

selected candidate Resolution, and the candidate will be sworn in as a member of Town 

Council and participate in the remaining items of the meeting.  

Suggested Motions:  

NOMINATIONS:  

I move to nominate the following individuals for Town Council…. (any of the applicants 

may be nominated. For an applicant to be an option on the paper ballots they must be 

nominated). Following nominations, the Town Council may complete a voting process 

on paper ballots. 



Page 3 of 3 
 

FOR APPOINTMENT:  

I move to approve Resolution 2024-64, a Resolution Of Town Council Of The Town Of 

Keystone, Colorado Appointing An Individual To Fill A Councilmember Vacancy On 

Town Council and appointing ___________________ as Councilmember.  

Attachments:  

• Kaili Warren Application Materials 

• Jeff Herynk Application Materials 

• Jon Hagenow Application Materials 

• Resolution 2024-64, A Resolution of Town Council of The Town of Keystone, 

Colorado Appointing an Individual to Fill a Councilmember Vacancy on Town 

Council  

• Oath of Office 



Attachment A - Application Materials for Town Council Vacancy - September 24, 2024- Kaili 
Warren



����������	
���������������������������������� !��"#$%�&'�('()(*�(+*)�,�#�+�-������!�������������!� ��."�/01123�4256�72869:1�;0;<0=>�?6@�60:AB<2=>C�DE�6?;0�:>�F?:1:�G?==063�?6@�H�?;�5=:I:6A�I2�J2=;?11E�0KL=0>>�;E�:6I0=0>I�:6�IB0�2L06�I256�92869:1�>0?IM�H�B?N0�?�@00LL?>>:26�J2=�>8LL2=I:6A�IB0�981I8=0�?6@�J8I8=0�2J�F0E>I2603�?�L1?90�IB?I�B?>�<006�?�J86@?;06I?1�L?=I�2J�;E�06I:=0�1:J0M4B:>�@0@:9?I:26�I2�F0E>I260�@=:N0>�;0�I2�5?6I�I2�>0=N0�26�IB0�92869:1M�H�5281@�<0�B262=0@�I2�<0�?�N2:90�?6@�?@N29?I0J2=�28=�92;;86:IEC�O�1:II10�<:I�?<28I�;0P�H�5?>�<2=6�?6@�=?:>0@�:6�Q281@0=3�7RM�H�>I?=I0@�92;:6A�B0=0�:6�S:6@0=A?=I06�5:IB�;E�010;06I?=E>9B221�26�500S06@>�J2=�>S:�>9B221M�OJI0=�IB?I3�;E�J?;:1E�<28ABI�?�926@2�:6�IB0�T?S2I?�U2@A0�<0J2=0�:I�5?>�<8:1I3�?6@�HN:>:I0@�60?=1E�0N0=E�500S06@�IB=28AB�92110A0M�H�;0I�;E�B8><?6@�B0=0�:6�VWWX3�?6@�50�;2N0@�I2�Y8;;:I�7286IEL0=;?606I1E�:6�VWZVM�G0�=0129?I0@�I2�U[\�:6�VWZ]3�?6@�28=�J?;:1E�L8=9B?>0@�V̂_�̀?>2=�:6�VWZXM�G0�A2I�;?==:0@�26I2L�2J�T0=98;�D286I?:6�:6�VWZ_3�?6@�50�?=0�625�=?:>:6A�I52�>;?11�9B:1@=06�B0=0CH�>I8@:0@�L>E9B212AE�?6@�>29:212AE�?I�7a�Q281@0=�?6@�?;�625�52=S:6A�26�?6�0?=1E�9B:1@B22@�0@89?I:26�90=I:J:9?I0M�H98==06I1E�I0?9B�?I�G:1@J1250=�b?I8=0�Y9B221�:6�Y:1N0=IB2=60M�H�L=0N:28>1E�52=S0@�J2=�\?:1�̀0>2=I>�:6�;81I:L10@0L?=I;06I>�<0J2=0�<092;:6A�IB0�cD�?6@�Q8E0=�J2=�?�>I2=0�:6�̀:N0=�̀86�J2=�60?=1E�?�@09?@0MH�B?N0�>006�F0E>I260�J=2;�;?6E�@:JJ0=06I�L0=>L09I:N0>�?6@�5:I60>>0@�:I>�I=?6>J2=;?I:26�IB=28AB�;?6E�LB?>0>�2N0=IB0�1?>I�dW�E0?=>M�H�5?6I�I2�06>8=0�IB?I�:I�=0;?:6>�?�50192;:6A�?6@�>8>I?:6?<10�L1?90�J2=�=0>:@06I>�?6@�N:>:I2=>�?1:S0M0̀92A6:e:6A�IB?I�IB0=0�:>�;89B�52=S�I2�<0�@2603�H�?;�92;;:II0@�I2�L8=>8:6A�5B?I�:>�<0>I�J2=�28=�I256M�H�?;�0K9:I0@?<28I�IB0�J8I8=0�2J�F0E>I260�?6@�IB0�L2I06I:?1�:I�B21@>CH�122S�J2=5?=@�I2�I?1S:6A�;2=0�?<28I�IB:>�2LL2=I86:IE3�?6@�H�?LL=09:?I0�E28=�I:;0�?6@�926>:@0=?I:26CY:690=01E3��F?:1:�G?==06ff



I verify that I am eligible to hold Town Elective Office, and at the time of appointment 

(September 24, 2024), I will be a Primary Resident as defined by the laws of the State 

of Colorado and registered elector of the Town. Additionally, I verify that at the time of 

appointment, I will have had Primary Residency, as residency is defined in C.R.S. 31-

10-201(3) within the boundaries of the Town for at least one year immediately preceding 

appointment. 

 

 

_________________________________            _______________________________ 

Signature                                                                 Date 



Attachment B - Application Materials for Town Council Vacancy - September 24, 2024- Jeff 
Herynk



Town of Keystone 

1628 Saint John Road 

Keystone CO 80435 

To Whom it may Concern, 

I understand that there is a vacancy on the Town Council of Keystone. This is 
my letter of interest to be appointed to fill this vacancy.  

I moved to Summit County in August of 1995. I have lived here in the county 
since, except for two years in Frasier and two years in Lakewood.  

I would very much appreciate your considering me to fill the position on the 
town council. 

I look forward to answering any questions you may have. 

Regards, 

Jeff Herynk 





Attachment C - Application Materials for Town Council Vacancy - September 24, 2024 - Jon Hagenow



 

 pg. 1 

August 24, 2024 
 
 
Dear Keystone Town Council, 

Subject: Keystone Town Council Member Vacancy 

I am writing with great excitement to express my desire to join the Keystone Town Council and 

contribute meaningfully to our growing community. My passion for being part of positive 

change has not diminished since the recent town council election. I have a deep-seated 

commitment to serve and give back to our community. 

I am fully qualified legally to hold the position and work full time in Summit County. I believe 

that my qualifications, desire to give back, and professional growth reflect the type of person I 

am and the kind of council member I aspire to be.  

I have continuously sought opportunities to serve our town and work towards its improvement. 

My involvement in the Planning Commission and citizen-led efforts to enhance postal delivery 

are examples of my commitment to our town. While I have enjoyed my time on the Planning 

Commission, I acknowledge this is a position I would need to step down from should I serve on 

town council.  

One aspect that I believe distinguishes my candidacy is my diverse lived experience. I have 

rented in both employee housing and private accommodations during my time in Keystone, 

which has given me a unique connection with the thousands of people who call Keystone home. 

Even if, unlike us, these people do not plan to call Keystone home for more than a season or two. 

The workforce is the backbone of our community, and I am committed to representing their 

experiences, challenges, perspectives, and goals. I would strive to represent the often 

underrepresented youthful and working class of our community. While it may be impossible to 

fully represent everyone, I am determined to do so in a thoughtful and constructive manner. 

My goals and positions remain unchanged since my initial run for this office. An opportunity 

which I am very thankful for in allowing me to gain exposure with our community and the 

electorate. Like every member of this council, I am passionate about improving Keystone. 





I verify that I am eligible to hold Town Elective Office, and at the time of appointment 

(September 24, 2024), I will be a Primary Resident as defined by the laws of the State 

of Colorado and registered elector of the Town. Additionally, I verify that at the time of 

appointment, I will have had Primary Residency, as residency is defined in C.R.S. 31-

10-201(3) within the boundaries of the Town for at least one year immediately preceding 

appointment. 

 

 

_________________________________            _______________________________ 

Signature                                                                 Date 

09.18.2024



TOWN OF KEYSTONE 
Summit County, Colorado 

 
RESOLUTION 2024-64 

 
A RESOLUTION OF TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
APPOINTING AN INDIVIDUAL TO FILL A COUNCILMEMBER VACANCY ON TOWN 

COUNCIL 

WHEREAS, according to the Town of Keystone Charter § 2.7, the Town Council 
has the authority to decide the process to fill the vacancy of a councilmember position. 
There are two options for filling the vacancy: (1) Town Council can fill the vacancy by 
appointment of a person to the vacant councilmember position OR (2) by holding a special 
election; and 

WHEREAS, on August 12, 2024, Councilmember Sarah Keel submitted her 
resignation effective immediately and such resignation created a vacancy on Town 
Council; and  

WHEREAS, on August 13, 2024, at the regular meeting, Town Council directed 
staff to prepare applications for an appointment process to fill the vacancy on Town 
Council; and  

WHEREAS, at its regular meeting on September 24, 2024, Town Council 
interviewed applicants for the appointment to Town Council; and  

WHEREAS, following interviews, Town Council completed a nomination and 
voting process to select and appoint the individual to fill the vacancy; and   

WHEREAS, Town Council desires to fill the vacancy of the councilmember position 
on Town Council by appointment.  

Now, Therefore, be it Resolved by the Town Council of the Town of Keystone, 
Colorado, that:  

Section 1.  The Town Council appoints ______________________ to serve as 
a Councilmember on Town Council until the next regular election in April 2026 and until 
such time as a successor is elected and duly qualified.  

Section 2.  Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect upon its approval by 
the Town Council.  

  



Town of Keystone 
Resolution No. 2024-64 
Page 2 
 

ADOPTED by a vote of __ in favor and __ against, this _____ day of ________, 
2024. 

       

        
       By: ____________________________ 
           Kenneth D. Riley, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
By:   By: _____________________________ 
 Town Clerk  Town Attorney 
 
 

 

 

 



The Town of Keystone

State of Colorado

County of Summit

I, ____________, do solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the United States, 
the Constitution of the State of Colorado, and the Charter and Ordinances of the Town of 
Keystone, and that I will faithfully perform the duties of a Councilmember for the Town of 
Keystone to the best of my skill and ability.

_________________________________________________________

______________, Town  Councilmember, Town of Keystone, Colorado

_________________________________________________________

Madeleine Sielu, Town Clerk, Town of Keystone, Colorado

Subscribed and sworn before me this 24th day of September A.D. 2024.



Page 1 of 2 

TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
STAFF REPORT 

TO: Mayor & Town Councilmembers 

THROUGH:          John Crone, Town Manager 

FROM:   Jennifer Madsen, Town Attorney 

DATE:          September 24, 2024 

SUBJECT: Discussion of quasi-judicial role 

Executive Summary: 

Discussion of process for quasi-judicial hearings and the quasi-judicial role. 

Background: 

The Town Council serves in various capacities when making decisions. One of its 

primary roles is that of a legislative body, responsible for establishing policies and 

regulations that apply broadly across the town, such as when passing an ordinance. At 

other times, the Council assumes a “quasi-judicial” role, where it applies these 

established rules or criteria to specific individuals or properties. Quasi-judicial matters 

typically include land use decisions, liquor licenses, and similar issues. In this capacity, 

the Council essentially acts as a judge, necessitating a process that is both court-like 

and judicial in nature. In these quasi-judicial proceedings, the Town is required to 

uphold due process. 

The key elements of due process include providing proper notice, holding a hearing, 

and ensuring that the decision is based on the record, all of which must be conducted 

by a fair and impartial decision-maker. A fair and transparent hearing is critical to 

reaching a sound decision and ensuring compliance with due process requirements. 

Additionally, the manner in which the hearing is conducted, and the conduct of Council 

members during the proceedings, fosters trust and confidence in the decision-making 



Page 2 of 2 
 

process. This also minimizes the risk of the decision being challenged or overturned. 

In the event of a legal challenge, the initial hearing before the Council becomes “the 

hearing.” A reviewing judge does not retry the case but rather evaluates whether the 

Council’s decision should be upheld or overturned based on the following factors: 

• The procedures that were followed; 

• The evidence that was considered; and 

• The rationale for the decision. 

 

Quasi-judicial decisions are rarely overturned because a judge disagrees with the 

outcome. Instead, they are typically overturned because the decision was arbitrary, or 

the Council—either collectively or through individual actions—failed to provide 

fundamental fairness to one or more participants. 

 

A presentation on quasi-judicial hearings will be held on Tuesday. 

 



Page 1 of 1 
 

TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
STAFF REPORT 

 

TO:                   Mayor & Town Councilmembers 

THROUGH:          John Crone, Town Manager 

FROM:            Jennifer Madsen, Town Attorney 

DATE:          September 24, 2024 

SUBJECT: Discussion of revised bylaws  
 

Executive Summary:  

At the August 27 and September 10 meetings, Town Council discussed consideration of 

a policy related to electronic participation by members of Town Council at work sessions 

and regular meetings. Town Council reviewed the revised bylaws on the September 10 

meeting. Additional revisions were requested, and Town Council asked that the revised 

Bylaws be placed on the September 24 agenda for further discussion.  

 

Background: 

Town Council adopted bylaws on April 9, 2024. The adopted Town Council bylaws did 

not address electronic participation in meetings by members of Town Council. 

Electronic participation by members of Town Council was discussed at the September 

10 meeting and edits were proposed in the Town Council Bylaws.  

 

Drafts revisions to the Town Council Bylaws dated September 24 are provided for 

Council’s consideration and discussion.  

Attachment: 

• DRAFT Town Council Bylaws and Procedure 2024_9_24 (redline) 

• DRAFT Town Council Bylaws and Procedure 2024_9_24 



TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
 

TOWN COUNCIL BYLAWS 
 
 

 
 

 
DATE OF POLICY/REVISIONS: 

 

 
Original Enactment:  April 8, 2024 
Resolution No. 2024-32 
 

 
SCHEDULED REVIEW AND 

REVISION: 

 
As deemed necessary or desired by the Town 
Council or upon recommendation of the Town 
Manager or Town Attorney. 
 

 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

 

 
None 

 
AUTHORITY/REFERENCE(S): 

 

 
Keystone Charter, Section 3.8. 
 
Titles 29 and 31, C.R.S., and the Colorado Open 
Meetings Law, C.R.S. §§ 24-6-401 et seq., as 
interpreted by the Colorado appellate courts. 
 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 2 

 
 

TOWN COUNCIL BYLAWS 
 
 
These Bylaws are intended to direct and assist the Town Council for the Town of Keystone, 
Colorado, in the conduct of meetings and the conduct of public business.  These Bylaws and 
Procedures shall be interpreted consistently with the Keystone Home Rule Charter (“Charter”) 
and, in the event of a conflict between these Bylaws and Procedures and the Charter, the Charter 
shall govern and control.  
 
References to “Councilmember,” “Councilmembers,” or “Town Council” shall include the Mayor 
unless the context provides otherwise. 
 
I. Legislative Body & Officers 

 
1.1 Town Council 
 

The Town Council is the legislative and governing body of the Town.   
 
1.2 Mayor – Presiding Officer 

 
The Mayor shall be the Presiding Officer at all meetings of the Town Council.  The 
Mayor is a member of the Town Council.  The role of Presiding Officer may be 
assigned to another member of the Town Council in accordance with the Rules of 
Order. 

 
1.3 Mayor Pro Tem 

 
The Town Council shall elect one of its members to serve as Mayor Pro Tem in 
accordance with the Keystone Home Rule Charter.  The process for nomination 
and election of the Mayor Pro Tem shall be determined by the Town Council which 
process may be established by Resolution. 

 
1.4 Temporary Chair 

 
a. In the event of the absence, conflict of interest, or disability of both the 

Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem that would prevent them from attending any 
meeting of the Town Council, the Town Clerk shall call such meeting to 
order and shall call the roll.  The Town Council shall then proceed to elect, 
by a majority vote of those present, a Councilmember to serve as the 
Temporary Chairperson for the meeting. 
 

b. The Temporary Chairperson shall serve as Presiding Officer until the arrival 
or the resolution of the conflict of interest of the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem 
at which time the Temporary Chair shall relinquish the chair upon 
conclusion of the agenda item or other business then before the Town 
Council. 

 
 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 3 

 Town Council Meetings. 
 

2.1 Regular Meetings 
 
a. The Town Council shall meet regularly at least once each month at a day 

and hour and place to be fixed by the Rules of Order of each Town Council 
adopted by Resolution. The intent is that the Town Council will conduct in 
person meetings, unless circumstances necessitate another form of 
meeting. The procedures for in person meetings and the circumstances 
necessitating another form of meeting shall be defined by the Rules of 
Order of the Town Council. (Charter § 3.1) 
 

b. For ease of administration, an approved schedule of meeting dates, times, 
and places for regular meetings may be administratively considered and 
approved for each calendar year by the Town Council.  The Town Council 
reserves the authority to modify or adjust any previously approved meeting 
schedule or to change meeting days or times as may be needed for 
convenience or to accommodate holidays, anticipated lack of quorum, and 
other events or circumstances.  
 

c. When a regular meeting must be cancelled due to unforeseen or 
unanticipated circumstances, such as but not limited to emergency, 
adverse weather conditions, absence of quorum, or failure to post any 
required public notice, the Mayor, or the Mayor Pro Tem in the Mayor’s 
absence, is authorized to instruct staff to cancel the regular meeting and 
the Mayor may reschedule the meeting to another date and time.  The 
Town Clerk shall prepare a notice of the meeting cancellation and the 
rescheduled meeting and shall cause the notice to be delivered through 
reasonable and customary means, including by posting notice on public 
entry doors of the Keystone Center and posting on the Town’s Website.   
 

2.2 Special Meetings 

a. Special meetings of the Town Council shall be called by the Town Clerk on 
the oral request of two (2) or more members of Town Council with at least 
twenty-four (24) hours' notice to each member of the Town Council and to 
the public, delivered in accordance with the Rules of Order of the Town 
Council and the requirements of this Charter and the Colorado Open 
Meetings Law. (Charter § 3.2) 
 

b. No business shall be conducted at a special meeting of the Town Council 
unless the business has been stated in the notice of such meeting; except 
that any business which may lawfully come before a regular meeting of the 
Town Council may be transacted at a special meeting if all members of the 
Town Council present consent thereto and all the Councilmembers absent 
file their written consent. 
 

c. Executive sessions may be held during any properly convened special 
meeting. 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 4 

 
2.3 Emergency Meetings 

 
a. Emergency meetings of the Town Council shall be called by the Town Clerk 

on the oral request of two (2) or more members of Town Council with less 
than twenty-four (24) hours' notice. An emergency meeting may be called 
in the event of an immediate danger or threat to the public health, welfare, 
peace, safety or property for the purpose of preservation or protection of 
the public health, welfare, peace, safety or property. Unless it is impractical, 
all members of the Town Council shall be notified of such meeting and such 
meeting may be held if a Quorum consents. Maximum practical notice, 
including posted notice, shall be given to the public stating the purpose, 
time, place and manner of any such meeting. (Charter § 3.3) 

 
b. Any business which may lawfully come before a regular meeting of the 

Town Council may be transacted at an emergency meeting. 
 

c. Due to the emergency nature of the meeting, no Quorum of the Town 
Council is required although a Quorum is strongly desired wherever 
practicable. Where a Quorum does not attend the emergency meeting, the 
action of the Town Council at the emergency meeting will need to be ratified 
by the Town Council at the next meeting at which a Quorum is in 
attendance.  
 

2.4 Study or Work Sessions 
 

a. The Town Council may hold study or work sessions as deemed necessary 
or desirable.  Study or work sessions shall be called in the same manner 
as a Special Meeting or called by the Town Manager in consultation with 
the Town Clerk. 
 

b. No legally binding or formal action shall be taken at any such session.  The 
Council may provide general administrative direction to the Town Manager 
by simple concurrence or consensus of the members of the Town Council.  
 

c. A study or work session shall customarily be limited to the presentation of 
information to the Town Council and to Town Council’s discussion of such 
information.  Public comment upon matters under study or discussion shall 
not be typically entertained except upon concurrence of the Council 
members in attendance.  No Quorum shall be required at any study or work 
session.  

 
d. Executive sessions shall not be conducted during a study or work session. 

 
2.5 Quorum 
 
Where a quorum is required by these Bylaws, a majority of the members of the Town 
Council in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at all Town 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 5 

Council meetings.  In the absence of a Quorum, a meeting may be rescheduled to a later 
date and time as permitted by Town Council's adopted Rules of Order. 
 
2.6 Meetings to be Public 
 
All meetings of the Town Council shall be open to the public except as permitted by law. 
At Town Council meetings, members of the public shall have a reasonable opportunity to 
be heard except for those meetings that are designated as study or work sessions. In 
compliance with the Colorado Open Meetings Law, the Town Clerk shall keep a record of 
the proceedings of each meeting. The intent is that, when feasible, Town Council will allow 
for a remote meeting option for the public's attendance and participation at open meetings. 
(Charter § 3.5) The Town Council may adopt a remote meeting policy to further define the 
public’s attendance and participation through the remote meeting option.  
 
2.7 Meeting Notice 

 
The Town Council shall adopt a Resolution that establishes public notice and posting 
requirements in accordance with the Colorado Open Meetings Law including designating 
the Town official site for posting the agenda at least 24 hours in advance of the public 
meeting (except for emergency meetings as governed by Charter § 3.3) and such 
designation shall be deemed automatically readopted at the Town Council's first regular 
meeting of each calendar year unless otherwise determined by the Town Council. 
(Charter § 3.10) 
 
2.8 Town Council Attendance and Absences 
 

a. All Town Councilmembers are expected to attend all regular, special, work 
and study session meetings unless excused from attendance in 
accordance with this section.  Councilmembers are expected to attend 
Town Council meetings in person unless a different form of attendance is 
authorized or in person attendance is excused. (Charter § 3.9) 
 

b. Three (3) or more unexcused absences by a member of the Town Council 
in any one (1) calendar year shall constitute grounds for sanctions or 
removal.  
 

c. Excused Absences. 
 

 The Presiding Officer shall excuse an absence of the Mayor or any 
Councilmember from all or any portion of a meeting where: 

(i) The Mayor or Councilmember contacted the Mayor, Town 
Manager, or Town Clerk in advance of the meeting 
regarding the reason for the absence; and 
 

(ii) The reason for the absence is due to vacations scheduled 
well in advance of a meeting or circumstances that were 
unforeseeable or unavoidable, such as but not limited to, 
emergency, illness, , or last-minute familial obligations. An 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 6 

excuse shall not be granted where the Mayor or 
Councilmember’s absence is due to the person’s desire to 
attend other meetings or functions unless the person’s 
attendance at the meeting or function was: (i) requested or 
directed by the Town Council; or (ii) undertaken in the 
Councilmember’s appointed role as Town Council 
representative to a board, commission, or body. 
 

(iii) An absence may not be excused if the Councilmember has 
been absent for more than two (2) consecutive regular 
meetings due to a vacation. 
 

(iv) If a Councilmember is absent for both a work or study 
session on the same date, that absence is only counted as 
one and not two absences.  
  

(v) If advance notice is provided, an excused absence may be 
ratified by Town Council on the consent agenda. 

 
 The Presiding Officer may excuse an absence of any 

Councilmember from a meeting or a portion of a meeting 
subsequent to the meeting where: 

(i) The Councilmember’s requested excuse was due to 
circumstances that were unforeseeable or unavoidable, 
such as but not limited to, accident, emergency, illness, or 
last-minute familial obligations; and 
 

(ii) The circumstances surrounding the excuse did not permit 
the Councilmember to timely contact the Mayor, Town 
Manager, or Town Clerk prior to the meeting as provided by 
paragraph (B) above. 

 
(ii)  Members of Town Council are permitted three (3) excused 

absences as a result of electronic particpationparticipation in a 
Town Council meeting. Electronic participation as a result of the 
reasons identified in paragraph 2.8.c.ii are not counted toward this 
limitation.  in each calendar year. Members of Town Council may 
be permitted more than three excused absences for good cause. 
The limitation on the number of permitted excused absences is 
effective beginning January 1, 2025. Electronic participation and 
attendance by a member of Town Council is considered to be an 
excused absence.   

 
d. The Presiding Officer’s decision regarding the recognition or denial of any 

absence shall be subject to appeal as provided by the Rules of Order. 
 
2.9 Town Attorney 
 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or
numbering, Adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust
space between Asian text and numbers

Formatted: Font: Arial



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 7 

Unless otherwise excused by the Town Council, the Town Attorney or the Town Attorney’s 
designated representative is expected to attend all regular, special, or emergency 
meetings of the Town Council and attend such other meetings and sessions of the Town 
Council as the Town Council may request. The Town Attorney may attend meetings by a 
remote meeting option.  
 
2.10 Town Clerk, Written Minutes, and Official Record 
 

a. The Town Clerk, or the Town Clerk's designated representative, shall 
attend and shall keep written minutes of each regular or special meeting of 
the Town Council.  Written meeting minutes may be a brief and concise 
summary or synopsis of actions taken by the Town Council, the titles of 
ordinances and resolutions considered, votes taken, and other action items 
and general topics of discussion. Meeting minutes need not record what 
was said during the meeting.   

 
b. The minutes shall record how each Councilmember voted on each 

question, except that where the vote was unanimous it shall only be 
necessary for the minutes to so state. 

 
c. The official record of a Town Council meeting shall be the Town’s electronic 

recording of the meeting, if any, and in the absence of an electronic 
recording or in the event of recording equipment malfunction, the official 
record shall be the written meeting minutes. 

d. A Councilmember shall have the privilege of having his or her statement 
on any subject then under consideration by the Town Council entered into 
the written minutes.  Such request must be made before the Presiding 
Officer puts the question to a vote and must be accompanied by the 
statement, "For the Record," to alert the Town Clerk of the need to include 
such remarks in the written minutes.  A Councilmember’s lengthy statement 
for the record is strongly encouraged to be submitted to the Town Clerk in 
writing prior to the meeting. At the Town Clerk’s discretion, unwritten 
lengthy oral statements may be summarized in the written minutes with 
attribution to the speaker.  
 

e. Minutes of a previous meeting will not be read provided each member of 
Town Council has been provided access to a copy of the minutes in 
advance of the meeting at which the minutes are to be approved.  Written 
minutes shall be initially set for approval on a consent agenda.  Any 
Councilmember may request that the minutes be removed from the 
consent agenda for full discussion and consideration of proposed 
amendments or revisions by the Town Council prior to any motion for 
approval.  Every Councilmember may, at the member’s option, vote to 
approve or reject the minutes of any meeting notwithstanding such 
member’s absence from the meeting. 

 
f. At any time prior to the Town Clerk’s certification of the minutes as 

approved by the Town Council, the Town Clerk may change the minutes to 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 8 

correct spelling or typographical errors, provided that such change does 
not alter the substance or meaning of the minutes. 

g. The Clerk of the meeting at which the minutes are approved shall sign the 
approved minutes. 

 
2.11 Agenda and Order of Business 

 
a. A regular meeting of the Town Council will have an established order of 

business generally along the following guidelines which may be modified 
by the Presiding Officer in accordance with the Rules of Order: 

 
 Call to Order, Roll Call 
 Approval of Agenda 
 Recognitions, proclamations, and appointments 
 Communications to Council 
 Consent agenda (handling of routine business)  

 
B. Resolutions 
C. Approval of Town Council Minutes 
D. Excused Absences 

 Discussion Business 
A. Consideration of Ordinances (second reading/public 

hearing) 
B. Resolutions 
C. Other 

7. Planning Matters
8. Reports

10. Adjournment  
 

2.12 Setting Agendas     
 
The Mayor and the Town Manager have the task of setting the meeting agendas for 
regular and special meetings and for work sessions of the Town Council.  In addition, two 
members of the Town Council may request that the Town Manager place an item on a 
meeting agenda. 
  
2.13 Requesting Future Agenda Items 
 
Any Councilmember, the Town Manager, or the Town Attorney may request that the Town 
Council formally consider any Town business or other matter of public interest at a future 
meeting by raising the request with the Town Council during any regular meeting.  Upon 
confirmation by a consensus of the Town Council that the Town Council desires to 
entertain consideration or review of the proposed business or matter, the Presiding Officer 
shall instruct the Town staff to set the matter on the next available agenda or on the 
agenda of a specific meeting. 
 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 9 

2.14 Adjournment of Regular Meetings by 9:00 p.m. 
 
A Town Council regular meeting shall customarily adjourn at or before 9:00 p.m.  
Extending a regular meeting beyond 9:00 p.m. shall require approval of a motion to 
suspend the required adjournment requirement.  A motion may propose to limit the agenda 
matters to be considered after 9:00 p.m. and/or set a later time for adjournment.   
 
As an express condition of adjournment, the Town Council shall formally move to continue 
or postpone all agenda items that will not be considered following adjournment in 
accordance with the Rules of Order.   
 

 Meeting Procedures. 
 

3.1 Parliamentary Rules/Rules of Order 
 
a. Bob’s Rules of Order for Colorado Local Governments (Peak Nine Press 

2023) shall be the parliamentary rules of order for meetings of the Town 
Council (“Rules of Order”).   
 

b. The following additional rules shall be incorporated into the Rules of Order: 
 

 A Councilmember shall not engage in the review or transmission of 
electronic mail or other forms of digital communications or be 
connected to the Internet during any quasi-judicial matter. 

2. Addressing the Town Council – Time Limitations. 
 

(i) Councilmember’s access to the floor when addressing the 
Town Council shall be limited in time as provided by the 
Rules of Order; 

(ii) Guests, presenters, and speakers invited to present to the 
Town Council shall be limited in time as established or 
directed by the Presiding Officer; and  

(iii) For all other persons wishing to address the Town Council 
(other than public hearings, see V. below), such persons 
shall be limited to three (3) minutes for any presentation 
unless the Presiding Officer establishes a different time 
limitation applicable to all such persons wishing to address 
the Town Council. 

c. Voting Methods.   
 

 A simultaneous voice vote or show of hands shall generally be used 
provided that an announcement is made regarding the result of the 
vote, including identification of Councilmember(s) voting on the 
non-prevailing side.  



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 10 

 The Presiding Officer may direct a vote to be made by roll call.  A 
roll call vote by voice shall be required for: 

 
(i) All ordinances on final reading; 
(ii) Any resolution appropriating or borrowing money;  
(iii) Any resolution pertaining to new or existing taxes;  
(iv) Any action concerning an initiative or referendum petition; 

and 
(v) Conveyance of interests in real property. 

 
 Manner of Roll Call.  When roll call voting is used, the roll call vote 

shall be taken in alphabetical order in a rotating manner, as follows:  
on the first roll call vote for the meeting, the Town Clerk will begin 
with the first Councilmember’s name on the list; on the second vote, 
the Town Clerk will begin with the second Councilmember’s name 
on the list and end with the first Councilmember name on the list, 
and continue to rotate the order in this manner.  Such rotation will 
continue without interruption from meeting to meeting. 

 
3.2 Meeting Decorum 

 
a. For regular and special meetings, each Councilmember shall be addressed 

as Mr./Ms. (last name) or Councilmember (last name); the Mayor shall be 
addressed as Mr./Ms. Mayor or Mayor (last name); Town staff, citizens, 
consultants, contractors shall be addressed as Mr./Ms. (last name).  A less 
formal recognition of Councilmembers and others shall be acceptable for 
study or work sessions and executive sessions. 

b. At any regular or special meeting of the Town Council, any member of the 
public desiring to address the Town Council shall first secure the 
permission of, and be recognized by, the Presiding Officer. 

c. Each person addressing the Town Council shall be asked to provide his or 
her name and address for the record.  All comments shall be addressed to 
the Presiding Officer and to the Town Council as a body and not to any 
particular Councilmember thereof or to other members of the audience. 
 

d. Actions which unreasonably disrupt a meeting shall be out of order.  
“Disrupt” shall mean evidently intended or designed to prevent, or 
reasonably preventing, the Town Council from conducting business.  
Disruptive actions may include, but not limited to: (i) constant or consistent 
shouting following the Presiding Officer’s request to speak in a 
conversational voice; (ii) the use of horns, bells, or other sources of 
unwanted and unnecessary sound or noise; (iii) repeated speaking or 
interruption of the meeting without first obtaining the floor or without being 
acknowledged by the Presiding Officer; or (iv) threats of harm or violence.  
Refusal to heed requests to cease disruption may subject the person to 
removal from the meeting. 

 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 11 

e. The use of amplified sound or noise in any meeting shall not be permitted 
unless approved by the Presiding Officer as a necessary part of a 
presentation by a speaker.  The Town’s use of methods to amplify the 
voices of the Councilmembers shall be permitted. 

f. To prevent obstructing the view and hearing of persons attending a 
meeting, posters, banners, signs, or other forms to display shall be 
permitted in meeting rooms provided that such items or materials are 
placed against and along the side perimeter walls of the room in a manner 
not to interfere with access or the safety of attendees. No posters, banners, 
signs, or other forms to display shall be located behind the Town Council 
dais. The Presiding Officer may designate the appropriate location(s) for 
posters, banners, signs, or other forms to display. 

 
 Procedure for Passage of Ordinances (Charter § 6.5) 

 
The procedure for the passage of an Ordinance, other than an Emergency Ordinance, 
shall be as follows: 
 
a. Introduction (first reading) of the Ordinance at any regular or special meeting and 

vote by the Town Council in accordance with the voting requirements established 
by the Charter to move the proposed legislation forward to the second reading. 
Introduction and first reading of the Ordinance may be by placement on the Town 
Council's consent agenda for such meeting. 

b. If the Ordinance is passed upon first reading, publicizing by title only and in 
accordance with the requirements, methods, and procedures for publicizing 
Ordinances as adopted by the Town Council by Ordinance. 

c. Consideration of the Ordinance on second reading at a meeting not earlier than 
six (6) days after the first reading. 

d. Public hearing on the Ordinance (See V. Below). 

e. Roll call vote of the Town Council on the Ordinance following the public hearing. 

f. Any ordinance may be amended before final passage by a roll call of the Town 
Council. 

g. After final passage, the Town Clerk shall publicize the Ordinance by title only with 
the statement that the full text is available for public inspection and acquisition in 
the office of the Town Clerk. Whenever possible, publicizing shall be within ten 
(10) days after final passage. 

h. Unless a later date is specified in the text of the Ordinance, an Ordinance other 
than an Emergency Ordinance shall take effect and be enforced thirty (30) days 
after final publication. 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 12 

 Public Hearings – Procedures. 

Public hearings required by law shall be conducted in general accordance with the 
following procedures.  Deviations from these procedures that do not substantially affect 
the fairness and outcome of the hearing shall be permitted with or without approval of the 
Town Council. 

 
a. Town Clerk shall read the title or subject matter of the item into the record. 

b. The Presiding Officer, in the order indicated, will: 

 Declare the public hearing open; 

 Announce the public hearing procedures (if such procedures were not 
previously explained to the audience in a prior hearing during the same 
meeting); 

 Establish, when determined to be necessary, reasonable time limits for the 
presentation to the Town Council of public comments and testimony during 
the hearing.  Where no other time limits are established: 

(i) Town staff or Town consultants shall not be limited except as 
directed by the Presiding Officer;  
 

(ii) An applicant, permittee, or petitioner (or their representative) whose 
property or other legal rights are the subject of determination during 
the public hearing shall not be subject to time limitations provided 
that the applicant, permittee, or petitioner avoids redundant and 
duplicative testimony or presentation of evidence; 
 

(iii) Scheduled speakers invited to present information to the Town 
Council shall not be subject to time limitations except as directed by 
the Presiding Officer; and 
 

(iv) All other persons shall be limited to three (3) minutes;   
 

 Ask for an introductory presentation by the Town Administration, if 
appropriate; 

 Ask for the applicant’s, permittee’s, or petitioner’s presentation, if 
appropriate; 

 Provide opportunity for public presentation by those who are in favor of 
the matter, opposed to the matter, or who may have general questions 
regarding the pending matter. 

 Any person speaking or presenting any information at the hearing may 
be questioned by the Town Council and, with the consent of the Presiding 
Officer, by the Town Administration. 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 13 

 The Presiding Officer will ask, at times during the hearing determined by 
the Presiding Officer, if any member of Town Council has any questions 
of, or desires any additional information from, anyone who has spoken or 
has presented information during the hearing.  If such is the case, a 
member of Town Council may direct the question and/or request through 
the Presiding Officer to such individual and the response will be limited 
to the answer of the question, as stated. 

c. Cross-examination of persons providing testimony or evidence shall not be 
permitted.   

d. The Presiding Officer may, on his/her own initiative or at the request of a 
Councilmember or the applicant, permittee, or petitioner, afford the applicant, 
permittee, or petitioner an opportunity to rebut or address statements or testimony 
presented by the general public or Town Administration.  Rebuttal shall be limited 
only to subjects and matters raised during the hearing and is not intended to 
provide an opportunity for the applicant, permittee, or petitioner to present new 
evidence or information not offered during the main presentation.  The Presiding 
Officer may, in the Officer’s discretion, provide an opportunity for the general public 
to address issues, information, or matters newly raised during a rebuttal.  

e. Following questions from Town Council, the Presiding Officer will declare the 
public hearing closed and the matter will be remanded to the Town Council for 
consideration. 

f. Upon the closure of the public hearing, the Town Council will seek to avoid 
additional questioning of any hearing participant except as may be found 
necessary by the Presiding Officer to quickly clarify a factual question or resolve a 
factual matter of dispute between members of the Town Council.  No additional 
unsolicited testimony shall be entertained or accepted by the Town Council.  The 
public hearing may only be reopened for good cause shown by a majority vote of 
the quorum present and only for the sole purpose of receiving specifically identified 
and focused testimony.  In the event a public hearing is reopened, all persons in 
attendance shall be provided an opportunity to provide testimony regarding the 
specifically identified matter for which the hearing was reopened.   

g. The Town Council may, with leave of the Presiding Officer, request legal advice or 
direction from the Town Attorney at any time.  

VI. Amendments. 

These Bylaws may be amended by a majority vote of Councilmembers present at a Town 
Council meeting at which a quorum exists.  Any proposed amendments shall be submitted 
in writing to each member of Town Council at least two (2) weeks in advance of the Town 
Council meeting at which such amendments are to be considered. 

 
ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL THIS _____DAY OF__________, 2024. 
 



TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
 

TOWN COUNCIL BYLAWS 
 
 

 
 

 
DATE OF POLICY/REVISIONS: 

 

 
Original Enactment:  April 8, 2024 
Resolution No. 2024-32 
 

 
SCHEDULED REVIEW AND 

REVISION: 

 
As deemed necessary or desired by the Town 
Council or upon recommendation of the Town 
Manager or Town Attorney. 
 

 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

 

 
None 

 
AUTHORITY/REFERENCE(S): 

 

 
Keystone Charter, Section 3.8. 
 
Titles 29 and 31, C.R.S., and the Colorado Open 
Meetings Law, C.R.S. §§ 24-6-401 et seq., as 
interpreted by the Colorado appellate courts. 
 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 2 
 
 
 

 

TOWN COUNCIL BYLAWS 
 
 
These Bylaws are intended to direct and assist the Town Council for the Town of Keystone, 
Colorado, in the conduct of meetings and the conduct of public business.  These Bylaws and 
Procedures shall be interpreted consistently with the Keystone Home Rule Charter (“Charter”) 
and, in the event of a conflict between these Bylaws and Procedures and the Charter, the Charter 
shall govern and control.  
 
References to “Councilmember,” “Councilmembers,” or “Town Council” shall include the Mayor 
unless the context provides otherwise. 
 
I. Legislative Body & Officers 

 
1.1 Town Council 
 

The Town Council is the legislative and governing body of the Town.   
 
1.2 Mayor – Presiding Officer 

 
The Mayor shall be the Presiding Officer at all meetings of the Town Council.  The 
Mayor is a member of the Town Council.  The role of Presiding Officer may be 
assigned to another member of the Town Council in accordance with the Rules of 
Order. 

 
1.3 Mayor Pro Tem 

 
The Town Council shall elect one of its members to serve as Mayor Pro Tem in 
accordance with the Keystone Home Rule Charter.  The process for nomination 
and election of the Mayor Pro Tem shall be determined by the Town Council which 
process may be established by Resolution. 

 
1.4 Temporary Chair 

 
a. In the event of the absence, conflict of interest, or disability of both the 

Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem that would prevent them from attending any 
meeting of the Town Council, the Town Clerk shall call such meeting to 
order and shall call the roll.  The Town Council shall then proceed to elect, 
by a majority vote of those present, a Councilmember to serve as the 
Temporary Chairperson for the meeting. 
 

b. The Temporary Chairperson shall serve as Presiding Officer until the arrival 
or the resolution of the conflict of interest of the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem 
at which time the Temporary Chair shall relinquish the chair upon 
conclusion of the agenda item or other business then before the Town 
Council. 

 
 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 3 
 

 

II. Town Council Meetings. 
 

2.1 Regular Meetings 
 
a. The Town Council shall meet regularly at least once each month at a day 

and hour and place to be fixed by the Rules of Order of each Town Council 
adopted by Resolution. The intent is that the Town Council will conduct in 
person meetings, unless circumstances necessitate another form of 
meeting. The procedures for in person meetings and the circumstances 
necessitating another form of meeting shall be defined by the Rules of 
Order of the Town Council. (Charter § 3.1) 
 

b. For ease of administration, an approved schedule of meeting dates, times, 
and places for regular meetings may be administratively considered and 
approved for each calendar year by the Town Council.  The Town Council 
reserves the authority to modify or adjust any previously approved meeting 
schedule or to change meeting days or times as may be needed for 
convenience or to accommodate holidays, anticipated lack of quorum, and 
other events or circumstances.  
 

c. When a regular meeting must be cancelled due to unforeseen or 
unanticipated circumstances, such as but not limited to emergency, 
adverse weather conditions, absence of quorum, or failure to post any 
required public notice, the Mayor, or the Mayor Pro Tem in the Mayor’s 
absence, is authorized to instruct staff to cancel the regular meeting and 
the Mayor may reschedule the meeting to another date and time.  The 
Town Clerk shall prepare a notice of the meeting cancellation and the 
rescheduled meeting and shall cause the notice to be delivered through 
reasonable and customary means, including by posting notice on public 
entry doors of the Keystone Center and posting on the Town’s Website.   
 

2.2 Special Meetings 
 

a. Special meetings of the Town Council shall be called by the Town Clerk on 
the oral request of two (2) or more members of Town Council with at least 
twenty-four (24) hours' notice to each member of the Town Council and to 
the public, delivered in accordance with the Rules of Order of the Town 
Council and the requirements of this Charter and the Colorado Open 
Meetings Law. (Charter § 3.2) 
 

b. No business shall be conducted at a special meeting of the Town Council 
unless the business has been stated in the notice of such meeting; except 
that any business which may lawfully come before a regular meeting of the 
Town Council may be transacted at a special meeting if all members of the 
Town Council present consent thereto and all the Councilmembers absent 
file their written consent. 
 

c. Executive sessions may be held during any properly convened special 
meeting. 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 4 
 

 

 
2.3 Emergency Meetings 

 
a. Emergency meetings of the Town Council shall be called by the Town Clerk 

on the oral request of two (2) or more members of Town Council with less 
than twenty-four (24) hours' notice. An emergency meeting may be called 
in the event of an immediate danger or threat to the public health, welfare, 
peace, safety or property for the purpose of preservation or protection of 
the public health, welfare, peace, safety or property. Unless it is impractical, 
all members of the Town Council shall be notified of such meeting and such 
meeting may be held if a Quorum consents. Maximum practical notice, 
including posted notice, shall be given to the public stating the purpose, 
time, place and manner of any such meeting. (Charter § 3.3) 

 
b. Any business which may lawfully come before a regular meeting of the 

Town Council may be transacted at an emergency meeting. 
 

c. Due to the emergency nature of the meeting, no Quorum of the Town 
Council is required although a Quorum is strongly desired wherever 
practicable. Where a Quorum does not attend the emergency meeting, the 
action of the Town Council at the emergency meeting will need to be ratified 
by the Town Council at the next meeting at which a Quorum is in 
attendance.  
 

2.4 Study or Work Sessions 
 

a. The Town Council may hold study or work sessions as deemed necessary 
or desirable.  Study or work sessions shall be called in the same manner 
as a Special Meeting or called by the Town Manager in consultation with 
the Town Clerk. 
 

b. No legally binding or formal action shall be taken at any such session.  The 
Council may provide general administrative direction to the Town Manager 
by simple concurrence or consensus of the members of the Town Council.  
 

c. A study or work session shall customarily be limited to the presentation of 
information to the Town Council and to Town Council’s discussion of such 
information.  Public comment upon matters under study or discussion shall 
not be typically entertained except upon concurrence of the Council 
members in attendance.  No Quorum shall be required at any study or work 
session.  

 
d. Executive sessions shall not be conducted during a study or work session. 

 
2.5 Quorum 
 
Where a quorum is required by these Bylaws, a majority of the members of the Town 
Council in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at all Town 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 5 
 

 

Council meetings.  In the absence of a Quorum, a meeting may be rescheduled to a later 
date and time as permitted by Town Council's adopted Rules of Order. 
 
2.6 Meetings to be Public 
 
All meetings of the Town Council shall be open to the public except as permitted by law. 
At Town Council meetings, members of the public shall have a reasonable opportunity to 
be heard except for those meetings that are designated as study or work sessions. In 
compliance with the Colorado Open Meetings Law, the Town Clerk shall keep a record of 
the proceedings of each meeting. The intent is that, when feasible, Town Council will allow 
for a remote meeting option for the public's attendance and participation at open meetings. 
(Charter § 3.5) The Town Council may adopt a remote meeting policy to further define the 
public’s attendance and participation through the remote meeting option.  
 
2.7 Meeting Notice 

 
The Town Council shall adopt a Resolution that establishes public notice and posting 
requirements in accordance with the Colorado Open Meetings Law including designating 
the Town official site for posting the agenda at least 24 hours in advance of the public 
meeting (except for emergency meetings as governed by Charter § 3.3) and such 
designation shall be deemed automatically readopted at the Town Council's first regular 
meeting of each calendar year unless otherwise determined by the Town Council. 
(Charter § 3.10) 
 
2.8 Town Council Attendance and Absences 
 

a. All Town Councilmembers are expected to attend all regular, special, work 
and study session meetings unless excused from attendance in 
accordance with this section.  Councilmembers are expected to attend 
Town Council meetings in person unless a different form of attendance is 
authorized or in person attendance is excused. (Charter § 3.9) 
 

b. Three (3) or more unexcused absences by a member of the Town Council 
in any one (1) calendar year shall constitute grounds for sanctions or 
removal.  
 

c. Excused Absences. 
 
1. The Presiding Officer shall excuse an absence of the Mayor or any 

Councilmember from all or any portion of a meeting where: 
 

(i) The Mayor or Councilmember contacted the Mayor, Town 
Manager, or Town Clerk in advance of the meeting 
regarding the reason for the absence; and 
 

(ii) The reason for the absence is due to circumstances that 
were unforeseeable or unavoidable, such as but not limited 
to, emergency, illness, or last-minute familial obligations. An 
excuse shall not be granted where the Mayor or 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 6 
 

 

Councilmember’s absence is due to the person’s desire to 
attend other meetings or functions unless the person’s 
attendance at the meeting or function was: (i) requested or 
directed by the Town Council; or (ii) undertaken in the 
Councilmember’s appointed role as Town Council 
representative to a board, commission, or body. 
 

(iii) An absence may not be excused if the Councilmember has 
been absent for more than two (2) consecutive regular 
meetings due to a vacation. 
 

(iv) If a Councilmember is absent for both a work or study 
session on the same date, that absence is only counted as 
one and not two absences.  
  

(v) If advance notice is provided, an excused absence may be 
ratified by Town Council on the consent agenda. 

 
2. The Presiding Officer may excuse an absence of any 

Councilmember from a meeting or a portion of a meeting 
subsequent to the meeting where: 

 
(i) The Councilmember’s requested excuse was due to 

circumstances that were unforeseeable or unavoidable, 
such as but not limited to, accident, emergency, illness, or 
last-minute familial obligations; and 
 

(ii) The circumstances surrounding the excuse did not permit 
the Councilmember to timely contact the Mayor, Town 
Manager, or Town Clerk prior to the meeting as provided by 
paragraph (B) above. 

 
3. Members of Town Council are permitted three (3) excused 

absences as a result of electronic participation in a Town Council 
meeting. Electronic participation as a result of the reasons identified 
in paragraph 2.8.c.ii are not counted toward this limitation. The 
limitation on the number of permitted excused absences is effective 
beginning January 1, 2025.  

 
d. The Presiding Officer’s decision regarding the recognition or denial of any 

absence shall be subject to appeal as provided by the Rules of Order. 
 
2.9 Town Attorney 
 
Unless otherwise excused by the Town Council, the Town Attorney or the Town Attorney’s 
designated representative is expected to attend all regular, special, or emergency 
meetings of the Town Council and attend such other meetings and sessions of the Town 
Council as the Town Council may request. The Town Attorney may attend meetings by a 
remote meeting option.  



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 7 
 

 

 
2.10 Town Clerk, Written Minutes, and Official Record 
 

a. The Town Clerk, or the Town Clerk's designated representative, shall 
attend and shall keep written minutes of each regular or special meeting of 
the Town Council.  Written meeting minutes may be a brief and concise 
summary or synopsis of actions taken by the Town Council, the titles of 
ordinances and resolutions considered, votes taken, and other action items 
and general topics of discussion. Meeting minutes need not record what 
was said during the meeting.   

 
b. The minutes shall record how each Councilmember voted on each 

question, except that where the vote was unanimous it shall only be 
necessary for the minutes to so state. 

 
c. The official record of a Town Council meeting shall be the Town’s electronic 

recording of the meeting, if any, and in the absence of an electronic 
recording or in the event of recording equipment malfunction, the official 
record shall be the written meeting minutes. 

d. A Councilmember shall have the privilege of having his or her statement 
on any subject then under consideration by the Town Council entered into 
the written minutes.  Such request must be made before the Presiding 
Officer puts the question to a vote and must be accompanied by the 
statement, "For the Record," to alert the Town Clerk of the need to include 
such remarks in the written minutes.  A Councilmember’s lengthy statement 
for the record is strongly encouraged to be submitted to the Town Clerk in 
writing prior to the meeting. At the Town Clerk’s discretion, unwritten 
lengthy oral statements may be summarized in the written minutes with 
attribution to the speaker.  
 

e. Minutes of a previous meeting will not be read provided each member of 
Town Council has been provided access to a copy of the minutes in 
advance of the meeting at which the minutes are to be approved.  Written 
minutes shall be initially set for approval on a consent agenda.  Any 
Councilmember may request that the minutes be removed from the 
consent agenda for full discussion and consideration of proposed 
amendments or revisions by the Town Council prior to any motion for 
approval.  Every Councilmember may, at the member’s option, vote to 
approve or reject the minutes of any meeting notwithstanding such 
member’s absence from the meeting. 

 
f. At any time prior to the Town Clerk’s certification of the minutes as 

approved by the Town Council, the Town Clerk may change the minutes to 
correct spelling or typographical errors, provided that such change does 
not alter the substance or meaning of the minutes. 

g. The Clerk of the meeting at which the minutes are approved shall sign the 
approved minutes. 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 8 
 

 

 
2.11 Agenda and Order of Business 

 
a. A regular meeting of the Town Council will have an established order of 

business generally along the following guidelines which may be modified 
by the Presiding Officer in accordance with the Rules of Order: 

 
1. Call to Order, Roll Call 
2. Approval of Agenda 
3. Recognitions, proclamations, and appointments 
4. Communications to Council 
5. Consent agenda (handling of routine business)  

A. Firs t Reading of Ordinances   
B. Resolutions 
C. Approval of Town Council Minutes 
D. Excused Absences 

6. Discussion Business 
A. Consideration of Ordinances (second reading/public 

hearing) 
B. Resolutions 
C. Other 

7. Planning Matters 
8. Reports 
9. Other Matters  
10. Adjournment  

 

2.12 Setting Agendas     
 
The Mayor and the Town Manager have the task of setting the meeting agendas for 
regular and special meetings and for work sessions of the Town Council.  In addition, two 
members of the Town Council may request that the Town Manager place an item on a 
meeting agenda. 
  
2.13 Requesting Future Agenda Items 
 
Any Councilmember, the Town Manager, or the Town Attorney may request that the Town 
Council formally consider any Town business or other matter of public interest at a future 
meeting by raising the request with the Town Council during any regular meeting.  Upon 
confirmation by a consensus of the Town Council that the Town Council desires to 
entertain consideration or review of the proposed business or matter, the Presiding Officer 
shall instruct the Town staff to set the matter on the next available agenda or on the 
agenda of a specific meeting. 
 
2.14 Adjournment of Regular Meetings by 9:00 p.m. 
 
A Town Council regular meeting shall customarily adjourn at or before 9:00 p.m.  
Extending a regular meeting beyond 9:00 p.m. shall require approval of a motion to 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 9 
 

 

suspend the required adjournment requirement.  A motion may propose to limit the agenda 
matters to be considered after 9:00 p.m. and/or set a later time for adjournment.   
 
As an express condition of adjournment, the Town Council shall formally move to continue 
or postpone all agenda items that will not be considered following adjournment in 
accordance with the Rules of Order.   
 

III. Meeting Procedures. 
 

3.1 Parliamentary Rules/Rules of Order 
 
a. Bob’s Rules of Order for Colorado Local Governments (Peak Nine Press 

2023) shall be the parliamentary rules of order for meetings of the Town 
Council (“Rules of Order”).   
 

b. The following additional rules shall be incorporated into the Rules of Order: 
 
1. A Councilmember shall not engage in the review or transmission of 

electronic mail or other forms of digital communications or be 
connected to the Internet during any quasi-judicial matter. 

2. Addressing the Town Council – Time Limitations. 
 

(i) Councilmember’s access to the floor when addressing the 
Town Council shall be limited in time as provided by the 
Rules of Order; 

(ii) Guests, presenters, and speakers invited to present to the 
Town Council shall be limited in time as established or 
directed by the Presiding Officer; and  

(iii) For all other persons wishing to address the Town Council 
(other than public hearings, see V. below), such persons 
shall be limited to three (3) minutes for any presentation 
unless the Presiding Officer establishes a different time 
limitation applicable to all such persons wishing to address 
the Town Council. 

c. Voting Methods.   
 
1. A simultaneous voice vote or show of hands shall generally be used 

provided that an announcement is made regarding the result of the 
vote, including identification of Councilmember(s) voting on the 
non-prevailing side.  

2. The Presiding Officer may direct a vote to be made by roll call.  A 
roll call vote by voice shall be required for: 

 
(i) All ordinances on final reading; 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 10 
 

 

(ii) Any resolution appropriating or borrowing money;  
(iii) Any resolution pertaining to new or existing taxes;  
(iv) Any action concerning an initiative or referendum petition; 

and 
(v) Conveyance of interests in real property. 

 
3. Manner of Roll Call.  When roll call voting is used, the roll call vote 

shall be taken in alphabetical order in a rotating manner, as follows:  
on the first roll call vote for the meeting, the Town Clerk will begin 
with the first Councilmember’s name on the list; on the second vote, 
the Town Clerk will begin with the second Councilmember’s name 
on the list and end with the first Councilmember name on the list, 
and continue to rotate the order in this manner.  Such rotation will 
continue without interruption from meeting to meeting. 

 
3.2 Meeting Decorum 

 
a. For regular and special meetings, each Councilmember shall be addressed 

as Mr./Ms. (last name) or Councilmember (last name); the Mayor shall be 
addressed as Mr./Ms. Mayor or Mayor (last name); Town staff, citizens, 
consultants, contractors shall be addressed as Mr./Ms. (last name).  A less 
formal recognition of Councilmembers and others shall be acceptable for 
study or work sessions and executive sessions. 

b. At any regular or special meeting of the Town Council, any member of the 
public desiring to address the Town Council shall first secure the 
permission of, and be recognized by, the Presiding Officer. 

c. Each person addressing the Town Council shall be asked to provide his or 
her name and address for the record.  All comments shall be addressed to 
the Presiding Officer and to the Town Council as a body and not to any 
particular Councilmember thereof or to other members of the audience. 
 

d. Actions which unreasonably disrupt a meeting shall be out of order.  
“Disrupt” shall mean evidently intended or designed to prevent, or 
reasonably preventing, the Town Council from conducting business.  
Disruptive actions may include, but not limited to: (i) constant or consistent 
shouting following the Presiding Officer’s request to speak in a 
conversational voice; (ii) the use of horns, bells, or other sources of 
unwanted and unnecessary sound or noise; (iii) repeated speaking or 
interruption of the meeting without first obtaining the floor or without being 
acknowledged by the Presiding Officer; or (iv) threats of harm or violence.  
Refusal to heed requests to cease disruption may subject the person to 
removal from the meeting. 

 
e. The use of amplified sound or noise in any meeting shall not be permitted 

unless approved by the Presiding Officer as a necessary part of a 
presentation by a speaker.  The Town’s use of methods to amplify the 
voices of the Councilmembers shall be permitted. 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 11 
 

 

f. To prevent obstructing the view and hearing of persons attending a 
meeting, posters, banners, signs, or other forms to display shall be 
permitted in meeting rooms provided that such items or materials are 
placed against and along the side perimeter walls of the room in a manner 
not to interfere with access or the safety of attendees. No posters, banners, 
signs, or other forms to display shall be located behind the Town Council 
dais. The Presiding Officer may designate the appropriate location(s) for 
posters, banners, signs, or other forms to display. 

 
IV. Procedure for Passage of Ordinances (Charter § 6.5) 
 

The procedure for the passage of an Ordinance, other than an Emergency Ordinance, 
shall be as follows: 
 
a. Introduction (first reading) of the Ordinance at any regular or special meeting and 

vote by the Town Council in accordance with the voting requirements established 
by the Charter to move the proposed legislation forward to the second reading. 
Introduction and first reading of the Ordinance may be by placement on the Town 
Council's consent agenda for such meeting. 

b. If the Ordinance is passed upon first reading, publicizing by title only and in 
accordance with the requirements, methods, and procedures for publicizing 
Ordinances as adopted by the Town Council by Ordinance. 

c. Consideration of the Ordinance on second reading at a meeting not earlier than 
six (6) days after the first reading. 

d. Public hearing on the Ordinance (See V. Below). 

e. Roll call vote of the Town Council on the Ordinance following the public hearing. 

f. Any ordinance may be amended before final passage by a roll call of the Town 
Council. 

g. After final passage, the Town Clerk shall publicize the Ordinance by title only with 
the statement that the full text is available for public inspection and acquisition in 
the office of the Town Clerk. Whenever possible, publicizing shall be within ten 
(10) days after final passage. 

h. Unless a later date is specified in the text of the Ordinance, an Ordinance other 
than an Emergency Ordinance shall take effect and be enforced thirty (30) days 
after final publication. 

V. Public Hearings – Procedures. 

Public hearings required by law shall be conducted in general accordance with the 
following procedures.  Deviations from these procedures that do not substantially affect 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 12 
 

 

the fairness and outcome of the hearing shall be permitted with or without approval of the 
Town Council. 

 
a. Town Clerk shall read the title or subject matter of the item into the record. 

b. The Presiding Officer, in the order indicated, will: 

1. Declare the public hearing open; 

2. Announce the public hearing procedures (if such procedures were not 
previously explained to the audience in a prior hearing during the same 
meeting); 

3. Establish, when determined to be necessary, reasonable time limits for the 
presentation to the Town Council of public comments and testimony during 
the hearing.  Where no other time limits are established: 

(i) Town staff or Town consultants shall not be limited except as 
directed by the Presiding Officer;  
 

(ii) An applicant, permittee, or petitioner (or their representative) whose 
property or other legal rights are the subject of determination during 
the public hearing shall not be subject to time limitations provided 
that the applicant, permittee, or petitioner avoids redundant and 
duplicative testimony or presentation of evidence; 
 

(iii) Scheduled speakers invited to present information to the Town 
Council shall not be subject to time limitations except as directed by 
the Presiding Officer; and 
 

(iv) All other persons shall be limited to three (3) minutes;   
 

4. Ask for an introductory presentation by the Town Administration, if 
appropriate; 

5. Ask for the applicant’s, permittee’s, or petitioner’s presentation, if 
appropriate; 

6. Provide opportunity for public presentation by those who are in favor of 
the matter, opposed to the matter, or who may have general questions 
regarding the pending matter. 

7. Any person speaking or presenting any information at the hearing may 
be questioned by the Town Council and, with the consent of the Presiding 
Officer, by the Town Administration. 

8. The Presiding Officer will ask, at times during the hearing determined by 
the Presiding Officer, if any member of Town Council has any questions 
of, or desires any additional information from, anyone who has spoken or 



Town of Keystone 
Town Council Bylaws 

Page 13 
 

 

has presented information during the hearing.  If such is the case, a 
member of Town Council may direct the question and/or request through 
the Presiding Officer to such individual and the response will be limited 
to the answer of the question, as stated. 

c. Cross-examination of persons providing testimony or evidence shall not be 
permitted.   

d. The Presiding Officer may, on his/her own initiative or at the request of a 
Councilmember or the applicant, permittee, or petitioner, afford the applicant, 
permittee, or petitioner an opportunity to rebut or address statements or testimony 
presented by the general public or Town Administration.  Rebuttal shall be limited 
only to subjects and matters raised during the hearing and is not intended to 
provide an opportunity for the applicant, permittee, or petitioner to present new 
evidence or information not offered during the main presentation.  The Presiding 
Officer may, in the Officer’s discretion, provide an opportunity for the general public 
to address issues, information, or matters newly raised during a rebuttal.  

e. Following questions from Town Council, the Presiding Officer will declare the 
public hearing closed and the matter will be remanded to the Town Council for 
consideration. 

f. Upon the closure of the public hearing, the Town Council will seek to avoid 
additional questioning of any hearing participant except as may be found 
necessary by the Presiding Officer to quickly clarify a factual question or resolve a 
factual matter of dispute between members of the Town Council.  No additional 
unsolicited testimony shall be entertained or accepted by the Town Council.  The 
public hearing may only be reopened for good cause shown by a majority vote of 
the quorum present and only for the sole purpose of receiving specifically identified 
and focused testimony.  In the event a public hearing is reopened, all persons in 
attendance shall be provided an opportunity to provide testimony regarding the 
specifically identified matter for which the hearing was reopened.   

g. The Town Council may, with leave of the Presiding Officer, request legal advice or 
direction from the Town Attorney at any time.  

VI. Amendments. 

These Bylaws may be amended by a majority vote of Councilmembers present at a Town 
Council meeting at which a quorum exists.  Any proposed amendments shall be submitted 
in writing to each member of Town Council at least two (2) weeks in advance of the Town 
Council meeting at which such amendments are to be considered. 

 
ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL THIS _____DAY OF__________, 2024. 
 



Page 1 of 2 

TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
STAFF REPORT 

TO:            Mayor & Town Councilmembers 

THROUGH:   John Crone, Town Manager 

FROM:   Jennifer Madsen, Town Attorney 

DATE:   September 24, 2024 

SUBJECT: Discussion of electronic participation and fully remote 

meeting policy  

Executive Summary: 

At the September 10 meeting, the Town Council initiated discussion of a policy related 

to electronic participation by members of Town Council at work sessions and regular 

meetings. Town Council provided some input on an electronic participation and fully 

remote meeting policy.  

Background: 

Town Council adopted bylaws on April 9, 2024. The adopted Town Council bylaws did 

not specifically address electronic participation in meetings by members of Town 

Council. Town Council is considering revisions to the bylaws to address electronic 

participation at meetings of the Town Council.  

With the use of a video-conferencing platform for Town Council meetings, it is 

recommended that Town Council consider a policy related to electronic participation at 

in-person meetings and fully remote meetings. A draft Electronic Participation and Fully 

Remote Meeting policy is provided for Town Council’s review and consideration. Based 

on Town Council’s comments at the September 10 meeting, edits were made to this 

draft policy. A redline draft is provided to demonstrate the changes. Other communities 

have adopted similar electronic meeting policies to provide a process on electronic 



Page 2 of 2 
 

participation and to be able to continue Town Council business during emergency 

situations.  

Here is a summary of the Electronic Participation and Fully Remote draft policy: 

• Town Council may conduct a fully remote (all participating electronically) during 

an emergency. Emergency is defined in the policy.  

• The Town Manager has the discretion as to whether any quasi-judicial hearings 

are placed on the agenda for fully remote meetings. 

• Except in emergencies, Town Council and the Planning and Zoning Commission 

meet in person. 

• Members of Town Council may electronically participate in in-person meetings as 

outlined in the policy and as highlighted here: the bylaws permit electronic 

participation; only three members can participate electronically at any one 

meeting; the communication must be clear and uninterrupted; and no voting on 

quasi-judicial matters. 

Attachment: 

• DRAFT Electronic Participation and Fully Remote Meeting 

• DRAFT Electronic Participation and Fully Remote Meeting (redline) 

 



 

 

TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
 

ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION AND FULLY REMOTE MEETINGS 
 

I. Purposes. 
 
With advancements in communication equipment, meeting participation through electronic 
means such as web-based meetings and voice or videoconferencing has become more 
popular within many local governments. However, virtual or other electronic participation has 
inherent limitations because such participation may make more difficult a member’s ability to 
fully view documentary information presented during meetings, to fully evaluate a speaker’s 
non-verbal language in assessing veracity or credibility, and to fully observe nonverbal 
explanations (e.g., pointing at graphs and charts) during a speaker’s presentation or 
testimony. 
 
The purposes of this Town Council Policy are: 
 
A. although not preferable, to specify the circumstances under which an individual 

member of Town Council or member of a Town Board may participate in Town Council 
or Board meetings, respectively, by other electronic means; and 

 
B. to recognize that, in rare circumstances, such as during or following natural disasters, 

severe weather events or public health emergencies, the conditions under which all 
members of Town Council or members of a Board may participate in regular, special, 
and emergency meetings and executive sessions by t electronic means should 
necessarily be expanded to ensure that the Town government can continue to function 
to the extent possible to protect the public health, safety and welfare, while still 
ensuring transparency and protecting the procedural due process and other rights of 
the public, applicants, and interested persons; and   

 
C. to authorize the Town Manager to adopt administrative procedures that set a process 

for holding certain quasi-judicial hearings to allow some or all evidence, including 
public hearing comment, to be submitted in advance of the hearing date and time, such 
evidence to be made part of the record before the determining body, and to authorize 
the Town Manager to determine the selection of matters to be heard in such manner.  
 

II. Applicability. 

This Policy shall be applicable to the Town Council and to Boards, as such term is defined in 
Section III. 

III. Definitions. 

“Board” shall mean the following board, commission, or committee of the Town of 
Keystone: 

• Planning and Zoning Commission  
• Trails and Open Space Advisory Board 
• Business Advisory Board  
• Other boards, commissions and committees formed by Town Council 

“Board member” shall mean all members of the particular Board of the Town subject 
to this Policy.  



Town of Keystone 
Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 2 
 

“Member of Town Council” shall mean the Mayor or other Councilmember of the Town 
Council of the Town of Keystone. 

“Electronic participation” or “electronically participate” shall mean participating in a 
meeting by web-based video or audio-conferencing platform as determined by the 
Town Clerk or by telephone. 

“Emergency” shall mean a public health or other emergency caused by epidemic, 
pandemic, or other natural or other physical disaster that renders it unsafe to physically 
meet or travel to physically meet in a public setting as determined by the Mayor or the 
Town Manager.  

“Fully remote meeting” shall mean a meeting held entirely by electronic participation. 

“Hybrid meeting” shall mean a meeting held by a combination of both in-person and 
electronic participation.  

“In-person” shall mean participating in a meeting by being physically present at the 
designated meeting location.  

“Meeting” shall mean a regular, special, work session or study session meeting of the 
Town Council or meeting of a Town Board that is required to be an “open meeting” 
under the Colorado Open Meetings law. 

IV. Statement of Policy. 

A. Times of Emergency - Fully Remote Meetings of Town Council and Boards. 

This Section IV(A) applies to Town Council and Boards. During times of emergency, a meeting 
of the Town Council or any Board may be, but is not required to be, held as a fully remote 
electronic meeting as follows: 

1. Open Meetings. The Town Clerk or the Town Clerk’s designee shall take 
reasonable and practical measures to ensure that:  

a.  Each fully remote meeting is open to the public at all times; and  

b. Information is provided to enable the public to electronically participate 
such that the public is always reasonably able to hear comments and 
testimony but, unless a quasi-judicial hearing is taking place in 
accordance with Section IV(A)(4) or there is an applicable legal 
requirement otherwise, it is not necessary to provide a means for the 
public to speak and, in the case of a video-conference fully remote 
meeting, it is not necessary to provide a means for the public to view 
the meeting; and 

c.  Each fully remote meeting provides Town staff and the public a 
reasonable opportunity to provide comments, which may include 
requiring the public to provide written comments/questions to the Town 
Clerk or the Town Clerk’s designee prior to the start of the meeting, 
except during public hearings for which public comment shall be taken 
at the time of the hearing; and 



Town of Keystone 
Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 3 
 

d. All members of Town Council or Board members can clearly and 
without interruption hear one another or otherwise communicate with 
one another and can hear or read all discussion and testimony in a 
manner designed to provide maximum notice and participation; and 

e.  All votes are conducted by roll call.  

2. Notice of Fully Remote Meetings. Notice of fully remote meetings, including 
instructions on how the public may electronically attend the meeting, shall be 
provided in accordance with the Town’s then-effective resolution designating 
the location for posting public notices whenever possible. If the nature of the 
emergency precludes the Town from so posting, the Town will use all 
reasonable efforts to provide notice to the public of its fully remote meeting, 
including whenever possible, posting such notice on the Town’s web site and 
Town-maintained social media pages, providing notice to other local news 
channels, if available. 

3. Executive Sessions. As permitted by Colorado law, participation during an 
executive session held during a fully remote meeting shall be available only 
after each participating member of Town Council or Board member affirms on 
the record that each such member of Town Council or Board member is 
participating in a secure and confidential manner in a location where no other 
persons can hear the content of the executive session and such participant 
shall not record or transmit the executive session. In addition, participants in 
an executive session shall endeavor to keep the camera setting on during the 
executive session when the session is conducted on a video-conferencing 
platform.  

4. Quasi-judicial matters. The Town Manager has discretion to determine that any 
quasi-judicial hearing shall not be placed on the agenda of a fully remote 
meeting and such administrative decision is final. This Policy creates no right 
in favor of any party to have a quasi-judicial matter heard at a fully remote 
meeting. The Town may, however, in its sole discretion, allow such quasi-
judicial hearing in accordance with the requirements of this Section IV(A)(4).  

a. No public hearings on quasi-judicial matters shall be held and no votes 
on quasi-judicial actions shall be taken during a fully remote meeting 
except: 

i. if, due to emergency or other reasons, the Town is generally 
holding public meetings as fully remote meetings; and  

ii. if such quasi-judicial matters heard during fully remote meetings 
provide the ability for interested members of the public to 
reasonably participate in the hearing; and   

iii. in accordance with the following:  

A.   The applicant in the quasi-judicial matter must make a 
written request for the matter to be heard during a fully remote 
meeting on a form provided by the Town Clerk or the Town 



Town of Keystone 
Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 4 
 

Clerk’s designee, acknowledging that holding a quasi-judicial 
hearing at a fully remote meeting presents certain legal risks 
and involves an area of legal uncertainty, and agreeing that 
moving forward with a quasi-judicial hearing at a fully remote 
meeting shall be at the applicant’s own risk. Applicants 
requesting determinations on quasi-judicial matters during fully 
remote meetings shall agree in writing to hold harmless, defend 
and indemnify the Town for any costs, damages or claims, 
including costs of defense, in any action that alleges that holding 
such hearing during a fully remote meeting was improper, 
unauthorized, or otherwise denied the applicant rights attendant 
to a public hearing. 

B. Upon receipt of a written request, the Town Manager or 
the Town Manager’s designee shall (1) determine whether the 
Town has the capability to hold the particular type of hearing at 
a fully remote meeting, (2) determine what available platform, 
format or procedure for the fully remote meeting is most 
appropriate for the type of hearing, and (3) set date(s) for the 
hearing(s).   

C. The platform, format or procedure chosen by the Town 
Manager or the Town Manager’s designee shall ensure that the 
entire body, the applicant, and the public all have the ability to 
view or listen to the hearing in real time and that interested 
parties may provide input and ask questions when appropriate, 
which may be before or at the hearing. If documents or 
presentations are to be viewed, the platform format or process 
shall similarly either allow the entire body, the applicant and 
interested parties the ability to view the documents or 
presentation either before or during the presentation in real time, 
or references shall be made during the hearing on the record to 
page numbers and documents that had otherwise been publicly 
posted in advance of the hearing such that all participants are 
clear as to what documents/pages are being viewed/discussed.  

D. In the posted notice of the hearing and at the outset of 
the hearing, the Mayor or presiding officer shall describe the 
hearing procedure, including how testimony and public 
comment has been or will be received.  

E. Applicants for determinations on quasi-judicial matters 
shall, by participation therein, be deemed to have additionally 
agreed to the procedure to be followed for the hearing(s) as set 
forth in the Town-Manager promulgated administrative directive, 
including requirements on timing for submission of documents, 
responding to requests and questions received, etc.  

F. Interested parties other than the applicant who desire to 
introduce documents shall be informed by notice (as described 



Town of Keystone 
Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 5 
 

in subsection IV(A)(4)(b)) of the methods by which such 
documents may be introduced at the hearing. 

G. If documents are introduced at the hearing that make it 
difficult for the public, the applicant, or the electronically 
participating members of Town Council or Board members to 
view and/or review, the hearing may, in the discretion of the 
Town Council or Board, be continued to a date certain to allow 
for such viewing/reviews. 

H. If at any time the Town Manager or the Town Manager’s 
designee determines it is not possible or prudent to hold or 
continue the hearing at a fully remote meeting, whether due to 
technical issues or an inability to do so while meeting all legal 
requirements, the hearing shall be vacated and the matter will 
be continued until in-person meetings can be held. Such 
decision to vacate a hearing shall be a final administrative 
decision of the Town Manager or the Town Manager’s designee. 

b. Notice Requirements for Quasi-Judicial Hearings Held During Fully 
Remote Meetings. 

i. The required notice(s) for the quasi-judicial hearing and the 
agenda for the fully remote meeting at which the hearing will be 
held shall each include information about how the hearing will 
be conducted and how the public can provide comment, access 
and observe, and, if available, electronically participate in the 
hearing.  

ii. If notice as required by the Town of Keystone Ordinances and 
Municipal Code or otherwise by law has already been provided 
for a quasi-judicial hearing originally planned to be held in 
person, additional notice shall be given as to reasonably inform 
interested persons that such hearing will instead be held at a 
fully remote meeting. The date of issuance of any additional 
notice that addresses only the platform to be used for the 
meeting (i.e., a fully remote meeting rather than an in-person 
meeting) shall not be considered for purposes of determining 
timeframes for publishing, posting or issuing public hearing 
notice requirements under the town of Keystone Ordinances 
and Municipal Code. 

iii. The notice shall advise how and when relevant documents will 
be made available, and how any interested party may review a 
paper copy if unable to access the documents available online, 
and that and how the Town will reasonably accommodate 
interested parties who lack necessary viewing equipment or the 
ability to access viewing equipment.  

iv. Interested parties will be encouraged and notified about the 
methodology by which to submit written comments or 



Town of Keystone 
Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 6 
 

documents for introduction in advance of the hearing and that 
such comments or documents will be made a part of the record 
of the hearing. 

c. Record. The Town Clerk shall ensure that all equipment used for the 
hearing is adequate and functional for allowing clear communication 
among the participants and for creating a record of the hearing as 
required by law, provided, however, the Town shall not be responsible 
for resolving any technical difficulties incurred by any person 
participating in the hearing.  

d. Technical problems. If any person informs the Town Clerk or the body 
during the hearing of technical issues precluding participation as 
otherwise available under this Policy or the Town Manager-
promulgated administrative directive authorized hereunder, such 
information will be forthwith transmitted to the Mayor or presiding officer 
who shall make a determination whether to continue the hearing to a 
future date certain. The Mayor, chairperson or presiding officer has 
discretion to determine whether to adjourn the hearing to a future date 
certain if the electronic participation results in interference in the 
meeting process; e.g., where the telephone or electronic connection is 
repeatedly lost, the quality of the connection is unduly noisy, or a 
participant is unable to hear other speakers using a normal speaking 
voice amplified to a level suitable for the meeting audience 
electronically participating. 

5. Effect of Electronic Participation During Fully Remote Meetings. Electronic 
participation during fully remote meetings shall constitute actual attendance for 
purposes of establishing a quorum for the meeting and for action on all matters 
at such meeting.  

B. Meetings of Town Council and Town Boards Held Not During Emergency. 

1. In the absence of any emergency, the format of meetings of Town Council and 
Planning and Zoning Commissionshall be in-person.  

2. Electronic participation at an in-person meeting of Town Council and Planning 
and Zoning Commission shall be in accordance with Section IV(C) below. 

3. Unless directed otherwise by Town Council, Town Boards, Commissions and 
Committee may choose the format of their meetings. 

C. Electronic Participation in In-Person Meetings.  

1. This Section IV(C) applies to in-person meetings of the Town Council and 
Planning and Zoning Commission. This Section IV(C) also applies to other 
boards, commissions, and committees if the Town Council directs that these 
meeting rules apply to such group. In addition, the board, commission, and 
committees may adopt a policy following these rules.  For purposes of this 
Section IV(c), the term “Member” shall mean a member of Town Council, 



Town of Keystone 
Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 7 
 

member of the Planning and Zoning Commission, or member of a Town Board 
that is required to follow these procedures.  

2. A Member may electronically participate in an in-person meeting of the Town 
Council or such Board only as follows: 

a. The Town Council Bylaws or Board Bylaws, whichever are applicable, 
permit a Member’s electronic participation at a meeting.  

b. Electronic participation is intended to be an infrequent or occasional 
substitution for physical attendance. Telephone participation is only 
permitted in rare circumstances that necessitate participation of the 
Member by telephone. Telephone participation should only be 
permitted if technical problems prevent the Member from participating 
on the video-platform and the Member’s participation in the meeting is 
desired for quorum or a particular meeting agenda item such as the 
adoption of an emergency ordinance. 

c. The Town Council may, by majority vote of a quorum present, declare 
a Member’s repeated use of electronic participation excessive and deny 
a Member’s privilege to electronically participate for a specific meeting 
or meetings. Such declaration by the Town Council shall only be made 
when the Member seeking to electronically participate is afforded 
advance notice and the opportunity to participate in the Town Council’s 
discussion regarding excessive use and the continuation of such 
electronic participation by the Member. Provided that the Member is 
provided notice of the date and time of the planned Council discussion, 
the Member’s inability to be available to participate in the discussion 
shall not preclude the Town Council’s authority to discuss and decide 
whether such Member’s use of electronic participation is excessive. 

d. Electronic participation must permit clear, uninterrupted, and two-way 
communication for the participating Member. 

e. Up to three Members may electronically participate only if the electronic 
conferencing system permits clear, uninterrupted, and two-way 
communication for all participating members of Town Council or Board 
members. If more than three Members desire to electronically 
participate during the same meeting, the first three member of Town 
Council or Board members who arrange for electronic participation with 
the Town Clerk or Recording secretary, respectively, as set forth in 
Section IV(C)(3)(b) shall be allowed to electronically participate. 

f. A Member may neither electronically participate in nor vote on a quasi-
judicial matter at a public hearing; however, the Member may maintain 
the electronic or telephonic connection and monitor or listen to the 
hearing. 

g. As permitted by Colorado law, electronic participation during an 
executive session is available to a Member. Participation during an 
executive session shall be available only after each electronically 



Town of Keystone 
Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 8 
 

participating Member affirms on the record that each person is 
participating in a secure and confidential manner in a location where no 
other persons can hear the content of the executive session and such 
participant shall not record or transmit the executive session. Electronic 
participants in an executive session shall endeavor to keep the camera 
setting on during the executive session.   

h. The Mayor, chairperson or presiding officer may discontinue electronic 
participation by one or more Members during a meeting where the 
electronic participation results in delays or interference in the meeting 
process; e.g., where the telephone or electronic connection is 
repeatedly lost, the quality of the connection is unduly noisy, or a 
participating Member is unable to hear speakers using a normal 
speaking voice amplified to a level suitable for the meeting audience in 
attendance. 

3. To arrange to electronically participate, a Member shall: 

a. In the case of a member of Town Council, contact the Mayor, or Town 
Clerk, and in the case of a member of a Town Board, contact both the 
chairperson or presiding officer and Recording Secretary in advance of 
the meeting regarding the reason for the physical absence. 

b. Contact the Town Clerk or the Town Clerk’s designee or the Recording 
Secretary to arrange for electronic participation and provide a telephone 
number and any special calling instructions needed to facilitate the 
telephone or other electronic contact as may be required by the Town 
Clerk or the Recording Secretary. All Members shall endeavor to advise 
the Town Clerk or the Recording Secretary, respectively, of intent to 
electronically participate at the earliest possible time and not less than 
five (5) hours prior to the requested electronic participation. Late 
requests to electrically participate may be summarily denied by the 
Town Clerk or the Recording Secretary due to an inability to arrange for 
electronic participation. 

c. Be available through the designated web conferencing or similar portal 
as determined by the Town Clerk or the Recording Secretary not less 
than ten minutes prior to the scheduled time of the meeting.  

d. The Town shall endeavor to initiate the web conferencing or similar 
contact not more than 10 minutes prior to the scheduled time of the 
meeting. In the event of disconnection during a meeting, the Town Clerk 
or the Town Clerk’s designee or the recording Secretary shall make one 
attempt to re-initiate the connection unless the Mayor, chairperson or 
presiding officer instructs the Town Clerk or the Town Clerk’s designee 
or the Recording Secretary to discontinue the electronic participation in 
accordance with Section IV(C)(2)(h). 

 

4.   



Town of Keystone 
Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 9 
 

D. Administrative Directive on Quasi-Judicial Hearings with Advance Introduction of 
Evidence.  

1. Town Council hereby authorizes the Town Manager to adopt an administrative 
procedures, as needed, that sets an optional process for holding certain quasi-
judicial hearings to be held by Town Council and the Planning and Zoning 
Commission, which process may allow some or all evidence, including public 
hearing comment, to be submitted in advance of the hearing date and time and 
be made part of the record before the determining body.  

 
2. Town Council also authorizes the Town Manager to set forth the criteria for and 

to determine the selection of matters to be heard in accordance with such 
directive. The Town Manager may informally consult with the Town Council in 
advance on whether a particular matter shall be held in accordance with such 
directive.  

 
3. Such procedures may be implemented regardless of whether a meeting is held 

as a fully remote meeting in accordance with Section (IV)(A) of this Policy. 
 

V. Reasonable Accommodations. 

The Town shall provide reasonable accommodation and shall waive or modify provisions of 
this Policy to provide disabled member of Town Council or Board members or members of the 
public full and equal access to Council or Board meetings.  
 
This Policy was approved by Town Council on ___ day of ______, 2024, through Resolution 

No. ______________. 

 

 



 

 

TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
 

TELEPHONIC/ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION AND FULLY REMOTE MEETINGS 
 

I. Purposes. 
 
With advancements in communication equipment, meeting participation through telephonic or 
other electronic means such as web-based meetings and voice or videoconferencing has 
become more popular within many local governments. However, telephonic, virtual or other 
electronic participation has inherent limitations because such participation may make more 
difficult a member’s ability to fully view documentary information presented during meetings, 
to fully evaluate a speaker’s non-verbal language in assessing veracity or credibility, and to 
fully observe nonverbal explanations (e.g., pointing at graphs and charts) during a speaker’s 
presentation or testimony. 
 
The purposes of this Town Council Policy are: 
 
A. although not preferable, to specify the circumstances under which an individual 

member of Town Council or member of a Town Board may participate in Town Council 
or Board meetings, respectively, by telephone or other electronic means; and 

 
B. to recognize that, in rare circumstances, such as during or following natural disasters, 

severe weather events or public health emergencies, the conditions under which all 
members of Town Council or members of a Board may participate in regular, special, 
and emergency meetings and executive sessions by telephone or other electronic 
means should necessarily be expanded to ensure that the Town government can 
continue to function to the extent possible to protect the public health, safety and 
welfare, while still ensuring transparency and protecting the procedural due process 
and other rights of the public, applicants, and interested persons; and   

 
C. to authorize the Town Manager to adopt an administrative directive procedures that 

sets a process for holding certain quasi-judicial hearings to allow some or all evidence, 
including public hearing comment, to be submitted in advance of the hearing date and 
time, such evidence to be made part of the record before the determining body, and to 
authorize the Town Manager to determine the selection of matters to be heard in such 
manner.  
 

II. Applicability. 

This Policy shall be applicable to the Town Council and to Boards, as such term is defined in 
Section III. 

III. Definitions. 

“Board” shall mean the following board, commission, or committee of the Town of 
Keystone: 

 Planning and Zoning Commission  
 Trails and Open Space Advisory Board 
 Business Advisory Board  
 Other boards, commissions and committees formed by Town Council 



Town of Keystone 
Telephonic/Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 2 
 

“Board member” shall mean all members of the particular Board of the Town subject 
to this Policy.  

“Member of Town Council” shall mean the Mayor or other Councilmember of the Town 
Council of the Town of Keystone. 

“Electronic participation” or “electronically participate” shall mean participating in a 
meeting by telephone or another web-based video or audio-conferencing platform as 
determined by the Town Clerk or by telephone. 

“Emergency” shall mean a public health or other emergency caused by epidemic, 
pandemic, or other natural or other physical disaster that renders it unsafe to physically 
meet or travel to physically meet in a public setting as determined by the Mayor or the 
Town Manager.  

“Fully remote meeting” shall mean a meeting held entirely by electronic participation. 

“Hybrid meeting” shall mean a meeting held by a combination of both in-person and 
electronic participation.  

“In-person” shall mean participating in a meeting by being physically present at the 
designated meeting location.  

“Meeting” shall mean a regular, special, work session or study session meeting of the 
Town Council or meeting of a Town Board that is required to be an “open meeting” 
under the Colorado Open Meetings law. 

IV. Statement of Policy. 

A. Times of Emergency - Fully Remote Meetings of Town Council and Boards. 

This Section IV(A) applies to Town Council and Boards. During times of emergency, a meeting 
of the Town Council or any Board may be, but is not required to be, held as a fully remote 
electronic meeting as follows: 

1. Open Meetings. The Town Clerk or the Town Clerk’s designee shall take 
reasonable and practical measures to ensure that:  

a.  Each fully remote meeting is open to the public at all times; and  

b. Information is provided to enable the public to electronically participate 
such that the public is always reasonably able to hear comments and 
testimony but, unless a quasi-judicial hearing is taking place in 
accordance with Section IV(A)(4) or there is an applicable legal 
requirement otherwise, it is not necessary to provide a means for the 
public to speak and, in the case of a video-conference fully remote 
meeting, it is not necessary to provide a means for the public to view 
the meeting; and 

c.  Each fully remote meeting provides Town staff and the public a 
reasonable opportunity to provide comments, which may include 
requiring the public to provide written comments/questions to the Town 



Town of Keystone 
Telephonic/Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 3 
 

Clerk or the Town Clerk’s designee prior to the start of the meeting, 
except during public hearings for which public comment shall be taken 
at the time of the hearing; and 

d. All members of Town Council or Board members can clearly and 
without interruption hear one another or otherwise communicate with 
one another and can hear or read all discussion and testimony in a 
manner designed to provide maximum notice and participation; and 

e.  All votes are conducted by roll call.  

2. Notice of Fully Remote Meetings. Notice of fully remote meetings, including 
instructions on how the public may electronically attend the meeting, shall be 
provided in accordance with the Town’s then-effective resolution designating 
the location for posting public notices whenever possible. If the nature of the 
emergency precludes the Town from so posting, the Town will use all 
reasonable efforts to provide notice to the public of its fully remote meeting, 
including whenever possible, posting such notice on the Town’s web site and 
Town-maintained social media pages, providing notice to other local news 
channels, if available the local newspaper, and any local radio station and local 
television station that has filed a written request with the Town Clerk and has 
provided a telephone number for emergency notification. 

3. Executive Sessions. As permitted by Colorado law, Pparticipation during an 
executive session held during a fully remote meeting shall be available only 
after each participating member of Town Council or Board member affirms on 
the record that each such member of Town Council or Board member is 
participating in a secure and confidential manner in a location where no other 
persons can hear the content of the executive session and such participant 
shall not record or transmit the executive session. In addition, participants in 
an executive session shall endeavor to keep the camera setting on during the 
executive session when the session is conducted on a video-conferencing 
platform.  

4. Quasi-judicial matters. The Town Manager has discretion to determine that any 
quasi-judicial matter hearing shall not be placed on the agenda of a fully remote 
meeting and such administrative decision is final. This Policy creates no right 
in favor of any party to have a quasi-judicial matter heard at a fully remote 
meeting. The Town may, however, in its sole discretion, allow such quasi-
judicial hearing in accordance with the requirements of this Section IV(A)(4).  

a. No public hearings on quasi-judicial matters shall be held and no votes 
on quasi-judicial actions shall be taken during a fully remote meeting 
except: 

i. if, due to emergency or other reasons, the Town is generally 
holding public meetings as fully remote meetings; and  

ii. if such quasi-judicial matters heard during fully remote meetings 
provide the ability for interested members of the public to 
reasonably participate in the hearing; and   



Town of Keystone 
Telephonic/Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 4 
 

iii. in accordance with the following:  

A.   The applicant in the quasi-judicial matter must make a 
written request for the matter to be heard during a fully remote 
meeting on a form provided by the Town Clerk or the Town 
Clerk’s designee, acknowledging that holding a quasi-judicial 
hearing at a fully remote meeting presents certain legal risks 
and involves an area of legal uncertainty, and agreeing that 
moving forward with a quasi-judicial hearing at a fully remote 
meeting shall be at the applicant’s own risk. Applicants 
requesting determinations on quasi-judicial matters during fully 
remote meetings shall agree in writing to hold harmless, defend 
and indemnify the Town for any costs, damages or claims, 
including costs of defense, in any action that alleges that holding 
such hearing during a fully remote meeting was improper, 
unauthorized, or otherwise denied the applicant rights attendant 
to a public hearing. 

B. Upon receipt of a written request, the Town Manager or 
the Town Manager’s designee shall (1) determine whether the 
Town has the capability to hold the particular type of hearing at 
a fully remote meeting, (2) determine what available platform, 
format or procedure for the fully remote meeting is most 
appropriate for the type of hearing, and (3) set date(s) for the 
hearing(s).   

C. The platform, format or procedure chosen by the Town 
Manager or the Town Manager’s designee shall ensure that the 
entire Town Council or Board body, the applicant, and the public 
all have the ability to view or listen to the hearing in real time 
and that interested parties may provide input and ask questions 
when appropriate, which may be before or at the hearing. If 
documents or presentations are to be viewed, the platform 
format or process shall similarly either allow the entire Town 
Council or Boardbody, the applicant and interested parties the 
ability to view the documents or presentation either before or 
during the presentation in real time, or references shall be made 
during the hearing on the record to page numbers and 
documents that had otherwise been publicly posted in advance 
of the hearing such that all participants are clear as to what 
documents/pages are being viewed/discussed.  

D. In the posted notice of the hearing and at the outset of 
the hearing, the Mayor or presiding officer shall describe the 
hearing procedure, including how testimony and public 
comment has been or will be received.  

E. Applicants for determinations on quasi-judicial matters 
shall, by participation therein, be deemed to have additionally 
agreed to the procedure to be followed for the hearing(s) as set 
forth in the Town-Manager promulgated administrative directive, 



Town of Keystone 
Telephonic/Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 5 
 

including requirements on timing for submission of documents, 
responding to requests and questions received, etc.  

F. Interested parties other than the applicant who desire to 
introduce documents shall be informed by notice (as described 
in subsection IV(A)(4)(b)) of the methods by which such 
documents may be introduced at the hearing. 

G. If documents are introduced at the hearing that make it 
difficult for the public, the applicant, or the electronically 
participating members of Town Council or Board members to 
view and/or review, the hearing may, in the discretion of the 
Town Council or Board, be continued to a date certain to allow 
for such viewing/reviews. 

H. If at any time the Town Manager or the Town Manager’s 
designee determines it is not possible or prudent to hold or 
continue the hearing at a fully remote meeting, whether due to 
technical issues or an inability to do so while meeting all legal 
requirements, the hearing shall be vacated and the matter will 
be continued until in-person meetings can be held. Such 
decision to vacate a hearing shall be a final administrative 
decision of the Town Manager or the Town Manager’s designee. 

b. Notice Requirements for Quasi-Judicial Hearings Held During Fully 
Remote Meetings. 

i. The required notice(s) for the quasi-judicial hearing and the 
agenda for the fully remote meeting at which the hearing will be 
held shall each include information about how the hearing will 
be conducted and how the public can provide comment, access 
and observe, and, if available, electronically participate in the 
hearing.  

ii. If notice as required by the Town of Keystone Ordinances and 
Municipal Code or otherwise by law has already been provided 
for a quasi-judicial hearing originally planned to be held in 
person, additional notice shall be given as to reasonably inform 
interested persons that such hearing will instead be held at a 
fully remote meeting. The date of issuance of any additional 
notice that addresses only the platform to be used for the 
meeting (i.e., a fully remote meeting rather than an in-person 
meeting) shall not be considered for purposes of determining 
timeframes for publishing, posting or issuing public hearing 
notice requirements under the own of Keystone Ordinances and 
Municipal Code. 

iii. The notice shall advise how and when relevant documents will 
be made available, and how any interested party may review a 
paper copy if unable to access the documents available online, 
and that and how the Town will reasonably accommodate 



Town of Keystone 
Telephonic/Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 6 
 

interested parties who lack necessary viewing equipment or the 
ability to access viewing equipment.  

iv. Interested parties will be encouraged and notified about the 
methodology by which to submit written comments or 
documents for introduction in advance of the hearing and that 
such comments or documents will be made a part of the record 
of the hearing. 

c. Record. The Town Clerk shall ensure that all equipment used for the 
hearing is adequate and functional for allowing clear communication 
among the participants and for creating a record of the hearing as 
required by law, provided, however, the Town shall not be responsible 
for resolving any technical difficulties incurred by any person 
participating in the hearing.  

d. Technical problems. If any person informs the Town Clerk or the 
Council or Boardbody during the hearing of technical issues precluding 
participation as otherwise available under this Policy or the Town 
Manager-promulgated administrative directive authorized hereunder, 
such information will be forthwith transmitted to the Mayor or presiding 
officer who shall make a determination whether to continue the hearing 
to a future date certain. The Mayor, chairperson or presiding officer has 
discretion to determine whether to adjourn the hearing to a future date 
certain if the electronic participation results in interference in the 
meeting process; e.g., where the telephone or electronic connection is 
repeatedly lost, the quality of the connection is unduly noisy, or a 
participant is unable to hear other speakers using a normal speaking 
voice amplified to a level suitable for the meeting audience 
electronically participating. 

5. Effect of Electronic Participation During Fully Remote Meetings. Electronic 
participation during fully remote meetings shall constitute actual attendance for 
purposes of establishing a quorum for the meeting and for action on all matters 
at such meeting.  

B. Meetings of Town Council and Town Boards Held Not During Emergency. 

1. In the absence of any emergency, the format of meetings of Town Council and 
Planning and Zoning Commissionand Town Boards shall be in-person.  

2. Electronic participation at an in-person meeting of Town Council and Planning 
and Zoning Commission and Town Boards shall be in accordance with Section 
IV(C) below. 

3. Unless directed otherwise by Town Council, Town Boards, Commissions and 
Committee may choose the format of their meetings. 

C. Electronic Participation in In-Person Meetings.  



Town of Keystone 
Telephonic/Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 7 
 

1. This Section IV(C) applies to in-person meetings of the Town Council and 
Planning and Zoning Commission and Boards. This Section IV(C) also applies 
to other boards, commissions, and committees if the Town Council directs that 
these meeting rules apply to such group. In addition, the board, commission, 
and committees may adopt a policy following these rules.  For purposes of this 
Section IV(c), the term “Member” shall mean a member of Town Council, 
member of the Planning and Zoning Commission, or member of a Town Board 
that is required to follow these procedures.  

2. A mMember of Town Council or Board member may electronically participate 
in an in-person meeting of the Town Council or such Board only as follows: 

a. The Town Council Bylaws or Board Bylaws, whichever are applicable, 
permit a Member’s electronic participation at a meeting. Electronic 
participation shall be made available to a member of Town Council or 
Board member when such member of Town Council or Board member’s 
absence would otherwise constitute an excused absence. 

b. Electronic participation is intended to be an infrequent or occasional 
substitution for physical attendance. Telephone participation is only 
permitted in rare circumstances that necessitate participation of the 
Member by telephone. Telephone participation should only be 
permitted if technical problems prevent the Member from participating 
on the video-platform and the Member’s participation in the meeting is 
desired for quorum or a particular meeting agenda item such as the 
adoption of an emergency ordinance. 

c. The Town Council or relevant Board may, by majority vote of a quorum 
present, declare a mMember of Town Council’s or Board member’s 
repeated use of electronic participation excessive and deny a 
mMember of Town Council’s or Board member’s privilege to 
electronically participate for a specific meeting or meetings. Such 
declaration by the member of Town Council or Board shall only be 
made when the mMember of Town Council or Board member seeking 
to electronically participate is afforded advance notice and the 
opportunity to participate in the Town Council’s or Board’s discussion 
regarding excessive use and the continuation of such electronic 
participation by the Mmember of Town Council or Board member. 
Provided that the Mmember of Town Council or Board member is 
provided notice of the date and time of the planned Council or Board 
discussion, the Mmember of Town Council’s or Board member’s 
inability to be available to participate in the discussion shall not preclude 
the Town Council’s or Board’s authority to discuss and decide whether 
such mMember of Town Council’s or Board member’s use of electronic 
participation is excessive. 

d. Electronic participation must permit clear, uninterrupted, and two-way 
communication for the participating Mmember of Town Council or 
Board members. 



Town of Keystone 
Telephonic/Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 8 
 

e. Up to three Mmembers of Town Council or Board members may 
electronically participate only if the telephone or other electronic 
conferencing system permits clear, uninterrupted, and two-way 
communication for all participating members of Town Council or Board 
members. If more than three Mmembers of Town Council or Board 
members desire to electronically participate during the same meeting, 
the first three member of Town Council or Board members who arrange 
for electronic participation with the Town Clerk or Recording secretary, 
respectively, as set forth in Section IV(C)(3)(b) shall be allowed to 
electronically participate. 

f. A Mmember of Town Council or Board member may neither 
electronically participate in nor vote on a quasi-judicial matter at a public 
hearing; however, the Mmember of Town Councilor Board member may 
maintain the electronic or telephonic connection and monitor or listen to 
the hearing. 

g. As permitted by Colorado law, Eelectronic participation during an 
executive session shall is not be available to a Mmember of Town 
Council or Board member. Participation during an executive session 
shall be available only after each electronically participating Member 
affirms on the record that each person is participating in a secure and 
confidential manner in a location where no other persons can hear the 
content of the executive session and such participant shall not record 
or transmit the executive session. Electronic participants in an 
executive session shall endeavor to keep the camera setting on during 
the executive session.  A member of Town Council may arrange to 
listen to a taped recording of a Town Council executive session held in 
such member’s absence by making arrangements with the Town Clerk 
to listen at the Town Hall during normal business hours. 

h. The Mayor, chairperson or presiding officer may discontinue electronic 
participation by one or more mMembers of Town Council or  Board 
members during a meeting where the electronic participation results in 
delays or interference in the meeting process; e.g., where the telephone 
or electronic connection is repeatedly lost, the quality of the connection 
is unduly noisy, or a participating mMember of Town Council or Board 
member is unable to hear speakers using a normal speaking voice 
amplified to a level suitable for the meeting audience in attendance. 

3. To arrange to electronically participate, a Mmember of Town Council or Board 
member shall: 

a. In the case of a member of Town Council, contact the Mayor, or Town 
Clerk, and in the case of a member of a Town BoardBoard member, 
contact both the chairperson or presiding officer and Recording 
Secretary in advance of the meeting regarding the reason for the 
physical absence. 

b. Contact the Town Clerk or the Town Clerk’s designee or the Recording 
Secretary to arrange for electronic participation and provide a telephone 





Town of Keystone 
Telephonic/Electronic Participation And Fully Remote Meetings  

Page 10 
 

advance on whether a particular matter shall be held in accordance with such 
directive.  

 
3. Such directive procedures may be implemented regardless of whether a 

meeting is held as a fully remote meeting in accordance with Section (IV)(A) of 
this Policy 
 

V. Reasonable Accommodations. 

The Town shall provide reasonable accommodation and shall waive or modify provisions of 
this Policy to provide disabled member of Town Council or Board members or members of the 
public full and equal access to Council or Board meetings.  
 
This Policy was approved by Town Council on ___ day of ______, 2024, through Resolution 

No. ______________. 

 

 





1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
12
13
18
19
20
21
22
23
28
29
30
31
32

33
34
35
41
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70

71

F G H I J K L M
Town of Keystone
Statement of Financial Position Printed: 9/19/24
As of Date Indicated

Preliminary - Subject to Change

August 31, 2024 General Capital Housing Conserv All Funds 
Fund Fund Fund Trust Fund Combined

ASSETS
Investment Acct - Colotrust 705,353 0 0 0 705,353
Operating - FirstBank 324,344 324,344
Pooled Cash 0 0 0 0 0

Total Cash in Bank 1,029,697 0 0 0 1,029,697

Sales Tax Receivable 415,309 415,309
Other Tax Receivable 2,250 2,250
Accounts Receivable 0 0 0 0 0
Interfund & Other Receivables 0 0
Prepaid Expenses 0 0
Office Space Security Deposit 4,900 4,900

TOTAL ASSETS 1,452,156 0 0 0 1,452,156

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND FUND EQUITY
Accounts Payable 535,806 0 0 0 535,806
Payroll Liabilities 3,680 0 0 0 3,680
Wages Payable 0 0
Due to Summit County (Sales Tax Advance) 0 0
Misc Liabiliies 0 0
Clearing Account (2,000) (2,000)

TOTAL LIABILITIES 537,486 0 0 0 537,486

DEFERRED INFLOWS
Deferred Revenue 0 0

TOTAL DEFERRED INLFOWS 0 0 0 0 0

FUND EQUITY
Invested in Capital Assets, Net 0 0
Amount to be Provided for Debt Repayment 0 0
Beg Fund Balance - General Fund 0 0
Beg Fund Balance - Capital Improv Fund 0 0
Beg Fund Balance - Workforce Housing 0 0
Beg Fund Balance - Conservation Trust 0 0
Current Surplus (Deficit) 914,671 0 0 0 914,671

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 914,671 0 0 0 914,671

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS
AND FUND EQUITY 1,452,156 0 0 0 1,452,156

=  =  =  =  =  No assurance provided on these financial statements; 
substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted.

1



2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
2021
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
62
63

E F H I J K L M N
Town of Keystone Printed: 9/19/24
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Balance Preliminary
Actual, Budget and Forecast for the Periods Indicated
Modified Accrual Basis 2024 ANNUAL 2024 From Inception (2/8/2024) 2025

7 Months 7 Months
Approved Variance Ended Ended Variance Placeholder

2024 2024 Favorable 8/31/24 8/31/24 Favorable 2025
Budget Forecast (Unfavor) Actual Budget (Unfavor) Budget

GENERAL FUND
Revenues

Sales Tax (2 mo estimated) 2,614,224 2,614,224 0 1,649,682 1,616,162 33,520 3,323,383
Other Tax Revenue -             
   Highway Users Tax Fund 48,627 48,627 0 0 0 0 66,612
   Cigarette Tax 5,092 5,092 (0) 4,437 1,004 3,433 7,115
   Nicotine Tax 59,628 59,628 0 0 0 0 83,315
   Road and Bridges Tax 91,684 91,684 (0) 76,812 76,812 (0) 103,774
   Specific Ownership Tax 25,348 25,348 0 0 0 0 34,723
   Auto Ownership Tax 9,970 9,970 0 0 0 0 13,657
   Other Tax Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Other Tax Revenue 240,348 240,349 1 81,249 77,816 3,433 309,196
Fees
   Building Permits 203,203 203,203 0 32,507 101,600 (69,093) 362,282
   Franchise Fees 0 0 0 0 0 0

203,203 203,203 0 32,507 101,600 (69,093) 362,282
Licenses
   Business Licenses 0 0 0 0 34,723
   Short Term Rentals 541,732 541,732 (0) 1,790 0 1,790 547,150
   Liquor Licenses 5,250 5,250 2,575 0 2,575 0

541,732 546,982 5,250 4,365 0 4,365 581,873
Fines 
 Municipal Court Fines 0 0 0 0 0
 Code Enforcement Fines 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Income
Grants 20,136 20,136 20,136 0 20,136
Interest on Taxes 0 0 0 0
Interest on Investments 10,000 10,000 5,354 0 5,354
Admin Miscellaneous Income 0 0 0 0

0 30,136 30,136 25,490 0 25,490 0

Total Revenue 3,599,507 3,634,894 35,387 1,793,293 1,795,578 (2,286) 4,576,734

Expenditures
Employee Benefits & Taxes
401 A Match 44,414 44,414 0 16,924 28,263 11,339 60,000
457 Match 16,655 16,655 0 2,035 10,599 8,564 130,000
Flexible Spending Account (FSA) 5,774 5,774 0 900 3,674 2,774 6,500
Wellness Reimbursement 12,158 12,158 0 0 7,737 7,737 9,600
Health Insurance Premiums 79,834 79,834 0 35,050 50,803 15,753 0
Health Ins Employee Contribributions (11,641) 11,641 (5,599) 0 5,599 0
Workers Comp Insurance Premiums 11,381 11,381 0 9,216 7,242 (1,973) 0
Payroll Taxes 18,543 18,543 0 6,509 11,800 5,291 900

Total Employee Benefits & Taxes 188,759 177,118 11,641 65,035 120,119 55,084 207,000

2



2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

E F H I J K L M N
Town of Keystone Printed: 9/19/24
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Balance Preliminary
Actual, Budget and Forecast for the Periods Indicated
Modified Accrual Basis 2024 ANNUAL 2024 From Inception (2/8/2024) 2025

7 Months 7 Months
Approved Variance Ended Ended Variance Placeholder

2024 2024 Favorable 8/31/24 8/31/24 Favorable 2025
Budget Forecast (Unfavor) Actual Budget (Unfavor) Budget

64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
9798
99
100
101
102
103
104
105
106
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131

General Expenditures All Departments
Telephone 2,830 2,830 0 1,482 2,030 548 3,168
Office Lease 50,700 50,700 0 31,300 31,100 (200) 196,158
Office Building Maintenance 3,700 3,700 0 1,350 2,700 1,350 3,504
Office Supplies 3,754 3,754 0 3,416 2,254 (1,162) 4,203
Prof Services/Membership Fees 10,429 10,429 0 14,916 10,429 (4,487) 10,742
Dues and Subscriptions 7,936 6,802 1,134 513 4,710 4,197 7,006
Training 6,802 6,802 0 3,003 0 (3,003) 14,011
Travel/Meals/Ldging 6,802 6,802 0 6,007 4,500 (1,507) 14,011
Uniforms/Clothing 1,700 1,700 0 110 1,200 1,090 1,751
Insurance 5,000 5,000 0 2,328 5,000 2,672 70,056
Bank and Misc Fees 0 90 (90) 50 0 (50) 0
IT/Technology 68,016 68,016 0 24,950 35,704 10,754 93,409
Website 6,802 6,802 0 542 4,082 3,540 7,006
Equipment Repairs/Leases 5,526 5,526 0 0 3,318 3,318 7,589

Total Gen Exp All Departments 179,996 178,952 1,044 89,968 107,027 17,059 432,616

Mayor and Town Council
Mayor Wages 11,000 11,000 0 6,323 7,000 677 12,000
Council Wages 33,000 33,000 0 18,760 21,000 2,240 36,000
  Cell Phone AllowTown Council 5,775 5,775 0 3,338 3,675 337 6,300

49,775 49,775 0 28,421 31,675 3,254 54,300

Misc Expense Town Council 1,251 3,409 (2,158) 2,510 799 (1,711) 1,401
Total Mayor and Town Council 51,026 53,184 (2,158) 30,931 32,474 1,543 55,701

Administration Services
Town Manager Wages 127,530 127,530 0 44,425 70,850 26,425 175,141
Town Clerk Wages 95,047 95,047 0 56,015 59,715 3,700 106,411
Office Clerk Wages 58,333 58,333 0 23,076 35,001 11,925 65,308
   Cell Phone Administration 2,250 2,250 0 958 1,350 392 0
   Keystone Housing Administration 15,000 15,000 0 6,500 9,000 2,500 0

298,160 298,160 0 130,974 175,916 44,942 346,860
Postage 2,607 2,607 0 0 1,566 1,566 2,919
Printing 7,300 7,300 0 502 4,380 3,878 8,173
Community Engagement 8,502 8,502 0 0 1,000 1,000 8,757
Local Travel 2,607 2,607 0 102 1,659 1,557 2,919
Elections 12,000 12,000 0 0 0 0 0
Town Attorney Contract 90,688 90,688 0 101,770 60,000 (41,770) 93,409
Smoking Cessation (from Nicotine Tax) 59,628 59,628 0 0 33,125 33,125 83,315
Payroll Contract (Paylocity) 4,950 4,950 0 2,933 3,150 217 5,099
Accounting Contract (M&W) 63,494 63,494 0 35,713 35,000 (713) 64,958
Annual Audit Contract 0 0 0 0 0 0 19,266
Short Term Rental Contract Support 116,761 116,761 0 70,625 116,761 46,136 120,264
Miscellaous Adminstrative Expense 0 10 (10) 10 0 (10)

Total Administrative Services 666,697 666,707 (9) 342,630 432,557 89,927 755,938

Community Development
Comm Dev Director Wages 124,431 124,431 0 67,377 76,431 9,054 148,320
Planner2 Wages 60,489 60,489 0 0 30,244 30,244 93,409
   Cell Phone Comm Dev 1,350 1,350 0 363 750 387 1,800
   Keystone Housing Incentive Comm Dev 9,500 9,500 0 2,750 5,500 2,750 6,300

195,770 195,770 0 70,490 112,925 42,435 249,829
Building Permit/Inspections 162,562 162,562 0 0 81,280 81,280 289,826
GIS 9,069 9,069 0 0 5,442 5,442 9,341
Professional Services (Contracted) 11,336 11,336 0 0 6,804 6,804 11,676
Planning Supplies/Printing 5,668 5,668 0 535 3,286 2,751 5,838
Local Travel 2,834 2,834 0 0 1,806 1,806 5,838
Communications 2,721 2,721 0 0 1,510 1,510 2,802
Miscellaneous Comm Dev Expense 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Community Develop 389,960 389,960 0 71,025 213,053 142,028 575,1493



2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

E F H I J K L M N
Town of Keystone Printed: 9/19/24
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Balance Preliminary
Actual, Budget and Forecast for the Periods Indicated
Modified Accrual Basis 2024 ANNUAL 2024 From Inception (2/8/2024) 2025

7 Months 7 Months
Approved Variance Ended Ended Variance Placeholder

2024 2024 Favorable 8/31/24 8/31/24 Favorable 2025
Budget Forecast (Unfavor) Actual Budget (Unfavor) Budget

132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198

199
200
201
202
203
204

Public Works 
Public Works Director Wages 45,344 45,344 0 0 15,115 15,115 93,409
   Cell Phone Public Works 450 450 0 0 150 150 900
   Keystone Housing Public Works 3,000 3,000 0 0 1,000 1,000 6,000

48,794 48,794 0 0 16,265 16,265 100,309
Communications 2,721 2,721 0 0 1,821 1,821 2,802
Engineer Consultant 5,668 5,668 0 0 1,890 1,890 11,676
Planning and Printing Supplies 2,834 2,834 0 0 567 567 5,838
Road Maint/Snow Plowing Contracts -                 
   Loveland Pass Village 0 0 0 0 0 0 35,028
   Keystone Roads- Currently County Maintained 0 0 0 0 0 0 81,733
   Roads not County Maintained 0 66 (66) 66 0 (66) 166,968
   Asphalt Crack Seal 0 0 0 0 0 0 16,697
   Noxious Weed Control  0 0 0 0 0 0 17,514
   Other Maintenance 0 302 (302) 302 0 (302) 40,866
Total Road Maintenance/Snow Plowing Contracts0 368 (368) 368 0 (368) 358,806

Signage 0 0 0 0 0 0 11,676
Engineering Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 21,855
Miscellaneous Public Works Expense 0 130 (130) 130 0 (130)

Total Public Works Expenses 60,017 60,515 (498) 498 20,542 20,043 512,962

Public Safety
Miscellaneous Public Safety Exp 0 85,708 (85,708) 37,509 0 (37,509)

Total Public Safety Expenses 0 85,708 (85,708) 40,801 0 (40,801) 686,974

Municipal Court
Judge 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,589
Prosecutor 0 0 0 0 0 11,209
Miscellaneous Exp Municipal Cout 0 0 0 0 0 584

Total Court Expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 19,382

Total Operating Expenditures 1,536,455 1,612,143 (75,689) 640,888 925,772 284,885 3,245,722

Total Revenue (from above) 3,599,507 3,634,894 35,387 1,793,293 1,795,578 (2,286) 4,576,734

Operating Surplus (Deficit) 2,063,053 2,022,751 (40,302) 1,152,405 869,806 282,599 1,331,012

Other Sources (Uses)
Transfer to Capital Improvement (900,000) (886,800) 13,200 (237,734) (390,400) 152,666 (200,000)
Transfer fr Workforce Housing 0 27,500 27,500 0 0 0
Transfer fr Conservation Trust 0 0 0 0 0 0
Summit County Adv - Sales Tax 0 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 0

1-6750 · Summit County Adv - RepaymentSummit County Adv - Repayment 0 (1,400,000) (1,400,000) (1,400,000) (1,200,000) (200,000)

Total Other Sources (Uses) (900,000) (859,300) 40,700 (237,734) (190,400) (47,334) (200,000)

Beginning Fund Balance - General 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,163,451

Ending Fund Balance - General 1,163,053 1,163,451 398 914,671 679,406 235,265 2,294,463

=  =  =  =  =  =  
Components of General Fund Bal

TABOR Restricted Funds 46,094 48,364 19,227 27,773 97,372
Unrestricted Funds 1,116,959 1,115,087 895,444 651,633 2,197,091

1,163,053 1,163,451 914,671 679,406 2,294,463

4



2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

E F H I J K L M N
Town of Keystone Printed: 9/19/24
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Balance Preliminary
Actual, Budget and Forecast for the Periods Indicated
Modified Accrual Basis 2024 ANNUAL 2024 From Inception (2/8/2024) 2025

7 Months 7 Months
Approved Variance Ended Ended Variance Placeholder

2024 2024 Favorable 8/31/24 8/31/24 Favorable 2025
Budget Forecast (Unfavor) Actual Budget (Unfavor) Budget

205

206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
219
220
221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231

232
233
234

235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247
248
249
250
251

252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262
263
264
265
266
267
268

269

RESTRICTED FUNDS

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS
Revenue and Other Financing Sources
  Contribution from General Fund 900,000 886,800 13,200 237,734 390,400 (152,666) 200,000

Total Revenues 900,000 886,800 13,200 237,734 390,400 (152,666) 200,000

Capital and Non-Routine Projects
Repayment for Incorporation Costs 180,000 180,000 0 148,013 228,750 80,737
Summit County fee for Cash advance 5,000 5,000 0 5,000 5,000 0
Office Set Up-Furniture, Supplies and Equipment41,500 41,500 0 0 18,000 18,000 10,500
Facility Modifications 50,000 50,000 0 0 0 0
Staff Hiring Expense 5,000 5,000 0 544 5,000 4,456
Start Up Consultant Support (Clerk/Community Dev/Public Works)32,500 32,500 0 0 32,500 32,500
IT-Infrastructure/Software/Computers/Printers/Set up109,900 109,900 0 16,288 49,900 33,612
Website 15,000 15,000 0 0 15,000 15,000
Town Signage 30,000 30,000 0 0 30,000 30,000
Interim Town Manager ($150/hr, 10 weeks) 60,000 67,900 (7,900) 67,890 60,000 (7,890)
Engineering Assessment Town Maintained Roads40,000 40,000 0 0 0 0
Flood Plain Plan 20,000 20,000 0 0 0 0
Trails and Open Space Master Plan 30,000 30,000 0 0 0 0
Comprehensive Use Plan 0 0 0 0 100,000
2 Police Vehicles and equipment 260,000 260,000 0 0 0 0

Total Capital and Non-Routine Exp 878,900 886,800 (7,900) 237,734 444,150 206,416 110,500

Surplus after other sources / uses 21,100 0 21,100 0 (53,750) 53,750 89,500

FUND BALANCE - Beginning Capital 0 0 0 0 0 0 21,100
FUND BALANCE - Ending Capital 21,100 0 21,100 0 (53,750) 53,750 110,600

=  =  =  =  =  =  
Workforce Housing Fund

Revenue and Other Financing Sources
  Revenue 788,210 947,656 159,446 0 0 0 1,246,269
  Interest Income
Total Revenues 788,210 947,656 159,446 0 0 0 1,246,269

Expenditures
Housing Authority Fees 52,064 52,064 (0) 0 0 0 58,929
Transfer to General Fund 0 27,500 (27,500) 0 0 0

Total Expenditures 52,064 79,564 (27,500) 0 0 0 58,929

Surplus after other sources (uses) 736,146 868,092 131,946 0 0 0 1,187,339

Fund bal - Beginning Housing Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 736,146
Fund bal - Ending Housing Fund 736,146 868,092 131,946 0 0 0 1,923,486

=  =  =  =  =  =  
Conservation Trust Fund

Revenue and Other Financing Sources
Conservation Trust Revenue 12,920 12,920 0 0 0 0 12,920
  Interest Income
Total Revenues 12,920 12,920 0 0 0 0 12,920

Expenditures
Conservation Trust Expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfer to General Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditures 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus after other sources / uses 12,920 12,920 0 0 0 0 12,920

Fund bal - Begin Cons Trust Fnd 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,920
Fund bal - Ending Cons Trust Fnd 12,920 12,920 0 0 0 0 25,840

=  =  =  =  =  =  

5



Page 1 of 4 
 

TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
STAFF REPORT 

 

TO:                   Mayor & Town Councilmembers 

THROUGH:          John Crone, Town Manager 

FROM:            Jennifer Madsen, Town Attorney 

DATE:          September 24, 2024 

SUBJECT: [FIRST READING] Ordinance 2024-O-11 An Ordinance of 

the Town Council of the Town of Keystone, Creating a 

Process for Establishing Boards and Commissions 
 

Executive Summary:  

Article IX of the Keystone Home Rule Charter provides that Town Council has the 

authority to create and disband boards, commissions, and committees and confer 

powers and duties through Resolution or Ordinance. Ordinance 2024-O-11 provides a 

process for creating boards and commissions and creates a Trails and Open Space 

Advisory Board and a Business Advisory Board.  

Recommendation:  

Staff recommends that Council approve Ordinance 2024-O-11 on first reading.  

Background: 

Towns establish boards, commissions, task forces, and committees to provide guidance 

to governing bodies on a wide range of policy issues. 

 

The Town Council can create standing advisory boards and commissions, as well as 

“ad hoc” advisory committees, for limited periods to address specific issues. These 

boards and commissions can enhance local government decision-making by studying 

issues, plans, and policies, while also providing opportunities for broader community 

involvement and outreach. 



Page 2 of 4 
 

For long-term boards and commissions, it is recommended that the Town Council 

establish them through the adoption of an ordinance. This ordinance may address 

topics such as: 

 

• Creation of the Board/Commission/Committee: The ordinance should outline 

the advisory body’s purpose and scope, clearly defining its authority and 

expectations. 

 

• Membership: The ordinance should specify who is eligible to participate. It 

should also define the size of the body and confirm that Town Council appoints 

its members. 

 

• Term Limits: The Town Council may wish to set term limits for members of 

advisory bodies. 

 

• Vacancies: The process for filling vacancies should be clearly defined. 

 

• Removal: The ordinance should include a procedure for removing members. 

 

• Meetings and Bylaws: The ordinance may set requirements for meetings and 

bylaws governing the advisory body. Town boards and commissions are 

considered “local public bodies” for purposes of the Colorado Open Meetings 

Law and, as such, any Town boards and commissions must follow the open 

meetings law requirements related to public meetings and posting notice. 

 
Ordinance 2024-O-11 addresses the key issues above for the process of formation of 

boards and commissions. It should be noted that as directed Ordinance 2024-O-11 

provides for term limits for members of the advisory boards; however, Town Council has 

the option to waive term limits by adopting a resolution. One other notable revision from 

the draft is that Ordinance 2024-O-11 provides for a removal process. Town Council 

has the authority to remove members of boards and commission, and the ordinance 



Page 3 of 4 
 

provides a few examples of the grounds for removal. In addition, the ordinance creates 

a Trails and Open Space Advisory Board and a Business Advisory Board.  

 

The Trails and Open Space Advisory Board is a permanent board; meaning that the 

Board is in existence until such time as Town Council acts to suspend or to disband the 

board. Ordinance 2024-O-11 provides that its membership is five regular members. The 

membership qualifications are Town resident or property owner. The purpose of the 

Trails and Open Space Advisory Board is to serve in an advisory capacity related to 

matters affecting trails, open space, recreation, and parks.  

 

Town Council also provided direction for consideration of a Business Advisory Board. 

Ordinance 2024-O-11 provides that this board is also a permanent board with five 

members. The qualifications for membership are business owners in the Town of 

Keystone, employees of business owners, or members of the Town of Keystone 

community with business experience. The purpose of the Business Advisory Board is 

explained to research and evaluate matters with may have an impact on the business 

community and provide input and potential Town municipal legislation. In addition, the 

Business Advisory Board may advise Town Council on the business community’s 

needs.  

Alternatives: 

Town Council may provide alternative direction on boards and commissions. 

Financial Considerations:  

There are no financial considerations applicable to this ordinance. 

Previous Council Actions:  

The Town Attorney discussed this ordinance with Town Council at the August 13 and 

September 10 work sessions. 



Page 4 of 4 
 

Next Steps: 

If Council approves this Ordinance on first reading, it will be scheduled for second 

reading and public hearing on October 8. 

Suggested Motions:  

Because this ordinance is on the Consent Agenda, a motion to approve the consent 

agenda will approve this ordinance. 

 

Attachment: 

• Ordinance 2024-O-11 An Ordinance of the Town Council of the Town of 

Keystone, Creating a Process for Establishing Boards and Commissions 

 



TOWN OF KEYSTONE 
ORDINANCE NO. 2024-O-11 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 

KEYSTONE, COLORADO, CREATING A PROCESS FOR 
ESTABLISHING BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Keystone (“Town” or “Keystone”) is a home rule municipal 

corporation created pursuant to Article XX of the Colorado Constitution; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Article IX of the Town of Keystone Home Rule Charter, 

the Town Council has the authority to create boards and commissions; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Town Council has a need for forming certain boards and 

commissions to study matters in greater detail and to sit in an advisory capacity to the 
Council; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council desires to adopt a process for forming these boards 

and commissions to create consistency and transparency in the formation and business 
of these boards and commissions.  
 

THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO, 
ORDAINS: 
 

Section 1. The foregoing recitals are hereby affirmed and incorporated herein 
by this reference as findings of the Town Council.  

Section 2. Town Council adopts the following requirements related to formation 
of boards and commissions set forth in Article IX of the Keystone Home Rule Charter:   

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS  

I. Purpose 
 

In accordance with Article IX of the Keystone Home Rule Charter, Town Council 
has the authority to create boards, commissions, and committees by resolution or by 
ordinance. These regulations govern the Town boards, commissions, and committees. 
The provisions of these regulations are not applicable to any committees or task forces 
established by Town employees.  
 



Ordinance No. 2024-O-11 
Page 2 of 8 
 

 
II. Formation of Boards and Commissions 

 

Town Council may form boards, commissions, and committees for the purpose of 
studying, making recommendations, and advising Town Council on particular subject 
matters. These bodies can be created for any duration, as determined by Town Council, 
and must be formed through an ordinance or resolution. The establishing ordinance or 
resolution must specify the following details: 

1. The subject matter or focus of the board, commission, or 
committee;  

 
2. The number and qualifications of members and whether there are 

alternate members, non-voting advisory members, or liaison 
members; 

 
3. The expected duration of its existence; and 

 
4. Any other relevant information to facilitate the organization and 

functioning of the board, commission, or committee. 
 
III. Membership  
 

The following governs the qualifications, appointment, and conduct of members 
of the boards, commissions, and committees of the Town. 
 

A. Qualifications. 
 

1. In the establishing ordinance or resolution, Town Council shall 
determine the residency requirements of the membership of a 
board, commission or committee. The intent is that boards, 
commissions, and committees are representative of the entire 
Keystone community. 

 
2. Full-time Town employees may not serve on a board, commission, 

or committee related to their work functions. 
 



Ordinance No. 2024-O-11 
Page 3 of 8 
 

3. Town Councilmembers and the Mayor shall only sit as advisory 
members or liaison members on a board, commission, committee 
unless Town Council is designated as serving the role and purpose 
of a particular board, commission, or committee.  
  

4. No person shall be a member of more than one board, commission 
or committee at any one time. 

 
5. No person shall serve more than two consecutive terms on any 

board, commission or committee; provided that if a person is 
appointed to fill an unexpired term of another person, that term 
shall not be considered a term for the purpose of this limitation if 
the time remaining in the term at the time of the appointment is one 
year or less. Through the adoption of a resolution, the Town 
Council may waive this limitation of terms.  

 
6. Town Council may provide for alternate member positions on the 

board, commission, or committee. 
  

7. Town Council may provide for non-voting advisory members on a 
board, commission, or committee. 

 
B. Appointments. 

 
1. Town Council shall appoint the members of the boards, 

commissions and committees. 
 
2. Town Council shall make appointments to fill vacancies on the 

boards, commissions, and committees to fill unexpired terms. 
  

3. Each appointment shall be for a term of three years unless the 
appointment is to fill a vacancy. The initial terms of members of 
newly created boards, commissions and committees shall be 
staggered and shall be for either one, two, or three years. 

 



Ordinance No. 2024-O-11 
Page 4 of 8 
 

C. Removal. 
 

Board, commission, and committee members serve at the pleasure of 
Town Council and may be removed by resolution of the Town Council with 
or without cause and with or without notice and hearing, at the sole 
discretion of Town Council.  Removal by the Town Council shall 
customarily be imposed where the Town Council finds a member engaged 
in any of the following: 

 
1. Failure to comply with applicable statutes, ordinances, resolutions 

or laws; 
 

2. Continuing obstructive, offensive, argumentative or disrespectful 
behavior that diminishes the effectiveness of the board, 
commission or committee's ability to conduct business and/or to 
make recommendations to the Town Council; 

 
3. Unexcused absences which, in the opinion of the majority of the 

board, commission or committee, render the member unable to be 
an effective participant on the board, commission or committee; or 

 
4. Disclosure of confidential information of the board, commission or 

committee, including disclosure of preliminary drafts of reports and 
work product, as defined in the Colorado Open Records Act, as 
may be amended from time to time. 

 
IV. Organization 
 

The following provisions shall govern the organizational structure of the public 
boards, commissions and committees. 
 

A. Meetings. 
 

1. All meetings of any board, commission or committee must comply 
with the Colorado Open Meetings Law.  

 
2. Board, commission and committee members may be entitled to a 

meeting stipend for meeting attendance in an amount established 
by resolution of the Town Council. A member of any board, 
commission or committee may additionally receive reimbursement 
of reasonable expenses related to the functions of the board, 
commission or committee to the extent provided by resolution. 



Ordinance No. 2024-O-11 
Page 5 of 8 
 
 

B. Bylaws and Rules of Procedure. 
 

1. Each board, commission or committee shall promulgate such 
bylaws for its conduct of business and meetings. A copy of the 
adopted bylaws shall be delivered to Town Council. 

 
2. The bylaws and rules of procedure must be consistent with 

Colorado law. 
 

3. Town Council shall have the right to establish, amend, alter, or 
modify the bylaws or rules of procedure of any board, commission, 
or committee. 

 
V. Trails and Open Space Advisory Board 
 

A. Town Council recognizes the importance of trails and open space in the 
Town. Pursuant to the authority vested in Town Council, there is established 
a Trails and Open Space Advisory Board for the purpose of advising 
Town Council on matters effecting parks, open space, trails and other 
recreation in the Town. The Trails and Open Space Advisory Board is 
expected to exist until such time as Town Council acts to suspend or 
disband the advisory board.  

 
B. Membership.   

 
1. The Trails and Open Space Advisory Board shall consist of five 

regular members.  
 

2. The members of the Trails and Open Space Advisory Board shall 
be property owners or residents of the Town of Keystone.   

 
3. Town Council may appoint one of its members to sit in a liaison 

position and a non-voting member of the Trails and Open Space 
Advisory Board. 

 
C. Purpose.   

 
The purpose of the Trails and Open Space Advisory Board is in the 
following areas of responsibility: 
 



Ordinance No. 2024-O-11 
Page 6 of 8 
 

1. Advisory matters. Town Council may ask the Trails and Open 
Space Advisory Board to research and evaluate Town issues which 
may have an impact on trails, parks, open space, and other 
recreation areas. The Trails and Open Space Advisory Board may 
also be asked to advise Town Council on the acquisition, planning, 
development, maintenance, and use of trails, parks, open space, 
and other recreation areas. 

 
2. The Trails and Open Space Advisory Board is to promote and 

encourage the development, public awareness and proper use of 
trails, parks, open space, and other recreation areas. 

 
3. The Trails and Open Space Advisory Board is to perform such 

other functions associated with trails, parks, open spaces, and 
other recreation areas as Town Council may direct.  

 
4. The Town Council, as an elected body, shall continue to exercise, 

in its sole discretion, all authority on the priority of and allocation of 
Town funds to proposed park, open space, trail or recreation 
projects and plans, and nothing contained herein shall restrict the 
Town Council from taking any action related to parks, open space, 
trails or recreation projects, including but not limited to the 
expenditure of monies, acquisition or disposition of lands, approval 
of projects or the adoption of policies. 

 
VI. Business Advisory Board 
 

A. Town Council recognizes that the economic vitality of the Town is served 
and dependent upon a vibrant business and commercial environment. The 
Town Council further recognizes that the business community may be 
directly impacted by many of the legislative acts promulgated by Town 
Council. Pursuant to the authority vested in Town Council, there is 
established a Business Advisory Board for the purposes of advising the 
Town Council on the economic and business impact of legislative and 
regulatory actions and on the business community’s needs. The Business 
Advisory Board is expected to exist until such time as Town Council acts 
to suspend or disband the advisory board. 

 
B. Membership. 

 
1. The Business Advisory Board shall consist of five regular members.  



Ordinance No. 2024-O-11 
Page 7 of 8 
 
 

2. The members of the Business Advisory Board shall be business 
owners or employees of business owners in the Town of Keystone 
or members of the Town of Keystone community with business 
experience.  

 
3. Town Council may appoint one of its members to sit in a liaison 

position and a non-voting member of the Business Advisory Board. 
 

C. Purpose. 
 

The purpose of the Business Advisory Board is in the following areas of 
responsibility: 
 
1. Municipal Code Review. The Business Advisory Board may, upon 

the request of Town Council, review any adopted or proposed 
municipal legislation. 

 
2. Advisory matters. Town Council may ask the Business Advisory 

Board to research and evaluate Town issues which may have an 
impact on the business community. The Business Advisory Board 
may advise Town Council on the Town of Keystone’s business 
community’s needs. 

 
 Section 3. Severability.  Should any one or more sections or provisions of this 
Ordinance be judicially determined invalid or unenforceable, such judgment shall not affect, 
impair, or invalidate the remaining provisions of this Ordinance, the intention being that the 
various sections and provisions are severable.  
 
 Section 4. Codification. This ordinance may be codified and numbered for 
purposes of codification without the need for further approval by the Town Council.  
 
 Section 5. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after 
publication.  
 
 
INTRODUCED, READ AND PASSED AS AN ORDINANCE, ON FIRST READING, AT A 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF KEYSTONE, 
COLORADO, THIS                DAY OF __________, 2024. 
 

 
 
      



Ordinance No. 2024-O-11 
Page 8 of 8 
 

Kenneth D. Riley, Mayor 
ATTEST:  
      
 
        
Town Clerk  
 
  
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
     
Town Attorney 

 
 
READ, PASSED AND ADOPTED WITH A ROLL CALL VOTE OF ___ IN FAVOR AND 
___ OPPOSED ON SECOND READING, AT A REGULAR MEETING OF THE TOWN 
COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO, THIS                DAY OF 
_________, 2024. 
 

 
      
Kenneth D. Riley, Mayor 

ATTEST:  
      
        
Town Clerk  
 
 APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
     
Town Attorney 



Page 1 of 3 
 

TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
STAFF REPORT 

 

TO:                   Mayor & Town Councilmembers 

THROUGH:          John Crone, Town Manager 

   Jennifer Madsen, Town Attorney 

FROM:          Lindsay Hirsh, Community Development Director 

DATE:          September 24, 2024 – Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Resolution 2024-65, A Resolution of Town Council of the 

Town of Keystone, Colorado, Approving a Site Plan 

Improvements Agreement (“SPIA”) for Camber Townhomes, 

Located at 0624 Montezuma Road 
 

Executive Summary:  

The Class 4 Site Plan for the 14-unit townhome project was approved by the Town’s 

Planning and Zoning Commission on June 27, 2024.  The project is in the first stages of 

development, including clearing, grading, and initiating utility work.  As per the Town of 

Keystone Land Use Code, a financial guarantee is required for the subject improvements.  

Recommendation:  

Approve the Site Plan Improvements Agreement per the attached Resolution. 

Background: 

The purpose of this site plan improvements agreement is to ensure that all improvements 

are financed, constructed and maintained.  The intent is to provide for continued fiscal 

and legal responsibility for such improvements until the entire project is deemed complete 

and responsibility for the continued maintenance of such improvements has been 

properly assumed by the relevant successors in interest, such as a homeowner’s 

association.  Site improvements are the responsibility of the developer.  All improvements 

shall be designed and constructed according to applicable designs, specifications and 



Page 2 of 3 
 

standards as approved by the Town having jurisdiction over the property to be developed.  

The developer shall assume all responsibility for the financing, construction and initial 

maintenance of all improvements internal or external to the proposed development. Site 

plan improvements Agreements are required by the Town of Keystone Land Use Code. 

This site plan improvements agreement is consistent with the requirements set forth in 

the Town of Keystone Land Use Code.  

 

The subject property was approved for a 14-unit Townhome project by the Town Planning 

and Zoning Commission on June 27, 2024.  The project is in the first stages of 

development, including clearing, grading, and initiating utility work. As such a financial 

guarantee needs to be provided for the proposed infrastructure improvements as listed in 

Exhibit A of the SPIA (attached).  The improvements as listed in Exhibit A are private 

improvements, and include site preparation improvements, access and parking surface 

improvements, and utilities infrastructure (including water, sewer, stormwater, electric 

and gas).  Maintenance of the private improvements will be the responsibility of the 

development’s Homeowners’ Association.  Utility providers will have access to utility 

infrastructure via easements on the property. 

Financial Considerations:  

There are no Town financial considerations applicable to the subject application. Once 

the agreement is signed, it will be accompanied by a cash bond or letter of credit held by 

the Town for a period of at least two years to ensure that the improvements have been 

adequately installed and constructed.   

Previous Council Actions:  

None. 

Suggested Motions:  

To APPROVE:  

I move to APPROVE Resolution 2024-65, A Resolution of Town Council of the Town of 

Keystone, Colorado, Approving a Site Plan Improvements Agreement (“SPIA”) for 

Camber Townhomes, Located at 0624 Montezuma Road 



Page 3 of 3 
 

 

To DENY:  

I move to DENY Resolution 2024-65, A Resolution of Town Council of the Town of 

Keystone, Colorado, Approving a Subdivision Improvements Agreement (“SPIA”) for 

Camber Townhomes, Located at 0624 Montezuma Road 

Attachments:  

• Resolution 2024-65, A Resolution of Town Council of the Town of Keystone, 

Colorado, Approving a Site Plan Improvements Agreement (“SPIA”) for Camber 

Townhomes, Located at 0624 Montezuma Road 

• Attachment A – Site Plan Improvements Agreement for Camber Townhomes, 

Located at 0624 Montezuma Road 



TOWN OF KEYSTONE 
Summit County, Colorado 

 
RESOLUTION 2024-65 

 
A RESOLUTION OF TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO, 
APPROVING A SITE PLAN IMPROVEMENTS AGREEMENT (“SPIA”) FOR CAMBER 

TOWNHOMES, LOCATED AT 0624 MONTEZUMA ROAD 

WHEREAS, the Town of Keystone (“Town”) is a home rule municipality governed 
by the Keystone Home Rule Charter; and 

WHEREAS, per the Town’s Land Use Code, the Town of Keystone is required to 
have a Site Plan Improvements Agreement for these types of developments; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council finds it in the best interest of the Town to execute 
the Site Plan Improvements Agreement to secure the approved improvements associated 
with the development.   

Now, Therefore, be it Resolved by the Town Council of the Town of Keystone, 
Colorado, that:  

Section 1. Town Council approves the Site Plan Improvement Agreement in 
substantially the form that is attached as Attachment A. The Town Manager is authorized 
to execute the agreement and is authorized to make any non-material changes in 
consultation with the Town Attorney.  

 
Section 2. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect upon its approval by 

the Town Council.  

ADOPTED by a vote of __ in favor and __ against, this _____ day of ________, 
2024. 

       By: ____________________________ 
           Kenneth D. Riley, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
By:   By: _____________________________ 
 Town Clerk  Town Attorney 



Attachment A 

Page 1 of 8 
 

  SITE PLAN IMPROVEMENTS AGREEMENT  

FOR 

DEVELOPMENT 

SPECIFIC TO 

 
CAMBER TOWNHOMES, TOK24-002 

__________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT is made as of this ______ day of _____________, 20__, between 624 Montezuma 
Rd, LLC ("Owner/Developer"), whose address is 2700 S. Broadway Ste. 200, Englewood, CO 80113, and the Town 
Council of the Town of Keystone ("Town"), whose address is 1628 Saints John Road, Keystone, Colorado 80435, 
Attention: Community Development Department and Town Review Authority. 
 
I. GENERAL 
 
 1.1 Owner/Developer has submitted a site plan application for the property located at 624 Montezuma 
Road, Keystone, Colorado and received the Town's site plan approval dated June 27, 2024 (hereafter referred to as 
the "Site Plan"). 
 
 1.2 Certain site plan improvements and other easements are required by the Keystone Community 
Development Department for the benefit of owners within and adjacent to a site plan area or are required by the 
Town to properly address access, drainage, traffic, landscaping, road improvements, grading, and erosion control.  
The site plan improvements and easements required for this Site Plan are listed on Exhibit A, which is attached 
hereto and incorporated herein, and may hereafter be referred to as the "Site Plan Improvements" or 
"Improvements". 
 
 1.3 This Agreement will provide for the completion of the Site Plan Improvements on 
Owner/Developer's project, and will serve to protect the Town from the cost of completing such Site Plan 
Improvements. 
 
 1.4 This Agreement is not executed for the benefit of third parties including, but not limited to, 
material, laborers or others providing work, services or material for the Site Plan Improvements. 
 
II. CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 2.1 Agreement to Construct Improvements and Grant Easements.  Subject to and in accordance with 
the terms and provisions of this Agreement, Owner/Developer agrees to cause the Improvements to be constructed 
and completed, together with the easement(s) granted to the Town at Owner/Developer's expense, in accordance 
with the provisions of this Agreement.  Such compliance shall be determined by the Keystone Community 
Development Department. 
 
 2.2 Building and Grading Permits/Certificates of Occupancy.  Building permits and grading permits 
for the site shall not be issued until this Agreement is fully executed.  Certificates of Occupancy shall not be issued 
until easements have been granted and the Improvements have been completed, or security for completion of the 
Improvements is provided to the Town, as provided for herein. 
 
 2.3 Construction Standards.  The Improvements shall be constructed in accordance with this 
Agreement, the approved Site Plan, and the Town's resolutions, regulations, standards and specifications.  Prior to 
the initiation of construction of any Improvements listed in Exhibit A, construction drawings or plans for such 
Improvements must be submitted to the Town Review Authority through the Towns's review process, including the 
payment of required fees. 



Attachment A 

Page 2 of 8 
 

 
 2.4 Completion Date.  The Site Plan Improvements shall be completed within the time limits set forth 
on the attached Exhibit A ("Completion Date").  The Completion Date may only be extended for good cause, as 
determined by and approved by the Town in writing. 
 
 2.5 Warranties of Owner/Developer.  Owner/Developer warrants that the Improvements will be 
installed in a good, workmanlike manner in compliance with the construction drawings or plans and requirements of 
this Agreement, and shall be substantially free of defects in materials and workmanship.  Items constructed within 
the Town right-of-way shall be warranted for a period of two years following the issuance of the first Certificate of 
Occupancy for any building on the site. 
 
 2.6 Maintenance Prior to End of Warranty Period.  Until the end of the warranty period, 
Owner/Developer shall, at Owner/Developer's expense, make all needed repairs or replacements to the 
Improvements.  Owner/Developer may assign its obligations for ordinary repairs and maintenance of the 
Improvements, but the Owner/Developer shall remain obligated to the Town for the proper performance of such 
repairs and maintenance. 
 
 2.7 Title to Subdivision Improvements.  Improvements constructed in the public right-of-way shall be 
owned by the Town, except that the maintenance of curb and gutter, cross-pans and pavement (or other roadway 
surface) within the access to the site shall remain with the Owner/Developer. 
 
III. SECURITY FOR COMPLETION OF IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 3.1 Deposit of Security for Owner/Developer Obligations.  To secure the performance of the 
obligations of Owner/Developer under this Agreement to complete the Improvements, Owner/Developer shall 
deposit with the Town an irrevocable letter of credit with provisions as hereinafter set forth, or a cash deposit or 
other financial guarantee deemed adequate by the Town ("Security").  The Security shall be deposited after approval 
of the Site Plan and shall be 115% of the estimated cost to construct the Improvements which the Owner/Developer 
is required to construct.  Such estimated cost shall be reasonably determined by the Town in its sole discretion.  No 
conveyance or transfer of title to any lot, lots, tract or tracts of land within the Site Plan shall be made, nor any 
Certificates of Occupancy or building permits issue, unless (a) the approved Security has been deposited with the 
Town or (b) all improvements have been completed and a deposit in the amount of 15 percent of the estimated cost 
of said Improvements has been made with the Town ("Guaranty").  The Guaranty shall be retained by the  
Town until satisfaction of Owner/Developer's obligations under this Agreement or earlier release by the Town.  
 
 3.2 Provisions for Letter of Credit.  If an irrevocable letter of credit is provided as Security, such letter 
for credit shall be in an amount equal to 115% of the estimated cost to construct the Improvements, as determined by 
the Town in its sole discretion.  The letter of credit shall be issued from __________________________________, 
or such other bank as shall be approved by the Town; shall have an expiration date no earlier than two years after its 
date of issue; and shall provide that it may be drawn upon from time to time by the Town in such amount or amounts 
as the Town may designate as justified, such amounts not to exceed, in the aggregate, the amount of the letter of 
credit.  Draws under any such letter of credit shall be by a certificate signed by the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem of the 
Town Council of the Town of Keystone stating that the Town is entitled to draw the specified amount under the 
terms of this Agreement.   
 
 3.3 Certificate of Occupancy.  Until the Improvements are completed or secured for the site in 
compliance with the Town approved Site Plan, and all necessary easements have been granted, the Town is under no 
obligation to issue a Certificate of Occupancy for any building on the site, nor shall the Owner/Developer make 
application for said Certificate of Occupancy. 
 
 3.4 Recording Agreement.  After approval of this Agreement by the Town, this Agreement may, at the 
option and expense of the Town, be recorded in the office of the Clerk and Recorder of Summit County.  Upon 
issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy and satisfactory completion of Improvements for any building on this site, 
except with respect to warranties described herein, the Town shall deliver to Owner/Developer (if requested by 



Attachment A 

Page 3 of 8 
 

Owner/Developer) a recordable executed document which shall release all property (within the applicable phase, if a 
multi-phased Site Plan Application) within the Site Plan Application from any further effect of this Agreement. 
 
IV. ACCEPTANCE OF IMPROVEMENTS. 
 
 4.1 Preliminary/Partial Acceptance.  Upon the satisfactory completion of any of the specific Site Plan 
Improvement work items listed in Exhibit A, Owner/Developer shall be entitled to obtain preliminary acceptance 
thereof by the Town ("Preliminary Acceptance") in accordance with the following provisions. 
 
  a)  Upon such partial completion, Owner/Developer shall give written notice to the Town Review 
Authority requesting an inspection of the completed Site Plan Improvements ("Preliminary Inspection Notice").  The 
Town shall inspect the completed Site Plan Improvements within fourteen days after receipt by the Town Review 
Authority of the Preliminary Inspection Notice and, if the Town Review Authority finds that the specified 
improvements have been completed substantially in accordance with the Site Plan and the other requirements of this 
Agreement, the Town Review Authority shall issue a letter evidencing Preliminary Acceptance within fourteen days 
after the inspection.  The Town’s duty to inspect within fourteen days shall be extended, if necessary, due to weather 
or winter conditions causing inspection to be impractical or impossible. 
 
  b)  If, upon inspection of the completed Site Plan Improvements, the Town Review Authority 
finds that the specified improvements have not been completed substantially in accordance with the Site Plan and 
the other requirements of this Agreement, the Town Review Authority shall issue a written notice of noncompliance 
within fourteen days after the inspection specifying the respects in which the improvements have not been 
completed substantially in accordance with the Site Plan and the other requirements of this Agreement.  
Owner/Developer shall thereupon take such action as is necessary to cure any noncompliance and, upon curing the 
same, shall give a new Preliminary Inspection Notice to the Town Review Authority.  Upon the giving of such a 
new Preliminary Inspection Notice, the foregoing provisions of this Section 4.1 shall apply. 
 

  c)  Length of Guarantee Period:  In order to ensure that successful, stable plant establishment is 
achieved, all landscape planting shall be subject to a guarantee period of two years from the date installation is 
completed except, where planting, seeding, or revegetation is done on 3.33:1 or greater slopes, the initial 
guarantee period shall be three years.  

 
 4.2 Partial Release of Security.  At the time of Preliminary Acceptance of any specific completed 
work items listed in Exhibit A, the Town shall issue a written release of the Security provided in Section 3.1.  The 
amount to be released for the completed Site Plan Improvements shall be the total amount of the Security for each 
completed work item, provided sufficient amounts exist on deposit for completion of the remaining incomplete Site 
Plan Improvements.  An Owner/Developer guaranty in the amount of 15% of the total cost of such work items that 
have been preliminarily accepted ("Guaranty") shall remain on deposit with the Town until satisfaction of the 
Owner/Developer's obligations under this Agreement. 
 
  a)  Prior to the release of any financial guarantee for landscape improvements, the Town must 
determine that revegetation of the site is essentially free from weeds as identified by the Town as invasive, noxious 
or otherwise nuisance weed species. 
 
 4.3 Final Acceptance.  Upon final completion of the Site Plan Improvements, Owner/Developer shall 
be entitled to obtain final acceptance thereof by the Town ("Final Acceptance") in accordance with the following 
provisions. 
 
  a)  No later than 60 days prior to the expiration of the warranty period for any phase of the Site 
Plan Improvements, Owner/Developer shall give written notice to the Town Review Authority requesting a final 
inspection of such phase of the Site Plan Improvements ("Final Inspection Notice").  The Town shall inspect such 
phase of the Site Plan Improvements within fourteen days after receipt by the Town Review Authority of the Final 
Inspection Notice and, if the Town Review Authority finds that the phase of the Site Plan Improvements is 
substantially free of defects in materials and workmanship and has been repaired and maintained as and to the extent 



Attachment A 

Page 4 of 8 
 

required in this Agreement, the Town Review Authority shall issue a letter evidencing Final Acceptance of the 
phase of the Site Plan Improvements.  Again, the Town may extend the inspection period due to weather and 
seasonal snow conditions. 
 
  b)  If, upon final inspection of a phase of the Site Plan Improvements, the Town Review Authority 
finds that the phase of the Site Plan Improvements is not substantially free of defects in materials and workmanship 
or has not been repaired and maintained as required under this Agreement, the Town Review Authority shall issue a 
written notice of noncompliance within fourteen days after the final inspection specifying the respects in which the 
Site Plan Improvements are not substantially free of defects in materials and workmanship or have not been repaired 
and maintained as required under this Agreement.  Owner/Developer shall thereupon take such action as is 
necessary to cure any noncompliance and, upon curing the same, shall give a new Final Inspection Notice to the 
Town Review Authority.  Upon the giving of such new Final Inspection Notice, the foregoing provisions of this 
Section 4.4 shall apply. 
 
  c)  At the time of Final Acceptance of the Site Plan Improvements, Owner/Developer shall be 
entitled to a release of the Guaranty for that phase.  The release shall be in writing, signed by the Town Review 
Authority. 
                            
V. DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 
 
 5.1 Default by the Owner/Developer.  A default by Owner/Developer shall exist after notice and an 
opportunity to cure as hereinafter provided if (a) Owner/Developer fails to cure any noncompliance specified in any 
written notice of noncompliance within a reasonable time after receipt of the notice of noncompliance; and (b) 
Owner/Developer otherwise breaches or fails to comply with any obligation of Owner/Developer under this 
Agreement.  Notice of Default as to Improvements must be given prior to expiration of the warranty period for such 
phase of the Improvements as hereinafter provided. 
 
 5.2 Notice of Default.  In the event a default by Owner/Developer is believed to exist, the Town shall 
give written notice thereof to Owner/Developer, specifying the default and specifying a reasonable time within 
which Owner/Developer shall be required to cure the default. 
 
 5.3 Remedies of Town.  If Owner/Developer fails to cure such default within the time specified by the 
Town, the Town shall be entitled to (a) make a draw on the Security for the amount reasonably determined by the 
Town to be necessary to cure the default in a manner consistent with the approved Site Plans up to the amount of the 
Security; and (b) sue the Owner/Developer for recovery of any amount necessary to cure the default over and above 
the amount available under the Security, including court costs, witness fees and reasonable attorneys' fees.   The 
Town, any contractor under the Town, or any such successor Owner/Developer, their agents, subcontractors and 
employees shall have the non-exclusive right to enter upon the site for the purpose of completing the Site Plan 
Improvements. 
 
VI. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 6.1 Indemnifications.  Owner/Developer shall indemnify and save harmless the Town from (a) any 
and all suits, actions, claims, judgments, obligations, or liabilities of every nature and description which arise from 
an event or occurrence prior to the date of Final Acceptance and which are caused by, arise from or on account of 
the construction and installation of the Improvements; and (b) any and all suits, actions, claims, or judgments which 
arise from an event or occurrence prior to the date of the Final Acceptance and which are asserted by or on behalf of 
contractors  or subcontractors working in the Site Plan Application Area, lot owners in the Site Plan Application 
area, or third parties claiming injuries resulting from defective Improvements constructed by Owner/Developer.  
This indemnification shall not apply to claims arising from the negligent acts or omissions of Town.  
Owner/Developer shall pay any and all judgments rendered against the Town on account of any such suit, action, or 
claim, together with all reasonable expenses and attorneys' fees incurred by the Town defending such suit, action or 
claim.  The Town shall, within fifteen (15) days after being served with any claim, suit, or action, provide  
Owner/Developer with a copy of the complaint.  The Owner/Developer may provide proper legal representation for 



Attachment A 

Page 5 of 8 
 

the Town in said action, in which case the Owner/Developer shall not be responsible for any additional legal fees 
incurred by the Town.  The Town agrees that the Owner/Developer may also, on its own behalf, become a party to 
any such action and the Town agrees to execute any documents as may be necessary to allow the Owner/Developer 
to be a party. 
 
 6.2 Insurance.  Owner/Developer shall require that all contractors engaged in the construction of the 
Improvements maintain Worker's Compensation insurance.  Before proceeding with the construction of 
Improvements, Owner/Developer shall provide the Town Review Authority with written evidence of property 
damage insurance and bodily injury insurance in an amount of not less than Nine Hundred Ninety Thousand Dollars 
($990,000) each, or such other maximum amount of liability as may be specified in the Colorado Governmental 
Immunity Act, and protecting the Town against any and all claims for damages to persons or property resulting from 
construction and/or installation of any Improvements pursuant to this Agreement.  The policy shall provide that the 
Town shall be notified at least thirty (30) days in advance of any reduction in coverage, termination, or cancellation 
of the policy.  Such notice shall be sent by certified mail to the Town Review Authority, return receipt requested.  
Owner/Developer agrees that any contractors engaged by or for Owner/Developer to construct the Improvements 
shall maintain public liability coverage in limits not less than those described above. 
 
 6.3 No Third Party Beneficiaries.  No persons or entity, other than a party to this Agreement shall 
have any right of action under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, lenders, lot or home buyers and 
materialmen, laborers or others providing work, services, or materials for the Improvements. 
 
 6.4 Assignability.  Owner/Developer may convey or transfer title or interest in the Site without the 
written consent of the Town and a grantee or transferee of Owner/Developer shall not be obligated to fulfill any of 
the obligations of Owner/Developer under this Agreement unless such grantee or transferee is the successor or 
assignee of Owner/Developer in its capacity as Owner/Developer of the Site Plan.  Owner/Developer may assign its 
rights and obligations under this Agreement to a party who is the successor or assignee of Owner/Developer in its 
capacity as Owner/Developer of the Site Plan Application without the consent of the Town; provided, however, that 
(a) Owner/Developer provides prior notification to the Town of the assignment and of the name and address of the 
successor Owner/Developer; and (b) the successor Owner/Developer assumes the obligations of Owner/Developer 
under this  Agreement.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing by Town and in spite of any assignment, 
Owner/Developer shall remain liable for performance of the obligations of Owner/Developer under this Agreement. 
 
 6.5 No Automatic Further Approvals.  Execution of this Agreement by the Town shall not be 
construed as a representation or warranty that Owner/Developer is entitled to any other approvals required from the 
Town, if any, before Owner/Developer is entitled to commence development of the Improvements or to transfer 
ownership of property in the Site Plan Application. 
 
 6.6 Notices.  All notices, consents or other instruments or communications provided for under this 
Agreement shall be in writing, signed by the party giving the same, and shall be deemed properly given and received 
(a) when actually delivered and received personally, be messenger service, or by fax or telecopy delivery; (b) on the 
next business day after deposit for delivery in an overnight courier service such as Federal Express; or (c) three (3) 
business days after the deposit in the United States mail, by registered or certified mail with return receipt requested. 
All such notices or other instruments shall be transmitted with delivery or postage charges prepaid, addressed to the 
party at the address below for that party or to such other address as such party may designate by written notice to the 
other party. 
 
If to Owner/Developer: If to the Town: 
 
 Town of Keystone 
 ATTN: Community Development Department 
____________________________________ 1628 Saints John Road  
 Keystone, CO  80435 
__________________________________ 
 



Attachment A 

Page 6 of 8 
 

  
 6.7 Further Assurances.  At any time, and from time to time, upon request of either party, the other 
party agrees to make, execute and deliver or cause to be made, executed and delivered to the requesting party any 
and all further instruments, certificates and documents consistent with the provisions of this Agreement as may, in 
the reasonable opinion of the requesting party, be necessary or desirable in order to effectuate, complete or perfect 
the right of the parties under this Agreement. 
 
 6.8 Binding Effect.  Subject to Section 5.4 above, this Agreement shall run with the land and be 
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 6.9 Headings for Convenience.  All headings and captions used herein are for convenience only, and 
are of no meaning in the interpretation or effect of this Agreement. 
 
 6.10 No Implied Waivers.  The failure by a party to enforce any provision of this Agreement or the 
waiver of any specific requirement of this Agreement shall not be construed as a general waiver of this Agreement 
or any provision herein nor shall such action act to stop the party from subsequently enforcing this Agreement 
according to its terms. 
 
 6.11 Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to 
be invalid, it shall not affect the validity of this Agreement as a whole, or any part thereof, other than the part 
declared to be invalid and there shall be substituted for the affected provision, a valid and enforceable provision as 
similar as possible to the affected provision. 
 
 6.12 No Waiver of Sovereign Immunity.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall constitute a waiver 
of the sovereign immunity of the Town under applicable state law. 
 
 6.13 Consent to Jurisdiction and Venue.  Personal jurisdiction and venue for any civil action 
commenced by either party to this Agreement with respect to this Agreement or a letter of credit shall be proper only 
if such action is commenced in the District Court for Summit County, Colorado.  Owner/Developer expressly 
waives the right to bring such action in or to remove such action to any other court, whether state or federal. 
 
 6.14 Agent/Employee.  The Owner/Developer is not an agent or employee of the Town. 
 
 6.15 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, and any agreement or document referred to herein, 
constitutes the entire understanding between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and all other prior 
understandings or agreements shall be deemed merged in this Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Signature Page to Follow 
 



Attachment A 

Page 7 of 8 
 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year above 
written. 
 
_____________________________________   
      (Name of Owner/Developer) 
 
By:_________________________________ 
 
Print Name:               
 
Title:_______________________________ 
 
 
STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF SUMMIT ) 
The foregoing was acknowledged before me this ____ day of ____________________, 20__,  
 
by _________________________________ as ______________________________, 
 
of _________________________. 
 
Witness my hand and official seal: 
 
My commission expires:_______________________ 
 
___________________________________________ 
Notary Public 
 
 
TOWN COUNCIL    
OF THE TOWN OF KEYSTONE      
 
 
By:____________________________________   
          John Crone, Town Manager 
 
             
  
 
 
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Attachment A 

Page 8 of 8 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

CAMBER TOWNHOMES INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS 
  

ITEM NO. ITEM  UNIT QUANTITY UNIT COST TOTAL COST 

1 CLEARING & GRUBBING ACRE 1.3 $14,500.00 $18,850.00  
2 UNCLASSIFIED EXCAVATION CY 6000 $16.00 $96,000.00  
3 TOPSOIL CY 2100 $19.60 $41,160.00  
4 EROSION LOG TYPE 1 LF 675 $4.00 $2,700.00  
5 VEHICLE TRACKING PAD EACH 1 $3,500.00 $3,500.00  
6 SEEDING (NATIVE) (HYDRAULIC) ACRE 1.3 $5,000.00 $6,500.00  
7 AGGREGATE BASE COURSE (CLASS 6) TON 430 $40.00 $17,200.00  
8 HOT MIX ASPHALT (GRADING SX) (75) (PG 58-34) TON 320 $135.00 $43,200.00  
9 T-TOP PAVEMENT JOINT EACH 1 $2,000.00 $2,000.00  

10 PRECAST TYPE 13 INLET EACH 3 $6,000.00 $18,000.00  
11 PRECAST STORMWATER DRYWELL EACH 4 $9,000.00 $36,000.00  
12 12" HDPE STORM PIPE LF 360 $90.00 $32,400.00  
13 BURIED ELECTRIC LINE (XCEL CONTRACT) LF 1000 $156.00 $156,000.00  
14 SWITCH GEAR EACH 1 PER XCEL CONTRACT 
15 ELECTRIC TRANSFORMER EACH 2 PER XCEL CONTRACT 
16 PRECAST SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE EACH 2 $8,500.00 $17,000.00  
17 8" SEWER MAIN (PVC) LF 200 $250.00 $50,000.00  
18 GAS LINE (SIZE & MATERIAL TBD) LF 300 PER XCEL CONTRACT 

  
   Total: $540,510.00 

      

  
LOC Required  
(115% of Estimated Costs) $621,586.50 

 



 
Keystone Town Council 

Minutes 
 

A Regular Meeting of the Keystone Town Council was held on September 10, 2024, at 

7:00 p.m. at 1628 Sts. John Rd, Keystone, CO 80435. Full and timely notice of this 

meeting had been posted and a quorum of the body was present. 

I. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL 
 
Mayor Riley called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. The roll was called, and it was 

found there were present and participating at that time the following members: 

Councilmember Gretchen Davis, Councilmember Carol Kerr, Councilmember Dan 

Sullivan, Councilmember Valerie Thisted, and Mayor Riley. The following member 

was absent: Councilmember Aaron Parmet (excused).  

 
II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
Mayor Riley presented the agenda and noted that the Liquor Licensing Authority 

Matter has been rescheduled to the meeting on September 24, 2024. 

 

Councilmember Davis moved to approve the agenda as presented. Councilmember 

Sullivan seconded. The motion passed unanimously, and the agenda was approved.  
 

III. COMMUNICATIONS TO COUNCIL 
 
Mayor Riley opened the floor for public comment. Patty Banks spoke regarding a 

meeting with residents in Loveland Pass Village and encouraged in person 

participation at public meetings. Seeing no further members of the public wishing to 

speak, Mayor Riley closed the floor for public comment.  
 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA 



A. FIRST READING OF ORDINANCES – NONE 
B. RESOLUTIONS – NONE 
C. MEETING MINUTES  

1. August 27, 2024 – Meeting Minutes 
D. EXCUSED ABSENCES – NONE 
E. OTHER – NONE 

 

Mayor Riley read the consent agenda into the record.  

 

Councilmember Davis moved to approve the consent agenda. Councilmember 

Sullivan seconded. The motion passed unanimously, and the consent agenda 

was approved as presented.  
 

V. DISCUSSION 
A. LIQUOR LICENSING AUTHORITY MATTERS 

1. New Liquor License Application for Ski-to-Tee, LLC, dba, Ski-To-
Tee, Located at 100 Dercum Square Unit E3, By John Keith, 
Applicant Owner/Operator  
(Rescheduled to the Council Meeting on September 24, 2024) 
 
This item was rescheduled to the Council Meeting on September 24, 

2024.  

 
B. CONSIDERATION OF ORDINANCES (SECOND READING/PUBLIC 

HEARING)  
1. Ordinance 2024-O-09, An Ordinance of Town Council of the Town 

of Keystone, Colorado, Amending the Town Liquor Code and 
Ordinance 2024-O-03 
 
Mayor Riley read the title of Ordinance 2024-O-09, An Ordinance of 

Town Council of the Town of Keystone, Colorado, Amending the Town 

Liquor Code and Ordinance 2024-O-03 and opened the public hearing.  

 

Mayor Riley recognized Town Manager John Crone, Town Attorney 



Jennifer Madsen, and Town Clerk Madeleine Sielu to present the item.  

 

Mayor Riley opened the floor for public comment. Seeing no members 

of the public wishing to speak, Mayor Riley closed the floor for public 

comment.  

 

Councilmember Sullivan moved to approve Ordinance 2024-O-09. 

Councilmember Davis seconded.  

On roll call, the result was:  
Ayes: Councilmember Davis, Councilmember Kerr, Councilmember 

Sullivan, Councilmember Thisted, Mayor Riley (5) 

Nays: (0) 

Abstain: (0) 
Absent: Councilmember Parmet (1) 

The motion passed and Ordinance 2024-O-09 was adopted. 
 

C. RESOLUTIONS  
1. Resolution 2024-61, A Resolution of Town Council of the Town of 

Keystone, Colorado, Approving a Subdivision Improvements 
Agreement (“SIA”) for Ina’s Way Residences Subdivision, Located 
at 96 River Run Road 
 
Mayor Riley recognized Town Manager John Crone and Community 

Development Director Lindsay Hirsh to introduce Resolution 2024-61, 

Approving a Subdivision Improvements Agreement (“SIA”) for Ina’s Way 

Residences Subdivision, Located at 96 River Run Road.  

 

Councilmember Kerr moved to approve Resolution 2024-61. 

Councilmember Davis seconded.  
On roll call, the result was:  
Ayes: Councilmember Davis, Councilmember Kerr, Councilmember 

Sullivan, Councilmember Thisted, Mayor Riley (5) 

Nays: (0) 

Abstain: (0) 



Absent: Councilmember Parmet (1) 

The motion passed, and Resolution 2024-61 was approved. 

 
2. Resolution 2024-62, A Resolution of Town Council of the Town of 

Keystone, Colorado, Approving an Intergovernmental Agreement 
with Summit County Regarding Liquor Code Regulation and 
Enforcement at River Course Grill 
 
Mayor Riley recognized Town Manager John Crone, Town Attorney 

Jennifer Madsen, and Town Clerk Madeleine Sielu to present 

Resolution 2024-62, Approving an Intergovernmental Agreement  with 

Summit County Regarding Liquor Code Regulation and Enforcement at 

River Course Grill. 

 

Mayor Riley moved to approve Resolution 2024-62, with an amendment 

to paragraph 1.b. that provides that the County retains the ability to 

enforce all laws and regulations, other than the Colorado Liquor Code, 

on the Golf Course Optional Premises that is located within the 

County’s jurisdiction. Councilmember Sullivan seconded. 

On roll call, the result was:  

Ayes: Councilmember Davis, Councilmember Kerr, Councilmember 

Sullivan, Councilmember Thisted, Mayor Riley (5) 

Nays: (0) 

Abstain: (0) 
Absent: Councilmember Parmet (1) 

The motion passed, and Resolution 2024-62 was adopted as amended.   

 
3. Resolution 2024-63, A Resolution of Town Council of the Town of 

Keystone, Colorado, Approving an Intergovernmental Agreement 
with Summit County Regarding Liquor Code Regulation and 
Enforcement at Mountain House Lodge 
 
Mayor Riley recognized Town Manager John Crone, Town Attorney 

Jennifer Madsen, and Town Clerk Madeleine Sielu to present 



Resolution 2024-63, Approving an Intergovernmental Agreement  with 

Summit County Regarding Liquor Code Regulation and Enforcement at 

Mountain House Lodge. 

 

Mayor Riley moved to approve Resolution 2024-63, with an amendment 

to paragraph 1.b. that provides that the Town retains the ability to 

enforce all laws and regulations, other than the Colorado Liquor Code, 

on the Optional Premises that is located within the Town’s jurisdiction. 

 

On roll call, the result was:  

Ayes: Councilmember Davis, Councilmember Kerr, Councilmember 

Sullivan, Councilmember Thisted, Mayor Riley (5) 

Nays: (0) 

Abstain: (0) 
Absent: Councilmember Parmet (1) 

The motion passed, and Resolution 2024-63 was adopted as amended. 
 

D. OTHER - None 
VI. PLANNING MATTERS  
VII. REPORT OF TOWN MANAGER AND STAFF 

 
Town Manager John Crone provided an update on recent Homeowner’s Association 

meetings attended by himself and members of Town Council. He attended a recent 

Mayors, Managers and Commissioners meeting where the issue of the school 

board’s ballot issue was discussed. He attended a Transit Advisory Board meeting 

where bus service to Keystone in the winter was discussed. Summit County is 

beginning to expand its micro transit options in Dillon Valley & Peak 7. Town 

representatives are contributing to this conversation to advocate for expansion of 

micro transit options in Keystone. Benefits costs are estimated to go up 13.5% in the 

upcoming year. He has continued discussions with Dillon and the Summit County 

Sheriff’s Office regarding law enforcement. The Town successfully launched the 

Short-Term Rental licensing renewal process, and it is going well.  
 
 



VIII. REPORT OF MAYOR AND COUNCIL 
 
Councilmember Thisted shared a concern for discussions of fire prevention methods. 

 

Councilmember Kerr shared that the Chamber of Commerce was interested in 

hosting a Keystone specific business mixer this fall. 

 

Mayor Riley reported on his meeting with the other Summit County Mayors and 

Managers and community members from Loveland Pass Village. The meeting with 

Vail Resorts and the Town of Keystone has been postponed until the new General 

Manager is on board. 
 

IX. OTHER MATTERS  
 
Councilmember Kerr expressed an interest in future discussions regarding 

regulations that would require AirBnb and VRBO to remove listings that aren’t in 

compliance with the Town’s Short-Term Rental code. 

 
X. SCHEDULED MEETINGS 
XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
XII. ADJOURNMENT  

 
Seeing no further business to conduct, Mayor Riley adjourned the meeting at 8:08 

p.m.  



Town of Keystone
Accounts Payable List
Period: August 24 through September 20, 2024

    Payables processed for the period indicated above:

PAYEES AMOUNT DESCRIPTION REVIEWED, APPROVED BY
Abell, Gabrielle 98.22 reimbursment mileage M. Sielu, J. Crone
Blue Vector AI LLC 55,000.00 short term rental software M. Sielu, J. Crone
CEBT 7,148.32 health insurance premium Sep E.Cox, J. Crone
Employers Council Services Inc 1,215.00 payroll, human resources consultant M. Sielu, J. Crone
FirstBank Credit Card Center 2,234.95 p-card charges thru Sept M. Sielu, J. Crone
Kerr, Carol 440.15 reimbursement CAST meeting M. Sielu, J. Crone
Keystone Policy Center 4,900.00 Office Lease Oct J. Crone
Marchetti & Weaver 6,170.89 Accounting Jul J. Crone
Paylocity 414.78 payroll processing E.Cox, J Crone
Riley, Kenneth 802.58 reimbursement CAST meeting M. Sielu, J. Crone
Rocky Mountain Reserve 75.00 FSA funding E.Cox, J Crone
SeaGrizzly, LLC 493.00 telephone provider Sep M. Sielu, J. Crone
Staples Contract & Commercial LLC 320.17 office supplies M. Sielu, J. Crone
Summit County Government 460,539.06 sales tax advance payment J. Crone
Verticomm (All Copy Products) 1,842.00 IT Managed Service Provider M. Sielu, J. Crone
Widner Juran LLP 9,777.98 legal services Jul J. Crone

Total Payables 551,472.10

     Payrolls processed during the period indicated: Paydate
Payroll Wages (Net pay) 39,518.83 9/6 & 9/20
Payroll Taxes & Liability Payments 9,915.75 9/6 & 9/20
CRA Contributions 7,426.10 9/6 & 9/20

Total Payroll 56,860.68

     TOTAL ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 608,332.78

9/19/2024 0:00 Acronym Table
CAST Colorado Association of Ski Towns
CEBT Colorado Employee Benefits Trust
CIRSA Colorado Intergovernmental Risk Sharing Agency
CMCA Colorado Municipal Clerk Association
CML Colorado Municipal League
CRA Colorado Retirement Association
FSA Flexible Spending Account
NWCCOG NorthWest Colodao Council of Governments
SIPA Statewide Internet Portal Authority
STR Short Term Rental
WC Workers Compensation

printed: 9/19/2024



Page 1 of 6 
 

TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
STAFF REPORT 

 

TO:                   Mayor & Town Councilmembers 

THROUGH:          John Crone, Town Manager 

   Jennifer Madsen, Town Attorney 

FROM:          Lindsay Hirsh, Community Development Director 

DATE:          September 24, 2024 - Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: [Consent] TOK24-011:  Class 2 Review for a Conditional 

Use Permit (CUP) for a Short-Term Rental (STR) located at 

31 River Overlook Court 
 

Executive Summary:  

The subject Conditional Use Permit (CUP) application request is for a maximum of 23 

guests and 6 outdoor parking spaces located at 31 River Overlook Court as identified in 

the attached Vicinity Map (Attachment A).    Per the applicant’s narrative (Attachment B), 

Section 3821.05A: Criteria for Review for Conditional Use Permit, of the Town’s 

Development Code states that a Class 2 administrative conditional use permit application 

shall be required for any proposed short-term vacation rental in the Short-Term Rental 

(STR) Resort Overlay Zone which proposes an occupancy of 20 or more people or 

outdoor parking of 6 or more vehicles.  The subject property was granted a CUP in August 

of 2019 by the County for 23 quests and 6 outdoor parking spaces. Per the Development 

Code, CUP’s for STR’s are only valid for a maximum period of five (5) years and as such, 

the applicant is requesting a renewal.  Town Staff has verified that no 

complaints/violations have been reported/documented associated with the subject 

property.  The Elk Crossing HOA is opposed to the request and has requested that the 

CUP be denied (Attachment C). 

 

The application materials are available at this link. 



Page 2 of 6 
 

Recommendation:  

The Community Development Director has approved the Class 2 Site Plan application for 

the subject STR/CUP application request for a maximum of 23 guests and 6 outdoor 

parking spaces located at 31 River Overlook Court. With the exception of further review 

of the public comment letters (Attachment C), the Community Development Director has 

not identified any reason for Council’s review (and call up) of that decision.  

Background: 

Per the Town’s Development Code, a Class 2 administrative conditional use permit 

application shall be required for any proposed short-term vacation rental in the STR 

Resort Overlay Zone which proposes an occupancy of 20 or more people or outdoor 

parking of 6 or more vehicles. 

 

The conditional use permit application shall be reviewed in the context of the property 

and neighborhood to consider whether the types of uses in the neighborhood, the home 

size, lot size and distance to neighboring properties can potentially enable these 

properties to accommodate higher occupancies, higher number of nights rented as an 

STR, and/or additional cars parked on site.   

 

Per the County’s Assessor’s data, the subject property has a 8,951 square foot single 

family residence. The lot is 0.9660 acres in size.  As stated above, the subject property 

was granted a CUP in August of 2019 by the County for 23 quests and 6 outdoor 

parking spaces. 

 

Town Staff has verified that no complaints/violations have been reported/documented 

associated with the subject property.  The Elk Crossing HOA is opposed to the request 

and has requested that the CUP be denied (Attachment C). 

 

On June 11, 2024, the Town adopted Ordinance No. 2024-O-07 that adopted the 

Town’s Short-Term rental Regulations. In the evaluation of this application the following 

are applicable: 



Page 3 of 6 
 

 

• Maximum Occupancy: Maximum occupancy at any time may not exceed the 

following: For a single-family residence – two (2) persons per bedroom plus four 

(4) additional occupants; or 1 person per 200 square feet of living area, 

whichever allows for a greater occupancy.  Properties requesting occupancy in 

excess of 19 must first obtain a Class 2 Conditional Use Permit as required by 

the Town Land Use Code.  Based on the submitted information and assessor 

data, the subject 8,951 square foot (living area) residence has eight (8) 

bedrooms.  Based on the bedroom count the residence could allow 20 guests.   

Based on the square footage (living area) the residence could allow up to 44 

guests.  

 

• Parking: A minimum of one (1) parking space is required per unit, up to a 

maximum of five (5) vehicles permitted to be parked outdoors on any property.  

The Ordinance also states that a property owner may request an increase in the 

maximum number of allowed parking spaces through a Conditional Use Permit if 

the proposed parking meets all applicable regulations and criteria, and is found to 

be consistent with neighborhood character, including location and visual buffering 

from adjacent properties.   

 

Violations: The Town’s Ordinance states that the issuance of a license is expressly 

contingent upon the licensee maintaining compliance with all the requirements set forth 

in the STR Regulations.  If at any time a licensee fails to maintain such compliance, the 

licensee shall be in violation of the regulations and staff would investigate the claims 

and initiate the enforcement/fine process and potentially resulting in the revocation of 

the permit.  In addition, it should be noted that CUP may only operate as long as the 

property owner has an STR license? In other words, if the property and the license is 

suspended/revoked, then they could not continue to operate the STR (even with the 

CUP).  

 

 



Page 4 of 6 
 

 

Criteria for Decision:  

1. The proposed use and occupancy of the STR property does not exceed the 

applicable building and fire code requirements for maximum occupancy of the 

structure, and protects the public health, safety and welfare. 

2. The existing services and infrastructure (e.g., water supply, sewage disposal 

capacity, access, on-site parking spaces) can support the proposed use and 

occupancy of the property, or the applicant has obligated himself/herself to 

provide the necessary services and infrastructure in sufficient time to serve the 

proposed use.   

3. The proposed operation of the STR will ensure preservation of the residential 

character of the neighborhood where it is located.  The amount of traffic and noise 

from lodging guests will not result in significant adverse impacts to the adjacent 

neighborhood.   

4. There is adequate separation and buffering of the STR use from adjacent 

residences and public rights-of-way to mitigate potential impacts on the 

surrounding neighborhood, including traffic, additional parking and noise.  

Standards for demonstrating adequate separation and buffering include but are 

not limited to: orientation of the STR unit on the property away from nearby 

residential structures; linear separation from other residential structures; 

separation from other structures by an intervening right-of-way; topographic 

features such as rock formations or grade differences; and mature vegetation or 

fencing.   

5. There is not a history of STR complaints on the property, if an STR was already 

in existence on the property, the owner has adequately addressed the conditions 

that lead to the complaints, to the satisfaction of the Review Authority.    

6. The property is in compliance with all other applicable laws, rules and regulations, 

including but not limited to standards concerning driveways and parking areas as 

found in Chapters 3 and 5 of this Code.  

 



Page 5 of 6 
 

Based on a review of the application materials and research of the previous approval, 

Staff believes that the above listed criteria have been met.   Specifically, the proposed 

use and occupancy of the STR property does not exceed the applicable building and fire 

code requirements for maximum occupancy of the structure. The existing services and 

infrastructure can support the proposed use and occupancy of the property.  Based on 

research of the previous STR permit/license, there were no documented complaints 

associated with the subject use/property. Based on a lack of documented complaints, it 

appears that the proposed operation of the STR does not negatively impact the 

preservation of the residential character of the neighborhood where it is located.  Based 

on a lack of documented complaints, staff believes that the amount of traffic and noise 

from lodging guests did not result in significant adverse impacts to the adjacent 

neighborhood.  There is adequate separation and buffering of the STR use from adjacent 

residences and public rights-of-way to mitigate potential impacts on the surrounding 

neighborhood, including traffic, additional parking and noise.  There is not a history of 

STR complaints on the property.  The property is in compliance with all other applicable 

laws, rules and regulations, including but not limited to standards concerning driveways 

and parking areas as found in Chapters 3 and 5 of this Code.  

 

Alternatives: 

If there is interest by Council to understand further details of the subject case, then 

Council will need to remove the item from the Consent Agenda and then vote on pulling 

the item.  If a majority of Council members vote to pull the item off the agenda, staff will 

be available to answer any questions.  

Financial Considerations:  

There are no Town financial considerations applicable to the subject application.  

Previous Council Actions:  

None 

 

 



Page 6 of 6 
 

 





Attachment B

























Attachment C 

Public Comments 

 

From: Town of Keystone <no-reply@co.colorado.gov> 
Sent: Monday, September 16, 2024 10:23 AM 
To: Maddy Sielu <msielu@keystoneco.gov> 
Subject: Webform submission from: Contact Us > Rows > Cards Content  

  

Submitted on Monday, September 16, 2024 Submitted by: Anonymous Submitted values 
are: *Your Name* Bruce Williams *Your Email* bkw@gbpllc.com [1] *Subject* 31 River 
Overlook STR CUP *Message* Hello Mr. Hirsh, I am a homeowner in the Elk Crossing HOA 
and I wish to offer my thoughts concerning the CUP filing for 3! River Overlook. I suspect i 
may be outside the official comment period as I believe that period may have end on 
September 12th. If so, I apologize for my lateness, somehow sending you my thoughts 
slipped off my to-do list. Late or not, I do wish to share my thoughts. I would like to suggest 
the CUP which would create a a waiver to exist standard regulations to allow greater than 
standard occupancy to be denied. Elk Crossing was originally intended as a neighborhood 
of owner occupied free standing single family homes. Although most of the home have 4 or 
more bedrooms, during our 15+ years of owning on Elk Crossing the usual pattern has been 
very low density occupancy with most home occupied by couples or small families with 
occasional full occupancy on weekends or weeks, when the owners were hosting family or 
guests. With approximately 25 homes (and over half being part time vacation homes), other 
than short term renters, the occupancy in the neighborhood might be 20 or fewer people. It 
is a very pleasant, safe and quiet neighborhood. With the growth in STR and and the notion 
of investment home where the percentage of owner occupied days is low (or zero) 
compared to STR occupied days the neighborhood is changing. There are currently at least 
at least 4 homes where the rationale for owning appears to be rental income and when they 
are fully occupied that can represent 80+ people with perspectives different that those of 
occupying owners and their hosted families and guests. Rejecting the CUP will not address 
what I consider the larger concern, but it will prevent the enlargement of that concern, 
while the neighborhood and hopefully the Town of Keystone consider the issue of trying to 
maintain the originally intended character of several of the neighborhoods of free standing 
single family homes found within the Town of Keystone. For your information, I am a retired 
Texas voter and legal resident. I bought my home at 0374 Elk Crossing Lane during August 
of 2008. Since that time my wife and I have typically visited Summit county for a 6 week 
winter stay (to experience cold weather and ski) and a 18 week summer stay (to enjoy the 



cool weather and golf almost daily). Other than 4 or 5 weeks when we have family or friends 
as guests, my wife and I are the only occupants of our home. I appreciate the efforts that 
allowed the creation of the Town of Keystone and thank you for you considerations of 
thoughts. Best regards, Bruce Williams 0374 Elk Crossing Town of Keystone 713 899-2880 
[1] mailto:bkw@gbpllc.com  

  



Hi Lindsay, 

As a homeowner and full time resident of Elk Crossing, I do not support approval for the 
CUP in Elk Crossing. I do not support any CUP’s for any single family homes located in 
neighborhoods in Keystone. These neighborhoods were never developed nor did anyone 
ever envision these homes sleeping 23 people. These CUP’s do not benefit the HOA’s, the 
town or the community. They only benefit the owners/companies who are in the business of 
seeking rental income. I fear that if Keystone does not adopt STR neighborhood zones, you 
will see fewer full time residents which means fewer registered voters, fewer people to 
serve on town council/mayor, fewer people who will volunteer to serve on 
committees/commissions.   Keystone will become a town of renters and visitors.  

Thank you for listening.  

Steve Martin 

0242 Elk Crossing Lane 

  



September 5, 2024 

  

Lindsay Hirsh  
Town of Keystone 
Community Development Director 
  

Dear Mr. Hirsh, 

The HOA Board for Elk Crossing has recently become aware of: 

TOK24-011:  31 River Overlook STR CUP:  Class 2 Review – Conditional Use Permit 
(“CUP”) for a Short-Term Rental Request to accommodate up to 23 guests.   

The Board opposes approval of this Conditional Use Permit.  The Elk Crossing sub-division 
was established in 1989 as a residential neighborhood of free-standing single-family 
homes.  We currently have 24 single-family homes with 3 unbuilt lots, and there are 
currently 7 STR licenses within our community.  The most recent home that sold in Elk 
Crossing was purchased by an LLC to be used solely as a full-time rental. 

As noted in 3821.05: Criteria for Review for Conditional Use Permit, Sect. B, #3 and #4, we 
feel approval of this CUP will not ensure the preservation of the residential character of the 
neighborhood.  This rental property is in close proximity to other rentals such that the guest 
capacity could be at 60+ people.  This creates traffic, parking and noise issues with this 
many allowed guests in such a close proximity.  As per HOA documents parking is 
restricted to driveways and the county roads within Elk Crossing are posted as No Parking.  

The Board is encouraging homeowners to report STR violations so that they may be 
documented and capture violations that are occurring.      

We want to preserve the original single-family residential character of Elk Crossing in which 
it was originally established and not become a community of investment properties for 
short-term rentals (with high-capacity guests allowed) with no ties to the HOA, Town of 
Keystone or the community.   

Thank you for your consideration. 

ECHOA Board Members 
Steve Martin, President 
  

 



Page 1 of 5 
 

TOWN OF KEYSTONE, COLORADO 
STAFF REPORT 

 

TO:                   Mayor & Town Councilmembers 

THROUGH:          John Crone, Town Manager 

   Jennifer Madsen, Town Attorney 

FROM:          Madeleine Sielu, Town Clerk 

DATE:        September 24, 2024 – Liquor Licensing Authority  

SUBJECT: New Liquor License Application for Ski-To-Tee, LLC, dba, 

Ski-To-Tee, Located at 100 Dercum Square Unit E3, By 

John Keith, Applicant Owner/Operator 
 

Executive Summary:  

As the Local Licensing Authority for Liquor Licensing per Ordinance 2024-O-03, Town 

Council maintains purview over the review of new liquor license applications. On June 

25, 2024, John Keith as Owner/Operator of a business located within the Town limits of 

Keystone, located at 100 Dercum Square Unit E3, is seeking approval of his application 

for a Tavern Liquor License.  

 

The Applying entity is Ski-To-Tee, LLC dba Ski-To-Tee. In accordance with C.R.S. § 44-

3-311, the Notice of Public Hearing was properly noticed and posted. A representative 

of the applying entity has been provided a Follow Up Findings Report via email and was 

requested to be present at this evening’s meeting. Consideration of a liquor license 

application is a quasi-judicial decision for the Local Licensing Authority. 

 

Results of Investigation: 

As relevant to this liquor application, a “tavern” means “an establishment serving alcohol 

beverages in which the principal business is the sale of alcohol beverages at retail for 



Page 2 of 5 
 

consumption of the premises and where sandwiches and light snacks are available for 

consumption on the premises.” C.R.S. § 44-3-103(57).  

 

In accordance with C.R.S. § 44-3-312 and 44-3-313, and the Keystone Town Liquor 

Code, Town Staff have conducted an investigation of the statutory criteria for the 

issuance of a new liquor license of the class proposed by the application.  

The results of such investigation are as follows 

1. Neither this location nor any location is within 250 feet from any public or 

parochial school or the principal campus of any college, university or seminary, in 

conformance with C.R.S. § 44-3-313(1)(d)(III). 

2. The applicant is entitled to possession of the premises by virtue of a lease. A fully 

executed lease for the proposed premise, in the applying entity’s name, has been 

supplied as a part of the application. 

3. Verified by the Town Community Development Department, the zoning of the 

proposed premises permits the sale of alcoholic beverages, and the unit is free of 

building violations. 

4. Neither this location nor any location within 500 feet, have been denied an 

application for the same class of license within the past two years, on the 

grounds that the reasonable requirements of the neighborhood and the desires of 

the adult inhabitants were satisfied by existing outlets.  

5. Liquor licensed establishments in the Town as of today’s date, are as follows:  

a. Total Number of Liquor Licenses Issued by the Town of Keystone: 26  

i. On-Premise Consumption Licenses: 24 

ii. Off-Premise Consumption Licenses: 2  

b. Hotel & Restaurant Licenses: 15 

c. Tavern Licenses: 4  

d. Beer & Wine Licenses: 0 

e. Fermented Malt Beverage & Wine Licenses: 0 

f. Brewpub Licenses: 1  

g. Distillery Pub Licenses: 0 

h. Optional Premise Licenses: 2 



Page 3 of 5 
 

6. A petition concerning the proposed premises was submitted, with 28 signatures 

of people in support of the license, who assert that they are either an adult 

resident in Summit County, or the adult owner or manager of a business within 

the Town.  

7. All State and local application and license fees have been submitted. 

8. The Statewide and Nationwide criminal background of the Applicant and finds the 

Applicant to be of good moral character. 

Consideration of the Local Licensing Authority  

In reviewing this liquor application, the following must be shown: 

(1) Notice of the hearing was posted in a conspicuous place on the premises visible 

to the public and published in a newspaper of general circulation not less than 10 

days before the hearing.  

(2) Within the two years before the date of this application, no application has been 

denied in the same location or within 500 feet for a retail liquor license on the 

basis that the requirements of the neighborhood and the desires of the adult 

inhabitants are already satisfied by existing outlets. 

(3) The use of the premises for a retail liquor licensed establishment is permissible 

under the zoning classification. 

(4) The proposed business is not located within 500 feet of a school as measured by 

the most direct route of pedestrian access. 

(5) The applicant has lawful possession of the premises. 

(6) There does not exist an unlawful multiple ownership of licenses or interests by 

the applicant.  

[These criteria have been reviewed, considered, and addressed by the results of 

investigation above.] 

 

The Local License Authority will also need to consider the following criteria and 

consideration of this criteria may be based on information submitted by the Town 

Clerk, the applicant’s documentation, and testimony and information presented at 

the public hearing: 



Page 4 of 5 
 

(7)  The applicant is of good moral character. 

(8) The premises are suitable based on the plans. 

(9) There is a need and desire for an additional outlet as measured by reasonable 

requirements of the neighborhood, desires of adult inhabitants of the 

neighborhood, and number, type and availability of existing outlets.  

(10) Existing liquor licenses of same class are inadequate to serve the “thirst 

needs” of the neighborhood.  

Recommendation: 

Staff has no concerns with the issuance of the liquor license based on the Staff’s 

review.   

Alternatives: 

If Town Council, acting as the Local Licensing Authority has alternate findings following 

the public hearing, they could deny the application. These findings would need to align 

with the statutory criteria for the issuance of a new liquor license of the class proposed 

by the application. 

Financial Considerations: 

N/A 

Previous Council Actions:  

N/A 

Next Steps: 

If approved, the Town Clerk would forward the license on to the State of Colorado’s 

Liquor Enforcement Division for review and approval at the state level.  

Suggested Motions:  

GRANT 

I move to GRANT the application for a new Tavern Liquor License for Ski-To-Tee doing 

business as Ski-To-Tee, located at 100 Dercum Square Unit E3 based on the reasons 



Page 5 of 5 

stated in Resolution 2024-01 of the Liquor License Authority and to approve Resolution 

2024-01. 

DENY 

I move to DENY the application for a new Tavern Liquor License for Ski-To-Tee, LLC, 

doing business as Ski-To-Tee, located at 100 Dercum Square Unit E3 and ask the 

Authority’s attorney to draft written findings and conclusions and an order for 

consideration and final action at a meeting to be held within 30 days.  

Attachment: 

• License Application

• Liquor License Authority Resolution
2024-01









































1) Describe the nature of the proposed establishment and the target market (i.e. 
restaurant, tavern, live music, sports bar, families, college students). Please attach a food 
and drink menu for the BLA.  

Ski-To Tee, LLC primary business will be to offer indoor golf in Keystone, CO which will utilize 
state of the art golf simulators. A golf simulator is an indoor system that uses advanced 
technology, including sensors, cameras, and projectors, to replicate the experience of 
playing golf on real courses by tracking the player’s swing and ball flight in a virtual 
environment. Our target market are local golf enthusiasts and tourists who are traveling to 
Keystone, CO primarily to visit Keystone’s Ski area. We will offer leagues, tournaments, and 
retail bookings online or at our POS. Customers will be able to book and manage their 
appointments online. 

SKI-TO-TEE MENU 

Alcoholic Drink Menu:  

Beer Hard Seltzers Canned Cocktail 

Breckenridge Brewery Avalanche Ale: $6 Topo Chico Pineapple: $6 Long Drink: $8 

Breckenridge Brewery Vanilla Porter: $6 Topo Chico Strawberry: $6 Cutwater Spicy Bloody Mary: $8 

Breckenridge Brewery Nitro Irish Stout: $6 Top Chico Tropical Mango: $6 Cutwater Lime Margarita: $8 

Breckenridge Brewery Juice Drop Hazy IPA: 
$6 

Topo Chico Lemon Lime: $6 Cutwater Vodka Transfusion: $8 

Non-Alcoholic Drink Menu 

Water Sports Drinks Seltzers 

Canned Re-Usable Water: $4 Gatorade: $4 Waterloo: $4 

Liquid Death: $4 Gatorade $4 Waterloo: $4 

Food Menu 

Sandwiches Chips Snacks + Candy 

Boar's Head Head Grab n Go Handcrafted 
Ever Roast Chicken Cheddar Sandwich: 

Boulder Canyon BBQ Chips: $4 Skinny Pop: $4 



2) What are the proposed hours and days of operation for this establishment?  

The hours of operation for public access are as follows: 

Standard Hours of Operation: 

Monday: 10AM-8PM 

Tuesday: 10AM-8PM 

Wednesday: 10AM- 8PM 

Thursday: 10AM- 8PM 

Friday: 10AM- 10PM 

Saturday: 10AM-10PM 

Sunday 10AM-8PM 

 

Additionally, we will have a Membership program which will allow members to access the 
facility during the following hours during a 6 digit pin code which will be provided during 
their online booking process. This pin code is only valid for the day and time of their 
booking. All beverages (alcoholic and non-alcoholic) and food  will be stored, locked, and 
secured according to Standard Operating Procedures outlined in Question #12 below.  

Membership Hours:  

Monday: 6AM-10AM, 8PM-10PM 

Tuesday: 6AM-10AM, 8PM-10PM 

Wednesday: 6AM-10AM 

Thursday: 6AM-10AM, 8PM-10PM 

Friday: 6AM-10AM 

Saturday: 6AM-10AM 

$10.00 

Boar's Head Grab n Go Handcrafted 
Ovengold Provolone Sandwich $10.00 

Boulder Canyon Regular Chips: $4 Snickers, Kit Kat, Reese's Peanut Butter 
Cups: $4 



Sunday: 6AM-10AM, 8PM-10PM 

Peak Season: Given our proximity to Keystone Resort we will hold the above hours during 
the peak months from November-March each year but our hours of operation are likely to 
be minimized based on the traffic at the ski resort from March-October each season. 

3) What is the seating capacity of this establishment?  

The seating capacity will be a total of 10 people. But these people are not sitting at a bar, high top, or 
table. They are seated in either the sofas (2 sofas) or swivel chairs. 

4) Have you applied for an "occupation load" for the interior and exterior 
space from the Fire  Department?  

Yes 

5) Do you have an emergency plan for your business (exit locations, fire suppression etc.)?  

Yes 

6) How many individuals will be employed at this proposed establishment and how many will be full-
time vs part time?  

One Full Time Manager: Brendan Koning 

Two Part Time Employees : Will be Hired in October 

7) Describe each owner's past training and experience in the sale and service of alcohol, including any 
special or certified training received.  

John Keith (Sole Owner) has worked in the food business before without alcohol sales. He 
was the propietor of a food truck headquartered in Shelby Township, MI called Crepe Day-
Twah. The food truck did not sell alcohol directly but catered and had sales totaling over 
$500,000 in the three years of operation with no violation of any food safety protocols. The 
business under his management provided safe and reliable food service for automotive 
plants, manufacturing businesses, fairs, festivals, and public events. John and his manager 
(Brendan Koning)  are scheduled to participate in a state approved and mandated Alcohol 
Service Training course  https://tomreganconsulting.com/ .  

8) Describe your proposed Registered Manager or Manager of Record's past training and 
experience in the sale and service of alcohol, including any special or certified training 
received.  

Brendan Koning is currently the event coordinator for both golf courses in Keystone, CO 
(Keystone Ranch and Keystone River Courses) and he works daily with Food and Beverage 



staff to make events happen safely and successfully. While he is not directly serving alcohol 
in his current position, he is familiar with the sales and management process involved with 
employees and liquor sales because of his proximity to these processes in his current role. 
Additionally, Brendan will complete the Responsible Vendor Training through 
https://tomreganconsulting.com.  

9) Beside state-approved Responsible Vendor training classes which are a condition of city 
licensure, what other types of training are proposed for the employees in the safe and 
legal sale and service of alcohol beverages?  

Our team takes responsible service seriously and to ensure proper training and education 
Ski-To-Tee, LLC mandates and will pay for education of our staff at the beginning of each 
calendar year. Each year our manager will schedule and pay for training for our small staff 
through https://sbg.colorado.gov/approved-responsible-vendors-training.  
 
We will also host staff meetings where we discuss service procedures and review our 
operating procedures. All employees upon hiring and onboarding will receive a copy of our 
written alcohol policy and will sign it as a part of their onboarding process. 

 
10) What policies and procedures do you have in place to determine a patron's level of 
intoxication?  

 
Ski-To-Tee LLC  and our management has a comprehensive policy in place to monitor and 
assess patrons’ levels of intoxication, which includes the following: 

1. Staff Training: All staff members are trained and certified through a recognized 
responsible alcohol service program, such as the ones provided through the LED 
Approved Vendors List found at https://sbg.colorado.gov/approved-responsible-
vendors-training. This training equips staff with skills to recognize signs of 
intoxication, including slurred speech, impaired coordination, erratic behavior, and 
glassy or bloodshot eyes. 

2. Observation and Communication: Staff are trained to observe and engage with 
patrons regularly to assess their level of intoxication. We encourage open 
communication among staff members to monitor patrons throughout their visit. 

3. Use of Standardized Signs and Symptoms: We utilize a checklist of standardized 
signs and symptoms of intoxication, including physical and behavioral indicators. This 
helps staff make consistent and objective assessments. 



11) What policies and procedures do you have in place to refuse service to a patron?  

Ski-To-Tee LLC and our management has clear policies and procedures to refuse 
service to intoxicated patrons, ensuring the safety and well-being of all guests: 

 

 1. Intervention Guidelines: Staff members are instructed to follow specific 
intervention guidelines when dealing with intoxicated patrons. This includes 
politely and discreetly informing the patron that service will be refused, 
explaining the reasons, and offering non-alcoholic alternatives. 

 2. Escalation Protocol: If a patron becomes confrontational or uncooperative, 
non management staff are trained to involve a manager to handle the 
situation. The manager may also decide to arrange safe transportation for the 
patron, such as calling a taxi or ride-share service. 

 3. Documentation: We will maintain a log of incidents where service is 
refused, documenting the patron’s behavior, the staff member’s observations, 
and the actions taken. This helps in maintaining a consistent approach and 
provides a record for any potential legal or regulatory inquiries. 

 4. Communication with Security: In cases where a patron’s behavior poses a 
risk to themselves or others, we coordinate with security personnel to ensure 
the situation is handled safely and appropriately, including escorting the 
patron off the premises if necessary. 

 

12) Describe any other types of training or operating procedures that employees will be 
following in the day to day operations of this proposed establishment.  

 

Management Training and Standard Operating Procedures  

1. Opening and Closing Procedures: 

● Managers are responsible for ensuring that the business entrance and exit are 
securely opened and locked each day. This includes checking that all doors and 
windows are secured before leaving and that the security systems are 
activated.  

● Managers are responsible for locking the bar back refrigerator which is going 
to be the following model with sliding doors: Avantco UBB-72S-HC.  

● Manager will be responsible for locking the key for the refrigerator in the safe 
in the back storage room to ensure that the bar refrigerator remains locked 
after hours and during membership hours and no unauthorized person/(s) or 
members will have access to alcohol in our facility.  

● Managers must ensure that the cameras are functioning at the beginning and 
end of each shift. 



2.  Inventory Management: 

 

● Managers must oversee the ordering and inventorying of all alcoholic and non-
alcoholic beverages, as well as food items. They utilize an inventory system 
integrated with our POS (Point of Sale) system, which assists in accurate 
tracking and accounting. 

● Specific vendors are designated for the delivery of alcoholic beverages, with 
scheduled deliveries to ensure consistency and compliance with state 
regulations. Managers are responsible for verifying the quantities and types of 
beverages received against purchase orders. 

● All alcoholic beverages are stored in a locked refrigeration unit near the POS 
station. The key to this unit is stored securely near the POS workstation and is 
supervised and monitored at all times to prevent unauthorized access. 

 

3.  Food Service Compliance: 

 

● Food delivery is managed by a specific vendor to ensure compliance with 
minimum food service requirements. Managers must verify that food supplies 
are adequate and in accordance with health regulations. 

●  In the event that the establishment runs out of food, managers are trained to 
cease the service of alcoholic beverages immediately. This is to comply with 
regulations that require food to be available whenever alcohol is served. 

 

Employee Training and Standard Operating Procedures  

 

1. Responsible Alcohol Service: 

● All employees are required to complete training programs, such as TIPS 
(Training for Intervention Procedures), focusing on responsible alcohol service. 
This training covers the identification of intoxicated patrons, legal drinking age 
verification, and proper methods for refusing service. 

2. Safe Storage and Handling: 

● Employees are trained in the safe handling and storage of alcoholic beverages. 
This includes understanding the importance of keeping the storage area 
locked and ensuring that only authorized personnel have access to the key. 

● Staff must regularly check the refrigeration unit’s temperature and ensure that 
all beverages are stored properly. 

 

 

 



3. Delivery and Inventory Procedures: 

● Employees assist in receiving deliveries, checking the accuracy of delivered 
items against invoices, and ensuring that all items are stored correctly. 

●  They are also trained to assist in inventory checks, including counting and 
recording stock levels, and reporting any discrepancies to management 
immediately. 

4. Food and Alcohol Compliance: 

● Employees are trained on the procedure to follow if the establishment runs 
out of food. They are instructed to notify management and cease the service 
of alcohol until food availability is restored. 

● Staff are educated on the importance of maintaining compliance with food 
service regulations, including hygiene and safe handling practices. 

 
13) What methods will be used in checking identification for the proper age of patrons 
(at the door, at the bar, etc.) and how will underage patrons be identified so as not to be 
served alcohol (hand stamp, wrist band, etc.)?  
 
Identification and underage patrons will be done according to the state approved vendor training 
guidelines.  
 
Types of Accepted Identification:  

1. Any state issued, Canadian, Mexican or US territory issued driver’s license; 
2. Military ID; Passport;  
3. State- Issued ID with Photo;  
4. Alien Registration Card; 
5. A valid employment card w/photo and DOB issued by immigration & Naturalization 

Service 
 
Questions and statements are Management and Staff are trained to ask when Alcohol Service 
is Requested: 

1. Please provide me with your ID 
2. Does the face on the ID photo match the person buying alcohol? 
3. Is the license expired, or is there evidence of tampering? 
4. Is the license format valid in the issuing state? Licenses using out-dated formats are often 

red flags for a fake 
5. Validate other security details. Ghost images, UV images, state seals, and other security 

features are present on virtually every modern license 
6. If the person is under 21 years of age or does not present our management or staff with a 

valid form of identification, they will not be served.  

 



14) What types of entertainment will be offered, if any, at this establishment (i.e. music, pool, 
dance floor etc.)?  

Golf Simulator Leagues, Tournaments, and Contests. 

15) Do you plan to have any exterior amplified sound?  

No 

16) What types of security, if any, will be provided at this establishment?  

We will have a 24 hour video surveillance camera system and our landlord, Vail Resorts has 24 
video surveillance of the exterior and interior of the premises. Both of these systems will provide 
cloud based storage which will allow us to rewind and playback our security footage .  

17) What time will your kitchen close each night? Describe your food plans after your kitchen  
 
There is no kitchen, and all food items will be ordered, supplied, and 
delivered directly to our establishment by a licensed distributor. All items 
requiring refrigeration (sandwiches, alcoholic beverages, and nonalcoholic 
beverages) will be stored in a locked refrigeration unit. All other items will 
be displayed on top of the counter (chips, snacks candy).  

18) What is the estimated ratio of food to alcohol sales at this 
establishment?  
Projected Annual Alcohol Sales: $30,000 
Food Sales: $10,000  
Ratio 3:1 

19) If you have an outside patio, what additional means of control (added staff, 
fencing, sightline, etc.) will you employ?  

 

N/A 
20) If you plan on hosting a "private party", what extra measures will you take regarding 
security, staffing, and control of noise and alcohol service? A "private party" is described 



as, "an event where there is a single contact person who represents group of people who 
are gathering for social and/or business reasons, then event continues after 10PM, there 
will be both underage and of-age people present, and there will be enough people to 
constitute an occupancy capacity of 75% or greater."  
 
Events at Ski-To-Tee will not go past 10PM because this is our latest operating hours.  
 
However, in the event that we host a private event where there is a single contact person 
and it is subject to our occupancy limits, we will make sure that all guests at the private 
event are checked in, sign our waiver of liability, and our requested ID. If they are 
Identified and are of-age (21 years or older) they will receive a Pink Wristband. Anyone 
who requests an alcoholic beverage from our staff or manager after their check in will be 
asked to show their Pink Wristband. If they do not have a Pink Wristband, we will ask them 
for their Identification. If they do not have Identification, they will not be served nor 
receive a pink wristband.  
 
Our occupancy limit is going to be determined shortly through the fire department but will 
likely remain a low number.   



















































 

RETAIL LEASE 

RIVER RUN VILLAGE 

BUFFALO LODGE BUILDING 

UNIT E-3 

 

 

SUMMARY 

A. Tenant: Ski-to-Tee, LLC  

B. Term:  

 Initial Term:  Approximately one (1) year and eight (8) months, 

commencing on September 1, 2024 (the 

“Commencement Date") and ending on April 30, 

2026. Rent commences on the sooner of Tenant 

opening for business or November 1, 2024 (the “Rent 

Commencement Date”). 

 Options(s): A single three (3) year option, with prior notice 

required at least six (6) months prior but not more 

than twelve (12) months. 

C. Premises: 

Unit: Unit E-3. 

 Building: Buffalo Lodge Building of River Run Village.   

 Size: Approximately 969 rentable square feet, as mutually 

agreed by the parties.  

D. Rent:  

 

Period Rent Per 

Square Foot 

Annual Rent Monthly Rent 

For the Initial Term: 

9/1/2024* to 8/30/2025 $24.00* $23,256* $1,938.00* 

9/1/2025 to 4/30/2026 $27.00 $26,163.00 $2,180.25 

*Per the terms of Section 3(a) below, Tenant's obligation to pay Minimum Rent for such 

period shall be abated until the Rent Commencement Date. 

For the Option Period, if applicable: 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



2 

 
 

5/1/2026 to 4/30/2027 $30.00 $29,070.00 $2,422.50 

5/1/2027 to 4/30/2028 $33.00 $31,977.00 $2,664.75 

5/1/2028 to 4/30/2029 $33.99 $32,936.31 $2,744.69 

Percentage Rent: Commencing the sooner of Tenant opening for 

business or November 1, 2024, 7.5% of Gross Sales 

over a natural breakpoint. The natural breakpoint 

shall be calculated for each applicable Lease Year by 

determining the total amount of Minimum Rent 

payable during the applicable Lease Year and 

dividing such amount by 7.5%. Percent rent 

abatement until the first full year. 

E. Trade Name: Ski-to-Tee  

F. Use of Premises: Subject to any existing exclusive use rights, the 

Premises shall be used and occupied by Tenant 

solely as a sports recreation concept of high quality, 

suitable for a first-class, prestigious ski resort. 

Activities, snacks, beverages, and retail approved 

by Landlord.  

G. Security Deposit: $5,000 due upon execution of this Lease 

H. Guarantor: Principal to provide a personal guarantee.  

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



RETAIL LEASE 

BY AND BETWEEN 

VAIL SUMMIT RESORTS, INC.  

AS LANDLORD 

and 

Ski-to-Tee, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company 

AS TENANT 

 

WITH RESPECT TO A PORTION OF THE 

BUFFALO LODGE BUILDING, RIVER RUN VILLAGE 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 

 

 -i-  
4423814.4 033525-0003-000 

1. PREMISES ........................................................................................................................ 1 

2. TERM ................................................................................................................................ 2 

3. RENT ................................................................................................................................. 2 

4. USE OF PREMISES; CONDUCT OF BUSINESS .......................................................... 5 

5. TAXES AND OPERATING COSTS .............................................................................. 11 

6.  TENANT’S WORK ........................................................................................................ 16 

7. ALTERATIONS .............................................................................................................. 19 

8. QUIET ENJOYMENT..................................................................................................... 20 

9. ACCEPTANCE OF PREMISES ..................................................................................... 21 

10. ACCESS TO PREMISES ................................................................................................ 21 

11. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS ................................................................................. 23 

12. MECHANIC’S LIENS .................................................................................................... 26 

13. CASUALTY AND OBSOLESCENCE ........................................................................... 27 

14. EMINENT DOMAIN ...................................................................................................... 30 

15. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING ............................................................................ 31 

16. INSURANCE ................................................................................................................... 37 

17. INDEMNITY ................................................................................................................... 40 

18. RECORDS, REPORTS, AND ACCOUNTING ............................................................. 41 

19. UTILITIES ....................................................................................................................... 42 

20. END OF TERM ............................................................................................................... 42 

21. HOLDOVER.................................................................................................................... 43 

22. SUBORDINATION, AND ATTORNMENT ................................................................. 44 

23. STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE ............................................................................. 45 

24. GOVERNING DOCUMENTS ........................................................................................ 45 

25. SECURITY DEPOSIT..................................................................................................... 46 

26. DEFAULT ....................................................................................................................... 46 

27. REMEDIES...................................................................................................................... 48 

28. TENANT’S PROPERTY................................................................................................. 51 

29. NO IMPLIED SURRENDER OR WAIVER .................................................................. 52 

30. COSTS AND ATTORNEY FEES................................................................................... 53 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 -ii-  
4423814.4 033525-0003-000 

31. NO REPRESENTATIONS BY LANDLORD, ENTIRE AGREEMENT ...................... 53 

32. NOTICE AND BILLS ..................................................................................................... 53 

33. DEFINITION OF AND ACTIONS BY LANDLORD ................................................... 54 

34. NO PARTNERSHIP ........................................................................................................ 54 

35. NO USE OF TRADEMARK ........................................................................................... 55 

36. PARKING ........................................................................................................................ 55 

37. EXHIBITS ....................................................................................................................... 55 

38. BROKERS ....................................................................................................................... 55 

39. COIN OPERATED/ATM MACHINES .......................................................................... 55 

40. RECORDATION; CONFIDENTIALITY ....................................................................... 55 

41. PERSONAL GUARANTY ............................................................................................. 56 

42. MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................................................................ 56 

 

EXHIBIT A DEPICTION OF PREMISES 

EXHIBIT B TENANT’S WORK 

EXHIBIT C GUARANTY 

EXHIBIT D ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS 

EXHIBIT E KEYSTONE RULES AND REGULATIONS 

EXHIBIT F COLORADO AFFIDAVIT AND NOTICE OF NON-RESPONSIBILITY 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

RETAIL LEASE 

THIS RETAIL LEASE (this “Lease”), made effective the _____ day of ___________, 

2024 (the “Effective Date”), is by and between Vail Summit Resorts, Inc. (“Landlord”), and Ski-

To-Tee, LLC dba Ski-to-Tee (“Tenant”). 

For and in consideration of the rents, covenants and agreements herein contained, Landlord 

and Tenant hereby agree as follows: 

1. PREMISES.   

(a) Demise of Premises.  Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby rents 

from Landlord, the interior floor space in the units or portions thereof set forth in the Lease 

Summary above, in the building commonly known by the name set forth in the Lease Summary 

above (the “Building”), consisting of approximately the number of rentable square feet set forth 

in the Lease Summary above, as generally depicted on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Premises”).  

The Building, including units not owned by Landlord, if any, and all facilities and areas serving 

the Building (as such facilities and areas may be designated from time to time by Landlord or any 

other owner of the Building) are hereinafter referred to as the “Center.”  The Premises are a part 

of the Center.  The Premises are leased on the terms and conditions set forth in this Lease.  Tenant 

acknowledges that Exhibit A is attached hereto solely for the purpose of identifying the Premises, 

and Landlord has made no representation or covenant, and nothing in this Lease shall be deemed 

or construed to be a representation or covenant, as to the dimensions of or the square foot area 

contained in the Premises.  For the purposes of calculating Minimum Rent and any other amount 

based on the square footage of the Premises hereunder, the parties agree the Premises contains the 

square footage set forth in the Lease Summary above.   

(b) Exterior Walls and Roof.  Landlord shall have the exclusive right to use all or any 

part of the roof and exterior side and rear walls of the Premises for any purpose, including, but not 

limited to, erecting signs or other structures on or over all or any part of the same, erecting scaffolds 

and other aids to the construction and installation of the same, and installing, maintaining, using, 

repairing and replacing pipes, ducts, conduits, wires leading through, to or from the Premises and 

serving other parts of the Center in locations which do not prevent Tenant’s use of the Premises.  

Tenant shall have no right whatsoever in the exterior of exterior walls or the roof of the Premises. 

(c) Relocation.  Landlord reserves the right to relocate the Premises to other space 

comparable to the original Premises in size and tenant finish.  Landlord will give Tenant at least 

45-days’ prior written notice of Landlord’s exercise of this right of relocation, and designate in 

such notice a proposed effective date for such relocation.  Landlord shall pay the reasonable costs 

of moving Tenant’s fixtures, furniture and equipment to the new Premises, and any other 

reasonable business expense incurred in connection with such relocation up to a maximum of 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46

9.00 February



 

 

 

 

 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

$15,000, this shall include the costs of any improvements to the Premises.  Prior to the relocation, 

but effective upon the date the actual relocation is completed, Landlord and Tenant will execute 

an amendment to this Lease deleting the description of the original Premises and inserting a 

description of the new Premises.   

2. TERM.   

(a) Initial Term.  The initial Term of this Lease shall be for the approximate period 

set forth in the Lease Summary above, commencing on the Commencement Date and ending at 

noon in the time zone in which the Premises is located on the ending date set forth in the Lease 

Summary above, unless sooner terminated or extended as provided herein (the “Initial Term”).    

(b) Lease Year.  As used in this Lease, the term “Lease Year” shall mean: 

(i) For the first Lease Year, the period begins on the Commencement Date of 

September 1, 2024, and ends on August 30, 2025.  

(ii) For the second Lease year, which shall be a partial Lease Year, the period 

begins on September 1, 2025, and ends on April 30, 2026. 

(iii) For each Lease Year thereafter, the consecutive 12-month period beginning 

on the next day following the expiration of the preceding Lease Year. 

If the Term of this Lease shall end prior to the last day of a Lease Year, the final Lease 

Year hereunder shall be deemed to end on the day the Term of this Lease ends. 

3. RENT.   

(a) Minimum Rent.  Tenant covenants and agrees to pay to Landlord minimum rent 

for the Premises in amounts set forth in the Lease Summary above (“Minimum Rent”).   

(i) Payment of Minimum Rent.  Minimum Rent shall be payable in monthly 

installments, in advance, on the first day of each calendar month during the Term of this Lease.  

Minimum Rent shall be apportioned for any fraction of a month at the beginning and end of the 

Term of this Lease.  This Lease shall be construed as though the covenants between Landlord and 

Tenant are independent, and not dependent.  Every installment of Minimum Rent, Percentage Rent, 

and Additional Rent, and other monetary obligations due and payable under this Lease shall be 

payable without notice, demand, setoff or deduction, in lawful money of the United States of 

America, at Landlord’s address for notices specified below, or at such address or addresses as 

Landlord may from time to time designate in writing.  Landlord reserves the right to apply all 

payments received from Tenant to amounts owed by Tenant in such order as Landlord may 

determine in its sole and absolute discretion. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

3 

 

 

 

 

 

(ii) Abatement of Rent.  Landlord has agreed to abate Tenant’s obligation to 

pay Minimum Rent and Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Taxes, Association Dues and 

Assessments, and Operating Costs until the earlier to occur of (a) November 1, 2024, or (b) the 

date on which Tenant opens for the conduct of business in the Premises (such earlier date, the 

“Rent Commencement Date”).  Tenant will still be responsible for the payment of personal 

property taxes and utilities.  The total amount of abated Minimum Rent and Taxes, Association 

Dues and Assessments and Operating Costs under this Lease is referred to as the “Abated 

Amount”.  Tenant acknowledges that any default by Tenant under this Lease will cause Landlord 

to incur costs not contemplated hereunder, the exact amount of such costs being extremely difficult 

and impracticable to ascertain, therefore, should any Event of Default occur, then the total 

unamortized sum of such Abated Amount (amortized on a straight line basis over the Initial Term) 

shall become immediately due and payable by Tenant to Landlord; provided, however, Tenant 

acknowledges and agrees that nothing in this Section is intended to limit any other remedies 

available to Landlord at law or in equity under applicable law in connection with a default by 

Tenant under this Lease. 

(b) Percentage Rent.  In addition to Minimum Rent, during the Term Tenant shall pay 

Landlord percentage rent at the applicable rate(s) set forth in the Lease Summary above 

(“Percentage Rent”).  Once Tenant’s annual Gross Sales for any Lease Year or portion thereof 

exceeds the applicable breakpoint, Percentage Rent shall be due at Landlord’s address for notice 

specified in Section 32 on or before the 20th  day of the following calendar month and each calendar 

month thereafter, through the end of the applicable Lease Year, which obligation shall survive the 

termination of the Lease as to the last month(s) of the Term, as applicable. The natural breakpoint 

shall not be reduced on account of any Minimum Rent abatements, and shall be based upon the 

amount of Minimum Rent that would otherwise have been payable during such abatement period.   

(i) Gross Sales.  As used in this Lease, the term “Gross Sales” shall mean the 

entire amount of the price charged, whether wholly or partly for cash or on credit or in exchange 

for goods or services, for all merchandise sold and all charges made for services performed or for 

the extension of credit in, at or from any part of the Premises or through the use of the Premises, 

by Tenant or anyone acting on Tenant’s behalf or under a sublease, license or concession from 

Tenant, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amount allowed for any 

“trade in”, the retail price of any merchandise delivered on redemption of trading stamps or 

discount coupons or the like, all deposits not refunded to purchasers and all orders taken in or from 

the Premises or which Tenant would in the normal course of its operations credit or attribute to its 

business in the Premises, even though such order may be filled elsewhere or taken elsewhere and 

filled at the Premises, without deduction in any case for uncollected or uncollectible credit 

accounts; there shall also be included in “Gross Sales” all amounts received by Tenant from or on 

account of all mechanical or other vending devices placed in the Premises by Tenant or under 

authority from Tenant, other than such devices which are installed in portions of the Premises not 

open to the public for the convenience of Tenant’s Employees.  Gross Sales shall include (1) sales 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

4 

 

 

 

 

 

derived from  mail, catalogue, internet, computer, other electronic methods, facsimile, telephone 

and from all orders taken, originated, received or accepted at the Premises regardless of whether 

delivery or performance thereof is from elsewhere, including but not limited to telephone and 

internet sales and catering services and orders filled, delivered or fulfilled from the Premises even 

though payment is made elsewhere, (2) all deposits not refunded to purchasers, (3) the entire 

amount of the actual sales price and all other receipts for sales and services by Tenant, any other 

occupant of the Premises or otherwise in, at, upon or from the Premises, (4) the value of goods 

received by Tenant or any other occupant of the Premises in exchange for allowing another person 

or entity to display, advertise, promote, sell or give away products or services or trade names or 

logos in the Premises, (5) the value of gift or merchandise certificates or cards which have been 

redeemed for merchandise at the Premises (provided, however, that the initial sale of such gift or 

merchandise certificates or cards shall not be included in Gross Sales), (6) all deposits not refunded 

to customers, (7) all amounts received by Tenant in respect of claims for loss of or damage to 

stock-in-trade in excess of the original cost of same, (8) all amounts received under insurance 

policies in respect of loss of business sales or profits (other than amounts received by Landlord for 

losses or damages arising from an occurrence for which Landlord is entitled to receive 

compensation from its insurers for loss of Minimum Rent or Percentage Rent arising from the 

same occurrence) and (9) access or similar fees, commissions or other consideration received by 

Tenant, other occupants of the Premises and their respective affiliates under any promotional 

agreements.  Every transaction on a deferred payment basis shall be treated as a sale for the full 

price at the time such transaction is entered into, irrespective of the time for payment.  Gross Sales 

shall not include the amount of any freight or shipping costs collected by Tenant, any cash or credit 

refund in fact made upon sales from the Premises where the merchandise sold or some part thereof 

is returned by the purchaser and accepted by Tenant, exchanges and transfers of merchandise 

between stores of Tenant, where made solely for the convenient operation of Tenant’s business 

and not having the effect of consummating a sale made or which would have been made at the 

Premises, returns to shippers or manufacturers, interest on charge accounts or revolving credit 

accounts, or the amount of any sales or excise taxes directly on sales from the Premises, where 

such taxes are both added to the selling price (or absorbed therein) and paid to the taxing authorities 

by Tenant (but not by any vendor of Tenant).  No other taxes, costs or fees, including without 

limitation, any income, franchise or excess profit tax, shall be excluded from Gross Sales.  Tenant 

shall not divert, redirect, or otherwise manage the business or sales of Tenant or any other occupant 

of the Premises so as to attempt to (or actually) minimize, avoid or evade the payment of 

Percentage Rent, the reporting of Gross Sales, or the payment of any other amounts based thereon 

under this Lease.  If Tenant’s Gross Sales are required to be reported on any federal, state or 

municipal sales tax return or any other similar form of return, and Gross Sales as so reported on 

any of such returns shall exceed the Gross Sales as reported by Tenant, as herein provided, then 

the Gross Sales shall be taken at the highest figure so reported.  If any government authority shall 

increase the Gross Sales reported by Tenant on any such tax return, after audit, for any period for 

which such sales have been reported, then Tenant shall notify Landlord promptly of such increase 

and shall promptly pay any additional Percentage Rent or other amounts due. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

5 

 

 

 

 

 

(c) Additional Rent.  In addition to any Minimum Rent and Percentage Rent, Tenant 

shall pay Landlord those charges, with respect to Taxes, Association Dues and Assessments and 

Operating Costs, determined pursuant to Section 5 below, and such other sums as are required by 

the terms of this Lease to be paid by Tenant.  Any such charges or sums shall be deemed to be 

additional rent (collectively with all other amounts to be paid as additional rent under this Lease, 

“Additional Rent”) and shall be payable in the manner provided for the payment of Minimum 

Rent (unless otherwise provided in Section 5 or unless such charges are specific to the Premises, 

in which case Tenant will be billed as those charges are incurred) and shall be recoverable as rent, 

and Landlord shall have all rights against Tenant for default in payment thereof as are available to 

Landlord with respect to the non-payment of Minimum Rent. 

(d) Provisions Generally Applicable to Rent.  Any Minimum Rent,  Percentage Rent 

and Additional Rent shall be paid without notice (except as may be otherwise provided in Section 5 

with respect to Additional Rent determined pursuant thereto), demand, set off or deduction, in 

lawful money of the United States of America, at the address of Landlord set forth in Section 32 

or at such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in writing; provided, however, 

that Tenant shall have a 5-day grace period to pay arrearages of Minimum Rent prior to any late 

charge assessment by Landlord.  Tenant is solely responsible to promptly pay any and all wiring 

fees associated with any payment by Tenant pursuant to this Lease.  All sums payable by Tenant 

under or pursuant to this Lease, other than Minimum Rent pursuant to Section 3(a), shall be in 

addition to and not a part of or in lieu of Minimum Rent.  Tenant acknowledges that late payment 

by Tenant to Landlord of Minimum Rent, Percentage Rent, Additional Rent or other sums due 

hereunder will cause Landlord to incur costs not contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount of 

which will be extremely difficult to ascertain.  Accordingly, Landlord shall be entitled to assess a 

late fee for any overdue payment in the amount equal to 5% of the overdue amount, or the amount 

of $200, whichever is greater.  The parties agree that such late charges represent a fair and 

reasonable estimate of the cost that Landlord will incur by reason of the late payment by Tenant 

and acceptance of such late charges by Landlord shall in no event constitute a waiver of Tenant’s 

default with respect to such overdue amount, nor prevent Landlord from exercising any of the 

other rights and remedies granted hereunder.   

4. USE OF PREMISES; CONDUCT OF BUSINESS.   

(a) Permitted Use.  The Premises may be used and occupied by Tenant under the trade 

name set forth in the Lease Summary above, and, subject to any existing exclusive use rights, 

solely for the permitted use set forth in the Lease Summary above (the “Permitted Use”), in all 

cases only in compliance with the Governing Documents.  This Lease does not grant any exclusive 

use rights to Tenant and in no event shall this Lease grant any exclusive use rights with respect to 

the Building or with respect to any merchandise or services currently or in the future sold or 

provided at the Premises.  Tenant may not use the name Keystone or any other trademarked name 

owned by Landlord or its affiliates, without the prior written consent of Landlord.  Storage for 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

6 

 

 

 

 

 

items related to the above Permitted Uses that are actually intended to be used at or sold from the 

Premises shall be allowed on the Premises, but shall not be visible from the exterior of the Premises 

or from any retail sales area of the Premises.  Any change in the Trade Name shall first be approved 

by Landlord in writing.   

(b) Condition and Operations.  Operations in the Premises shall be, at all times and 

in all respects, first-class and high quality, suitable for a first-class, prestigious ski resort the (“Use 

Standard”).  The foregoing shall apply to, without limitation, the furniture, carpeting, counter 

tops, drapes, furnishings, indoor and outdoor signage and displays, cleanliness and upkeep in the 

Premises and the management, presentation and operation of the Premises in general.  At all times 

during which the Premises are open for business, Tenant shall have a sufficient number of 

employees and a sufficient stock of merchandise upon the Premises to serve adequately the patrons 

thereof, and shall employ its best efforts to produce the greatest possible dollar volume of sales 

from the Premises within the terms and provisions of this Lease at all times during which the 

Premises are open for business.  Tenant shall keep the Premises in a neat, clean, safe and sanitary 

condition at all times. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the Building and the Common Areas 

are located within the portion of the resort operated by Landlord and Landlord’s affiliates that is 

frequented by resorts guests and customers.  Accordingly, in addition to the foregoing obligations 

set forth in this subsection, Tenant agrees that it will at all times and in all respects cause Tenant’s 

principals, agents and employees to adhere to the highest standards, appropriate for a first-class 

resort, including but not limited to the attire, appearance and behavior of Tenant’s principals, 

agents and employees when in the Premises or the Common Areas, and that Tenant shall provide 

and first-class service at all times.  Additionally, Tenant agrees that it shall at all times act as an 

“ambassador” of the resort, by adhering to the standards of the resort operated by Landlord or its 

affiliates. Tenant further agrees that it shall not use or suffer or permit all or any part of the 

Premises to be used in any illegal, unethical, obscene or offensive manner.  No animals shall be 

allowed on the Premises except for service animals.  Tenant acknowledges that the Building is part 

of a first-class ski resort and that much of the Premises will be (and is intended to be) visible from 

public areas of the Building and from public sidewalks and, therefore, Tenant acknowledges that 

its obligations with respect to the appearance and condition of the Premises and Tenant’s 

principals, agents and employees are material obligations of Tenant under this Lease.    

(c) Other Premises.  Tenant shall not use or permit the Premises or the Common Areas 

to be used (whether by Tenant’s Employees, servants, agents, representatives, contractors, 

suppliers, invitees, customers or any other person claiming the right to use the same through or 

under Tenant) in any manner that shall interfere with or disturb the use and enjoyment of any part 

of the Building, the Center or any other building near the Building by any owner, tenant or 

occupant thereof or any of their respective employees, servants, agents, representatives, 

contractors, suppliers, invitees and customers or any other person, whether on account of noise, 

trash, odors, intoxicated patrons or otherwise.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 

Tenant understands that portions of the Building, the Center and other buildings near the Building 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

7 

 

 

 

 

 

are used primarily for commercial as well as residential purposes and therefore Tenant agrees that 

its covenants contained in the previous sentence are material obligations of Tenant under this Lease 

and are an essential part of the consideration for Landlord entering into this Lease.  Tenant 

acknowledges and agrees that Landlord has made no representations or warranties, and Tenant in 

entering into this Lease is not relying on any representations or warranties, as to any improvements 

to the Center that may be made in the future or that may otherwise be part of the Center (including 

with respect to any additional buildings that may be added to or that may otherwise be part of the 

Center) or as to any particular tenants or stores that may exist or be open and operating at any time 

in the Center.  Without the prior written consent of Landlord, Tenant shall not solicit business in 

the Common Areas or any part of the Center (including the Building) other than within the 

Premises, including without limitation by doing any of the following outside of the Premises: 

(i) displaying goods or other free-standing displays; (ii) distributing handbills, advertising 

materials, or samples; or (iii) otherwise approaching potential customers in the resort to solicit 

sales.  No music or noise from the Premises shall be audible outside the Premises. 

(d) Compliance with Law and Applicable Regulations.  Tenant, at its expense, shall 

comply with all Governing Documents applicable to the Premises and/or Tenant’s use or 

occupancy thereof.  Tenant shall use the Premises in a careful, safe and proper manner and shall 

not use or permit the Premises to be used for any purposes prohibited by any Governing Documents 

or other rules and regulations applicable to the Premises or the Building, including any federal, 

state, county or municipal law, ordinance, rule, regulation or code applicable to the Premises or 

the Building.  Tenant shall neither do nor permit to be done any act or thing upon the Premises 

which shall or might subject Landlord to any liability or responsibility for injury to any person or 

persons or for damage to property by reason of any business or operation carried on at, from or 

upon or near the Premises.  In the event that any authorized agent shall hereafter at any time, 

contend or declare by notice, violation, order or in any other manner whatsoever that the Premises 

are being used for a purpose which is a violation of any permit, certificate of occupancy, statute, 

ordinance or other requirement of law applicable to the Building, the Center or the Premises, or if 

Landlord, or the Association gives notice of Tenant’s violation of any rules or regulations 

applicable to the Premises, the Center or the Building, Tenant shall cure such violation within 

2 days of such notice (or such shorter period of time as may be required in such notice or by law).   

(e) Operating Days and Hours.  Tenant shall continuously operate in the entire 

Premises fully stocked and staffed and shall maintain minimum operating days and hours as 

designated by Landlord.  Any closures or any reduction in days or hours shall be prohibited without 

the prior written consent of Landlord.  Tenant may, at its option, extend its operating days and 

hours in accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, upon providing advance written 

notice to Landlord of the same; provided that Tenant shall pay for any costs incurred by Landlord 

related to such Tenant extended hours.  In the event that Tenant elects to close its operations in 

accordance with the requirements of this Section, Tenant must give written notice to Landlord of 

such election at least one week in advance of such closure.  Tenant understands and acknowledges 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

8 

 

 

 

 

 

that the days and hours during which all or any part of the Premises are open for business shall be 

subject to all applicable laws and all Governing Documents.  Nothing contained in this Lease shall 

be deemed a representation of the hours during which other tenants of the Center may be required 

or permitted to be open for business and Landlord, or other owners or the Association may have 

the right to permit other tenants to operate during different hours from the hours during which 

Tenant is required or permitted to be open for business. Tenant acknowledges that it has received 

copies of and has had the opportunity to review the Governing Documents.  Whether or not open 

for business, Tenant shall keep the Premises’ show windows or areas and any permitted signs 

illuminated during such hours as Landlord may reasonably designate; provided however, that such 

windows and signs shall not be illuminated during such hours (when the Premises are not open for 

business) as Landlord may reasonably designate.  Nothing contained in this Lease shall be deemed 

a representation of the hours during which other tenants of the Center may be required or permitted 

to be open for business and the Landlord, or other owners of commercial condominium units in 

the Center, if any, and the Association shall have the right to permit other tenants of the Center to 

operate during hours different from the hours during which Tenant is required or permitted to be 

open for business. 

(i) “Governing Documents” shall mean all declarations, requirements, rules 

and regulations governing the Center, the Building or the Premises as they may exist from time to 

time, including without limitation all laws or codes promulgated by any governmental or quasi-

governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Premises, Landlord, Association, or 

Neighbourhood. 

(f) Closure Fee.  If Tenant fails to open for business to the public by the Opening 

Deadline, or thereafter fails to continue to open and operate as and when required by this Lease, 

unless expressly permitted to close by the terms of this Lease, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, 

upon demand, liquidated damages in an amount equal to the greater of (x) $100 and (y) an amount 

equal to 1 day of Minimum Rent,  per day for each day such violation continues (the “Closure 

Fee”); provided, however, that the Closure Fee shall not apply if the Premises should be closed 

and the business of Tenant temporarily discontinued therein on account of remodeling or 

renovation that has been approved in advance, in writing, by Landlord, and which is completed 

within the time frame specified by Landlord in Landlord’s written approval of the remodeling or 

renovation closure.  Tenant acknowledges and agrees that if it breaches its obligations under this 

Lease by failing to open and continuously operate as required by this Lease, Landlord shall be 

deprived of an important benefit under this Lease and will suffer damages in an amount which is 

not readily ascertainable, and that the Closure Fee is a reasonable and equitable determination of 

the actual damages Landlord shall suffer as a result of Tenant’s breach of such obligations, and 

shall not be deemed a penalty; provided that such Closure Fee shall not limit Landlord’s other 

remedies hereunder. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

9 

 

 

 

 

 

(g) Radius Restriction.  Excluding any other locations leased from Landlord, if during 

the Term hereof Tenant, or any affiliate of Tenant, directly or indirectly operates, manages or has 

any interest whatsoever in any other store or business operated for the purpose or business similar 

to or in competition with all or part of the business permitted under Section 4(a) hereof within a 

radius of five  miles of the Building, it will injure Landlord’s ability and right to receive Percentage 

Rent (such ability and right being a major consideration of this Lease).  Accordingly, if Tenant or 

any affiliate of Tenant operates, manages or has such interest in any such store or business within 

such radius, 100% of all sales made from any such other store or business shall be included in the 

computation of Gross Sales for the purpose of determining Percentage Rent under this Lease as 

though said Gross Sales had actually been made at, in or from the Premises.  Landlord shall have 

all rights of inspection of books and records with respect to such stores or business as it has with 

respect to the Premises; and Tenant shall furnish to Landlord such reports with respect to Gross 

Sales from such other store or business as it is herein required to furnish with respect to the 

Premises.  If Tenant does not furnish such reports to Landlord within 10 days of Landlord’s 

request, then Gross Sales from such other store or business shall be deemed to be equal to the 

amount of annual Minimum Rent then in effect under this Lease.  For the purposes of this 

paragraph, an “affiliate” of Tenant shall mean (i) any parent, subsidiary, franchisor, or franchisee 

of Tenant or the guarantor of this Lease (if any); (ii) any person, firm, corporation or other entity 

having an interest in any of the above parties; or (iii) any other person, firm or corporation 

controlling or controlled by Tenant or any of the above parties.   

(h) Signs and Advertising.   

(i) Signs.  Tenant shall not install, place, inscribe, paint or otherwise attach and 

shall not permit any sign, advertisement, notice, marquee or awning on any part of the outside of 

the Premises (including any portion of the Premises fronting on any interior corridor or lobby) or 

on any part of the inside of the Premises which is visible from outside of the Premises or on any 

part of the Building (including the outside walls and the roof), without the prior written consent of 

Landlord in each instance.  Any permitted sign shall comply with all applicable laws, matters of 

record, and Governing Documents, including without limitation all requirements of the Keystone 

PUD Sign Program, the Neighbourhood Company, Keystone Neighbourhood Company Design 

Review Board, the Building Association, or the Village Merchants’ Association. Tenant shall, at 

its own expense, maintain in first class condition all permitted signs and shall, on the expiration or 

termination of this Lease, and at its own expense, remove all such permitted signs and repair any 

damage caused by such removal.  Landlord shall have the right to remove all non-permitted signs 

without notice to Tenant and at the expense of Tenant.  Tenant’s obligation under this subsection 

shall survive the expiration or termination of this Lease.  Tenant shall not install, use or permit on 

or about the Premises any advertising medium that may be heard or seen outside the Premises, 

such as flashing lights, searchlights, loudspeakers, phonographs or radios, without the prior written 

consent of Landlord in each instance.  During the last 90 days of the Term Landlord shall have the 

right to place “For Rent” or similar signs upon the Premises.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

10 

 

 

 

 

 

(ii) Advertising.  All of Tenant’s advertising and marketing efforts in respect to 

the Premises shall be truthful and tasteful, in keeping with the general nature and image that 

Landlord seeks to portray from time to time.  Landlord shall have the right to prohibit any 

advertising by Tenant which, in Landlord’s reasonable opinion, is not suitable for a prestigious ski 

resort, is offensive, or which tends to impair the reputation of the Premises, the Building or the 

Center or their desirability as a location for stores, offices and lodging facilities, and upon notice 

from Landlord, Tenant shall refrain from or discontinue such advertising or marketing efforts.  

Tenant shall, at its expense, promote and advertise its business from the Premises in an up-to-date, 

professional manner, and in a manner designed specifically to attract customers to River Run who 

are living in, visiting, or working in the market area principally served by River Run.  Tenant shall 

endeavor to promote the name and any logo or emblem of River Run in Tenant’s promotions or 

advertising.  Tenant hereby is granted for the Term of this Lease a limited, royalty-free right and 

license to use the name and any logo or emblem of River Run in Tenant’s promotions and 

advertising.  Tenant acknowledges and agrees that such names, logos and emblems are the sole 

and exclusive property of Landlord and that Tenant will not acquire any rights thereto despite such 

promotion and advertising.  Tenant has no right to use, in any way, any present or future name, 

logo or emblem of or relating to the resort complex general known as The Keystone Resort or any 

real estate developments or projects (other than River Run) that are or may be situated within the 

same (including, without limitation, the names, logos or emblems of The Neighbourhoods at 

Keystone), or any variations or combinations thereof.  Tenant acknowledges and agrees that such 

names, logos and emblems are the sole and exclusive property of Landlord or third parties and that 

Tenant will not acquire any rights thereto under any circumstances. 

(i) Hazardous Materials.  Tenant shall not knowingly or unknowingly cause or 

permit any Hazardous Material to be brought upon, transported through, used, stored, generated, 

discharged, leaked, or disposed of on, in or about the Premises or the Building without obtaining 

Landlord’s prior written consent, and without limiting the foregoing in all events Hazardous 

Materials shall be brought upon, transported, used, kept or stored only in such amounts and to such 

extent as necessary for Tenant to operate its business for the Permitted Use and in accordance with 

usual and customary business operations and all products and manufacturers’ instructions and 

recommendations.  Without limiting the foregoing, Tenant shall comply with all applicable 

environmental laws and permitting requirements impacting the operations of Tenant on the 

Premises, and shall immediately report to Landlord any release of Hazardous Materials in the 

Premises or otherwise by Tenant or its agents, employees or contractors.  Copies of any permits 

for Hazardous Materials must be delivered to Landlord before any Hazardous Material is brought 

in, on or about the Center.  If the Premises, the Building, the Center, any land other than the 

Building, the atmosphere, or any water or waterway (including groundwater) become 

contaminated in any manner as a result of any breach of the foregoing covenants or any act or 

omission of Tenant or any of its agents, employees or contractors, Tenant shall indemnify, defend 

and hold harmless Landlord, its parent corporations, subsidiaries, insurance companies, affiliates, 

and their respective contractors, agents, employees, partners, officers, directors, shareholders and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

11 

 

 

 

 

 

mortgagees, if any, from any and all claims, demands, actions, damages, fines, judgments, 

penalties, costs (including attorneys’, consultants’ and experts’ fees) liabilities, losses and 

expenses (including, without limitation, diminution in value of the Premises or the Building and 

damages arising from any adverse impact on marketing space in the Building arising as a result of 

such contamination).  This indemnification includes, without limitation, any and all costs incurred 

due to investigation of the site or any cleanup, removal or restoration mandated by federal, state 

or local agency or political subdivision.  Without limitation of the foregoing, if Tenant causes or 

permits the presence of any Hazardous Material on, in or about the Premises, the Building or the 

Center that results in contamination, Tenant, at its sole expense, shall complete all required clean 

up, removal and remediation to return the Premises, the Building and the Center to the condition 

existing prior to the introduction of any such Hazardous  Material(s) to the Premises, the Building 

or the Center.  Tenant shall first obtain Landlord’s approval for any such remedial action.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be held to indemnify Landlord from 

liability or to create any liability on Tenant for Hazardous Materials contamination resulting from 

Landlord’s ownership, use or operation, or the use or operation by other tenants in, on or under the 

Building or the Center.  Within three days of receipt, Tenant shall send to Landlord a copy of any 

notice, order, inspection report, or other documents issued by a governmental authority relevant to 

compliance by Tenant, the Premises, the Building, or the Center with applicable laws.  As used in 

this Lease, “Hazardous Material(s)” shall mean any hazardous, toxic or radioactive substance, 

material, matter or waste which is or becomes regulated by any federal, state or local law, 

ordinance, order, rule, regulation, code or any other governmental restriction or requirement, and 

shall include asbestos, petroleum products and the terms “Hazardous Substance” and 

“Hazardous Waste” as defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation 

and Liability Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq., (“CERCLA”), and the Resource 

Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq. (“RCRA”). 

(j) Remedies.  If Tenant breaches any of the foregoing covenants contained in this 

Section 4, Landlord shall have all remedies in this Lease provided for with respect to an Event of 

Default by Tenant and shall, in addition, have the right to have any such breach enjoined or 

Tenant’s performance of any such covenant specifically enforced, as the case may be. 

5. TAXES AND OPERATING COSTS.   

(a) Tenant’s Obligation.  Subject to the terms of subsection (b), Tenant shall promptly 

pay with Minimum Rent, on the first day of each month of each calendar year during the Term, all 

Taxes, Association Dues and Assessments and Operating Costs, whether separately assessed or 

charged directly to Landlord or Tenant, or determined solely against or with respect to the 

Premises, provided however, that Tenant will have a 5-day grace period to pay arrearages of taxes 

and operating costs prior to any late charge assessment by Landlord.  If such Taxes, Association 

Dues and Assessments and Operating Costs are billed to Landlord, Tenant shall promptly pay 

Landlord for the amount Landlord paid therefor upon Landlord’s notification to Tenant of such 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

payment.  To the extent that Taxes, Association Dues and Assessments and Operating Costs are 

not separately assessed as a cost directly attributable to the Premises but are based on Tenant’s pro 

rata share of the Building such costs shall be determined based on Tenant’s Proportionate Share. 

(b) Estimated Payments and Adjustment.  During the Term, Tenant shall pay to 

Landlord each month, concurrently with payments of Minimum Rent under Section 3(a), one 

twelfth (1/12th) of Landlord’s estimate of Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Taxes, Association 

Dues and Assessments and Operating Costs for that year.  Landlord may, from time to time, re-

estimate Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Taxes, Association Dues and Assessments or Operating 

Costs, and thereafter adjust Tenant’s monthly installments accordingly, and any underpayment by 

Tenant for the period in question shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord upon demand.  After the end 

of each Landlord fiscal year (as determined by Landlord) the total of Landlord’s actual Taxes, 

Association Dues and Assessments and Operating Costs for such year shall be determined by 

Landlord and upon notice of such actual amount, Tenant’s Proportionate Share paid for such period 

shall immediately, upon such determination, be adjusted by credit by Landlord to Tenant of any 

excess, or payment by Tenant to Landlord of any deficiency.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if 

Landlord is required by any applicable laws, the Association or any other taxing authority to pay 

any Taxes, Association Dues and Assessments or Operating Costs in advance, then Tenant shall 

pay Tenant’s Proportionate Share of such amount to Landlord upon demand. 

(c) Definitions.  As used in this Lease: 

(i) “Taxes” shall mean all general and special real estate taxes, assessments, 

general and special assessments for improvements or otherwise, special district or improvement 

district assessments, water charges, sewer charges, vault charges, fuel and environmental fees and 

taxes, and other ad valorem taxes, rates, levies and assessments levied, assessed, charged, imposed, 

or made a lien upon or with respect to the Premises, the Building or the Center, by any 

governmental or quasi-governmental authority,  or the Association, and all taxes specifically 

levied, assessed, charged, imposed, or made a lien in lieu of any such taxes.  If due to a future 

change in the method of taxation, any franchise, income, profit or other tax or license fee shall be 

levied, assessed, charged, imposed, or made a lien in whole or in part in substitution for or in lieu 

of any amount which would otherwise constitute a part of Taxes, or if there shall be levied against 

Landlord, the Premises, the Building, or the Center, a tax or license fee measured by gross rents, 

such franchise, income, profit or other tax or license fee shall be deemed to be a real estate tax and 

part of Taxes for the purposes hereof.  The taxes described in this subsection (c)(i) shall also 

include all of Landlord’s expenses, including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees, incurred by 

Landlord in any effort to minimize Taxes, whether by contesting proposed increases in 

assessments or by any other means or procedure appropriate in the circumstances.  In no event 

shall any net income tax payable by Landlord be included in Taxes unless such net income tax is 

in whole or in part in substitution for or in lieu of a tax or charge that is or would be included in 

Taxes.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

(ii) “Association Dues and Assessments” shall mean all dues, costs, charges 

and expenses payable to any Association that are attributable to the ownership, management, 

maintenance and/or repair of the Premises, the Building or the Center (as the case may be), which 

may include, without limitation, any of the categories outlined under Operating Costs below. 

(iii) “Operating Costs” shall mean all costs, charges and expenses payable by 

Landlord that are attributable to the ownership, operation, management, maintenance and repair 

of the Premises, the Building or the Center (as the case may be), which include, but are not limited 

to, any and all annual or special assessments levied by the Association and any and all dues, 

assessments, costs, charges and expenses payable to any Association that are attributable to the 

ownership, management, maintenance and/or repair of the Premises, the Building or the Center (as 

the case may be), including but not limited to assessments for capital expense reserves, any and all 

operating and cleaning services, trash removal, snow removal, repairs and maintenance of the area 

adjacent to the Building, including sidewalks, malls, decks, stairs, grounds, curbs, loading areas, 

private streets and alleys, access roads, lighting facilities, hallways, restrooms, covered and 

uncovered parking areas, as well as security and security patrol, fire protection, signs and the 

reasonable cost and expense of replacement and maintenance of landscaping and shrubbery, as 

needed, and insurance  If Landlord pays or incurs any Operating Costs which include other 

property owned by Landlord, Landlord shall conclusively allocate to in a reasonably equitable 

manner, a portion of such costs.  Operating Costs shall not include any costs, charges or expenses 

included in Taxes or any renting commissions or costs of painting or decorating any other tenant’s 

space. 

(iv) “Tenant’s Proportionate Share” shall mean the percentage of Taxes, 

Association Dues and Assessments, and Operating Costs allocated to the Premises, as determined 

by Landlord in a reasonably equitable manner.  Generally, when such costs are attributable to the 

Building, such percentage shall be determined by using a fraction, the numerator of which shall be 

the square footage of the Premises and the denominator of which shall be the total leasable square 

footage of the Building, and when such costs are attributable to the Center, the numerator of which 

shall be the square footage of the Premises and the denominator of which shall be the total leasable 

square footage of the Center. 

(d) Review of Taxes, Association Dues and Assessments; Operating Costs 

Determination.  If Tenant wishes to dispute Landlord’s determination of actual Taxes, 

Association Dues and Assessments and Operating Costs for any calendar year or the calculation 

of any Additional Rent due under this Section 5, Tenant shall give Landlord written notice of such 

dispute within three months after receipt of notice from Landlord of the matter giving rise to the 

dispute.  If Tenant does not give Landlord such notice within such time, Tenant shall have waived 

its right to dispute such determination or calculation.  In the event Tenant disputes any such 

determination or calculation, Tenant shall have the right to inspect Landlord’s accounting records 

at Landlord’s accounting office and if, after such inspection, Tenant still disputes such 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

14 

 

 

 

 

 

determination or calculation, a certification as to the proper amount made by mutually acceptable 

independent certified public accountants shall be final and conclusive.  Tenant agrees to pay the 

cost of such certification unless it is determined that Landlord’s original certification was in error 

(in Landlord’s favor) by more than 5% of the proposed Additional Rent charge to Tenant, in which 

case Landlord shall pay for such costs in an amount up to $3,500.  Notwithstanding the pendency 

of any dispute hereunder, Tenant shall make payments based upon Landlord’s determination or 

calculation until such determination or calculation has been established hereunder to be incorrect.   

(e) Proration for Partial Calendar Year.  If the Term of this Lease commences after 

the beginning of or expires before the end of a calendar month, any amount payable by Tenant 

under this Section 5 with respect to that calendar year shall be adjusted proportionately on a daily 

basis, and the obligation to pay such amount shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of 

this Lease. 

(f) Tenant’s Personal Property Taxes.  Tenant shall pay before delinquency any and 

all taxes, assessments, license taxes, fees and other charges levied, assessed or imposed and which 

become payable during the Term of this Lease upon Tenant’s operations at, occupancy of or 

conduct of business at the Premises or upon Tenant’s leasehold improvements, equipment, 

inventory, furniture, appliances, trade fixtures and any other personal property of any kind installed 

or located at the Premises.  If the taxing authorities fail to render a separate tax bill with respect to 

any or all of such property, Landlord shall reasonably allocate to such property a portion of such 

taxes.  Tenant shall pay such amount to Landlord promptly upon receipt of a written statement of 

such allocation. 

(g) Conference Center Fee. This provision shall relate to the conference center 

consisting of existing meeting space and facilities in Keystone, Colorado (the “Conference 

Center”). Tenant’s obligations in this subsection shall commence on the Commencement Date, 

regardless of whether Tenant’s obligation to pay Percentage Rent or Operating Costs may 

commence at a later date. 

(i) Tenant shall pay to Landlord, for transmittal to Keystone Conference 

Services, Inc., a Colorado corporation, a conference center fee (the “Fee”) equal to 5.9% of the 

gross sales price of such merchandise, goods and services as are or may be subject to sales tax 

under Colorado law (subject to the provisions of this Section below). The Fee shall constitute a 

charge in addition to the rent paid by Tenant and any other amounts due to Landlord from Tenant 

under this Lease. The Fee shall be payable monthly by Tenant on the same date that Tenant 

furnishes Landlord with accurate and exact copies of all sales tax reports, as required hereunder. 

(ii) Tenant acknowledges that the obligation of Tenant to pay the Fee is a 

material part of the consideration payable by Tenant hereunder, and that the Fee is deemed 

Additional Rent under this Lease. Accordingly, if Tenant does not pay the Fee in full on or before 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

15 

 

 

 

 

 

the date due, Tenant shall be deemed in default, and Landlord shall be entitled to exercise all rights 

and remedies available hereunder. 

(h) Keystone Neighbourhood Company Sales Assessment. Tenant’s obligations in 

this subsection shall commence on the Commencement Date, regardless of whether Tenant’s 

obligation to pay Percentage Rent or Operating Costs may commence at a later date. 

(i) Pursuant to the Governing Documents, Landlord must: 

(1) Pay to the Neighbourhood Company an assessment (the “Sales 

Assessment”) on all sales (“Taxable Sales from the Premises”) of goods and services made from 

the Premises that are subject to the Colorado Emergency Retail Sales Tax Act of 1935, Colorado 

Revised Statutes, 1973, Title 39, Article 26 (as the same may be amended or replaced from time 

to time, together with all regulations promulgated thereunder, the “Colorado Sales Tax Act”); 

and 

(2) Deliver to the Neighbourhood Company true and complete copies 

of all written reports, returns, statements, records and declarations including all supplements and 

amendments thereto that are made or provided to the State of Colorado in connection with all 

Taxable Sales from the Premises. 

(ii) The current rate of the Sales Assessment is 0.5% of the amount of all 

Taxable Sales from the Premises. The Neighbourhood Company may raise the rate of the Sales 

Assessment up to a rate of 6% of the amount of all Taxable Sales from the Premises. 

(iii) Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, any and all amounts due 

from Landlord to the Neighbourhood Company as a Sales Assessment with respect to all Taxable 

Sales from the Premises each time and at such times as Tenant is required to pay tax to the State 

of Colorado under the Colorado Sales Tax Act. 

(iv) Tenant shall deliver to Landlord and to the Neighbourhood Company, as 

Landlord directs, true and complete copies of all reports that are made or provided to the State of 

Colorado in connection with Taxable Sales from the Premises each time and at such times as 

Tenant is required to deliver the same to the State of Colorado under the Colorado Sales Tax Act. 

(v) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant’s transfer(s) of any “Site” or “Time 

Share Estate” shall be subject to those charges set forth in Section 6.06 of the Declaration of 

Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for The Neighbourhoods at Keystone. 

(i) Village Merchant’s Association. Tenant shall become a member of and maintain 

membership in the Village Merchants’ Association, an association of merchants and other tenants 

of River Run. Tenant shall abide by all bylaws, rules, regulations, decisions and directives of the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

16 

 

 

 

 

 

Village Merchants’ Association that are not in conflict with this Lease, or in any manner 

detrimental to Landlord. Tenant agrees to contribute $1,000 per Lease Year (or a pro rata portion 

thereof for any period of less than a Lease Year) during the Term to the Village Merchants’ 

Association (the “Merchants’ Association Fee”). Landlord and Tenant agree that the Merchants’ 

Association Fee shall not be included as part of Operating Costs. Landlord may (without being 

obligated to do so) institute any legal proceedings in its own name to enforce the rights of the 

Village Merchants’ Association. All of the foregoing shall continue to bind Tenant regardless of 

whether Landlord is contributing funds to the Village Merchants’ Association. 

 

6. TENANT’S WORK.   

(a) Tenant’s Work.  Tenant shall perform certain work on the Premises as specified 

on Exhibit B attached hereto (“Tenant’s Work”).  As part of the Tenant’s Work, Tenant shall 

perform any work within the Premises as necessary to make the Premises consistent with a first-

class, prestigious ski resort town, and any work performed by Tenant in the Premises shall be 

performed in accordance with the guidelines and restrictions set forth in Section 7 below. Tenant 

agrees to hire a general contractor for Tenant’s Work, which shall be subject to the reasonable 

approval of Landlord.  Tenant shall be responsible for obtaining all applicable approvals and 

permits necessary for the completion of Tenant’s Work and Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises, 

including, without limitation, a health department permit (if applicable), a building permit, a 

certificate of occupancy, and approval of the Association if necessary.  If Tenant fails to obtain a 

health department permit (if applicable), a building permit, a certificate of occupancy and all 

required Association approvals prior to opening, Landlord shall be entitled to terminate this Lease, 

effective immediately upon notice to Tenant.  Tenant shall commence Tenant’s Work no later than 

10 days after Landlord’s delivery of the Premises to Tenant, and thereafter diligently prosecute the 

same to completion.  Tenant shall complete Tenant’s Work and open the Premises for business to 

the public no later than November 1, 2024 (the “Opening Deadline”).  Without limiting any other 

remedies of Landlord pursuant to this Lease, at law, or in equity, if Tenant fails to so open by the 

Opening Deadline, Landlord shall have the right, effective immediately upon written notice to 

Tenant, to terminate the Lease.  

(b) Tenant Allowance. 

(i) Landlord shall reimburse up to $10,000 USD toward the cost of Tenant’s 

Work (the “Tenant Allowance”).  The Tenant Allowance shall only be used for payment of hard 

costs consisting of architect, design and engineering, the actual cost of construction of the Tenant 

Work, including, without limitation, the cost of labor and materials, testing and inspection costs, 

trash removal costs, and contractors’ fees and general conditions and permit and license fees 

relating to construction of the Tenant Work, and shall not be used for soft costs such as legal fees, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

17 

 

 

 

 

 

moving expenses, insurance, purchase and installation of telecommunications equipment and data 

cabling or purchasing and installing furniture and equipment or other items of personal property, 

including but not limited to artwork equipment or as mutually agreed upon by Landlord and 

Tenant. Notwithstanding anything contained in this lease to the contrary, no more than ten (10%) 

percent of the Construction Payment may be used for architectural, engineering, space planning, 

expediter and inspection fees, fees for all municipal and other permits, licenses and approvals and 

other so-called "soft costs" (all of the foregoing being herein referred to as the "Soft Costs"), and 

then only to the extent that same are directly related to Tenant’s Work (as opposed to being related 

to furniture, furnishings or other non-"hard cost" items, none of which shall be paid for, or 

reimbursed by Landlord). As further clarification, reimbursement will not be made on any 

removable equipment, furniture, signage, or branded fixtures. Generic improvements that will stay 

in the space, including work to the storefront, flooring, electrical, plumbing, lighting, millwork 

and shelving will be reimbursed. Prior to the Effective Date, Tenant shall provide evidence 

reasonably acceptable to Landlord that Tenant has sufficient committed, available funds to pay the 

full costs of completion of Tenant’s Work in excess of the Tenant Allowance, and shall provide 

evidence ratifying and reaffirming such ability from time to time upon request by Landlord 

(ii) Upon Tenant’s written request to Landlord, Landlord shall pay such sum to 

Tenant within 45 days after the later to occur of the following: (A) after Tenant has submitted the 

necessary invoices to Landlord no later than November 20, 2024; and (B) Tenant has delivered to 

Landlord a written request for such payment, accompanied by the following documents, materials 

and information: (1) a complete list of the names, addresses, telephone numbers and contract 

amounts for all contractors, subcontractors, vendors or suppliers providing materials or labor for 

Tenant’s Work; (2) all mechanics’ lien releases or other lien releases on account of Tenant’s Work, 

which are notarized, unconditional and in recordable form or in such form as Landlord shall have 

approved; (3) a copy of the final as-built plans and specifications for the Premises; and (4) a 

detailed walk-through has occurred with the Landlord to verify the completion of all work as 

pursuant to the as-built plans. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, Landlord 

shall have the right (but not the obligation) to pay the Tenant Allowance directly to Tenant’s 

general contractor, to Tenant’s general contractor in the form of a joint check with Tenant, and/or 

to Tenant’s subcontractors, suppliers or vendors used for Tenant’s Work in the form of a joint 

check with the general contractor.  If Tenant fails to open by the Opening Deadline set forth in 

subsection (b) above, or if Tenant is otherwise in default under this Lease, then in addition to all 

its other rights and remedies under this Lease, at law and in equity, and regardless of whether such 

default is subsequently cured, Landlord shall have the right (but not the obligation), in its sole and 

absolute discretion, (I) to elect to not pay all or any unpaid portion of the Tenant Allowance to 

Tenant, and (II) to perform or cause to be performed, all or any portion of Tenant’s Work (the 

“Landlord TI Work”), including without limitation the right in Landlord’s sole and absolute 

discretion to select the contractors to perform Tenant’s Work, contract directly with such 

contractors, and pay such contractors directly.  All such Landlord TI Work shall be provided 

without representation or warranty by Landlord or its affiliates, and Landlord expressly disclaims 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

18 

 

 

 

 

 

any warranty of merchantability, habitability, workmanship, fitness for a particular purpose, or 

any other express or implied warranty.  Landlord shall have no obligation to select the lowest-

costing contractors, methods, or materials or otherwise complete any such work at the lowest 

possible cost, it being acknowledged and agreed that completion of such work as quickly as 

possible is the highest priority of the parties.  Tenant promptly upon demand shall either (at 

Landlord’s election in its sole discretion) pay for directly or reimburse Landlord for, any and all 

hard and soft costs for the Landlord TI Work, including, without limitation, the cost of labor and 

materials, trash removal costs, project management fees, design fees, allocated overhead and 

staffing costs, insurance costs, taxes, inspections, contractors’ fees, general conditions and permit 

and license fees relating to the construction and performance of Tenant’s Work, whether incurred 

by or payable to Landlord or any affiliated or third party (the “Landlord TI Costs”); provided, 

however, the Tenant Allowance may be applied as a credit against any such obligations.  No 

portion of the Tenant Allowance shall be paid until the Landlord TI Work has been fully 

completed.  Thereafter, any portion of the Tenant Allowance remaining after being applied to the 

Landlord TI Costs may be paid to Tenant in accordance with the terms of the Lease.  Tenant shall 

be solely responsible for the prompt payment or reimbursement of any and all Landlord TI Costs 

in excess of the Tenant Allowance. 

(iii) Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Landlord shall 

not be required to pay the Tenant Allowance unless Tenant requests disbursement of the Tenant 

Allowance by delivering to Landlord written request therefore together with reasonable 

documentation evidencing the requirements set forth above have been satisfied no later than 

November 20, 2024, in all events by the termination of the calendar year 2024 and Landlord shall 

be under no obligation, and shall have no liability for, any payment of the Tenant Allowance 

subsequent to the termination of the calendar year 2024, which deadline shall not be subject to 

extension notwithstanding any cure period or any other provision to the contrary in this Lease, it 

being understood by Tenant that under all circumstances Landlord must have 30 days prior to the 

end of the calendar year to conduct a walk-through, review, process, and pay approved requests 

for disbursement of all tenant improvement allowances, and without exception any payment of the 

Tenant Allowance cannot be paid by Landlord after the end of the calendar year 2024.  Landlord 

makes no representation or warranty that the Tenant Allowance is sufficient to pay the cost of the 

Tenant’s Work.  Tenant shall pay the amount of any excess of the cost of the Tenant’s Work over 

the Tenant Allowance.  Landlord and Tenant acknowledge Tenant’s Work shall constitute the 

property of Landlord to the extent that Tenant performs such Tenant’s Work using the proceeds of 

the Tenant Allowance, subject, nevertheless, to Tenant’s rights to use such Tenant’s Work as part 

of the Premises during the Term in accordance with the terms of this Lease. 

(c) Early Access to Premises.  With the prior written consent of Landlord, Tenant may 

enter upon the Premises prior to the Commencement Date for the purpose of performing Tenant’s 

Work. If Tenant enters the Premises prior to the Commencement Date, with the prior written 

consent of Landlord, the early entry will be at Tenant’s sole risk and subject to all the terms and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

19 

 

 

 

 

 

provisions of this Lease as though the Commencement Date had occurred, except for the payment 

of Minimum Rent and Percentage Rent. Tenant hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold 

Landlord harmless against any injury, loss or damage which may occur to any person or any 

property as a result of any of Tenant’s Work or installations made in the Premises, the same being 

at Tenant’s sole risk. Prior to any early entry by Tenant, Tenant shall provide Landlord with proof 

of insurance coverages described in this Lease (including without limitation Landlord named as 

an additional insured) and Tenant shall pay the utility expenses for the Premises commencing with 

such early entry. Landlord may impose additional conditions on Tenant’s early entry that Landlord, 

in its reasonable discretion, deems appropriate and Landlord will further have the right to require 

that Tenant execute an early entry agreement containing those conditions prior to Tenant’s early 

entry.  Any delay to the Substantial Completion of Landlord’s Work caused by such early access 

to the Premises by Tenant, shall be an automatic Tenant Delay. 

7. ALTERATIONS.   

(a) Alterations to the Premises. No work shall be performed or improvements or 

alterations to the Premises made by Tenant, including Tenant’s Work, without first obtaining the 

prior, written consent of Landlord to any such work, improvements or alterations.  Tenant 

understands that such consent will be conditioned upon compliance with Landlord’s requirements 

as in effect at the time permission is requested, which requirements will include, but not be limited 

to, Landlord’s approval of plans, specifications, contractors, insurance and hours of construction 

and design.  Landlord may condition its approval on certain revisions or other requirements, and 

if Landlord does so, Tenant will be obligated to incorporate such revisions or requirements into its 

leasehold improvements.  Approval of any improvements or work plans by Landlord shall not 

constitute the assumption of any responsibility by Landlord for their accuracy, sufficiency, or 

compliance with applicable codes, regulations, rules or design standards and Tenant shall be solely 

responsible for obtaining any other approvals necessary and ensuring that the design of all 

alterations strictly complies with the requirements of all applicable laws and matters of record.  

Tenant represents and warrants that any work performed by Tenant shall be in full compliance 

with all applicable laws, including without limitation the Americans with Disabilities Act and local 

building codes, and the Governing Documents.  Prior to the commencement of Tenant’s Work, 

Tenant agrees to (i) post a letter of credit at the request of Landlord for the amount requested by, 

in a form, and from a bank acceptable to Landlord; (ii) on request, deliver to Landlord certificates 

issued by applicable insurance companies evidencing that workers compensation, public liability 

and property damage insurance, all in amounts, with companies and on forms satisfactory to 

Landlord are in full force and effect and maintained by all contractors and subcontractors engaged 

by Tenant to perform such work; and (iii) provide Landlord with written proof of a building permit 

and any other necessary documentation requested by Landlord.  All alterations to the Premises, 

including without limitation Tenant’s Work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner 

and diligently to completion, and shall comply with all applicable laws and matters of record  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

20 

 

 

 

 

 

(b) Part of Premises.  Any and all alterations, additions, fixtures or improvements now 

or hereafter situated in or upon the Premises, whether constructed by, for or at the expense of 

Landlord or Tenant, including all paneling, partitions and the like, are and shall be and become a 

part of the Premises and Tenant shall have only a leasehold interest therein, subject to Section 20 

and all of the terms and conditions of this Lease.  No substitutions by Tenant of any of the 

improvements will be allowed without the written consent of Landlord. 

(c) Renovation of Premises.  In the event Tenant occupies the Premises for a period 

of 10 years or longer, then at least every 10 years, upon the request of Landlord, Tenant shall 

renovate, remodel or refurbish all or any portion of the interior of the Premises so that the 

furnishings, furniture, floorings, wall fixtures and coverings, equipment and other appurtenances 

in the Premises shall be consistent with a first-class, prestigious ski resort town.  Landlord, in its 

reasonable discretion shall determine the specific requirements of any such requested renovation, 

refurbishing or remodeling and such work shall be done in accordance with plans and 

specifications approved by Landlord in writing prior to the commencement of any such work.  Any 

and all such work shall be done at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, including,  but not limited to, 

the costs of creating the plans and specifications, all construction, material and labor expenses and 

the cost of any and all required permits and inspections. 

(d) Plans and Warranties.  Tenant shall cause as-built plans, specifications and 

surveys for all alterations to be delivered to Landlord within 60 days of completion.  Tenant shall 

also require its contractors to warrant their work, in writing, for not less than one year from and 

after completion against defects in workmanship, materials, and equipment, and Tenant shall 

ensure that such warranties are assignable to and assigned to Landlord upon Landlord’s request 

such that Landlord shall be entitled to enforce all warranties.  Tenant shall further require that all 

contractors waive any and all claims for damages against Landlord.  In addition, Tenant shall 

require its contractors to be jointly and severally responsible with Tenant for securing the Premises 

during the performance of alterations at all times prior to completion of the alterations in question, 

and shall require its contractors to remove all materials, personnel, tools and supplies from the 

Building immediately upon completion of the alterations. 

8. QUIET ENJOYMENT.  Landlord covenants and agrees with Tenant that in partial 

consideration for Tenant paying Minimum Rent, Percentage Rent and Additional Rent hereunder 

and observing and performing all the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease on Tenant’s 

part to be observed and performed, Tenant shall peaceably and quietly enjoy the Premises without 

interruption by Landlord or any person or persons claiming by, through or under Landlord, subject, 

nevertheless, to the terms and conditions of this Lease, and to the underlying declarations, leases, 

mortgages and other matters herein mentioned, including without limitation the Governing 

Documents, and all matters of record.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

21 

 

 

 

 

 

9. ACCEPTANCE OF PREMISES.  Tenant’s possession of the Premises shall be conclusive 

evidence of Tenant’s acceptance that the Premises and the Building are in good and satisfactory 

condition.  Tenant acknowledges that Tenant has inspected the Premises and accepts the Premises 

in an “as is, with all faults” condition and that Landlord shall be obligated for no work or 

improvements in the Premises, Building or Center unless otherwise specified herein.  Tenant 

agrees that no representations respecting the condition of the Premises or the existence or non-

existence of Hazardous Materials in, on or about the Premises, no warranties or guarantees, 

expressed or implied, with respect to workmanship or any defects in material, and no promise to 

decorate, alter, repair or improve the Premises either before or after the execution hereof, have 

been made by Landlord or its agents to Tenant.  Landlord shall not be responsible for performing 

any upgrades to the Building or the Premises which are required as a result of governmental code 

regulations due to Tenant’s Work or alterations as more specifically described in Section 6 and 

Section 7 or due to Tenant’s use of the Premises; in such event, Tenant shall be solely responsible 

for the expense and completion of the requisite upgrades, which shall be performed in accordance 

with the requirements set forth in Section 7. 

10. ACCESS TO PREMISES.   

(a) Tenant’s Rights.  By the grant of this Lease, Tenant and its business invitees, 

employees, customers, and licensees have the nonexclusive right to use during the Term of this 

Lease, in common with Landlord, other tenants and occupants of the Building and others, those 

portions of the Center designated by the condominium map and declaration and by the Association 

from time to time as common areas of the Building (the “Common Areas”), subject to the terms 

and conditions of this Lease and the Governing Documents.  Tenant’s business invitees, customers, 

and licensees shall use the Common Areas only for the purposes and only in the manner intended 

and in compliance with the terms and conditions referred to above.  Tenant and its employees, 

servants, agents, representatives, contractors and suppliers (collectively “Tenant’s Employees”) 

shall use only those parts of the Common Areas specially designated by Landlord for their use 

(“Restricted Common Areas”).  The Restricted Common Areas shall be used only at the times 

and for the purposes designated by the Landlord and in compliance with the terms and conditions 

referred to above.  The obligations of Tenant to so use the Common Areas and Restricted Common 

Areas and to require Tenant’s officers, employees, agents, invitees, licensees and customers to do 

the same are material obligations of Tenant hereunder and Landlord shall have the right, in addition 

to all other rights and remedies available to Landlord for breach of this Lease, to deny access to 

the Premises and the Center to any person who fails to abide by the limitations on the use of the 

Common Areas, including the limitation on Tenant’s Employees to use only the Restricted 

Common Areas.  Tenant shall not interfere with Landlord’s or other permitted users’ rights to use 

any part of the Common Areas. 

(b) Landlord’s Right of Entry.  Except for emergency situations, in which case 

Landlord and its agents may enter the Premises without prior notice to Tenant, Landlord and its 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

22 

 

 

 

 

 

agents shall have the right to enter the Premises at any time upon reasonable advance notice to 

Tenant during business hours (or other reasonable hours), to examine the Premises, to show the 

Premises to prospective purchasers, mortgagees, lessors or lessees, and to make and perform such 

decorations, cleaning, maintenance, repairs, alterations, improvements or additions as Landlord 

may be required to perform under this Lease or as Landlord may deem necessary or desirable for 

the safety, improvement or preservation of the Premises or of other portions of the Center or the 

Building owned or controlled by Landlord, and Landlord shall be allowed to bring upon the 

Premises all necessary materials, supplies and equipment, without the same constituting an 

eviction of Tenant in whole or in part or entitling Tenant to any abatement of rent or damages, by 

reason of inconvenience, annoyance, disturbance, loss or interruption of business, or otherwise, 

and without the same affecting Tenant’s obligations under this Lease in any manner whatsoever.  

If Tenant shall not be personally present to permit an entry into the Premises, at any time when for 

any reason an entry therein shall be necessary or permissible, Landlord or Landlord’s agents may 

enter the Premises by use of a master key, or may forcibly enter the Premises, without rendering 

Landlord or its agents liable therefor (provided that during such entry, Landlord and its agents 

shall accord reasonable care to Tenant’s property), and without in any manner affecting the 

obligations and covenants of this Lease except as otherwise provided in this Lease.  Nothing 

contained in this Lease, however, shall be deemed or construed to impose upon Landlord any 

obligation, responsibility or liability whatsoever, for the care, supervision or repair of the Center, 

or any part thereof, other than as expressly provided in this Lease.  Landlord shall have the right 

from time to time to install, maintain, use, repair and replace utility lines, unexposed pipes, ducts, 

conduits and wires in and through the Premises upon giving at least 24-hours’ notice (which notice 

may be written or oral) to Tenant during business hours.  If an excavation or remodeling shall be 

made upon land adjacent to the Building or area adjacent to the Premises or any part thereof or 

shall be authorized to be made, Tenant shall afford to the person causing or authorized to cause 

such excavation and remodeling, a license to enter upon the Premises for the purpose of doing 

such work as such person shall deem necessary to preserve the Building or any part thereof from 

injury or damage and to support any part thereof by proper foundations without any claim for 

damages or indemnity against Landlord or diminution or abatement of rent and without the same 

constituting an eviction of Tenant in whole or in part. 

(c) Tenant Removal of Personal Property.  If during the Term of this Lease Tenant 

shall have removed all or substantially all of Tenant’s property from the Premises for purposes 

other than cleaning, maintenance, repair and/or redecoration of the Premises or for a duration of 

48 hours or more without Landlord’s prior written approval, the same shall be deemed an automatic 

Event of Default pursuant to this Lease, and Landlord may pursue any and all remedies available 

to it under the law or pursuant to this Lease.  Additionally, Landlord may immediately enter and 

alter, renovate and redecorate the Premises without incurring liability to Tenant for any 

compensation or damages, and such acts shall not entitle Tenant to any elimination or abatement 

of rent and shall not have the effect of terminating this Lease or making this Lease void or voidable 

by Tenant. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

23 

 

 

 

 

 

11. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS.   

(a) Tenant’s Obligations.  

(i) Tenant shall be responsible for the repair and maintenance of all fixtures, 

equipment and systems that solely serve the Premises, including windows, plate glass, doors, 

storefronts, plumbing, pipes (including grease trap lines), electrical wiring, conduits, lighting, 

signs, plants, trees and planters, and Tenant shall maintain all of its furniture, furnishings and 

decorations in, on or about the Premises in first-class condition and shall, at its sole cost and 

expense, perform such maintenance, redecorating and remodeling and make such repairs, 

restorations and replacements of such items as may be necessary to maintain the Premises in 

attractive first-class condition.  Tenant will promptly do all work falling within the aforementioned 

required responsibilities of Tenant to have the Premises comply with all governmental, quasi-

governmental, insurance, and Association  requirements applicable and sought to be enforced at 

any time during the Term. 

(ii) Tenant shall be responsible for the installation, maintenance, repair and 

replacement of air conditioning, heating and ventilation systems within and specifically for the 

Premises, including all components such as air handling units, air distribution systems, motors, 

controls, grilles, thermostats, filters and all other components.  Tenant shall contract with an 

HVAC maintenance contractor (on a contract form reasonable acceptable to Landlord) who shall 

inspect not less than semi-annually and service as required those portions of the HVAC system 

located within the Premises at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.  No work shall be done on the 

HVAC system except by a professional HVAC maintenance contractor.  Any modifications, 

relocations, adjustments or renovations of the HVAC system shall be done only by such approved 

HVAC professionals, and with the prior written approval of Landlord. 

(iii) Tenant shall comply with all provisions of Section 7 of this Lease in 

connection with the repairs, restorations and replacements required under this Section 11.  There 

shall be no abatement of rent or allowance to Tenant for a diminution of rental value and no liability 

on the part of Landlord, by any reason of inconvenience, annoyance, disturbance or loss or 

interruption of business, or otherwise, arising from Landlord, Tenant or others making any repairs, 

restorations, replacements, alterations, additions or improvements in or to any portion of the 

Building, the Center or the Premises, or in or to fixtures, appurtenances or equipment thereof or 

other tenants failing to make repairs.  Landlord agrees to exercise reasonable care to prevent 

interruptions to Tenant’s operation while performing maintenance and repairs on the Premises, 

provided Landlord shall have no obligation to pay for overtime labor. 

(iv) If Tenant fails to perform any required maintenance or make any repairs, 

restorations or replacements required by this Lease, Landlord may (but without any obligation to 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

24 

 

 

 

 

 

do so) perform such maintenance or make such repairs, restorations or replacements at the expense 

of Tenant and such expense, with interest, shall be due as Additional Rent. 

(b) Association’s Obligations.  The Association shall be responsible for keeping or 

causing to be kept the foundations, roof and structural portions of the Building and the exterior 

walls of the Premises, the Common Areas of the Building, and the Association property, including 

any easements granted to the Association, in good repair and condition except for damage thereto 

due to the acts or omissions of Tenant, its agents, employees or invitees, in which case such repair 

or maintenance will be the sole responsibility of Tenant.  The Association shall be responsible for 

the repair and maintenance of all structural portions of the Premises, other than those portions 

installed by Tenant, including basic plumbing, air conditioning and heating and electrical systems, 

(unless only serving the Premises, in which case such repair or maintenance shall be Tenant’s sole 

responsibility) unless the condition requiring such repair or maintenance is caused in part or in 

whole by the act, neglect, fault or omission of Tenant, its agents, servants, employees, licensees, 

contractors or invitees, in which case Tenant shall perform such maintenance and repairs.  

Landlord shall not be responsible for any repairs, replacements or maintenance that are the 

Association’s responsibility. 

(c) Landlord’s Obligations.  Landlord or the Association shall keep or cause to be 

kept in good repair, order and condition, consistent with good industry practice for properties 

similar in size, nature and age to the Center, the structural components of the Center, to the extent 

the same are owned or controlled solely by Landlord or, if not owned or controlled solely by 

Landlord, to the extent that the entity owning or controlling the same allows Landlord.  Tenant 

acknowledges that: 

(i) Landlord owns the commercial space in the Center and an undivided interest 

in the Common Areas, but does not control the Common Areas; and 

(ii) Landlord’s rights and obligations with respect to the Common Areas are 

specified in, and limited by, the Governing Documents. 

Landlord shall have the right to install and maintain in the Premises whatever 

equipment is reasonable, useful, or necessary for the use and convenience of the Premises, the 

Building, or the Center, or other tenants, occupants or owners of the various portions thereof, and 

Tenant shall have no claim against Landlord in respect thereof on the condition that the same do 

not materially interfere with Tenant’s quiet enjoyment of the Premises.  Landlord shall not be 

obligated to perform any maintenance or make any repairs, replacements, or improvements of any 

kind in or to the Premises or the Building, or to any equipment, goods, facilities or fixtures therein, 

except as specifically provided in this subsection (c).  Unless expressly provided for in this Lease, 

Tenant waives the right to make repairs at Landlord’s expense.  The terms of this Section shall not 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

25 

 

 

 

 

 

apply in the case of damage or destruction by fire or other casualty, condemnation, or eminent 

domain, in which event the obligations of Landlord shall be controlled by Sections 13 and 14.   

(d) Operational Requirements.  Tenant further covenants and agrees that it will, at its 

sole cost and expense: 

(i) Keep all trash, refuse, rubbish and recycling, shall be kept in covered 

receptacles, which receptacles shall be located within the Premises until removed by Tenant.  

Tenant may remove (i) such trash and/or recycling to a Landlord designated area which shall be 

accessed through the path of travel designated by Landlord. All wet garbage shall be double 

bagged, placed same in containers that prevent the escape of vapors or odors and transport same 

in sealed, watertight, rubber or plastic industrial-type containers having rubber wheels and 

bumpers. 

(ii) As soon as practicable and in any event within twenty-four (24) hours after 

any exterior or interior glass (including mirrors) is broken or cracked, including any so-called 

“bulls eye” break in the glass, replace such glass with glass of the same kind and quality, and repair 

or replace the frames for such glass if reasonably necessary, and if Tenant fails to do so within a 

reasonable period of time (not to exceed 3 business days) following its receipt of notice from 

Landlord, Landlord may perform such work on Tenant's behalf, and Tenant shall pay all actual 

and documented third party out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in so doing. 

(iii) Subject to the terms hereof, Tenant shall have the right to sell, serve or 

otherwise allow the consumption of beer, wine and liquor in, on or from the Premises for on-

Premises (and if allowed by Requirements, as an ancillary and de minimis element of Tenant’s 

business only, off-Premises) consumption.  Tenant shall obtain all licenses, together with all other 

permits or approvals under applicable laws (collectively, the "Liquor Licenses") as may be 

required to permit Tenant to sell beer, wine and liquor from the Premises for on-Premises 

consumption; provided, however, Tenant shall not sell beer, wine and/or liquor from the Premises 

during any time that applicable state laws or regulations prohibit same.  Without limiting the 

foregoing, at no cost or expense to Landlord, promptly following Tenant's request therefor, 

Landlord will reasonably cooperate with Tenant, at no cost or liability to Landlord, in completing 

such, forms and documentation that may be necessary in order for Tenant to obtain the Liquor 

Licenses. Provided that Tenant (i) obtains and maintains the Liquor Licenses as aforesaid, (ii) 

complies with all applicable state laws with respect to the sale of beer, wine and liquor, and (iii) 

complies with all provisions of this Lease applicable thereto, Tenant shall have the right to sell 

beer, wine and liquor from the Premises for on-Premises (and if allowed by Requirements, as an 

ancillary and de minimis element of Tenant’s business only, off-Premises)) consumption.  Without 

limiting the provisions hereof, Tenant shall maintain with a responsible and qualified insurance 

company reasonably approved by Landlord, and otherwise in compliance with the terms hereof, 

plus additional coverage of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence or such higher limits as Landlord 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

26 

 

 

 

 

 

may from time to time reasonably request (but not more than once each three (3) years), the 

broadest available so-called legal liquor liability insurance (sometimes also known as "dram shop" 

insurance) policy or policies, on a broad form policy (providing the coverage afforded by the then 

most current ISO policy), which shall insure Tenant and Landlord (disclosed and undisclosed), 

and all those claiming by, through or under Landlord, adequately in Landlord's reasonable 

judgment, against any and all claims, demands or actions that may arise out of or result from the 

sale of beer, wine and liquor in, on and from the Premises. All such insurance shall comply with 

all of the requirements of this Lease. 

(e) Neighbourhood Company Obligations. The Neighbourhood Company shall 

maintain all common elements, improvements and landscaping as provided in The Declaration of 

Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for the Neighbourhoods at Keystone, as amended from 

time to time.] 

12. MECHANIC’S LIENS.   

(a) No Mechanic’s Liens.  Tenant shall pay or cause to be paid all costs for work done 

by it or caused to be done by it in or to the Premises and Tenant shall keep the Premises, including 

any improvements, additions or other construction made by or for Tenant or at Tenant’s direction 

in or to the Premises or against any equipment or fixtures installed by Tenant therein, free and 

clear of all mechanic’s or materialmen’s liens and other liens on account of work done for Tenant 

or persons claiming under it.  Should any such liens, or recorded notices, lis pendens, or other 

documents related to a lien or potential lien, be filed or recorded against the Premises, the Building, 

the Center, or any part thereof, or any action affecting the title thereto be commenced, Tenant shall 

give Landlord written notice thereof.  Tenant shall cause such liens, lis pendens, or other  

documents to be removed of record, or any such action to be dismissed, within 5 days of Tenant 

obtaining notice or knowledge thereof, except that if Tenant shall desire to contest any claim of 

lien, it shall, if consented to by Landlord in its sole and absolute discretion, furnish Landlord with 

security satisfactory to Landlord of at least 150% of the amount of the claim (and at Landlord’s 

discretion, a bond covering such lien, plus estimated costs and interest, or otherwise Tenant may 

consents such claim of lien only if it complies with procedures under applicable law to cause the 

lien or other documents to be removed of record and the Premises, the Building and the Center to 

have record title free and clear of such claim of lien, related documentation, or action, as 

applicable.  Without limiting Tenant’s obligations above, if a final judgment establishing the 

validity or existence of a lien for any amount is entered, or if payment must otherwise be made to 

avoid foreclosure of the Premises, the Building, or the Center, Tenant shall pay and satisfy the 

same at once.  In the event of Tenant’s failure to release of record any such lien or other documents, 

or cause such action to be discussed, within the aforesaid period, Landlord may remove said lien 

by paying the full amount thereof, and irrespective of the fact that Tenant may contest the propriety 

or the amount thereof, and Tenant, upon demand, shall pay Landlord the amount so paid by 

Landlord in connection with the discharge of said lien, together with interest thereon at the Default 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

27 

 

 

 

 

 

Rate, including reasonable attorney’s fees, which amounts are due and payable in full to Landlord 

as Additional Rent on the first day of the next following month.  Nothing contained in this Lease 

shall be construed as consent on the part of Landlord to subject Landlord’s estate in the Premises 

to any lien or liability under the lien laws of the state in which the Premises is located.  Tenant’s 

obligation to observe and perform any of the provisions of this subsection (a) shall survive the 

expiration of the Lease or the earlier termination of this Lease. 

(b) Personal Property Liens.  Tenant shall not create or suffer to be created a lien 

against any alterations made to the Premises by or for Tenant or at Tenant’s direction in or to the 

Premises or against any equipment or fixtures installed by Tenant in the Premises.  Any security 

interest created or suffered in violation of the foregoing shall be an automatic Event of Default 

pursuant to this Lease for which Landlord shall have each and every remedy provides for by this 

Lease or applicable law, including without limitation the right of Landlord to pay any underlying 

claim at the expense of Tenant.  Upon demand, Tenant shall pay Landlord all amounts expended 

or incurred by Landlord in connection with the investigation, negotiation, release or discharge of 

any such lien, together with interest at the Default Rate, and including Landlord’s reasonable 

attorneys’ fees and all of its out-of-pocket expenses. 

(c) Landlord’s Rights.  At least 30 days prior to the commencement of any work in 

or to the Premises, including without limitation Tenant’s Work, by or for Tenant or anyone 

claiming under Tenant, Tenant shall notify Landlord of the proposed work and the names and 

addresses of the persons supplying labor and materials for the proposed work so that Landlord may 

avail itself of the provisions of statutes such as Colorado Revised Statutes Section 38-22-105(2), 

in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D or in any other form as elected by Landlord in its sole 

discretion.  During and prior to any such work on the Premises, Landlord and its agents shall have 

the right to go upon and inspect the Premises at all reasonable times, and shall have the right to 

post and keep posted thereon notices provide for or allowed under applicable law, such as those 

provided for by Colorado Revised Statutes Section 38-22-105(2), or to take any further action 

which Landlord may deem to be proper for the protection of Landlord’s interest in the Premises. 

(d) Contractors.  Tenant shall not, at any time, either directly or indirectly, use any 

contractors or labor or materials in connection with any alterations to the Premises, including 

without limitation Tenant’s Work, or otherwise, if the use of such contractors, labor or materials 

would create any work stoppage, picketing, labor disruption or any other difficulty with other 

contractors or labor engaged at the Center.  Tenant shall immediately stop any work or other 

activity if Landlord shall notify Tenant that continuing the same would violate the provisions of 

this Section. 

13. CASUALTY AND OBSOLESCENCE.   

(a) Casualty.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

28 

 

 

 

 

 

(i) If the Center or the Premises shall be partially or totally damaged or 

destroyed by fire or other casualty (and if this Lease shall not be terminated as in this Article 13 

hereinafter provided), (i) Landlord shall diligently repair the damage to the core and shell of the 

Premises (not including the alterations or installations made by Tenant or Tenant's personal 

property or equipment) (herein called “Landlord’s Restoration Work”) to substantially the same 

or better condition than existed prior to the casualty, and (ii) Tenant shall repair the damage to the, 

alterations or installations made by Tenant or Tenant's personal property or equipment 

(collectively, “Tenant’s Restoration Work”), which Tenant Restoration Work shall be performed 

diligently and in a workmanlike manner after Tenant is given access to the Premises following 

substantial completion of Landlord's Restoration Work. The Tenant Restoration Work shall be 

deemed to constitute Alterations for the purposes of hereof. Tenant shall be solely responsible for 

(a) the amount of any deductible under the policy insuring the Alterations and (b) the amount, if 

any, by which the cost of the Tenant Restoration Work exceeds the available insurance proceeds 

therefor (i.e., Tenant shall not be entitled to any reimbursement from Landlord or Landlord's 

insurer if the cost of the Tenant Restoration Work exceeds the available insurance proceeds). 

(ii) If all or part of the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed or rendered 

completely or partially untenantable on account of fire or other casualty, the Minimum Rent and 

the Additional Rent hereunder shall be abated in the proportion that the untenantable area of the 

Premises bears to the total area of the Premises, for the period from the date of the damage or 

destruction to the date on which Landlord’s Restoration Work shall be substantially completed.  

(iii) If the Center shall be totally or materially damaged or destroyed by fire or 

other casualty, or if the Center shall be so damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty (whether 

or not the Premises are damaged or destroyed) that its repair or restoration requires more than one 

hundred eighty (180) days or the expenditure of more than twenty-five (25%) percent of the full 

insurable value of the Building immediately prior to the casualty (as estimated in any such case by 

a reputable contractor, registered architect or licensed professional engineer designated by 

Landlord), then in such case Landlord may terminate this Lease by giving Tenant notice to such 

effect within one hundred eighty (180) days after the date of the casualty. In addition, if the Center 

or the Premises shall be substantially damaged or destroyed by fire or other cause at any time 

during the last two years of the term of this Lease, then either Landlord or Tenant may cancel this 

Lease upon written notice to the other party given within sixty (60) days after such damage or 

destruction. If this Lease is not terminated pursuant to the preceding sentence, Landlord shall 

perform Landlord's Restoration Work and Tenant shall perform Tenant’s Restoration Work 

pursuant to this Article 13 and Tenant shall be entitled to any rent abatement Tenant may be 

entitled to pursuant to Section 13(a)(ii) above. 

(iv) Tenant shall not be entitled to terminate this Lease and Landlord shall have 

no liability to Tenant for inconvenience, loss of business or annoyance arising from any repair or 

restoration of any portion of the Premises or of the Building pursuant to this Article 13. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

29 

 

 

 

 

 

(v) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if Landlord or 

any mortgagee shall be unable to collect all of the insurance proceeds (including rent insurance 

proceeds) applicable to damage or destruction of the Premises or the Center by reason of any 

negligence or misconduct on the part of Tenant or any person or entity acting by, through or under 

Tenant including, without limitation, Tenant’s agents, employees, contractors, successors or 

assigns, then, without prejudice to any other remedies which may be available against Tenant, (i) 

there shall be no abatement of rent, and (ii) Landlord shall have no obligation to restore the 

Premises, except to the extent of insurance proceeds made available to Landlord by any such 

mortgagee of the building project.  

(vi) Landlord (including anyone acting by or through Landlord) shall not be 

liable for any injury or damage to persons or property or interruption of Tenant's business resulting 

from fire or other casualty, any damage caused by other tenants or persons in the Building or by 

construction of any private, public or quasi-public work, any latent defect in the Premises or 

Center, or any other circumstance or condition outside the reasonable control of Landlord.  In no 

event shall the Landlord (including anyone acting by or through Landlord) be responsible or liable 

for the bursting of pipes; any unforeseeable loss or damage by adjacent tenants; any injury or 

damage to persons or property resulting from unknown fire, explosion, falling plaster, steam, gas, 

electricity, electrical or electronic emanations or disturbance, water, rain, snow or leaks from any 

part of the Center or from the pipes or caused by dampness, vandalism or malicious mischief, 

provided Landlord shall be responsible for the repair of any of the foregoing to the extent caused 

by or due to the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its agents, servants or employees, 

and then only after (i) notice to the Landlord of the condition claimed in writing and (ii) the 

expiration of a reasonable time after such notice has been received by Landlord and without 

Landlord having taken all reasonable and practicable means to cure or correct such conditions; and 

pending such cure or correction by Landlord, Tenant shall take all reasonably prudent temporary 

measures and safeguards to prevent any injury, loss or damage to persons or property.  No penalty 

shall accrue for delays which may arise by reason of adjustment of fire insurance on the part of 

Landlord or Tenant, or Force Majeure, in connection with any repair or restoration of any portion 

of the Premises or of the Center.  Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to minimize interference 

with Tenant's use and occupancy of the Premises during the performance of any such repair or 

restoration, provided, however, Landlord shall have no obligation to employ contractors or labor 

at overtime or other premium pay rates or to incur any other overtime costs or additional expenses 

whatsoever.  Nothing in this Section 13(a)(vi) shall affect any right of Landlord to be indemnified 

by Tenant as otherwise set forth herein or otherwise for payments made to compensate for losses 

of third parties. 

(b) Obsolescence.  If Landlord or the Association shall at any time determine that the 

Building is obsolete and shall adopt a plan to reconstruct and renovate the Building or a plan to 

sell the Building, Landlord shall give Tenant written notice thereof.  Upon giving such notice, 

Landlord shall have the option to terminate this Lease by giving written notice of termination to 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

30 

 

 

 

 

 

Tenant within 30 days after it gives Tenant notice of Landlord’s determination.  If Landlord shall 

not so terminate this Lease, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect and, if any 

reconstruction and renovation of the Building shall render all or a part of the Premises 

untenantable, the Minimum Rent due hereunder shall be proportionately abated during the period 

of untenantability as shall be certified by Landlord’s architect.  Any such abatement of Minimum 

Rent shall be in the amount equal to the proportion thereof that the Rentable Area of the Premises 

rendered untenantable bears to the Premises Rentable Area (as the same may change over time as 

the reconstruction and renovation proceeds).  If Landlord elects to terminate this Lease, this Lease 

shall terminate as of the day any reconstruction or renovation in the Premises shall commence or 

the date on which the sale of the Building shall be closed, as the case may be.  Thereupon, Tenant 

shall surrender to Landlord the Premises and all interest therein under this Lease and Landlord 

may reenter and take possession of the Premises and remove Tenant therefrom.  Tenant shall pay 

Minimum Rent, Percentage Rent, and Additional Rent, duly apportioned as of the date of such 

termination of this Lease, and Landlord and Tenant shall be free and discharged from all 

obligations arising hereunder after the date of such termination. 

14. EMINENT DOMAIN.   

(a) Definitions. 

(i) A “Taking” shall mean the taking of all or any portion of the Premises, 

Building or Center as a result of the exercise of the power of eminent domain or condemnation for 

public or quasi-public use or the sale of all or part of such property under the threat of 

condemnation. 

(ii) A “Substantial Taking” shall mean a Taking of so much of the Premises, 

Building or Center that the Premises cannot thereafter be reasonably used by Tenant for carrying 

on, at substantially the same level or scope, the business previously conducted by Tenant on the 

Premises, or a Taking of so much of the Building or the Center so as to render, in Landlord’s 

judgment, the Building unsuitable for the uses previously conducted there. 

(iii) An “Insubstantial Taking” shall mean a Taking such that the Premises can 

subsequently continue to be used by Tenant for carrying on, at substantially the same level or 

scope, the business previously conducted by Tenant on the Premises and such that the portion of 

the Building remaining after the Taking remains, in Landlord’s judgment, suitable for the uses 

previously conducted therein.   

(b) Termination on Substantial Taking.  If there is a Substantial Taking, the Term of 

this Lease shall expire on the date of vesting of title pursuant to such Taking.  In the event of 

termination of this Lease under the provisions of this Section 14(b), Landlord may refund to Tenant 

such amounts of Minimum Rent and Additional Rent paid by Tenant as may be applicable to the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

31 

 

 

 

 

 

period subsequent to the date of termination of this Lease; or, at Landlord’s option, Landlord may 

apply such amounts to any unsatisfied obligation of Tenant to Landlord. 

(c) Restoration on Insubstantial Taking.  If there is an Insubstantial Taking, this 

Lease shall continue in full force and effect, and Landlord shall cause the Premises to be restored 

as near as may be reasonably possible to the condition of the Premises prior to the Taking, 

excluding Tenant’s Work.  Within 15 days after Landlord has substantially completed its repair 

and reconstruction work, Tenant shall commence to repair and reconstruct that portion of the 

Premises for which it is responsible under Section 11 or any other provision of this Lease, 

including repair and reconstruction of any of Tenant’s Work affected by the Taking, and prosecute 

the same diligently to completion.  Following the date of the Insubstantial Taking, Minimum Rent 

shall be reduced as appropriate to reflect the reduced rentable area.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

in no event shall Landlord be required to make any restoration, repairs or replacements to or of 

any of Tenant’s Work, or Tenant’s other alterations, leasehold improvements, fixtures, equipment, 

furniture, furnishings and personal property. 

(d) Right to Award.  The total award, compensation, damages or consideration 

received or receivable as a result of a Taking (the “Award”) shall be paid to and be the property 

of Landlord, whether the Award shall be made as compensation for diminution of the value of the 

leasehold or the fee of the Premises or otherwise, and Tenant hereby assigns to Landlord, all of 

Tenant’s right, title and interest in and to any such Award.  Tenant covenants and agrees to execute, 

immediately upon demand by Landlord, such documents as may be necessary to facilitate 

collection by Landlord of any such Award.  Without limiting the foregoing, Tenant shall have the 

right to claim and recover from the condemning authority, but not from Landlord, such 

compensation as may be recoverable by Tenant on account of any and all damage to Tenant’s 

business by reason of the Taking or on account of any of Tenant’s moving expenses, to the extent 

that such compensation does not reduce the Award to which Landlord is entitled. 

Tenant acknowledges that the foregoing provisions are a material part of the consideration 

of this Lease. 

15. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.   

(a) Requirements for Landlord’s Consent.  Tenant shall not assign, convey, 

mortgage, hypothecate or encumber this Lease or any interest herein or sublet all or any part of the 

Premises, or suffer or permit the Premises or any part thereof to be used by others (any and all of 

which hereinafter shall be referred to as a “transfer”), at any time during the Term hereof without 

the prior written consent of Landlord in each instance.  Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold 

its consent to any proposed transfer provided such transfer complies with all of the provisions of 

this Lease.  Any attempted transfer without Landlord’s prior written consent shall be void, shall 

confer no rights upon any third person and any assignee, subtenant, licensee, concessionaire or 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

32 

 

 

 

 

 

other transferee is hereby notified that such a transfer is of no force and effect without the prior 

written consent of Landlord, which may be withheld at Landlord’s absolute discretion. 

(b) “Transfer” Explained.  Without limiting the generality of the provisions of 

Section 15(a) above, “transfer” shall be deemed to include the following: 

(i) If Tenant is a corporation: any merger, dissolution, consolidation or other 

reorganization of Tenant, or any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition of the corporate stock 

or voting securities of Tenant which results in a change in the voting control of such corporation 

or which, taken with all such prior transfers, involves more than 10% of the voting securities of 

such corporation. 

(ii) If Tenant is a partnership, limited liability company, or joint venture: any 

merger, dissolution, consolidation or other reorganization of Tenant, or any sale, transfer, pledge 

or other disposition of the ownership interests of Tenant which results in a change in the voting 

control of such entity or which, taken with all such prior transfers, involves more than 10% of the 

ownership interests of such entity. 

(iii) Any change of the parties in control of Tenant by any means whatsoever, 

and any changes, direct or indirect, in the ownership and control of any entities that may directly 

or indirectly own or control Tenant. 

(iv) The granting of a concession or license to operate in or use in any manner 

any portion of the Premises. 

(v) Any transfer, assignment or sale by operation of law and any involuntary 

assignment of this Lease or any interest of Tenant herein or any interest of Tenant in the Premises. 

(c) Conditions of Consent.  Without limiting Landlord’s absolute discretion to grant 

or withhold its consent to a transfer, the parties agree that:  Tenant shall pay to Landlord all of 

Landlord’s actual expenses and attorney’s fees incurred in conjunction with the review and 

documentation of said transfer, which amount shall not be less than $1,000 per approved 

assignment. 

(d) If Landlord shall give its consent to any assignment of this lease or to any sublease, 

Tenant shall in consideration therefor, pay to Landlord, as additional rent: 

(i) in the case of an assignment, an amount equal to 50% of all sums and other 

consideration (collectively, the "Assignment Consideration") payable to Tenant by the assignee 

for or by reason of such assignment (including, but not limited to (x) sums payable for the sale of 

Tenant's fixtures, leasehold improvements, equipment, furniture, furnishings or other personal 

property, less (y) in the case of a sale thereof, the then fair market value thereof) and less the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

33 

 

 

 

 

 

expenses, to the extent reasonable (such expenses being hereinafter referred to as the "Assignment 

Expenses") paid by Tenant for alteration costs (or contributions in lieu thereof), and brokerage 

commissions in connection with such assignment; and 

(ii) in the case of a sublease, an amount equal to 50% of of all rents, additional 

rents, charges and other consideration (collectively, the "Subletting Consideration") payable 

under the sublease to, or on behalf of, Tenant by, or on behalf of, the subtenant, to the extent such 

amounts, in the aggregate, exceed any Minimum Rent, Percentage Rent and Additional Rent 

accruing during the term of the sublease in respect of the subleased space (at the rate per square 

foot payable by Tenant hereunder) pursuant to the terms hereof (including, but not limited to (x) 

sums payable for the sale or rental of Tenant's fixtures, leasehold improvements, equipment, 

furniture or other personal property, less (y) in the case of the sale thereof, the then fair market 

value thereof) and less the expenses, to the extent reasonable (such expenses being hereinafter 

referred to as the "Subletting Expenses") paid by Tenant for alteration costs (or contributions in 

lieu thereof), and brokerage commissions in connection with such subletting. 

The sums payable under subsection 15.10(d)(i) shall be paid prior to the effective date of 

the assignment in question, such payment being a condition precedent to the effectiveness of 

Landlord's consent to such assignment, and the sums payable under subsection 15.10(d)(ii) shall 

be paid to Landlord as and when the Subletting Consideration is payable by the subtenant, as the 

case may be.  Together with Tenant's execution and delivery of such assignment or sublease, as 

the case may be, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a statement of the Assignment Consideration 

and the Assignment Expenses, or the Subletting Consideration and the Subletting Expenses, as the 

case may be, certified as true, complete and correct by an officer or principal of Tenant.   

Any transfer to which Landlord’s consent is sought, shall be subject to all terms 

and conditions of this Lease, and Landlord shall not be required to consent to such transfer, and 

any such transfer shall not be effective or deemed valid unless, at the time of such transfer: 

(i) Each assignee or sublessee shall agree, in a written agreement satisfactory 

to Landlord, to assume and abide by all of the terms and provisions of this 

Lease, including those which govern the Permitted Use as of the date of 

the Lease; 

(ii) Each assignee or sublessee has submitted a current financial statement, 

audited by a certified public accountant, showing a net worth and working 

capital in amounts determined by Landlord to be sufficient to assure the 

future performance by such assignee or sublessee of Tenant’s obligations 

hereunder; 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

34 

 

 

 

 

 

(iii) Each assignee or sublessee has submitted, in writing, evidence satisfactory 

to Landlord of substantial retailing experience in retail stores of 

comparable size located in the Building and of similar situation and in the 

sale of merchandise and services permitted under Section 4(a) of this 

Lease;  

(iv) The business reputation of each assignee or sublessee shall meet or exceed 

generally acceptable commercial standards;  

(v) The use of the Premises by each assignee or sublessee shall not violate, or 

create any potential violation of applicable laws, codes or ordinances, nor 

violate any other agreements affecting the Premises, Landlord or other 

tenants in the Building. 

(vi) In Landlord's reasonable judgment the proposed assignee or subtenant is 

engaged in a business and the Premises, or the relevant part thereof, will 

be used in a manner which (i) is in keeping with the then standards of the 

Building, and (ii) will not violate any negative covenant as to use contained 

in any other lease of space in the Building, Landlord agreeing to advise 

Tenant of any such negative covenants promptly upon request; 

(vii) neither (i) the proposed assignee or sublessee nor (ii) any person that, 

directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control 

with, the proposed assignee or sublessee or any person who controls the 

proposed assignee or sublessee, is then an occupant or tenant of any part 

of the Building; 

(viii) the proposed assignee or sublessee (or an affiliate thereof) is not a person 

with whom Landlord is then, or shall have been during the previous six (6) 

month period, negotiating to lease space in the Building; 

(ix) the proposed assignment agreement or sublease agreement, as the case may 

be, shall be in form reasonably satisfactory to Landlord and shall comply 

with the applicable provisions of this Article; 

(x) Tenant shall not have advertised or publicized to the public in any way the 

availability of the Premises without prior notice to, and approval by, 

Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, 

nor shall any advertisement state the name (as distinguished from the 

address) of the Building or the proposed rental. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

35 

 

 

 

 

 

(e) Right of Recapture.  If Tenant at any time desires to assign all or any part of its 

interest in this Lease, or sublease all or any part of the Premises, it shall first notify Landlord in 

writing, and offer Landlord the right to recapture any part of the Premises which Tenant desires to 

assign or sublease.  Tenant’s notice to Landlord shall specify (i) the name and business of the 

proposed assignee or sublessee, (ii) the amount and location of the space affected, (iii) the 

proposed effective date and duration of the subletting or assignment, and (iv) the proposed rental 

to be paid to Tenant by such sublessee or assignee.  Landlord, upon receipt of such notice, shall 

have the option, to be exercised within 30 days from the date of the receipt of such notice, to 

exercise its right of recapture as set forth in this Section by providing written notice of such election 

to Tenant, in which event Landlord and Tenant shall execute a termination of this Lease or an 

amendment to the Lease adjusting the area of the Premises accordingly, as applicable.  If Landlord 

does not exercise its recapture right within 30 days from the date of the receipt of notice from 

Tenant, Landlord shall be deemed to have elected not to recapture the Premises, and Tenant may 

proceed with the proposed assignment or sublease, subject to all terms and conditions of this 

Section 15 (including the requirement that Landlord consent to a transfer). 

(f) Right of First Refusal.  In the event Tenant, at any time, desires to transfer its 

interest in this Lease in connection with a sale of its business, and receives a bona fide written 

offer that Tenant is willing to accept, then, prior to accepting the offer, Tenant shall notify Landlord 

of such facts and shall deliver to Landlord a copy of the offer and Landlord shall have the right to 

acquire Tenant’s interest in this Lease and all of Tenant’s other assets subject to the offer on 

substantially the same terms and conditions in the offer.  In all events, Landlord shall have a period 

of 30 days from Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s notice and a copy of the offer during which to 

decide whether Landlord will elect to exercise its right of first refusal.  Landlord shall exercise its 

right of first refusal, if at all, by written notice to Tenant of Landlord’s election to exercise such 

right.  If Landlord exercises such right, the closing of the transfer to Landlord of Tenant’s interest 

in this Lease shall occur on the date specified in the offer or the first business day occurring 7 days 

after the date of Landlord’s notice of exercise, whichever is later.  Landlord may require Tenant 

to transfer this Lease to a nominee, affiliate, designee or assignee of Landlord.  Any such transfer 

shall not release Tenant from primary liability hereunder.  If Landlord does not exercise its right 

of first refusal in any instance, Tenant shall, subject to the other provisions of this Section 15, be 

free to transfer its interest in this Lease only to the party making the offer to Tenant and only for 

the price and upon the terms and conditions specified in the offer.  If Tenant shall not make such 

transfer within 30 days after the end of the 30-day period referred to above, Tenant shall be 

required to comply with all provisions hereof (and first offer to transfer its interest hereunder to 

Landlord) prior to any transfer of this Lease. 

(g) Transfer Documents.  Each transfer to which Landlord has consented to by an 

instrument in writing shall be executed by the transferor and the transferee in each instance with 

one copy of such written instrument so executed delivered to Landlord.  In Landlord’s sole and 

absolute discretion, such instrument or summary thereof may be recorded in the real property 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

36 

 

 

 

 

 

records of the county in which the Premises are located.  Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for 

Landlord’s expense and attorneys’ fees incurred in connection with the review and documentation 

of any transfer for which Landlord’s consent is requested; provided, however, Tenant is excused 

from reimbursing Landlord for any such expenses if the Lease is transferred to an affiliate of 

Landlord as a result of Landlord’s exercise of its right of first refusal as set forth above.   

(h) Reservation of Rights.  If any transfer shall occur, with or without Landlord’s prior 

written consent, Landlord may, after default by Tenant, collect rent from the assignee, subtenant 

or other transferee, and apply the net amount collected to the rent herein reserved, but no such 

transfer or collection shall be deemed a waiver of the provisions of this Section 15, or the 

acceptance of the assignee, subtenant or other transferee as the tenant hereof, or a release of Tenant 

from the further performance by Tenant of covenants on the part of Tenant contained in this Lease.  

The consent by Landlord to a transfer shall not relieve Tenant from primary liability hereunder or 

from the obligation to obtain the express consent in writing of Landlord to any further transfer. 

(i) Imposition of Rights and Liabilities.  All rights and liabilities herein given to or 

imposed upon the respective parties hereto shall bind and inure to the respective heirs, successors, 

administrators, executors and assigns of the parties and if Tenant is more than one person, they 

shall be bound jointly and severally by this Lease except that no rights shall inure to the benefit of 

any assignee or subtenant of Tenant unless the assignment or sublease was approved by Landlord 

in writing as provided in this Section 15. 

(j) Assignment by Landlord.  Landlord, at any time and from time to time, may make 

an assignment of its interest in this Lease and, in the event of such assignment, Landlord and its 

successors and assigns (other than the assignee of Landlord’s interest in this Lease) shall be 

released from any and all liability thereafter accruing hereunder. 

(k) Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold Landlord harmless from and against any 

and all losses, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees) resulting 

from any claims that may be made against Landlord by the proposed assignee or subtenant or by 

any brokers or other persons claiming a commission or similar compensation in connection with 

any proposed assignment or sublease, whether or not Landlord consents thereto or exercises any 

of Landlord’s rights under this Article 15. 

(l) Any assignment or transfer, whether or not Landlord's consent is required under 

this Article, shall be made only if, and shall not be effective until, the assignee shall execute, 

acknowledge and deliver to Landlord an agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory 

to Landlord, whereby the assignee shall assume all of the obligations of this lease on the part of 

Tenant to be performed or observed and whereby the assignee shall agree that the provisions 

contained in this Article 15 shall, notwithstanding such assignment or transfer, continue to be 

binding upon it in respect of all future assignments and transfers.  The original named Tenant 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

37 

 

 

 

 

 

covenants that, notwithstanding any assignment or transfer, whether or not in violation of the 

provisions of this lease, and notwithstanding the acceptance of Minimum Rent and/or Additional 

Rent by Landlord from an assignee, transferee, or any other party, the original named Tenant and 

any and all assignees shall remain jointly and severally liable for the payment of the Minimum 

Rent and Additional Rent and for the other obligations of this lease on the part of Tenant to be 

performed or observed. 

INSURANCE.   

(m) Tenant’s Insurance.  At all times during the Term, Tenant shall carry and 

maintain, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, the following insurance, in the amounts specified 

below or such other amounts as Landlord shall from time to time reasonably request, with 

insurance companies and on forms satisfactory to Landlord: 

(i) Commercial general liability insurance, written on an occurrence basis, 

including coverage for bodily injury, property damage, including loss of use therefrom, death and 

personal injury and contractual liability and liquor liability coverage with limits of not less than 

$1,000,000 each occurrence and $2,000,000 in the aggregate for bodily injury and property 

damage.  Such insurance shall be endorsed to provide coverage for the negligent acts of contractors 

and subcontractors (Owner’s Protective Liability). 

(ii) Umbrella Liability Insurance.  Tenant shall also carry an umbrella liability 

insurance policy with a limit of not less than $1,000,000.  This umbrella policy shall provide excess 

coverage over the underlying commercial general liability insurance and shall be in effect at all 

times during the term of this agreement. 

(iii) Workers’ compensation insurance in accordance with applicable workers’ 

compensation laws (including without limitation Colorado Revised Statutes §§ 8.14.4-101, et seq., 

as amended).  If any services to be performed in Tenant’s business operations are subcontracted, 

Tenant shall require the subcontractor to provide workers’ compensation insurance for its 

employees to be engaged in such services.  Tenant’s workers’ compensation insurance shall also 

include Employers Liability coverage with minimum limits of $1,000,000 each employee, each 

accident or illness. 

(iv) Property insurance covering the Premises and all leasehold improvements, 

fixtures, equipment, trade fixtures, appliances, inventory, merchandise, furniture, furnishings, wall 

covering, floor covering, carpeting, drapes, and all other personal property from time to time in, 

on or upon the Premises, in an amount not less than their full replacement cost without deduction 

for depreciation from time to time during the Term of this Lease, and providing protection against 

business interruption (including inability to pay rent), any other peril included within the 

classification “fire and extended coverage,” together with insurance against sprinkler damage, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

38 

 

 

 

 

 

vandalism and malicious mischief.  Any policy proceeds shall be used for the repair or replacement 

of the property damaged or destroyed. 

(v) Comprehensive automobile liability insurance with limits of not less than 

$1,000,000 combined bodily injury and property damage if Tenant operates owned, hired, or non-

owned vehicles that are parked or operated within the Center. 

(vi) Business interruption insurance. 

(vii) Plate glass insurance coverage covering all plate glass within the Premises. 

(viii) such other insurance in such amounts as Landlord may reasonably require 

from time to time. 

(n) Additional Insureds.  All policies of insurance provided for in this Section 16 shall 

name Landlord and such other persons, firms and entities as Landlord specifies from time to time, 

as additional insureds.  Executed copies of such policies or the certificates or the declarations pages 

thereof or therefore, whichever is requested by Landlord, shall be delivered to Landlord prior to 

Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises and thereafter for successive renewal policies at least 30 days 

prior to the expiration of the term of each such policy.  Tenant or Tenant’s insurance company 

must provide for all policies 30-days’ written notice to Landlord of policy cancellation or 

amendments.  All liability policies shall be written as primary policies until exhausted, not 

contributing with and not in addition to coverage that Landlord may carry. 

(o) All insurance required to be carried by Tenant (i) shall contain a provision that (x) 

no act or omission of Tenant shall affect or limit the obligation of the insurance company to pay 

the amount of any loss sustained, and (y) such insurance shall be noncancellable and/or no material 

change in coverage shall be made thereto unless the Insured Parties receive 30 days’ prior notice 

of the same, by certified mail, return receipt requested, and (ii) shall be effected under valid and 

enforceable policies issued by reputable insurers permitted to do business in the State of where the 

Premises is located and rated in Best’s Insurance Guide, or any successor thereto as having a 

“Best’s Rating” of “A-” or better and a “Financial Size Category” of at least “X” or better or, if 

such ratings are not then in effect, the equivalent thereof or such other financial rating as Landlord 

may at any time consider appropriate 

(p) Compliance.  Tenant shall provide a safety program for all its employees with 

respect to the operation of its business in the Premises and shall comply with the Occupational 

Safety and Health Act (29 U.S.C. 651 et seq and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.  

Furthermore, Tenant shall not at any time carry any stock of betterments, goods, wares or 

merchandise, or do or suffer or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises that is 

hazardous or that in any manner will violate, suspend, void, make inoperative or tend to increase 

the rate of any policies of insurance of any kind at any time carried upon the Premises, the Center 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

39 

 

 

 

 

 

or the Building or the fixtures and property therein.  Any increase in the cost of any such insurance 

attributable to Tenant’s activities in or about the Premises or Tenant’s failure to perform and 

observe its obligations and covenants under this Lease shall be borne by Tenant and payable to 

Landlord from time to time, on demand, whether or not Landlord shall have consented to such 

activities.  Tenant at its sole cost and expense shall comply with all rules, orders, regulations and 

requirements of the insurance underwriters having jurisdiction over the Premises, the Center or the 

Building.  If Tenant installs any electrical equipment, Tenant shall, subject to Section 7 and the 

other applicable provisions of this Lease, at Tenant’s own expense, make whatever changes are 

necessary to comply with the requirements of the insurance underwriters and governmental 

authorities having jurisdiction over the Premises. 

(q) Waiver of Subrogation.  Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the 

contrary, but in addition to any other releases and waivers given by Tenant elsewhere in this Lease, 

Tenant on its own behalf, and on behalf of all parties claiming by, through, or under Tenant, 

releases and discharges the Landlord Released Parties from all claims and liabilities arising from 

or caused by any casualty or hazard covered or required hereunder to be covered in whole or in 

part by insurance including, in connection with property on or activities conducted in, on or about 

the Premises to the extent of such insurance coverage or required coverage, and waives on behalf 

of the respective insurers any right of subrogation which might otherwise exist in or accrue to any 

person on account thereof. 

(r) Tenant’s Actions.  Tenant will not do or suffer to be done anything that will 

contravene Landlord’s or the Association’s insurance policies or prevent Landlord or the 

Association from procuring such policies in amounts and companies selected by Landlord or such 

Association.  If anything done, omitted to be done or suffered to be done by Tenant in, upon or 

about the Premises shall cause the rates of any insurance effected or carried by Landlord or the 

Association on the Premises or other property to be increased beyond the regular rate from time to 

time applicable to the Premises for the purpose permitted under this Lease, or such other property 

for the use or uses made thereof, Tenant will pay the amount of such increase promptly upon 

Landlord’s demand and Landlord shall have the right to correct any such condition at Tenant’s 

expense.  In the event that this Lease so permits and Tenant engages in the preparation of food or 

packaged foods or engages in the use, sale or storage of flammable or combustible material, Tenant 

shall install chemical extinguishing devices (such as Ansul) approved by Underwriters 

Laboratories and other such authorities and the installation thereof must be approved by the 

appropriate local authority or agency.  Tenant shall keep such devices under service as required by 

such organizations.  If gas is used in the Premises, Tenant shall install gas cut-off devices (manual 

and automatic). 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

40 

 

 

 

 

 

16. INDEMNITY.   

(a) Tenant’s Breach.  Tenant shall indemnify and hold the Premises and Landlord, its 

parent corporations, subsidiaries, insurance companies, affiliates, the Association, and their 

respective officers, directors, shareholders, servants, agents and employees (the “Landlord 

Released Parties”) free, clear and harmless from any and all demands, claims, causes of action, 

damages, liabilities, losses, costs, charges, penalties, obligations, judgments, fines and expenses 

(including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees and costs and experts’ fees) of any kind whatsoever, 

in connection with, arising out of or by reason of, any breach, violation or nonperformance by 

Tenant, or its agents, servants, employees, licensees, or invitees, of any covenant or provision of 

this Lease or any law, ordinance, rule, regulation or order.  The failure of Tenant to carry 

appropriate insurance as required by this Lease will not relieve Tenant of its indemnification 

obligations contained in this Section. 

(b) Injury to Person or Property.  Tenant covenants and agrees that the Landlord 

Released Parties shall not at any time or to any extent whatsoever be liable, responsible or in any 

way accountable for any loss, injury, death or damage to persons or property (including any 

improvements, betterments, goods, wares or merchandise, and including without limitation any 

illness or infection related to the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise) or otherwise which at any 

time may arise in connection with the Premises or be suffered or sustained by Tenant, Tenant’s 

Employees, invitees or customers or by any other person rightfully at the Premises for any purpose 

whatsoever, whether such loss, injury, death or damage shall be caused by or in any way result 

from or arise out of (i) any act, omission or negligence of Tenant, Tenant’s Employees or invitees 

or of any occupant, subtenant, visitor or user of any portion of the Premises,  (ii) any interference 

with or obstruction of deliveries to the Premises by any person (iii) any loss or destruction to 

furniture, inventory, valuables, files or any other property kept or stored on or about the Premises, 

(iv) injury done or caused by fire, wind, water, rain or other natural element, including the leak or 

flow of water, rain or snow from or into part of the Building or from the roof, street, subsurface or 

from any other place or by dampness; (v) any defect, breakage, leakage, obstruction or other failure 

of plumbing, heating or air conditioning equipment, electric wiring or installation thereof, gas, 

water, and steam pipes, appliances, sprinklers, wires, lighting fixtures, stairs, porches, railings or 

walks, (vi) broken glass, (vii) explosion, steam, electricity or gas, (viii) the backing up of any 

sewer pipe or downspout, (ix) the bursting, leaking or running of any tank, tub, washstand, water 

closet, waste pipe, drain or any other pipe or tank in, upon or about the Premises, (x) the escape of 

steam or hot water, (xi) water, snow or ice upon the Premises, (xii) the falling of any fixture, plaster 

or stucco, (xiii) damage to or loss by theft or otherwise of property of Tenant or others, (xiv) acts 

or omissions of persons in Premises, other tenants in the Building, occupants of nearby properties 

or any other person, (xv) any act or omission of owners or occupants of adjacent or contiguous 

property, or (xvi) any other matter or thing whether such damage or injury results from conditions 

arising upon the Premises, other portions of the Building, the Center, or other sources, unless 

resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its officers, directors, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

41 

 

 

 

 

 

agents, servants or employees.  Tenant shall forever indemnify, defend, hold and save the Landlord 

Released Parties free and harmless of, from and against any and all demands, claims, causes of 

action, liabilities, losses, damages or judgments on account of any of the foregoing, provided that 

this indemnity shall not extend to damages resulting from the gross negligence or willful 

misconduct of Landlord, its officers, directors, agents, servants or employees.  The foregoing 

obligation to indemnify shall include indemnification to the Landlord Released Parties for all costs, 

expenses and liabilities (including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees and costs and experts’ fees) 

incurred by Landlord and/or the Released Parties in investigating and resisting any of the matters 

covered hereby.  Unless such damage or injury shall result or arise because of the gross negligence 

or willful misconduct of Landlord, its officers, directors, agents, servants or employees, Tenant 

hereby waives all claims against the Landlord Released Parties for damages to furnishings, 

fixtures, Tenant’s improvements and betterments, goods, wares, merchandise or other property in, 

upon and about the Premises, for injuries to or death of persons in or about the Premises, and for 

loss of income or goodwill.   

17. RECORDS, REPORTS, AND ACCOUNTING.   

(a) Statement of Gross Sales.  Tenant shall submit to Landlord on or before the 20th 

day of the month a written statement certified by an executive officer or partner of Tenant (or the 

individuals comprising Tenant if Tenant is not a corporation, partnership or other similar entity) 

showing in reasonable detail the Gross Sales for the sales conducted in the Premises for the 

preceding month and a copy of Tenant’s Colorado Department of Revenue Sales Tax Return, as 

well as a copy of any  civic assessment returns or similar returns that may be required under the 

Governing Documents.  Each statement of Gross Sales submitted by Tenant shall become binding 

upon Landlord three years after delivery thereof to Landlord unless within such three year period 

Landlord shall cause a special audit as provided below to be commenced. 

(b) Landlord’s Right of Inspection.  The acceptance by Landlord of payments of 

Percentage Rent or any other amounts based on Gross Sales under this Lease shall be without 

prejudice to Landlord’s right to examine Tenant’s books and records of its Gross Sales and 

inventories of merchandise on the Premises in order to verify the amount of Tenant’s Gross Sales.  

Landlord shall have the right during business hours to examine and audit such books and records 

preserved by Tenant.  Within 3 years after receipt of any statement furnished Landlord by Tenant, 

and upon 10-days’ prior written notice to Tenant, Landlord may cause a special audit to be made 

of Tenant’s business affairs and records relating to the Premises for the period covered by such 

statement.  Except as provided below, the cost of such audit shall be paid by Landlord.  Any such 

special audit performed by a certified public accountant selected by Landlord shall be binding 

upon the parties.  If such audit shall determine that there has been a deficiency in the payment of 

Percentage Rent or other amounts due under this Lease, then such deficiency shall become 

immediately due and payable with interest at the Default Rate from the date when such payment 

should have been made.  If such deficiency is in excess of 5% of the Percentage Rent or other 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

42 

 

 

 

 

 

amounts due under this Lease theretofore computed and paid by Tenant for the period covered by 

the audit, Tenant shall also pay to Landlord the cost of the audit in addition to the Percentage Rent 

and any other amounts due. 

18. UTILITIES.   

(a) Provision of Utilities.  Subject to actions taken by any utility company or any 

governmental or quasi-governmental authority or to any other cause beyond the control of 

Landlord, and except to the extent it is the obligation of the Association, Landlord hereby agrees 

to allow Tenant to hook up to the utilities currently provided to the Premises, at Tenant’s sole cost 

and expense; provided, however, that Tenant must obtain Landlord’s prior written approval of 

Tenant’s proposed location and method of installation if such hook-up will involve any new lines.  

Tenant shall have the right, upon Landlord’s prior written approval, to install, at Tenant’s sole cost 

and expense, modifications to the standard or commonly prevailing utility service line hook ups to 

provide for metering Tenant’s utility use separate from the utility usage of the rest of the Building.  

Tenant covenants and agrees that, at all times, its use of electric current shall never exceed the 

capacity of the feeders to the Building or the risers or wiring installation thereof.  In connection 

therewith, Tenant expressly agrees that all installations, alterations and additions of and to the 

electrical distribution system within the Premises shall be subject to Landlord's prior approval in 

each instance (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). 

(b) Payment of Utilities.  Tenant shall be solely responsible for prompt payment of 

any and all costs, fees, charges and expenses for utilities and service to or for the Premises, whether 

billed directly to Tenant or Landlord, including, but not limited to, gas, electric, water, sewer, 

telephone, and data, and shall indemnify and hold the Landlord Released Parties harmless from 

and against any claim, demand, liability, loss, cost, charge, fee, expense or damage with respect 

thereto.  If the Premises are not separately metered for any such utilities or services, Tenant shall 

pay its equitable share, whether billed by Landlord or the Association, as determined by Landlord 

it is reasonable discretion. 

(c) Landlord’s Rights.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, Landlord 

reserves the right, in addition to all other rights and remedies available to Landlord, to cut off and 

discontinue, without notice or liability to Tenant, any utilities or services provided in accordance 

with this Section 19.  The Landlord Released Parties shall not be liable to Tenant in damages or 

otherwise if any utilities or services, whether or not furnished by Landlord hereunder, are 

interrupted or terminated because of repairs, installation or improvements, or any cause beyond 

Landlord’s reasonable control, nor shall any such termination relieve Tenant of any of its 

obligations under this Lease. 

19. END OF TERM.  Upon the expiration or other termination of the Term of this Lease, 

Tenant shall promptly quit and surrender to Landlord the Premises, broom clean, in good order 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

43 

 

 

 

 

 

and first–class condition, ordinary wear excepted, and deliver all keys relating to the Premises, 

Upon the expiration or other termination of this Lease, Tenant shall quit and surrender the Premises 

and Tenant shall remove all of Tenant’s Property and Tenant’s Specialty Alterations (as hereinafter 

defined).  If Tenant is not then in default hereunder and does not then owe any amounts to Landlord 

pursuant to this Lease, Tenant may remove from the Premises any trade fixtures, equipment and 

movable furniture stored therein and owned by Tenant, whether or not such trade fixtures or 

equipment are fastened to the Premises, provided however, that under no circumstance shall any 

trade fixture or equipment be removed without Landlord’s written consent if: (a) such fixture or 

equipment was paid for in whole or in part by Landlord or by any allowance paid or credited to 

Tenant by Landlord, or is used in the operation of the Building, the Premises, or any improvements 

which are part of the Building or Premises, (b) the removal of such fixture or equipment will render 

inoperable or hazardous any mechanical or other operating system of the Premises or the Building, 

or result in significant or extensive damage to the Premises, Building or improvements or 

(c) Tenant is in default under this Lease.  Whether or not Tenant is in default hereunder, Tenant 

shall remove such alterations, additions, improvements, trade fixtures, equipment and furniture as 

Landlord shall require.  Tenant shall fully repair any damage occasioned by the removal of any 

trade fixtures, equipment, furniture, alterations, additions and improvements.  All trade fixtures, 

equipment, furniture, inventory, effects, alterations, additions and improvements not so removed 

shall conclusively be deemed to have been abandoned and may be appropriated, sold, stored, 

destroyed or otherwise disposed of by Landlord without notice to Tenant or any other person and 

without obligation to account therefor; and Tenant shall pay Landlord all expenses incurred in 

connection with any such action of Landlord, including, but not limited to, the cost of repairing 

any damage to the Building or Premises caused by removal of such property.  Tenant’s obligation 

to observe and perform this covenant shall survive the expiration or other termination of this Lease. 

“Specialty Alterations” shall mean alterations which are not standard retail installations such as 

reinforcement of floors, slab penetrations, vaults or safes, water features, and other alterations of 

a similar character, or would otherwise create material cost to demolish as compared to typical 

retail installations.   

20. HOLDOVER.  Should Tenant or any assignee, subtenant or other transferee of or from 

Tenant, or any other person or entity claiming by, through, or under Tenant, remain or continue to 

be in possession of the Premises or any part thereof after the end of the Term or other termination 

of this Lease, at Landlord’s option Tenant shall be deemed to be illegally retaining possession or 

shall be deemed to be a month to month tenant of the Premises on all the terms and conditions of 

this Lease except that the monthly Minimum Rent shall be an amount equal to the greater of 150% 

of the then-current market value of monthly Minimum Rent or 150% of the monthly Minimum 

Rent in effect immediately prior to the expiration or termination of the Term for the first 30 days 

of such holdover, and 200% thereafter.  In the event of any unauthorized holding over, Tenant 

shall (i) indemnify the Landlord Released Parties against all demands and liability by or to any 

person or entity to whom Landlord may have leased all or any part of the Premises effective after 

the end of the Term or other termination of this Lease and (ii) be liable to Landlord for any payment 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

44 

 

 

 

 

 

or rent concession which Landlord may be required to make to any tenant obtained by Landlord 

for all or any part of the Premises (a “New Tenant”) in order to induce such New Tenant not to 

terminate its lease by reason of the holding-over by Tenant.  Nothing contained in this Lease shall 

be construed to limit Landlord’s right to obtain possession of the Premises upon termination of 

this Lease by unlawful detainer proceedings or otherwise in the event that Landlord does not 

exercise its option to treat the continued possession by Tenant as a month to month tenancy.  If 

Tenant has an option to extend the Term of this Lease, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, 

elect to treat any holding over as an exercise of that option by Tenant.    

21. SUBORDINATION, AND ATTORNMENT.   

(a) This Lease is subject and subordinate to all applicable federal, state, county, 

municipal and Association laws, ordinances, codes, orders, rules and regulations, permits and 

certificates of occupancy and to all covenants, conditions, declarations, encroachments, 

restrictions, reservations, rights, rights of way and easements and all conditions, renewals, 

extensions, modifications, consolidations and replacements thereof (except to the extent any such 

item shall expressly provide that this Lease is superior thereto), now or hereafter affecting or 

placed, charged or enforced against all or any portion of the Building or Center or any interest of 

Landlord therein or Landlord’s interest in this Lease and the leasehold estate thereby created.  

Tenant shall, upon request of Landlord, subordinate this Lease and Tenant’s rights hereunder to 

any ground or underlying lease, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust or other encumbrance, together 

with any conditions, renewals, extensions, modifications, consolidations and replacements thereof, 

now or hereafter affecting or placed, charged or enforced against all or any portion of the Building 

or Center or any interest of Landlord therein or Landlord’s interest in this Lease and the leasehold 

estate thereby created.  Tenant shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landlord, at any time 

and from time to time, upon demand by Landlord, such documents as may be requested by 

Landlord, or any ground or underlying lessor, lessee or any mortgagee, to confirm or effectuate 

any subordination hereunder.   

(b) Tenant agrees that in the event that any holder of any mortgage, indenture, deed of 

trust, lease or other encumbrance encumbering any part of the Building becomes mortgagee in 

possession of the Premises, Tenant will pay to such mortgagee all rents subsequently payable 

hereunder.  Further, Tenant agrees that in the event any proceedings are brought for the foreclosure 

of any mortgage, deed of trust, or indenture to which this Lease is subject and subordinate, or 

Landlord’s interest herein is conveyed in lieu of foreclosure, or any such ground or underlying 

lease is terminated, Tenant will attorn to the purchaser at any such foreclosure sale or under any 

conveyance in lieu of foreclosure, or to the holder of any ground lease or underlying lease, as the 

case may be, and will recognize such purchaser or holder as its landlord under this Lease.  Any 

attornment pursuant to this Section shall occur automatically, but Tenant shall on request by and 

without cost to Landlord or any mortgagee, purchaser, or holder, execute, acknowledge and deliver 

any instruments evidencing such attornment. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

45 

 

 

 

 

 

(c) Tenant’s failure to execute instruments or certificates provided for in this Section 

within 10 days after the mailing by Landlord of a written request shall be an automatic Event of 

Default under this Lease. If Tenant shall fail or refuse to execute, acknowledge and deliver any 

document required by this Section within 10 days after written demand therefor, Landlord, its 

successors and assigns shall be entitled to execute, acknowledge and deliver any and all such 

documents for and on behalf of Tenant as attorney in fact for Tenant.  Tenant hereby constitutes 

and irrevocably appoints Landlord, its successors and assigns as Tenant’s attorney in fact to 

execute, acknowledge and deliver any and all documents described in this Section for and on behalf 

of Tenant, as provided in this Section; provided, however, that Landlord’s execution of the same 

shall not cure any default of Tenant or relieve Tenant of any of its obligations set forth in this 

Section. 

22. STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE.  Tenant shall within 10 days after Landlord’s 

request therefor, deliver to Landlord a statement in recordable form certifying to Landlord and/or 

any person or entity specified by Landlord that this Lease is in full force and effect, that this Lease 

is unmodified, or if modified, stating any such modifications, the current rent and any abatements 

due to Tenant, the security deposit under the lease, that there are no defenses or offsets to the Lease 

by Tenant, or stating such defenses or offsets as are claimed by Tenant, that Landlord is not in 

default hereunder, or specifying any defaults by Landlord that Tenant alleges, and specifying the 

date to which rent has been paid, and specifying any further information about this Lease or the 

Premises that Landlord may reasonably request.  Tenant understands that prospective purchasers, 

mortgagees or lessors of the Center, the Building or the Premises will rely on such certificates.  

Tenant’s obligation to deliver such certificates within 10 days as described above is a material 

obligation of Tenant hereunder.   

23. GOVERNING DOCUMENTS.  Tenant shall comply with the Rules and Regulations 

attached hereto as Exhibit E and Landlord may from time to time amend modify, delete or add 

new and additional reasonable rules and regulations for the use, safety, cleanliness and care of the 

Premises, the Center, the Building and parking areas provided for Tenant’s use, if any, and the 

comfort, quiet and convenience of occupants of the Center and the Building.  Such new or modified 

rules and regulations shall be effective upon notice to Tenant from Landlord thereof.  Tenant and 

its servants, employees, agents, licensees, invitees and visitors shall at all times observe faithfully, 

and comply strictly with, the Governing Documents, as they may be modified or amended from 

time to time.  In the event of Tenant’s breach of any requirements or rules or regulations, Landlord 

shall have all remedies in this Lease provided for in the event of default by Tenant and shall, in 

addition, have any remedies available at law or in equity, including the right to enjoin any breach 

of such rules and regulations.  No provision of this Lease shall be construed to impose upon 

Landlord any duty or obligation to enforce the rules and regulations or terms, covenants or 

conditions in any other lease, against any other tenant or person and Landlord shall not be liable 

to Tenant for violation of such rules, regulations, terms, covenants or conditions by any other 

tenant, its servants, employees, agents, visitors or licensees or any other person.  In the event of 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

46 

 

 

 

 

 

any conflict between the provisions of this Lease and the rules and regulations of the Association, 

the rules and regulations of the Association shall govern.     

24. SECURITY DEPOSIT.  Tenant shall place on execution hereof and thereafter keep on 

deposit with Landlord a security deposit in the amount set forth in the Lease Summary above.  

Such security deposit shall be held by Landlord and, at Landlord’s option, commingled with other 

funds, without liability for interest, as security for the payment by Tenant of the rent and any other 

sums due under this Lease and for the faithful performance of all the terms, conditions and 

covenants of this Lease.  If at any time Tenant shall be in default in the performance of any 

provision of this Lease, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, use such deposit, or so much 

thereof as necessary, in payment of any rent or any other sums due under this Lease that are in 

default, in reimbursement of any expense incurred by Landlord and in payment of the damages 

incurred by Landlord by reason of Tenant’s default, or at the option of Landlord, such deposit may 

be retained by Landlord as liquidated damages.  In any such event, Tenant shall, within 5 days 

after written demand from Landlord, forthwith remit to Landlord a sufficient amount in cash to 

restore such deposit to its original amount.  Landlord’s rights hereunder shall be in addition to all 

its other rights and remedies.  In the event such deposit has not been utilized as described above, 

such deposit, or as much thereof as has not been utilized for such purposes, shall be refunded to 

Tenant within 60 days following termination of the Lease, or surrender and acceptance of the 

Premises by Landlord, whichever occurs last, without interest.  Landlord shall deliver the security 

deposit funds deposited by Tenant pursuant to this Section to the purchaser or assignee of 

Landlord’s interest in the Premises in the event such interest be sold or assigned, and thereupon, 

Landlord shall be discharged from further liability with respect to such deposit.  Notwithstanding 

the above provisions of this Section, if claims of Landlord exceed the deposit provided for in this 

Section, Tenant shall remain liable for the balance of such claim.  Tenant shall not assign or 

encumber or attempt to assign or encumber the deposit provided for in this Lease except that 

Tenant may assign such deposit in the event of a permitted assignment of this Lease.    

25. DEFAULT.   

(a) Tenant’s Default.  The occurrence or existence of any one or more of the following 

events or circumstances shall constitute an “Event of Default” by Tenant: 

(i) Failure in Payment.  Tenant shall fail to pay when due any installment of 

Minimum Rent, Percentage Rent, Additional Rent, or any other sum payable by Tenant under the 

terms of this Lease. 

(ii) Failure in Performance.  If (A) event occurs which is specified in this Lease 

to constitute an automatic Event of Default, or (B) Tenant shall neglect or fail to perform or observe 

any of the other covenants contained in this Lease on Tenant’s part to be performed or observed 

(except for the payment of any sum payable by Tenant under the terms of this Lease, which is 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

47 

 

 

 

 

 

controlled by Section 26(a)(i) above) and Tenant shall fail to remedy such default within 10 days 

after Landlord shall have given to Tenant written notice specifying such neglect or failure (or 

within such period, if any, as may be reasonably required to cure such default if it is of such nature 

that it cannot be cured within such 10-day period, provided that Tenant commences to remedy 

such default within such 10-day period and proceeds with reasonable diligence thereafter to cure 

such default, but in no event shall the cure period extend longer than 45 days). 

(iii) False Reports.  Tenant submits a report required to be furnished hereunder 

which Landlord reasonably deems to be materially inaccurate, and Tenant, after being afforded an 

opportunity to cure Tenant’s inaccurate report and provide Landlord a revised copy, fails to 

provide accurate materials within 30 days. 

(iv) Attachment.  This Lease or the Premises or any part thereof shall be taken 

upon execution or by other process of law directed against Tenant, or shall be taken upon or subject 

to any attachment at the instance of any creditor of or claimant against Tenant, and such attachment 

shall not be discharged or disposed of within 15 days after the levy thereof. 

(v) Abandonment.  Tenant shall vacate or abandon the Premises (which shall 

be defined to include, but not be limited to, any absence by Tenant from the Premises for five or 

more days while otherwise in default under this Lease) or lock the Premises so as to prevent the 

entry therein of Landlord or its representatives as permitted by the terms of this Lease. 

(vi) Insolvency Filing.  Tenant or any guarantor of Tenant’s obligations 

hereunder shall (A) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due; 

(B) make an assignment of all or a substantial part of its property for the benefit of creditors; 

(C) apply for or consent to or acquiesce in the appointment of a receiver, trustee or liquidator of 

Tenant or such guarantor or of all or a substantial part of Tenant’s or such guarantor’s property or 

of the Premises or of Tenant’s interest in this Lease; or (D) file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy 

or a petition or an answer seeking reorganization under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or an 

arrangement with creditors, or take advantage of any insolvency law or file an answer admitting 

the material allegations of a petition filed against Tenant or such guarantor in any bankruptcy, 

reorganization or insolvency proceedings. 

(vii) Insolvency Adjudication.  The entry of a court order, judgment or decree 

without the application, approval or consent of Tenant or any guarantor of Tenant’s obligations 

under this Lease, as the case may be, approving a petition seeking reorganization of Tenant or such 

guarantor under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or appointing a receiver, trustee or liquidator 

of Tenant or such guarantor or of all or a substantial part of Tenant’s or such guarantor’s property 

or of the Premises or of Tenant’s interest in this Lease, or adjudicating Tenant or such guarantor a 

bankrupt or insolvent, and such order, judgment or decree shall not be vacated, set aside or stayed 

within 30 days from the date of entry. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

48 

 

 

 

 

 

(viii) Failure to Open and Operate.  Tenant fails to open the Premises for business 

to the public by the Opening Deadline or fails to open and operate as required pursuant to 

Section 4(e) more than one time during the Term, whether or not any such violation has been cured 

in accordance with this Section 26(a)(ii) above. 

(ix) Affiliate Default.  Tenant or any guarantor of Tenant’s obligations under 

this Lease, or any affiliate of Tenant or such guarantor, shall have defaulted (after the expiration 

of all applicable notice and cure periods) in connection with any other agreement between it and 

Landlord or any of Landlord’s affiliates. 

(x) Repetition of Violation.  Tenant’s neglect or failure to perform or observe 

any particular covenant contained in this Lease on Tenant’s part to be performed or observed when 

Landlord has previously provided written notice to Tenant of Tenant’s failure to perform or 

observe such covenant, whether or not any such violation has been cured in accordance with 

Section 26(a)(ii) above. 

(xi) if Guarantor shall fail to perform any of its obligations when due under the  

Guaranty of Lease from the Guarantor in favor of Landlord, guarantying the payment and 

performance by Tenant of its obligations under this Lease; or 

(xii) if Guarantor or any assignor or this Lease generally does not, or is unable 

to, or admits in writing its inability to, pay its debts as they become due or is subject to the filing 

of a petition, case or proceeding in bankruptcy. 

(b) Landlord’s Default.  Landlord shall in no event be charged with default in any of 

its obligations hereunder unless and until: Landlord shall have failed to perform such obligations 

within 30 days (or such additional time as is reasonably required to correct any such default) after 

written notice as set forth in Section 32 to Landlord by Tenant, specifically describing such failure.  

26. REMEDIES.  If an Event of Default by Tenant occurs, Landlord shall have the following 

rights and remedies, in addition to all other remedies at law or equity, and none of the following, 

whether or not exercised by Landlord, shall preclude the exercise of any other right or remedy 

whether set forth in this Lease, or existing at law or equity.  Landlord shall have the right to enjoin 

any default or Event of Default and the right to invoke any other right or remedy for an Event of 

Default allowed at law or equity as if any other specific rights or remedies were specifically 

provided for in this Lease for any such Event of Default. 

(a) Termination.  Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease by giving 

Tenant notice in writing at any time.  No act by or on behalf of Landlord such as entry on the 

Premises by Landlord to perform maintenance and repairs and efforts to relet the Premises, other 

than giving Tenant written notice of termination, shall terminate this Lease.  If Landlord gives 

such notice, this Lease and the Term hereof as well as any right, title and interest of Tenant under 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

49 

 

 

 

 

 

this Lease shall wholly cease and expire in the same manner and with the same force and effect 

(except as to Tenant’s liability) on the date specified in such notice as if such date were the 

expiration date of the Term of this Lease without the necessity of re-entry or any other act on 

Landlord’s part.  Upon any termination of this Lease Tenant shall quit and surrender to Landlord 

the Premises as set forth in Section 20.  If this Lease is terminated, Tenant shall remain liable to 

Landlord for all rent and other sums accrued and unpaid hereunder to the date of termination of 

this Lease and Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant the worth at the time of the award 

of the amount by which the unpaid Rent and other sums for the balance of the Term exceeds the 

amount of such loss for the same period that Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided.  

In addition, if this Lease is terminated, Tenant shall be liable to Landlord for all Landlord 

management and operational fees and costs (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with 

Landlord’s termination of this Lease and efforts to recover rent and other sums. 

No provision of this Lease shall limit or prejudice the right of Landlord to prove 

for and obtain as liquidated damages by reason of any termination of this Lease, an amount equal 

to the maximum allowed by any statute or rule of law in effect at the time when, and governing 

the proceedings in which, such damages are to be proved, whether or not such amount be greater, 

equal to, or less than the amount referred to above. 

(b) Reentry.  Landlord may, without demand or notice, reenter and take possession of 

the Premises or any part thereof, and repossess the same as Landlord’s former estate and expel 

Tenant and those claiming through or under Tenant, and remove the effects of any and all such 

persons (forcibly, if necessary) without being deemed guilty of any manner of trespass, without 

prejudice to any remedies for arrears of rent or preceding breach of covenants and without 

terminating this Lease or otherwise relieving Tenant of any obligation hereunder.  Should Landlord 

elect to reenter as provided in this Section 27(b), or should Landlord take possession pursuant to 

legal proceedings or pursuant to any notice provided for by law, Landlord may, from time to time, 

without terminating this Lease, relet the Premises or any part thereof for such term or terms and at 

such rental or rentals, and upon such other conditions as Landlord may in its absolute discretion 

deem advisable, with the right to make alterations and repairs to the Premises.  No such re-entry, 

repossession or re-letting of the Premises by Landlord shall be construed as an election on 

Landlord’s part to terminate this Lease unless a written notice of termination is given to Tenant by 

Landlord.  No such re-entry, repossession or re-letting of the Premises shall relieve Tenant of its 

liability and obligation under this Lease, all of which shall survive such re-entry, repossession or 

re-letting.  Upon the occurrence of such reentry or repossession, Landlord shall be entitled to the 

highest amount of monthly Rent, including Percentage Rent and Additional Rent,  which shall 

have been payable for any month period prior to such reentry or repossession, less the net proceeds, 

if any, of any re-letting of the Premises after deducting all of Landlord’s expenses in connection 

with such re-letting, including, but without limitation, all repossession costs, brokerage 

commissions, legal expenses, attorneys’ fees, expenses of employees, alteration costs and expenses 

in preparation for such reletting.  Tenant shall pay such amount to Landlord on the days on which 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

50 

 

 

 

 

 

the rent or any other sums due hereunder would have been payable hereunder if possession had 

not been retaken.  In no event shall Tenant be entitled to receive the excess, if any, of net rent 

collected by Landlord as a result of such re-letting over the sums payable by Tenant to Landlord 

hereunder.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall provide Tenant with an opportunity to 

remove any leased or consigned property so long as Tenant can provide Landlord with evidence 

of such lease(s) or consignment(s) prior to any removal(s).  Landlord must further be present 

during any such permitted removal(s). 

(c) Payment on Account of Tenant.  If Tenant shall default in making any payment 

required to be made by Tenant (other than payments of rent) or any other Event of Default shall 

occur, Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, make such payment or, on behalf of Tenant, 

expend such sum as may be necessary to perform such obligation.  All sums so expended by 

Landlord with interest thereon at the Default Rate shall be repaid by Tenant to Landlord on 

demand.  No such payment or expenditure by Landlord shall be deemed a waiver of Tenant’s 

default nor shall it affect any other remedy of Landlord by reason of such default. 

(d) Default Interest.  In addition to any other fees due hereunder, if Tenant shall 

default in making payment of any rent or other sum due under this Lease, Landlord may charge 

and Tenant shall pay upon demand interest thereon at the Default Rate. 

(e) Rental Value for Period of Unlawful Detainer Action.  In any action of unlawful 

detainer commenced by Landlord against Tenant by reason of any default hereunder, the 

reasonable rental value of the Premises for the period of the unlawful detainer shall be deemed to 

be the highest amount of monthly Rent, including Percentage Rent and Additional Rent, which 

shall have been payable for any month period prior to such unlawful detainer action. 

(f) Inducement Recapture.  Landlord may, upon written notice to Tenant, require that 

Tenant pay to Landlord an amount equal to the following: all sums the payment of which may 

previously have been waived by Landlord, or which may have been paid by Landlord, pursuant to 

any agreement by Landlord to grant Tenant a rental abatement or other monetary inducement or 

concession, including any tenant finish allowance and all other payments made by Landlord to or 

on behalf of Tenant, together with interest on such amounts at the Default Rate, from the date or 

dates such amounts were paid by Landlord, or would have been due from Tenant but for the 

abatement, until finally paid or repaid. 

Whenever Tenant shall be required to make payment to Landlord of any sum with interest, interest 

on such sum shall be computed from the date such sum is due until paid, at an interest rate equal 

to the lesser of 18% per annum or the maximum rate permitted by applicable law (the “Default 

Rate”).  As used in this Lease the terms “reenter”, “reentry”, “take possession”, “repossess” and 

“repossession” are not restricted to their technical legal meaning.  For the purposes of this 

Section 27, the rent due for any calendar month after reentry or repossession of the Premises by 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

51 

 

 

 

 

 

Landlord shall be deemed to be the highest monthly Rent, including Percentage Rent and 

Additional Rent, which shall have been payable for any month period prior to such re-entry or 

repossession.  Tenant shall be responsible for payment of all reasonable costs and expenses, 

including, but not limited to, court costs and reasonable attorney’s fees in any action taken by 

Landlord to enforce its rights or pursue its remedies under this Section. Tenant stipulates and 

agrees that the rights set forth in the above subsections are commercially reasonable.  After a 

termination by Landlord for default by Tenant, the amount due as unpaid rent for the balance of 

the Term shall be deemed to include Percentage Rent for each month at the highest amount payable 

for any month prior to such termination.   

27. TENANT’S PROPERTY.   

(a) Tenant shall be responsible for and shall pay before delinquent all municipal, 

county, federal or state taxes whether enacted now or in the future coming due during or after the 

Term against Tenant’s interest in this Lease or against personal property of any kind owned or 

placed in, upon or about the Premises by Tenant. 

(b) To secure the performance of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease Tenant hereby 

grants to Landlord a security interest in and an express contractual lien upon all of Tenant’s 

equipment, furniture, furnishings, appliances, goods, trade fixtures, inventory, chattels and 

personal property, which will be brought upon the Premises by Tenant, and all after-acquired 

property, replacements and proceeds (the “Security Interest”). The Security Interest shall not 

include any inventory sold by Tenant on consignment; i.e., inventory that has been partially paid 

for by Tenant’s customer(s) but not yet recognized as a sale on Tenant’s balance sheet.  Landlord 

is authorized to prepare and file financing statements (including continuation statements and 

amendments, as applicable) covering the security described above (and Tenant hereby agrees to 

sign a separate security agreement if requested by Landlord, within 10 days of Landlord’s request).  

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, any or all of Tenant’s obligations to Landlord secured 

hereby shall, at Landlord’s option, be immediately due and payable without notice or demand.  In 

addition to all rights or remedies of Landlord under this Lease, at law, and in equity, including the 

right to judicial foreclosure, Landlord shall have all the rights and remedies of a secured party 

under the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of the state in which the Premises is located.  

Landlord’s Security Interest shall be subordinate only to the lien or security interest of any lender 

taking or succeeding to a purchase money security interest thereon, and upon Tenant’s written 

request, if no uncured default exists hereunder, Landlord shall execute an instrument on form 

reasonably acceptable to Landlord confirming such subordination.  The Security Interest shall 

survive the termination of this Lease if such termination results from Tenant’s default.  The 

Security Interest and related lien are in addition to and cumulative of the Landlord’s lien provided 

by the laws of the state in which the Premises is located. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

52 

 

 

 

 

 

28. NO IMPLIED SURRENDER OR WAIVER.  The failure of Landlord to enforce any of 

the rules and regulations governing the Premises, Building or Center against Tenant shall not be 

deemed a waiver of any or all of such rules and regulations.  The failure of either party to seek 

redress for violation of, or to insist upon the strict performance of, any covenant or condition of 

this Lease or any rules and regulations governing the Premises, Building, or the Center shall not 

prevent a subsequent act, which would have originally constituted a violation, from having all the 

force and effect of an original violation.  The receipt by Landlord of Minimum Rent, Percentage 

Rent, or Additional Rent with knowledge of the breach of any covenant of this Lease shall not be 

deemed a waiver of such breach.  No provisions of this Lease shall be deemed to have been waived 

by Landlord unless such waiver is in writing signed by Landlord.  No act or thing done by Landlord 

or Landlord’s agents during the Term of this Lease shall be deemed an acceptance of a surrender 

of the Premises, and no agreement to accept such surrender shall be valid unless in writing signed 

by Landlord.  No employees of Landlord or of Landlord’s agents shall have any power to accept 

the keys of the Premises prior to the termination of this Lease.  The delivery of keys to any 

employee of Landlord, or of Landlord’s agents, shall not operate as a termination of this Lease or 

a surrender of the Premises.  All amounts tendered to Landlord in payment of Minimum Rent, 

Percentage Rent, or Additional Rent required by this Lease shall be deemed payments for the 

account of Tenant, and acceptance of payments from anyone other than Tenant shall not be deemed 

to operate as an attornment to Landlord by the payor or as a consent by Landlord to an assignment 

or subletting of this Lease or any portion thereof, or as a modification of any of the provisions of 

this Lease.  No payment by Tenant, or receipt by Landlord, of a lesser amount than the Minimum 

Rent, Percentage Rent, or Additional Rent due hereunder, shall be deemed to be other than on 

account, nor shall any endorsement or statement on any check or any letter accompanying any 

check or payment be deemed an accord and satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check or 

payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right to recover the balance of Minimum Rent, 

Percentage Rent, or Additional Rent required by this Lease or pursue any other remedy available 

to Landlord.  This Lease and the obligation of Tenant to pay Minimum Rent, Percentage Rent, and 

Additional Rent hereunder and perform all of the other covenants and agreements under this Lease 

to be performed by Tenant shall in no way be affected, impaired or excused because Landlord is 

unable to fulfill any of its obligations under this Lease, or to supply, or is delayed in supplying, 

any service, equipment, fixtures, or materials required to be supplied by Landlord, or is unable to 

make, or is delayed in making, any repairs, additions, alterations, or decorations required to be 

made by Landlord, if Landlord is prevented or delayed from doing so by reason of strike or labor 

troubles, government preemption or restrictions, or by reason of any rule, order or regulation of 

any department or subdivision of any government agency, or by reason of conditions which have 

been or are affected, either directly or indirectly, by war or other emergency, or by reason of any 

other cause or matter beyond Landlord’s reasonable control, or when, in the judgment of Landlord, 

temporary interruption of such services is necessary by reason of accident, mechanical breakdown, 

or to make repairs, alterations, or improvements.  Time is of the essence with respect to the 

performance of each of the covenants and agreements set forth in this Lease.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

53 

 

 

 

 

 

29. COSTS AND ATTORNEY FEES.  In the event of litigation or arbitration arising out of or 

in connection with this Lease, the party prevailing in such action shall recover, in addition to all 

other remedies or damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs and expenses (including 

without limitation experts’ fees) incurred by such prevailing party in such suit or arbitration at the 

trial and appellate levels.     

30. NO REPRESENTATIONS BY LANDLORD, ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  Landlord and 

Landlord’s agents have made no representations, warranties, agreements or promises with respect 

to the Premises, the Center or the Building except as expressly set forth in this Lease.  Without in 

any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, Landlord and Landlord’s agents have made no 

representations, warranties, agreements or promises with respect to the exact size of the Premises, 

the Building or the Center, any other tenants or types of tenants in the Center, the Building, or in 

any other space leased or offered for lease by Landlord or the terms of any other tenant’s lease, if 

any.  The entire contract of the parties is contained in this Lease, and there are no promises, 

agreements, representations, warranties, conditions or understandings, either oral or written, 

between them, other than as are expressly set forth in this Lease.   

31. NOTICE AND BILLS.  The mailing addresses of the parties are as follows: 

Tenant: 400 North Park Avenue #12B 

 Breckenridge, CO 80424 

 

Landlord: Vail Summit Resorts, Inc.  

390 Interlocken Crescent, Suite 1000 

Broomfield, Colorado  80021 

Attention:  Director of Commercial Leasing 

w/copy by  

email to: LegalNotices@vailresorts.com 

 

Any bill, statement, notice, demand or communication which Landlord may desire or be required 

to give to Tenant shall be in writing and shall be deemed sufficiently given or rendered if delivered 

personally to Tenant or any of its employees or agents, at the Premises, or sent to Tenant by 

nationally-recognized overnight courier (such as Federal Express) or certified or registered United 

States mail, postage prepaid, addressed to Tenant at the address of Tenant specified above, or, after 

commencement of the Term of this Lease, at the option of Landlord, at the Premises.  Any notice, 

demand or communication by Tenant to Landlord shall be in writing and must be served by 

nationally-recognized overnight courier (such as Federal Express) or certified or registered United 

States mail, postage prepaid, addressed to Landlord at the address specified above.  The time of 

the rendition of such bill or statement and of the giving of such notice, demand or communication 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

54 

 

 

 

 

 

shall be deemed to be the time when it is personally delivered, one business day after being 

deposited with a nationally-recognized overnight courier for next-business-day delivery, or three 

days after being mailed per the above methods.  Either party shall have the right to designate in 

writing, served as provided above, a different address to which any notice, demand or 

communication is to be mailed.  Attorneys may give notices on behalf of their respective clients.  

32. DEFINITION OF AND ACTIONS BY LANDLORD.   

(a) Definition.  The term “Landlord” as used in this Lease, so far as covenants or 

obligations on the part of Landlord are concerned, shall be limited to mean and include only the 

Landlord of the Premises at the time in question.  In the event that the interest of the Landlord 

herein named in the Premises is transferred, whether by sale, lease or sublease, foreclosure, or 

otherwise, the named Landlord shall be and hereby is entirely freed and relieved of all covenants 

and obligations of Landlord hereunder, and it shall be deemed and construed without further 

agreement between the parties or their successors in interest, or between the parties and any such 

transferee that such transferee has assumed and agreed to carry out any and all covenants and 

obligations of the named Landlord and is the Landlord hereunder. 

(b) Actions by Landlord.  Actions taken or decisions made by Landlord under this 

Lease shall be binding upon the Landlord in its capacity as Landlord, but shall not be binding upon 

any entity affiliated with Landlord simply because of Landlord’s membership or interest therein.  

Accordingly, Landlord shall have no liability to Tenant for any actions or decisions by the 

Association or any entity affiliated with Landlord, even if any such actions or decisions are 

contrary to or less beneficial to Tenant than any action taken or decision made by Landlord. 

(c) LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE 

CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THIS LEASE, THE LIABILITY OF LANDLORD (AND OF 

ANY SUCCESSOR LANDLORD) TO TENANT SHALL BE LIMITED TO THE INTEREST 

OF LANDLORD IN THE CENTER.  TENANT SHALL LOOK SOLELY TO LANDLORD’S 

INTEREST IN THE CENTER FOR THE RECOVERY OF ANY JUDGMENT OR AWARD 

AGAINST LANDLORD.  NEITHER LANDLORD NOR ANY LANDLORD RELATED 

PARTY SHALL BE PERSONALLY LIABLE FOR ANY JUDGMENT OR DEFICIENCY. 

33. NO PARTNERSHIP.  Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, 

Landlord is not and shall not in any way or for any purpose become principal or partner of Tenant 

in the conduct of its business, or otherwise, or a joint venture or member of a joint enterprise with 

Tenant hereunder.  The provisions relating to Tenant’s fixturization and other work on the interior 

and exterior of the Premises are included, among other reasons, to facilitate Landlord’s 

maintaining architectural control, minimum standards of design and aesthetic value.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

55 

 

 

 

 

 

34. NO USE OF TRADEMARK.  Without first obtaining written authorization or a license 

from Landlord or its appropriate affiliate entity, Tenant shall not in any manner use Keystone’s or 

any other of Landlord’s or Landlord’s partners’, sublessor’s, affiliates’ or subsidiaries’ River Run 

Village respective trademarks, servicemarks, trade names or trademarked logos in connection with 

the business conducted at the Premises or any goods sold or services performed in, at or from any 

part of the Premises by Tenant, its employees or anyone acting on either of their behalf, or 

otherwise.   

35. PARKING.  Tenant acknowledges and agrees that (a)  Landlord has no obligation to 

provide parking facilities or spaces in or adjacent to the Building for use by Tenant’s Employees 

and customers; and (b) any parking facilities located within or around the Center (including, 

without limitation, those facilities, if any, designated for use by Tenant’s Employees or customers) 

may be on a paid-parking basis, despite any implication of law or industry practice to the contrary.  

Tenant agrees that it will not institute or participate in any ticket validation or similar type of rebate 

or subsidy to parking uses without first obtaining Landlord’s prior written consent.  Without 

limiting the grounds upon which Landlord would be reasonable in refusing its consent, Tenant 

agrees that if the parking operator is at arm’s length with Landlord and objects to the system being 

proposed for any reason whatsoever, Landlord’s refusal to grant consent will be deemed 

reasonable for these purposes.  

36. EXHIBITS.  All recitals set forth in this Lease and all exhibits attached to this Lease are 

hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Lease. 

37. BROKERS.  Landlord shall pay a real estate commission to Liv Sotheby (“Broker”) 

pursuant to a separate agreement.  Tenant hereby represents and warrants to Landlord that, other 

than Broker, Tenant’s sole contact with Landlord or with the Premises has been made without the 

assistance of any broker or other third party.  Tenant shall save and hold the Landlord Released 

Parties free, clear and harmless from any claim, cost or expense for or in connection with any 

claims for commissions or compensation claimed or asserted by any third party in connection with 

the transaction contemplated under this Lease, claiming to have dealt with Tenant. 

38. COIN OPERATED/ATM MACHINES.  Tenant shall not sell any merchandise from 

vending machines, or allow any coin or token operated vending, amusement, gaming or automatic 

teller machines within the Premises, without obtaining the prior written consent of Landlord.   

39. RECORDATION; CONFIDENTIALITY.  Neither this Lease nor any memorandum of this 

Lease may be recorded without Landlord’s prior written consent, which may be withheld in 

Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion.  If Landlord elects to record this Lease or a memorandum 

of this Lease, Tenant shall execute such documents as Landlord may reasonably request to effect 

such recordation.  Except as required by law, Tenant shall not disclose to any third parties the 

economic terms and conditions of this Lease. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

56 

 

 

 

 

 

40. PERSONAL GUARANTY. Concurrently with the execution of this Lease, John Keith, 

(collectively, jointly and severally, “Guarantor”) as guarantor, shall execute and deliver to 

Landlord a personal guaranty in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the “Guaranty”), pursuant 

to which Guarantor agrees to guaranty all of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease.  The obligations 

of Guarantor shall be joint and several with each other and with any other present or future 

guarantor of the Lease.  Landlord shall have the right to join one or all of any guarantors in any 

proceeding and to proceed against them in any order.  At Landlord’s option in its sole discretion, 

this Lease shall not be effective until Landlord has received the executed Guaranty from Guarantor.  

Any default under the Guaranty which is not cured within applicable notice and cure periods, if 

any, shall be an Event of Default by Tenant under this Lease.  

41. MISCELLANEOUS.   

(a) Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Lease is determined 

to be illegal, unenforceable or invalid, such clause or provision shall be stricken from and 

construed for all purposes not to constitute a part of this Lease, the remaining portion of this Lease 

shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect, and in lieu of each clause or provision that is 

illegal, unenforceable or invalid, there shall be added a clause or provision similar in terms to such 

illegal, unenforceable or invalid clause or provision as may be possible and which is legal, valid 

and enforceable. 

(b) Amendment.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease, no 

amendment, alteration, modification of or addition to this Lease shall be valid or binding unless 

expressed in writing and signed by the party or parties to be bound thereby. 

(c) Construction.  The titles or headings of the various paragraphs hereof are intended 

solely for convenience of reference and are not intended and shall not be deemed to modify, 

explain or place any construction upon any of the provisions of this Lease.  The parties 

acknowledge and agree they have reviewed this Lease in its entirety and acknowledge and agree 

that the Lease has been freely negotiated by both parties and expressly waive any and all applicable 

common law and statutory rules of construction that any term or condition of this Lease should be 

construed against the Lease’s drafter, and agree and affirm that the Lease and all terms and 

conditions thereof shall in all cases be construed as a whole, according to the fair meaning of the 

language used.  Wherever in this Lease any item of Additional Rent is required to be paid “upon 

demand,” or if no specific time period is stated as to when an item of Additional Rent is due and 

payable, such item of Additional Rent shall be due and payable within five days following demand 

or billing by Landlord.  Unless otherwise expressly stated in this Lease to the contrary, wherever 

Landlord’s consent or approval is required by this Lease, or something is to be satisfactory to 

Landlord, it shall be construed to mean that Landlord’s prior written approval is required, and that 

such approval may be given or withheld in Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion.  In no event 

shall Tenant be entitled to make any claim for money damages, setoff, counterclaim, or defense 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

57 

 

 

 

 

 

based on upon any claim or assertion by Tenant that Landlord has unreasonably withheld, 

conditioned, or delayed any consent or approval; provided, however, the foregoing shall not affect 

Tenant’s right to maintain an action or proceeding to enforce any such provision or for specific 

performance, injunction, or declaratory judgment.  The words “include” and “including” shall be 

construed as if followed by the phrase “without being limited to.”  The words “herein,” “hereof,” 

“hereby,” “hereunder,” and words of similar import shall be construed to refer to this Lease as a 

whole and not to any particular Section or subdivision of this Lease unless expressly so stated. 

(d) Binding Effect.  Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Lease, the 

covenants, conditions and agreements contained in this Lease shall bind and inure to the benefit of 

Landlord and Tenant and their respective heirs, distributees, executors, administrators, successors, 

and subject to Section 15, their assigns, and no other person or entity shall be deemed a third party 

beneficiary or otherwise have any right under this Lease except to the extent identified in this 

Lease.  If there is more than one entity or person which or who are the Tenant under this Lease, 

the obligations imposed upon Tenant under this Lease shall be joint and several. 

(e) Survival.  Any and all warranties, provisions, rights and obligations of Landlord 

and Tenant described in this Lease and agreed to be performed subsequent to the termination of 

this Lease, or which could reasonably be construed to be intended to survive the expiration or 

termination of this Lease, shall survive the termination of this Lease.   

(f) Authority.  If Tenant is or will be an entity, the persons executing this Lease on 

behalf of Tenant hereby covenant and warrant that Tenant is duly organized and in good standing 

in its state of formation, and authorized to do business in the state where the Premises is located, 

that all franchise and corporate, partnership, or other entity taxes have been paid to date and all 

future forms, reports, fees and other documents necessary to comply with applicable laws will be 

filed when due, and the person signing this Lease on behalf of the entity is an officer or other 

authorized signatory of Tenant, and is duly authorized to sign and execute this Lease. 

(g) Governing Law.  This Lease shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance 

with the laws of the State of the state where the Premises is located.     

(h) Mediation.  IN ANY JUDICIAL PROCEEDING PERMITTED BY THIS 

LEASE, INCLUDING ONE SEEKING INJUNCTIVE RELIEF OR ONE COMMENCED 

UNDER THE FORCIBLE ENTRY AND DETAINER LAWS OF THE STATE WHERE 

THE PREMISES IS LOCATED AND WITHOUT REGARD TO WHETHER AFTER ITS 

COMMENCEMENT THE PROCEEDING BECOMES A CIVIL ACTION BY 

RESTORATION OF POSSESSION OF THE PREMISES TO LANDLORD OR 

OTHERWISE, THE PARTIES WAIVE ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY, WHETHER 

WITH RESPECT TO EVERY ISSUE OF FACT OR EVERY OTHER FINDING OR 

DETERMINATION THEREIN.  Exclusive jurisdiction and venue for any legal action under 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

58 

 

 

 

 

 

this Lease is the State District Court or the U.S. District Court in whose County or District the 

Premises is located.  

(i) Waiver of Special Damages.  Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease or 

under applicable Laws to the contrary, in no event shall Landlord be liable for lost profits or 

consequential, special or punitive damages.  In no event shall Tenant have a right to terminate this 

Lease as a result of any default by Landlord, and Tenant’s remedies shall be limited to actual 

damages.  

(j) COVID-19.  Tenant agrees that no circumstances related to SARS-CoV-2, the 

novel coronavirus that causes coronavirus disease 2019, or COVID-19 (including any epidemic, 

pandemic, state of emergency, government orders, government shutdowns, unavailability of labor 

or materials or reasonable substitutes therefor, or other causes beyond any party’s reasonable 

control that relate thereto, but excluding financial reasons other than banking delays and closures 

where funds were otherwise available, the “COVID-19 Pandemic”), including any closures of, or 

restrictions of access to, the Premises or access thereto, or ceasing of operations by Landlord, its 

affiliates, or any other tenants or occupants, whether voluntary or pursuant to governmental request 

or order, shall give rise to any claims of constructive eviction, casualty, condemnation, 

impossibility, frustration of purpose, the right to exercise any other remedy of Tenant under the 

Lease, or default by Landlord under the Lease, all of which are hereby waived by Tenant. Without 

limiting the foregoing, Tenant agrees that it waives any claims or causes of action potentially 

arising out of or relating to any delays in the performance of any Landlord obligations under the 

Lease caused by the COVID-19 Pandemic.  Tenant agrees to comply with any operational requests 

or operational plans implemented by Landlord with respect to the COVID-19 Pandemic, as the 

same may be updated from time to time, and to provide notice to Landlord and other reasonably 

requested information related thereto if any occupants of the Premises test positive or are 

presumptively positive for COVID-19; provided, however, Landlord’s implementation or 

approval of plans, rules, procedures or guidelines related to the COVID-19 Pandemic shall not 

constitute a representation or warranty that any such plans, rules, procedures or guidelines  are in 

compliance with any laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, or best practices, and Landlord shall have 

no responsibility or liability for the implementation or effectiveness of the same.  Landlord makes 

no representations or warranties regarding the safety of the Premises or the use thereof.  Tenant 

acknowledges that (i) the effects of COVID-19 are not fully known, (ii) Tenant is solely 

responsible for the physical and mental health and safety of Tenant’s Employees and invitees, and 

(iii) Landlord disclaims all liability for the health and safety of Tenant’s Employees and invitees 

and any effects of COVID-19 arising at any time.  Landlord is not responsible for the safety of 

Tenant’s personal property, or that of Tenant’s Employees and invitees.  

(k) Public Use of Premises.  Nothing contained herein is intended to dedicate, grant, 

or reserve to the general public or the public at large or for any public purpose whatsoever, or to 

permit any member of the general public to acquire any right, by adverse possession, prescription, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

59 

 

 

 

 

 

grant, dedication or otherwise, to possess, use or occupy the Premises, or any portion thereof, said 

grant, dedication, reservation, or prescriptive rights being expressly denied. 

(l) Counterparts.  This Lease may be executed or delivered electronically, and in one 

or more counterparts, all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument with 

the same effect as originals. 

(m) No Offer.  The submission of this Lease by Landlord to Tenant is not an offer to 

lease and is not effective until execution and delivery by Landlord and Tenant. 

(n) Force Majeure.  Whenever and to the extent that either party hereto shall be unable 

to fulfill, or shall be delayed or restricted in the fulfillment of, any obligation under any provision 

of this Lease by reason of Force Majeure, such party shall, so long and to the extent that any such 

impediment exists, be relieved from the fulfilment of such obligation.  As used herein, “Force 

Majeure” means an occurrence that is not caused by, or under the reasonable control of, the 

performing party, and occurs despite reasonable efforts to prevent, avoid, delay or mitigate the 

effect of that occurrence, including, without limitation, (i) acts of God, fire, flood, explosion or 

extraordinary and destructive weather conditions directly affecting the performing party; (ii) 

injunctions; (iii) restraint or acts of domestic government; (iv) COVID-19 or other pandemic or 

epidemic; or (v) terrorism, war, sabotage, vandalism, accident, civil disorder or riots occurring 

within the United States or directly affecting the performing party.   Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, in no even shall Force Majeure excuse Tenant’s obligation to pay rent hereunder, and 

in no event shall lack of funds be considered Force Majeure. 

  

 [SIGNATURE PAGE IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWS]

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have respectively executed this Lease as 

of the date first set forth above. 

LANDLORD: 

 

Vail Summit Resorts, Inc.  

 

By:       

Name:       

Title:       

 

 

TENANT: 

Ski-To-Tee, LLC dba Ski-to-Tee, 

 

By:       

Name:       

Title:       

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 

Member

John Keith

DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46

Sr. Director Commercial Leasing

Kerry Vanderweit



 

 

 

 

 

A-1 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

DEPICTION OF PREMISES 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

B-1 

 
 

EXHIBIT B 

 

TENANT’S WORK 

TENANT’S WORK.  Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, perform the following work on 

the Premises: 

 

All necessary interior and exterior modifications, including without limitation tenant fixtures, 

lights and storefront modifications, necessary to deliver a first class presentation, as approved by 

Landlord, including without limitation the following:   

 Storefront Modifications: To enhance the exterior appearance and attract customer 

attention. 

 Lighting: Installation or upgrade of interior and exterior lighting to meet first-class 

presentation standards. 

 Tenant Fixtures: Installation of fixtures that are integral to the space and are not 

removable, such as built-in shelving and counters. 

 Flooring, Electrical, and Plumbing: Necessary upgrades or installations to meet 

operational needs and aesthetic standards. 

 Millwork and Shelving: Installation of permanent millwork and shelving units. 

 Signage: All signage will be at Tenant's expense and must be permitted through the DRB 

and the county. 

All of Tenant’s Work shall be performed in accordance with the guidelines and restrictions set 

forth in Section 6 and Section 7 of the Lease. 

For purposes of this Exhibit B, the date the Tenant’s Work is “complete” shall mean the date that 

a Certificate of Completion and/or a Certificate of Inspection, if any, has been unconditionally 

issued by the appropriate governmental agency for Tenant’s Work. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

C-1 

 
 

EXHIBIT C 

 

GUARANTY 

IN CONSIDERATION of the delivery of the Retail Lease on the ______________, 2024, by and 

between VAIL SUMMIT RESORTS, INC., a Colorado corporation (“Landlord”) and Ski-To-

Tee, LLC dba Ski-To-Tee (“Tenant”), relating to Unit E-3 Buffalo Lodge Building, River Run 

Village (the “Lease”), the undersigned (“Guarantor”) hereby absolutely and unconditionally, 

jointly and severally, personally guarantees to Landlord, without deduction by reason of setoff, 

defense or counterclaim, its successors and assigns, the full and prompt performance and 

observance of all of the covenants, conditions and agreements to be performed and observed by 

Tenant, or Tenant’s successors and assigns, under the Lease, including, but not limited to payment 

of Minimum Rent, Percentage Rent, Additional Rent, and any and all other sums due to Landlord 

under the Lease. 

 

1. If Tenant shall at any time default in the performance or observance of any of the terms, 

covenants or conditions in the Lease contained on Tenant’s part to be kept, performed or 

observed, Guarantor will promptly keep, perform and observe same, as the case may be, in the 

place and stead of Tenant, and further Guarantor shall indemnify, defend and hold Landlord 

harmless from and against any and all loss, damage, cost, expense, injury or liability Landlord 

may suffer or incur in connection with third party claims brought as a result of Guarantor’s 

performance of, or failure to perform, the terms, covenants or conditions in the Lease contained 

on Tenant’s part to be kept, performed or observed (collectively, the “Guaranteed 

Obligations”). 

 

2. Guarantor expressly agrees that the validity of this Guaranty and the obligations of Guarantor 

hereunder shall not be terminated, affected or impaired by reason of the assertion by Landlord 

against Tenant of any of the rights or remedies reserved to Landlord pursuant to the provisions 

of the Lease, or by reason of the waiver by, or the failure of Landlord to enforce any of the 

terms, covenants, or conditions of the Lease, or the giving of any consent to any manner or thing 

relating to the Lease, or the granting of any indulgences or extension of time to Tenant, all of 

which may be given or done without notice to Guarantor.  

 

3. Guarantor waives notice of all defaults and agrees that the waiver of any rights by Landlord 

against Tenant, arising out of defaults by Tenant or otherwise, shall not in any way modify or 

release the obligations of Guarantor. Guarantor further covenants and agrees that this Guaranty 

shall remain and continue in full force and effect as to any renewal, extension, amendment or 

modification of the Lease, regardless of whether Guarantor consents to or received notice 

thereof. 

 

4. Guarantor further agrees that the liability under this Guaranty shall be primary, and that in any 

right of action which shall accrue to Landlord under the Lease, Landlord may, at its option, 

proceed against Guarantor and Tenant jointly or severally, or may proceed against Guarantor 

without having commenced any action or having obtained any judgment against Tenant, and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 

6th of February
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

C-2 

 
 

Guarantor hereby waives all right to assert or plead at any time any statute of limitations as 

relating to the Lease, the obligations of Guarantor hereunder and any and all surety or other 

defenses in the nature thereof. The obligations of Guarantor hereunder shall not be released by 

Landlord’s receipt, application or release of any security given for the performance and 

observance of any covenant or condition in the Lease contained on Tenant’s part to be 

performed or observed, regardless of whether Guarantor consents thereto or receives notice 

thereof. No assignment, sublease, or transfer of any of the Lease shall operate to extinguish or 

diminish the liability of Guarantor hereunder. This Guaranty shall apply to the Lease, any 

extension, renewal, modification or amendment thereof, and to any assignment, subletting or 

other tenancy thereunder, or to any holdover term following the term granted under the Lease 

or any extension or renewal thereof, regardless of whether Guarantor consents thereto or 

receives notice thereof. 

 

5. The liability of Guarantor hereunder shall in no way be affected by: (a) the release or discharge 

of Tenant in any creditor’s receivership, bankruptcy or other proceeding; (b) the impairment, 

limitation or modification of the liability of Tenant or the estate of Tenant in bankruptcy, or of 

any remedy for the enforcement of Tenant’s liability under the Lease resulting from the 

operation of any present or future provision of the National Bankruptcy Act or other statute or 

from the decision in any court; (c) the rejection or disaffirmance of the Lease in any such 

proceedings; (d) the assignment or transfer of the Lease by Tenant; (e) any disability or other 

defense of Tenant; (f) the cessation from any cause whatsoever of the liability of Tenant; (g) 

the exercise by Landlord of any of its rights or remedies reserved under the Lease or by law; or 

(h) any termination of the Lease. Guarantor agrees that in the event Tenant shall become 

insolvent, or shall be adjudicated bankrupt, shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors 

or file a petition for reorganization, arrangement, or similar relief under any present or future 

provision of the Bankruptcy Code, or if such petition filed by creditors of Tenant shall be 

approved by a court, or if Tenant shall seek a judicial readjustment of the rights of its creditors 

under any present or future federal or state law, or if a receiver of all or part of its property and 

assets is appointed by any state or federal court and in any such proceeding the Lease shall be 

terminated or rejected or the obligations of Tenant thereunder shall be modified, Guarantor 

agrees to immediately pay to Landlord or its successors or assigns: (a) an amount equal to all 

rent of whatever kind accrued to the date of such termination, rejection or modification, plus 

(b) the difference between the then cash value of the Rent (based on the highest amount of 

Minimum Rent plus Percentage Rent charged during any prior month of the Term), Additional 

Rent and other sums which would have been payable under the Lease for the unexpired portion 

of the Term of the Lease (the “Term Amount”) and the then cash rental value of the premises 

for such unexpired portion of the Term (the “Market Amount”), to the extent the Term amount 

exceeds the Market Amount, plus (c) interest on the amounts designated in clauses (a) and (b) 

above at the rate of 18% per annum (or, if less, the highest rate permitted by applicable law) 

from the date of such termination, rejection or modification to the date of payment by Guarantor 

hereunder. 

 

6. This Guaranty shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State 

where the premises subject to the Lease are located. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

C-3 

 
 

 

7. No delay on the part of Landlord in exercising any right hereunder or under the Lease shall 

operate as a waiver of such right or of any other right of Landlord under the Lease or hereunder, 

nor shall any delay, omission or waiver on any one occasion be deemed a bar to a waiver of the 

same or any other right on any future occasion. 

 

8. In the event that any clause or provision of this Guaranty is determined to be illegal, 

unenforceable or invalid, such clause or provision shall be stricken from and construed for all 

purposes not to constitute a part of this Guaranty, the remaining portion of this Guaranty shall 

nevertheless remain in full force and effect, and in lieu of each clause or provision that is illegal, 

unenforceable or invalid, there shall be added a clause or provision similar in terms to such 

illegal, unenforceable or invalid clause or provision as may be possible and which is legal, valid 

and enforceable. 

 

9. Until all the covenants and conditions in the Lease on Tenant’s part to be performed and 

observed, are fully performed and observed, Guarantor: (a) shall have no right of subrogation 

against Tenant by reason of any payments or performance by Guarantor hereunder; and (b) 

subordinates any liability or indebtedness of Tenant now or hereafter held by Guarantor to the 

obligations of Tenant to Landlord under the Lease. 

 

10. Guarantor agrees to pay Landlord’s reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses, including but 

not limited to legal fees and disbursements, incurred in any effort to collect or enforce any of 

the guaranteed obligations or this Guaranty, whether or not any lawsuit is filed, and in the 

representation of Landlord in any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceeding 

relating to Tenant or Guarantor. Until paid to Landlord, such sums will bear interest from the 

date such costs and expenses are incurred at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum (or, 

if less, the highest rate permitted by applicable law). 

 

11. Any notice, demand or communication hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed 

sufficiently given or rendered if sent by nationally-recognized overnight courier (such as 

Federal Express) or certified or registered United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed at the 

address for Landlord specified in the Lease, or the address for Guarantor specified below its 

signature. The time of the giving of such notice, demand or communication shall be deemed to 

be the time when it is personally delivered, one business day after being deposited with a 

nationally-recognized overnight courier for next-business-day delivery, or three days after 

being mailed. Either party shall have the right to designate in writing, served as provided above, 

a different address to which any notice, demand or communication is to be mailed. If no address 

for Guarantor is filled in below, Guarantor’s address shall be deemed to be the same as Tenant’s 

address. 

 

12. GUARANTOR AND LANDLORD (BY ACCEPTANCE HEREOF), HAVING BEEN 

REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL EACH KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVES 

ANY RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO ENFORCE 

OR DEFEND ANY RIGHTS UNDER THIS GUARANTY OR ANY RELATED 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

C-4 

 
 

AGREEMENT OR UNDER ANY AMENDMENT, INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR 

AGREEMENT DELIVERED OR WHICH MAY IN THE FUTURE BE DELIVERED IN 

CONNECTION WITH THIS GUARANTY, AND AGREES THAT ANY SUCH ACTION OR 

PROCEEDING WILL BE TRIED BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A JURY. 

GUARANTOR AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT ASSERT ANY CLAIM AGAINST 

LANDLORD OR ANY OTHER PERSON INDEMNIFIED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT ON 

ANY THEORY OF LIABILITY FOR SPECIAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, 

INCIDENTAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES. 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Guaranty as of the day and date 

written below. 

 

 

 

GUARANTOR:  

 

 

 

_ ___________________ 

Name 

 

 

 

_____________________ 

Address 

 

 

_____________________ 

Date  

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 

Feb-06-2024

373 Gold Flake Ct 
Breckenridge, C0 80424

DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit D – Page 1 
 

EXHIBIT D 

 

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS 

Landlord's Rights 

C.R.S. 38-22-105 (2) Such interest so owned or claimed shall be subject to any lien given by the 

provisions of this article, unless such owner or person within five days after obtaining notice of 

the erection, construction, alteration, removal, addition, repair, or other improvement, gives notice 

that his or Colorado Revised Statutes 2020 Page 208 of 631 Uncertified Printout her interests shall 

not be subject to any lien for the same by serving a written or printed notice to that effect, 

personally, upon all persons performing labor or furnishing laborers, materials, machinery, or other 

fixtures therefor, or within five days after such owner or person has obtained notice of the erection, 

construction, alteration, removal, addition, repair, or other improvement, or notice of the intended 

erection, construction, alteration, removal, addition, repair, or other improvement gives such notice 

by posting and keeping posted a written or printed notice in some conspicuous place upon said 

land or upon the building or other improvements situate thereon. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT E 

 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 

ASSOCIATION RULES 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

   

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F 

 

AFFIDAVIT AND NOTICE OF NON-RESPONSIBILITY  

AFFIDAVIT OF [INSERT NAME]  

  

I, [Insert Name], having been duly sworn upon oath, state and affirm as follows:   

  

1. I am over the age of 18 and have personal knowledge of the facts in this 

affidavit.   

  

2. I am the [Title] of [Insert Tenant LLC Name] dba Ski-To-Tee.   

  

3. In my role as [title], I am familiar with the construction of improvements in the 

Premises, located at Unit E-3 in the building commonly known as the “Buffalo Lodge 

Building of River Run Village” located at [Insert Physical Address] (the 

“Premises”).   

  

4. On or about _______________, 20__, I posted the Notice of Non-Responsibility 

attached hereto as Exhibit F in a conspicuous place on the exterior of the Premises as 

reflected in the photo of the Premises I took on or about said date, which is attached 

below as Exhibit 2.   

  

5. [Omit for first affidavit; after work is done, sign again with this paragraph 

included] The Notice of Non-Responsibility remained posted from such date until 

completion of the construction of improvements in the Premises by the tenant on or 

about _____________, 20__, as reflected in the photo I took of the Premises on or 

about said date, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.   

  

____________________________________   

Print Name: ____________________   

  

STATE OF COLORADO  )  

)   

COUNTY OF __________________)   

  

The foregoing instrument was subscribed and sworn before me this ___ day of __________, 

20__, by _______________________________.   

  

Witness my hand and official seal.  

  

My commission expires: ____________   

  

______________________________ NOTARY PUBLIC  

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46



 

 

 

 

 

 

OWNER’S NOTICE OF NON-RESPONSIBILITY  

  

To Whom It May Concern:  

  

1. You are hereby notified that the undersigned owner (“Owner”), whose address is 390 

Interlocken Crescent, Suite 1000, Broomfield, Colorado 80021, Attn: Director of Commercial 

Leasing, is the legal owner in fee of the real property located in Keystone, Colorado, legally 

described as Unit E-3 in the Buffalo Lodge Building of River Run Village located in Keystone, 

Colorado, consisting of approximately 969 square feet, located in Summit County, Colorado (the 

“Property”).  

  

2. You are further notified that Ski-To-Tee, LLC dba Ski-to-Tee (“Tenant”), is in possession of 

that portion of the Property commonly referred to as “Unit E-3,” in the building commonly known 

as the “Buffalo Lodge Building of River Run Village” located at 100 Dercum Square Unit 3 

Keystone, CO 80435, as a tenant under a lease with Owner, but Tenant has no other right or claim 

to the Property.  

  

3. Therefore, you are further notified that Owner will not be responsible or liable for any labor, 

laborers, skills, services, materials, tools, equipment, machinery, or other fixtures therefor, that 

have been, are being, or may in the future be, furnished or supplied to the Property with respect to 

the erection, construction, alteration, addition, removal, repair, or other improvement to the 

Property, or any part thereof, including without limitation designs, plans, plats, maps, 

specifications, drawings, estimates of costs, and surveys prepared by any architect, engineer, 

draftsman, and artisan, and Owner’s interest in the Property shall not be subject to any lien for the 

same, including, without limitation, any improvements to the Property.  

  

THIS NOTICE IS GIVEN PURSUANT TO  

COLORADO REVISED STATUTES  

SECTION 38-22-105  

  

OWNER:  

  

Vail Summit Resorts, Inc.  

  

By: _________________________  

Name: ______________________  

Date: _______________________  

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DocuSign Envelope ID: EC5C4D5B-40D8-4276-B826-0588F482CA46







TOWN OF KEYSTONE 
Summit County, Colorado 

 
LIQUOR LICENSING AUTHORITY 

Resolution 2024-01 
 

WHEREAS, this matter comes on for a public hearing before the Keystone Liquor 
Licensing Authority, with respect to the application for a tavern license submitted by Ski-

To-Tee, LLC dba Ski-To-Tee to be located at 100 Dercum Square Unit E3, Keystone, 
Colorado (the "Property"). 

 
WHEREAS, the Authority, having conducted the public hearing and considered 

the evidence and testimony, makes and enters the following findings and order on 
application for new license. 

 
Now, Therefore, be it Resolved by the Liquor License Authority of the Town 

of Keystone, Colorado, that: 
 

Section 1.  The Liquor License Authority of the Town of Keystone, Colorado, 
enters the following findings: 

 

FINDINGS 

1. The referenced applica tion for a  tavern license  w as  subm itted by Ski-

To-Tee, LLC dba Ski-To-Tee to  be  located a t 100 Dercum  Square  Unit E3 Keys tone , 

Colorado, here inafter "Applicants ."  The Applicants  have  subm itted a  lease  

agreem ent for possess ion of the  prem ises  and issuance  of a  tavern license . 

 

2. Pursuant to  Colorado Revised Sta tutes  Section 43-47-311, the  Tow n 

received a  com plete  applica tion including paym ent of a ll fees  and se t the  public 

hearing for Septem ber 10, 2024.   



 

3. Pursuant to  Colorado Revised Sta tutes  Section 43-47-311, public 

notice  of the  hearing w as  published in  the  Sum m it Daily and pos ted in  a  clear and 

conspicuous  location on the  Property.   

 

4. Pursuant to  Colorado Revised Sta tutes  Section 43-47-312, Tow n s taff 

provided the  Applicants  w ith a  copy of the  Tow n' s  findings . 

 

5. The public hearing w as  held a t approxim ate ly 7:00 p.m . on 

Septem ber 10, 2024, a t the  Keys tone  tow n hall, 13133 E. Arapahoe Road, 

Centennia l, Colorado.  The Applicant w as  present a t the  hearing. 

 

6. The Applicant’s  proposed location is  in  a  zone dis trict w hich a llow s  

tavern licensed es tablishm ents  as  a  use  by right subject to  the  Authority' s  

approval.   

 

7. There  are  no exis ting schools  in  the  area  of the  Property, none of 

w hich is  w ithin five  hundred (500) fee t thereof. 

 

8. A background check w as  conducted of the  Applicant and there  w ere  

no concerns  reported by the  Tow n Clerk. 

 

9. The Applicant subm itted a  pe tition concerning the  proposed 

prem ises  w ith 28 s ignatures  and these  parties  in  interes t des ired is suance  of a  

tavern license . No parties  in  interes t, including bus inesses , opposed issuance  of 

the  license .  

 



10. There  are  four tavern licensed es tablishm ents  in  the  neighborhood.  

There  is  not an undue concentra tion of tavern licensed es tablishm ents  in  the  area  

of the  Applicants '  proposed location.   

 

11. Pursuant to  Colorado Revised Sta tutes  Section 43-47-311(5)(a), the  

Applicant, as  parties  in  interes t, presented tes tim ony as  to  the  des ires  of the  adult 

inhabitants  of the  com m unity, the  reasonable  requirem ents  of the  neighborhood 

and the ir tra ining in  opera ting a  liquor licensed es tablishm ent.   

 

 12. Pursuant to  Colorado Revised Sta tutes  Section 43-47-311(5)(a), 

parties  in  interes t, o ther than the  Applicants , w ere  perm itted the  opportunity to  

tes tify. The recording of the  public hearing dem ons tra tes  the  num ber of 

individuals , w ho tes tified in  support of the  is suance  of a  tavern license . 

 

 13. Based on the  petition and any tes tim ony in  support, the  Authority 

finds  tha t the  reasonable  needs  and des ires  of the  com m unity support is suance  of 

a  tavern license  a t the  Applicants '  proposed location.  

 

Section 2.  Based on the  Findings , the  Authority hereby orders  tha t the  

applica tion for a  tavern license  for Ski-To-Tee, LLC dba Ski-To-Tee to  be  located a t 

100 Dercum  Square  Unit E3, Keys tone , Colorado be  approved and issued. 

 

DONE AND ENTERED by the  Keys tone  Liquor Licens ing Authority, as  of the  

________ day of Septem ber, 2024. 

 

 



 

       By: ____________________________ 

           Kenneth D. Riley, Chair 
 

ATTEST: Approved as to Form: 
 

 
 

By:   By: _____________________________ 
 Town Clerk  Town Attorney 

 

 

 

 
 


	Staff Report work session Bylaws (September 24).pdf
	STAFF REPORT
	Executive Summary:
	Background:
	Attachment:


	KEYSTONE - DRAFT Town Council Bylaws and Procedures 2024_9_24 (redline).pdf
	Untitled

	KEYSTONE - DRAFT Town Council Bylaws and Procedures 2024_9_24 .pdf
	1.1 Town Council
	1.2 Mayor – Presiding Officer
	1.3 Mayor Pro Tem
	1.4 Temporary Chair
	a. In the event of the absence, conflict of interest, or disability of both the Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem that would prevent them from attending any meeting of the Town Council, the Town Clerk shall call such meeting to order and shall call the roll.  T...
	b. The Temporary Chairperson shall serve as Presiding Officer until the arrival or the resolution of the conflict of interest of the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem at which time the Temporary Chair shall relinquish the chair upon conclusion of the agenda item...

	II.  Town Council Meetings.
	2.1 Regular Meetings
	a. The Town Council shall meet regularly at least once each month at a day and hour and place to be fixed by the Rules of Order of each Town Council adopted by Resolution. The intent is that the Town Council will conduct in person meetings, unless cir...
	b. For ease of administration, an approved schedule of meeting dates, times, and places for regular meetings may be administratively considered and approved for each calendar year by the Town Council.  The Town Council reserves the authority to modify...
	c. When a regular meeting must be cancelled due to unforeseen or unanticipated circumstances, such as but not limited to emergency, adverse weather conditions, absence of quorum, or failure to post any required public notice, the Mayor, or the Mayor P...

	2.2 Special Meetings
	a. Special meetings of the Town Council shall be called by the Town Clerk on the oral request of two (2) or more members of Town Council with at least twenty-four (24) hours' notice to each member of the Town Council and to the public, delivered in ac...
	b. No business shall be conducted at a special meeting of the Town Council unless the business has been stated in the notice of such meeting; except that any business which may lawfully come before a regular meeting of the Town Council may be transact...
	c. Executive sessions may be held during any properly convened special meeting.

	2.3 Emergency Meetings
	a. Emergency meetings of the Town Council shall be called by the Town Clerk on the oral request of two (2) or more members of Town Council with less than twenty-four (24) hours' notice. An emergency meeting may be called in the event of an immediate d...
	b. Any business which may lawfully come before a regular meeting of the Town Council may be transacted at an emergency meeting.
	c. Due to the emergency nature of the meeting, no Quorum of the Town Council is required although a Quorum is strongly desired wherever practicable. Where a Quorum does not attend the emergency meeting, the action of the Town Council at the emergency ...

	2.4 Study or Work Sessions
	a. The Town Council may hold study or work sessions as deemed necessary or desirable.  Study or work sessions shall be called in the same manner as a Special Meeting or called by the Town Manager in consultation with the Town Clerk.
	b. No legally binding or formal action shall be taken at any such session.  The Council may provide general administrative direction to the Town Manager by simple concurrence or consensus of the members of the Town Council.
	c. A study or work session shall customarily be limited to the presentation of information to the Town Council and to Town Council’s discussion of such information.  Public comment upon matters under study or discussion shall not be typically entertai...
	d. Executive sessions shall not be conducted during a study or work session.

	2.5 Quorum
	2.6 Meetings to be Public
	2.7 Meeting Notice
	2.8 Town Council Attendance and Absences
	a. All Town Councilmembers are expected to attend all regular, special, work and study session meetings unless excused from attendance in accordance with this section.  Councilmembers are expected to attend Town Council meetings in person unless a dif...
	b. Three (3) or more unexcused absences by a member of the Town Council in any one (1) calendar year shall constitute grounds for sanctions or removal.
	c. Excused Absences.
	1. The Presiding Officer shall excuse an absence of the Mayor or any Councilmember from all or any portion of a meeting where:
	2. The Presiding Officer may excuse an absence of any Councilmember from a meeting or a portion of a meeting subsequent to the meeting where:
	3. Members of Town Council are permitted three (3) excused absences as a result of electronic participation in a Town Council meeting. Electronic participation as a result of the reasons identified in paragraph 2.8.c.ii are not counted toward this lim...


	2.9 Town Attorney
	2.10 Town Clerk, Written Minutes, and Official Record
	a. The Town Clerk, or the Town Clerk's designated representative, shall attend and shall keep written minutes of each regular or special meeting of the Town Council.  Written meeting minutes may be a brief and concise summary or synopsis of actions ta...
	b. The minutes shall record how each Councilmember voted on each question, except that where the vote was unanimous it shall only be necessary for the minutes to so state.
	c. The official record of a Town Council meeting shall be the Town’s electronic recording of the meeting, if any, and in the absence of an electronic recording or in the event of recording equipment malfunction, the official record shall be the writte...
	d. A Councilmember shall have the privilege of having his or her statement on any subject then under consideration by the Town Council entered into the written minutes.  Such request must be made before the Presiding Officer puts the question to a vot...
	e. Minutes of a previous meeting will not be read provided each member of Town Council has been provided access to a copy of the minutes in advance of the meeting at which the minutes are to be approved.  Written minutes shall be initially set for app...
	f. At any time prior to the Town Clerk’s certification of the minutes as approved by the Town Council, the Town Clerk may change the minutes to correct spelling or typographical errors, provided that such change does not alter the substance or meaning...
	g. The Clerk of the meeting at which the minutes are approved shall sign the approved minutes.

	2.11 Agenda and Order of Business
	a. A regular meeting of the Town Council will have an established order of business generally along the following guidelines which may be modified by the Presiding Officer in accordance with the Rules of Order:
	1. Call to Order, Roll Call
	2. Approval of Agenda
	3. Recognitions, proclamations, and appointments
	4. Communications to Council
	5. Consent agenda (handling of routine business)
	A. First Reading of Ordinances
	B. Resolutions
	C. Approval of Town Council Minutes
	D. Excused Absences

	6. Discussion Business
	8. Reports
	9. Other Matters
	10. Adjournment


	2.12 Setting Agendas
	The Mayor and the Town Manager have the task of setting the meeting agendas for regular and special meetings and for work sessions of the Town Council.  In addition, two members of the Town Council may request that the Town Manager place an item on a ...
	2.13 Requesting Future Agenda Items
	Any Councilmember, the Town Manager, or the Town Attorney may request that the Town Council formally consider any Town business or other matter of public interest at a future meeting by raising the request with the Town Council during any regular meet...
	2.14 Adjournment of Regular Meetings by 9:00 p.m.
	A Town Council regular meeting shall customarily adjourn at or before 9:00 p.m.  Extending a regular meeting beyond 9:00 p.m. shall require approval of a motion to suspend the required adjournment requirement.  A motion may propose to limit the agenda...
	As an express condition of adjournment, the Town Council shall formally move to continue or postpone all agenda items that will not be considered following adjournment in accordance with the Rules of Order.


	III.  Meeting Procedures.
	3.1 Parliamentary Rules/Rules of Order
	a. Bob’s Rules of Order for Colorado Local Governments (Peak Nine Press 2023) shall be the parliamentary rules of order for meetings of the Town Council (“Rules of Order”).
	b. The following additional rules shall be incorporated into the Rules of Order:
	1. A Councilmember shall not engage in the review or transmission of electronic mail or other forms of digital communications or be connected to the Internet during any quasi-judicial matter.

	2. Addressing the Town Council – Time Limitations.
	(i) Councilmember’s access to the floor when addressing the Town Council shall be limited in time as provided by the Rules of Order;
	(ii) Guests, presenters, and speakers invited to present to the Town Council shall be limited in time as established or directed by the Presiding Officer; and
	(iii) For all other persons wishing to address the Town Council (other than public hearings, see V. below), such persons shall be limited to three (3) minutes for any presentation unless the Presiding Officer establishes a different time limitation ap...

	c. Voting Methods.
	1. A simultaneous voice vote or show of hands shall generally be used provided that an announcement is made regarding the result of the vote, including identification of Councilmember(s) voting on the non-prevailing side.
	2. The Presiding Officer may direct a vote to be made by roll call.  A roll call vote by voice shall be required for:
	(i) All ordinances on final reading;
	(ii) Any resolution appropriating or borrowing money;
	(iii) Any resolution pertaining to new or existing taxes;
	(iv) Any action concerning an initiative or referendum petition; and
	(v) Conveyance of interests in real property.

	3. Manner of Roll Call.  When roll call voting is used, the roll call vote shall be taken in alphabetical order in a rotating manner, as follows:  on the first roll call vote for the meeting, the Town Clerk will begin with the first Councilmember’s na...


	3.2 Meeting Decorum
	a. For regular and special meetings, each Councilmember shall be addressed as Mr./Ms. (last name) or Councilmember (last name); the Mayor shall be addressed as Mr./Ms. Mayor or Mayor (last name); Town staff, citizens, consultants, contractors shall be...
	b. At any regular or special meeting of the Town Council, any member of the public desiring to address the Town Council shall first secure the permission of, and be recognized by, the Presiding Officer.
	c. Each person addressing the Town Council shall be asked to provide his or her name and address for the record.  All comments shall be addressed to the Presiding Officer and to the Town Council as a body and not to any particular Councilmember thereo...
	d. Actions which unreasonably disrupt a meeting shall be out of order.  “Disrupt” shall mean evidently intended or designed to prevent, or reasonably preventing, the Town Council from conducting business.  Disruptive actions may include, but not limit...
	e. The use of amplified sound or noise in any meeting shall not be permitted unless approved by the Presiding Officer as a necessary part of a presentation by a speaker.  The Town’s use of methods to amplify the voices of the Councilmembers shall be p...
	f. To prevent obstructing the view and hearing of persons attending a meeting, posters, banners, signs, or other forms to display shall be permitted in meeting rooms provided that such items or materials are placed against and along the side perimeter...


	IV.  Procedure for Passage of Ordinances (Charter § 6.5)
	The procedure for the passage of an Ordinance, other than an Emergency Ordinance, shall be as follows:
	a. Introduction (first reading) of the Ordinance at any regular or special meeting and vote by the Town Council in accordance with the voting requirements established by the Charter to move the proposed legislation forward to the second reading. Intro...
	b. If the Ordinance is passed upon first reading, publicizing by title only and in accordance with the requirements, methods, and procedures for publicizing Ordinances as adopted by the Town Council by Ordinance.
	c. Consideration of the Ordinance on second reading at a meeting not earlier than six (6) days after the first reading.
	d. Public hearing on the Ordinance (See V. Below).
	e. Roll call vote of the Town Council on the Ordinance following the public hearing.
	f. Any ordinance may be amended before final passage by a roll call of the Town Council.
	g. After final passage, the Town Clerk shall publicize the Ordinance by title only with the statement that the full text is available for public inspection and acquisition in the office of the Town Clerk. Whenever possible, publicizing shall be within...
	h. Unless a later date is specified in the text of the Ordinance, an Ordinance other than an Emergency Ordinance shall take effect and be enforced thirty (30) days after final publication.

	V.  Public Hearings – Procedures.
	a. Town Clerk shall read the title or subject matter of the item into the record.
	b. The Presiding Officer, in the order indicated, will:
	1. Declare the public hearing open;
	2. Announce the public hearing procedures (if such procedures were not previously explained to the audience in a prior hearing during the same meeting);
	3. Establish, when determined to be necessary, reasonable time limits for the presentation to the Town Council of public comments and testimony during the hearing.  Where no other time limits are established:
	(i) Town staff or Town consultants shall not be limited except as directed by the Presiding Officer;
	(ii) An applicant, permittee, or petitioner (or their representative) whose property or other legal rights are the subject of determination during the public hearing shall not be subject to time limitations provided that the applicant, permittee, or p...
	(iii) Scheduled speakers invited to present information to the Town Council shall not be subject to time limitations except as directed by the Presiding Officer; and
	(iv) All other persons shall be limited to three (3) minutes;

	4. Ask for an introductory presentation by the Town Administration, if appropriate;
	5. Ask for the applicant’s, permittee’s, or petitioner’s presentation, if appropriate;
	6. Provide opportunity for public presentation by those who are in favor of the matter, opposed to the matter, or who may have general questions regarding the pending matter.
	7. Any person speaking or presenting any information at the hearing may be questioned by the Town Council and, with the consent of the Presiding Officer, by the Town Administration.
	8. The Presiding Officer will ask, at times during the hearing determined by the Presiding Officer, if any member of Town Council has any questions of, or desires any additional information from, anyone who has spoken or has presented information duri...

	c. Cross-examination of persons providing testimony or evidence shall not be permitted.
	d. The Presiding Officer may, on his/her own initiative or at the request of a Councilmember or the applicant, permittee, or petitioner, afford the applicant, permittee, or petitioner an opportunity to rebut or address statements or testimony presente...
	e. Following questions from Town Council, the Presiding Officer will declare the public hearing closed and the matter will be remanded to the Town Council for consideration.
	f. Upon the closure of the public hearing, the Town Council will seek to avoid additional questioning of any hearing participant except as may be found necessary by the Presiding Officer to quickly clarify a factual question or resolve a factual matte...
	g. The Town Council may, with leave of the Presiding Officer, request legal advice or direction from the Town Attorney at any time.

	VI. Amendments.




